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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE,

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE,
‘a
APPENDIX avp INDEX!
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Jovis, 5° die Februarii, 1857.

Ordered, Tuat a Select Committee be appointed “to consider the State of those British
Possessions in North America which are under the Administration of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, or over which they possess a License to Trade.”

Veneris, 13° die Februarii, 1857,

Ordcred, TaaT such Committee do consist of Nineteen Members,
Committee nominated accordingly, as follows :—

Mr, Labouchere. Mr., Grogan.

Sir John Pakington. Mr. Kinnaird.

Lord John Russell. Mr. Gregson.

Mr. Gladstone. Mr. Blackburn.

Lord Stanley. ) Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Roebuck. Mr. Gordon.

Mr, Edward Ellice. Mr. Gurney.

Mr. Adderley. Mr. Percy Herbert.

Mr. Lowe. Mzr. Bell.

“Viscount Sandon.

Ordered, Tuat the Committee have power to send for Persons, Papers, and Records.
Ordered, TaAT Five be the Quorum of the Committee.

Lune, 9° die Martii, 1857.

Ordered, THAT the Committee have power to Report the Minutes of Evidence taken
before them to The House.

SECOND SESSION, 1857.
Veneris, 8° die Maii, 1857.

Ordered, THAT 2 Select Cormittee be appointed  tojconsider the State of those British
Possessions in North America which are under the Administration of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, or over which they possess a License to Trade.”

Martis, 12° die Maii, 1857.

Ordered, THAT the Committee do consist of Nineteen Members.
Committee nominated accordingly :—

Mr. Secretary Labouchere. Sir John Pakington.
Lord John Russell. Mr. Gladstone.

Lord Stanley. Mr. Roebuck.

Mr. Edward Ellice. Mr, Lowe.

Viscount Sandon. Mr. Grogan.

Mr Kirpaird. Mr. Gregson.

Mr. Blackburn. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Alexander Matheson. Mr. Gurney.

Mr. Percy Herbert. Viscount Goderich.

Ordered, TitaT the Committee have power to send for Persons, Papers, and Records.
Ordered, THAT Five be the Quorum of the Committee.

Mercurii, 13° die Maii, 1857.

Ordered, TaaT Mr. Christy be added to the Committec.

Veneris, 31° die Julii, 1857.

Ordered, THAT the Committee have power to Report their Observations, together with
the Minutes of Evidence taken before them, to The House.

l(EPORT - - had - - - - - - - - - P. lll
PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMIITEE - - - - - p. ¥
MINUTES OF EVIDENCE - - - - - . - - p- 1
APPENDIX - - - = « = - - <« - - p8s
INDEX - - - - - - - - - - - - P 467




REPORT

THE SELECT COMMITTEE appointed to consider the State of those
BriTisB PossEssioNs in North Americe which ave under the Adminis-
tration of the Hupson’s Bay Company, or over which they possess
a License to Trade, and who were empowered to Report their Obser-
vations, together with the MinuTEs of EvIDENCE taken before them,
to The House :——HAvVE considered the Matters to them referred, and
have agreed to the following REPORT :—

1. THE near approach of the period when the license of exclusive trade
granted in 1838 for 21 years, to the Hudson’s Bay Company over that north-
western portion of British America which goes by the name of the Indian Ter-
ritory, must expire, would alone make it necessary that the condition of the
whole of the vast regions which are under the administration of the Company
should be carefully considered; but there are other circumstances which, in
the opinion of Your Committee, would have rendered such a course the duty of
the Parliament and Government of this country.

2. Among these, Your Committee would specially enumerate,—the growing
desire of our Canadian fellow-subjects that the means of extension and regular
settlement should be afferded to them over a portion of this territory; the
necessity of providing suitably for the administration of the affairs of Van-
couver’s Island, and the present condition of the settlement which has been
formed on the Red River.

3. Your Committee have received much valuable evidence on these and other
subjects connected with the inquiry which has been entrusted to them, and
especially have had the advantage of hearing the statements of Chief Justice
Draper, who was commissioned by the Government of Canada to watch this
inquiry. In addition to this, Your Committee have received the evidence taken
before a Committee of the Legislative Assembly, appointed to investigate this
subject, containing much valuable information in reference to the interests and
feelings of that important Colony, which are entitled to the greatest weight on
this occasion.

4. Your Committee have also had the opinion of the law officers of the Crown
communicated to them on various points connected with the charter of the
Hudson's Bay Company.

5. The territory over which the Company now excrcise rights is of three
descriptions :—
1st. The land held by charter, or Rupert’s Land.
2d. The land held by license, or the Indian Territory.
3d. Vancouver's Island.

6. For the nature of the tenure by which these countries are severally con-
nected with the Company, Your Committee would refer to the evidence they
have received and the documents appended to their Report.

7. Among the various objects of imperial policy which it is important to
attain, Your Committee consider that it is essential to meet the just and
reasonable wishes of Canada to be enabled to annex to her territory such
vortion of the land in her neighbourhood as may be available to her for the
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- " REPORT:—HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY.

purposes of settlement, with which lands she is willing to open and maintain
communications, and for which she will provide the means of local adminis-
tration. Your Committee apprehend that the districts on the Red River and
the Saskatchewan are among those likely to be desired for early occupation.
1t is of great importance that the peace and good order of those districts should
be effectually secured. Your Committee trust that there will be no difficulty
in effecting arrangements as between Her Majesty’s Government and the
Hudson’s Bay Company by which these districts may be ceded to Canada on
equitable principles, and within the districts thus annexed to her the authority
of the Hudson's Bay Company would of course entirely cease.

8. Your Committee think it best to content themselves with indicating the
outlines of such a scheme, leaving it to Her Majesty’s Government to con-
sider its details more maturely before the Act of Parliament is prepared,
which will probably be necessary to carry it into effect.

9. In case, however, Canada should not be willing at a very early period to
undertake the government of the Red River District, it may be proper to con-

sider whether some temporary provision for its administration may not be
advisable.

10. Your Committee are of opinion that it will be proper to terminate the con-
nexion of the Hudson's Bay Company with Vancouver’s Island as soon as it can
conveniently be done, as the best means of favouring the development of the
great natural advantages of that important colony. Means should also be
provided for the ultimate extensjon of the colony over any portion of the adjoin-

ing continent, to the west of the Rocky Mountains, on which permanent
settlement may be found practicable.

11. As to those extensive regions, whether in Rupert’s Land or in the Indian
Territory, in which, for the present at least, there can be no prospect of per-
manent settlement, to any extent, by the European race for the purposes of
colonisation, the opinion at which Your Committee have arrived is mainly
founded on the following considerations : 1°. The great importance to the more
peopled portions of British North America that law and order should, as far as
possible, be maintained in these territories ; 2°. The fatal effects which they
believe would infallibly result to the Indian population from a system of open
competition in the fur trade, and the consequent introduction of spirits in a
far greater degree than is the case at present; and 3°. The probability of the

indiscriminate destruction of the more valuable fur-bearing animals in the course
of a few years.

12. For these reasons Your Committee are of opinion that whatever may be
the validity or otherwise of the rights claimed by the Hudson’s Bay Company,
under the Charter, it is desirable that they should continue to enjoy the
privilege of exclusive trade, which they now possess, except so far as those
privileges are limited by the foregoing recommendations.

13. Your Committee have now specified the principal objects which they think
it would be desirable to attain. How far the chartered rights claimed by the
Hudson’s Bay Company may prove an obstacle to their attainment, they are
not able, with any certainty, tosay. If this difficulty is to be solved by amicable
adjustment, such a course will be best promoted by the Government, after
communication with the Company, as well as with the Government of Canada,
rather than by detailed suggestions emanating from this Committee.

14. Your Committee cannot doubt but that, when such grave interests are at
stake, all the parties concerned will approach the subject in a spirit of concilia-
tion and justice, and they therefore indulge a confident hope that the Govern-
ment will be enabled, in the next Session of Parliament, to present a Bill which
shall lay the foundation of an equitable and satisfactory arrangement, in the

event, which we consider probable, of legislation being found necessary for that
purpose.

31 July 1857.
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. ,

Mercurii, 18° die Februarii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. Labouchere. Mr. Gordon.

Mr. Kinpaird. Viscount Sandon.
Mr. Gurney. Mzr. Blackburn.
Mr. E. Ellice. Mr, Lowe.

Sir John Pakington. Mr. Bell.

Mr. Gregson. Lord John Russell.
Lord Stanlei. Mr. Gladstone.
Mr. Roebuck. ,

Mr. Labouchere was called to the Chair.
The Committee deliberated on the course of proceeding.

[Adjourned.
Veneris, 20° die Februari, 1857.
MEMBERS PRESENT:
Mr. LaBOoUCHERE in the Chair.
Myr. Kinpaird. Mr. C. Fitzwilliam.
Lord Sandon. Mr. Roebuek.
Sir John Pakington. Lord John Russell.
Lord Stanley. Mr. Adderley.
Mr. Grogan. Mr. Lowe.
Mr. Gurnpey. Mr. Glads*one.
Mr. Gordon. Mr. Bell.
Mr. Percy Herbert. Mr. Blackburn.
Mr. E. Ellice.

The Committee examined the Honourable Jokn Ross, of Canada.
[Adjourned to Monday, at Twelve.

Lune, 23° die Februarii, 1857.

r——

MEMBERS PRESENT :
Mr. LagoucHERE i the Chair.

Colonel Herbert. Viscount Sandon.
Mr. Bell. Mr. Gurney.

Mr. Gl‘ogan, Ml‘. Lowe.

Sir John Pakington. Mr. Adderley.
Loxd Stanley. Mr. Gordon.
Lord John Russell. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. E. Ellice. Mr. Xinnaird.
Mr. Gregson.

The Committee examined Colonel Zefroy, Dr. Rae.

[Adjourned to Thureday, at Twelve.
224, 260~ Sess. 2. a3



vi PROCEEDINGS OF THE SELECT COMMITTEE

Jovis, 26° die Februarii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT :

Mr. LABOUCEERE in the Chair.

Mr. Gurney. Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Kinnard. Mr. Gordon.

Mr. Adderley. Viscount Sandon.
Mr. Bell. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Grogan. Mr. Lowe.
Colonel Herbert. Mr. Gladstore,
Mr. E. Ellice. Mr. Blackburn.
Mr. Gurney. Mr. Roebuck.

The Committee examined Sir George Simpson.
[Adjourned to Monday, at Twelve.

Lune, 2° die Martii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Bell. Mr. Kinnajrd.
Mr. Grogan. Lord Stanley.
Mr. Roebuck. Lord John Russell
Mr. Gurney. Mr. Adderley.

i Mr. Gordon. Mr. Blackburn.
Colonel Herbert. Mr. Lowe,
Mr. Grcgson. Lord Sandon.
M. E. Ellice. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Sir John Pakington. Mr. Gladstone.

The Committee continued the examination of Sir George Simpson, and examined Mr.
Kernaghan.
[Adjourned to Thursday, at Twelve.

Jovis, 5° die Martii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT :

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mzr. E. Ellice. Mr. Bell

Mr. Gregson. Mr. Adderley.
Colonel Herbert. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mzr. Gordon. Mr. Lowe.

Lord Sandon. Lord John Russell.
Sir John Pakington. Lord Stanley.

Mr. Kinnaird. Mz. Roebuck.

Mr. Grogan.

The Committee examined Mr. Kernaghan ; Mr. Fitzwilliam,a Member of the Committee ;

Mr, Isbister, and the Rev. G. O. Corbett.
[Adjourned to Monday, at Twelve.




ON THE HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY. vit

Lune, 9° die Martii, 1857,

MEMBERS PRESENT :
Mr. LABOUCHERE in.the Chair.
Mr. Bell: Colonel Percy Herbert.
Mr. Grogan. Mr. Blackburn.
Mr. Fitzwilliam. Mr. Gordon.
Mr. Kinnaird. Lord Sandon.
Mr. Ellice. Lord John Russell.

The Committee deliberated on their course of proceeding, and,

Resolved, « That the Chairman do report to The House the Evidence taken up to this
day, inclusive.”

The Committee examined the Rev. G. O. Corbett and Sir Jokn Richardson.
To report.

SECOND SESSION, 1857.

Veneris, 15¢ die Mai, 1857.

MEMBERS FPRESENT:

Mr. Labouchere. Mr. Grogan.
Mr. E. Ellice. Mr. Matheson.
llt{lr. Iéinnaird. Lsdr.JCﬁs{)y. _
T. reoson. 1i¥ JO Bkmgton.
Mr. Lowe. Lord Stanley.
Mr. Gladstone. : Mr. Gurney.
Lord Goderich.

Mr. Labouchere was called to the chair.
[Adjourned to Tuesday, at Twelve.

Martis, 19° die Maii, 1857.

——

—

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LOwE in the Chair,

Lord Stanley. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Roebuci. Lord Sandon.

Mr. Gurpey. Mr. Christy.

Mr. Matheson. Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Gregson. Lord John Russell.
Mr. Ellice. Mr. Blackburn.

The Committee examined Colonel Crofton and Sir George Back.

[Adjourned to Thursday, at Two.
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viti PROCEEDINGS OF THE SELECT COMMITTEE

Jovis, 21° die Miaii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LaBOUCHERE in the Chair,

Mr. Grogan.
Mr. Lowe.
Lord Sandon.
Mr. Blackburn.
Mr. Gurney.
Mr. Christy.
Colonel Herbert.
Mr. Ellice.

The Committee examined Mr. Cooper.

Lord Stanley.
Mr. Roebuc{.
Lord Goderich.
Mr. Kinnaird.
Mr. Ritzwilliam.
Mr. Matheson.
Mr. Gregson.

[Adjourned to Thursday, 28th May, at Twelve.

Jovis, 28° die Maii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT :

Mr. LiABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Grogan.

Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Lowe.

Lo1 i1 John Russell.
Mzr. Gladstone.

Mr. Kinnaird.

Mr. Ellice.

Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Christy.
Mr. Blackburn.
Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Colonel Herbert.
Mr. Matheson.

The Committee examined Mr. Chief Justice Draper.

[Adjourned to Thursday, 4th June, at One.

Jovis, 4° die Junii, 18517.

MEMBERS PRESENT :

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Grogan.

Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Kinnaird.

Mr. Matheson.

Mr. Blackburn.
Viscount Goderich.
Mr. Christy.

|

Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Ellice.

" Lord John Russell.
Mzr. Roebuck.
Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Lowe.
Lord Stanley.

The Committee examined Mr. Chief Justice Draper, The Bishop of Ruper®s Land, and

Mr. Maynard.

[Adjourned to Tuesday next, at Twelve.




ON THE HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY.:

Martis, 9° die Junit, 1857,

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LaBoucHERE in the Chair,
Mr. Blackburn, Mzr. Christy-
M:. Grogan, Mr. Mathgon.
Mr. Fitzwilliam. Mr. El_lice. .
Lord Stanley. Mr. Kinnaird.
Lord Sandon.

The Committee examined Mr. Boche, Captain Herd, and Mr. Mles-

[Adjourned to Thursday, at Twelve.

Jovis, 11° die Junii, 1857.

MEMRBERS PBESENT:

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Roebuck.
Colonel Herbert.
Mr. Grogan,
Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Myr. Matheson.

Mr: Lowe.

The Committee examined Mr. M‘Laughlin.

Mr. Blackburn,
Lord Sandon.
Lord Goderich.,
Mr' Christy.
Mr. Gregson,
Mr. Ellice.

[Adjourned to Monday, at Twelve.

Lune, 15° die Junii, 1857,

MEMBERS PRESENT :

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.
Mr. Kinnaird, Lord Goderich.
Mr. Grogan. Mzr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Matheson, Mr. Christy.
Sir John Pakington. Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Blackburn. Mr. Ellice.
Mr. Roebuck. Lord Sandon.

The Committee examined Mr. Blanshard, Colonel Coldwell, and Dr. King.

[Adjourned to Tuesday, the 23d}instant, at Twelve.
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Murtis, a3~ &e' Juniz, 1857,

PROCEEDINGS OF THE SELSCT COMMITTEE

. MEMBERS PRESANTS
.Mr: LAROUCHERE,. in. the, Chair.

Lord John Bussell, Mr. Chuistys. v .1

Sir John. Pakington. Mr. Lowe...., .. -1,

M. Kinnaird. | Mr. Ellice;. .

Mr. Roshuck. . | Mr. Fitzoiliiam,

Mr. Blackburn. Mr. Grogan. -

Lord Sandon. Mr, Matheson.

Mr. Gurmeye -]y M Gregeon, L L

The Committee examined Mr. Zennant, Right Hon. E. Ellice, 2 Member of the House,
[Adjourned to Monday, 20th of July, at_ Twelve.
Lune, 20° dic Julli, 1857,
MEMBERS PRESENT :
Mr. LABOUOUBERE in the Chair..

Lord Gederich.. Lord Johs Rassell.
Mr. Gregeon. Mr. Roebuck.
I([solrd Slula)dnn. Hoch Mr. Gurney., .

olonel Pexey ert, Mr. Christy.: . -
Mr. Fitzwilkamy, . Mr. Matheson.
Lord Stanley. Mr. E. EHice.
Mr. Kinnaird. Mr. Grogan. ¢
Mr. Lowe. Mzr. Gladstone.

The Committee deliberated.

A Dxsft of Report: was laid upon the table by the Chairman.
Draft Resolutions were also laid upon the table by Mr. Gladstone.
Ordered, That the same be printed.

[Adjourned to Friday, at One.

Veneris, 24° die Juli, 18517.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LaBoucrERE in the Chair,

Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Lowe.

Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mr. Gladstone.

Mr. Matheson.
Mr. Gregson.
Locd Sandon.

Mr, Christy.

Mr. Gurney.

Mr. Roebuck.
Lord Jobn Russell.

Tfle Committee deliberated.

Lord

Groderich.

Mr. Kinnaird.
Colonel Percy Herbert.

'

Draft Report proposed by the Chairman read 1°, as follows :—

“ The near approach of the period when the license of exclusive trade, granted in 1838
for 21 years, to the Hudson's Bay Company over that north-western portion of British
America which goes by the name of the Indian territory, must expire, would alone make it

necessary
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necesiary. that the condition ,of, the whole of the vast regions which are under the adminis-
tration of -the Company shoudd be carefully considered ;. but there are other circumstances
which, in the opinion of Your Committee, would have rendered such a course the duty
of the Parliament and Government of this country.

« Among these, Your Comunittee would specially enumerate,—the growing desire of our
Canadian fellow-subjects that the means of extension and regular settlement should be
afforded to them over a portion of this territory ; the necessity of providing suitably for the
administration of the affairs of Vancouver’s Island, and the present condition of the settle-
ment which has been formed on the Red River. .

« Your Committee have received much valuable evidence on these and other subjects
connected with the inquiry which has been entrustéd to them, and especially have the
advantage of hearing the statements of Chief Justice Draper, who was commissioned by the
Province of Canada to attend the Committee on behalf of that importamt colony, whose
interests and feelings .are entitled to the greatest weight on this occasion.

« Your Committee have also had the opinion of the law officers of the Crown communi-
cated to them on various points connected with the charter of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

¢ The territory over which the Company now exercise rights is of three descriptions:—

1st. The land held by charter, or Rupert’s Land.
2d. Theland held by license, or the Indian Territory.
3d. Vancouver’s Island.

“ For the nature of tiie tenure by which these countries are severally connected with the
Company, Your Committec would refer to the evidence they have received and the docu-
ments appended to their Report.”

« With regard to Rupert's Land, which is held by charter, it might be very desirable to
ascertain precisely what is the force of the powers claimed and exercised under it, and of
the extent.of the country over which those powers exist. But from the experience of a
long series of years, during which there lias been, from time to time, much controversy on
these questions, as well as from the tenor of the opinions which they have received from
the law officers of the Crown, Your Committee are apprehensive that there may be great
difficalty and delay in arriving, by the ordinary forms of law, at any certain conclusions
upon them.

“QOn the other band, prompt measures are very desirable; and Your Committee hope
that it may be found practicable to effect such arrangements as are required for the satisfac-
tion and benefit of those concerned, without waiting for the result of proceedings of so
doubtful and dilatory a character as may appertain to the complete investigation of this
ancient charter.

“ The law officers, however, saggest 2 course by which, with the united consent of
Canada and the Company, the question of the actual boundary, which appears at present
to be in a state of uncertainty in some respccts, may be determined through the instru-
wmentality of the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council; and Your Committee have
becn assured by the Hudson’s Bay Company, in a letter which is appended to this Report,
that they are willing to accede to this proposal. In the event of this course being adopted,
it is impossible for Your Committce now to form an opinion how far the award given by
the Judicial Committec may modify the recommendations which it will ‘subsequently be
the duty of Your Committee to make, by circumscribing the extent of country to which
those recommendations may apply.

“ Your Committec entertain the strongest conviction that the Crown and people of this
country can have no other interest in the territory now administered by the Company,
except that it should be dealt with in whatever manner is most conducive to the prosperity
and contentment of our North American fellow-subjects; and especially in the mode
which is best calculated to add to the strength of the great colony of Canada. Itis on
these principles alone that the recommendations of Your Committee will be founded, so far
as is consistent with equity and good faith.

“In the first place, therefore, Your Committee consider that it is essential to meet
fully the just and reasonable' wishes of Canada to be enabled to annex to her territory any
portion of the land in her neighbourhood which can be made available to her for the pur-

oses of settlement, with which she is willing to open and maintain communications, and

or which she will provide the means of local administration. Your Committee apprehend
that the districts on the Red River and the Saskatchewan are the most likely to be desired
by Canada for early occupation. It is also of great importance that the peace and good
order of those districts should be effectually secured. We believe that some simple machinery
could be devised, by the aid of which these districts could be ceded to Canada, and a con-
venient boundary line laid down, upon substantial proof being given of her willingness and
ability to administer them. -

¢ In like manner the boundary of the colony in other directions might be thrown back,
wherever by so doing any purpose useful to Canada could be obtained ; within the districts
thus annexed to her the authority of the Huv<son’s Bay Company would of course entirely
cease.
. 224. 260—Sess. 2. b2 “Y our



xii PROCEEDINGS OF THE SELECT COMMITTEE

- “Your Committee think it best to content themselves with indicating the outlines of such
a scheme, leaving it to the Government to consider its details more maturely before the
Act of Parliament is prepared, which will probably be necessary to carry it into effect.

“ In case, however, Canada should not be willing at & very early period to undertake the
government of the Red River District, it may bengroper to consider whather some tempo-
rary provision for its administration may not be advisable.

“ Your Committee are of opinion that it will be proper to terminate the connexion of the
Company with Vancouver’s Island as soon as it can conveniently be done, as the best means
of favouring the development of the great natural advantages of that important island.
Means should also be provided for the extension of the colony over every portion of the
adjoining continent on which permanent settlement may be found practicable to the west of
the Rocky Mountains,

¢ As to those extensive regions, whether in Rupert’s Land or in the Indian Territory, in
which, for the present at least, there can be no prospect of permanent settlement by the
European race for any purpose except that of the fur trade, the opinion at which Your
Committee have arrivef is mainly founded on the following considerations: 1°. The great
importance to the more peopled portions of British North America that law and order
should, as far as possible, be maintained there; 2o The fatal effects which they believe
would infallibly result to the Indian population if a system of open competition in the fur
trade, and the consequent introduction of spirits in a far greater degree than is the case
at present; and 3°. The probebility of the indiscriminate destruction of the fur-bearing
animals in the course of 2 few years.

¢ For these reasons, Your Committee would recommend that the privilege of exclusive
trade should be'continued to the Hudson’s Bay ComFany for a term of years, without,
however, thereby giving to the chartered rights thus claimed by the Company any further
sanction or validity than what they may already possess. Your Committee consider that
it would be of the utmost consequence that the best understanding should be cultivated
between the local Government of Canada and the Company, which, indeed, there seems no
reason to doubt has generally existed between them up to a very recent period.

¢ Your Committee have now specified the principal objects which they think it would be
desirable to attain. How far the chartered rights claimed by the Hudson’s Bay Company
may prove an obstacle to their attainment, they are not able, with any certainty, to say.
If this difficulty is to be solved by amicable adjustment, such a course will be best
promoted by the Government, after communication with the Company, as well as with
t(l:me Government of Canada, rather than by detailed suggestions' emanating from this
ommittee.

“ Your Commitee cannot doubt but that, when such grave interests are at stake, all the
parties concerned will approach the subject in a spirit of conciliation and justice, and they
therefore indulge a congdent hope that the Government will be enabled, in the next Ses~
sion of Parliament, to present a Bill which shall lay the foundation of an equitable and
satisfactory arrangement, in the event, which we consider probable, of legislation being
found necessary for that purposc.”

Draft Report, proposed by Mr. Christy, read i°, as follows :—

‘1. THE near approach of' the period when the license of exclusive trade, granted in
1838 for 21 years to the Hudeon’s Bay Company, over that North-Western portion of
British America which goes by the name of the Indian Territory, must expire, would alone
make it necessary that the condition of the whole of the vast regions which are under the
administration of the Company should be carefully considered ; but there are other circum-
stances which, in the opinion of Your Committee, would have rendered such a course the
duty of the Parliament and Government of this country.

2, Among these, Your Committee would especially enumerate the growing desire of
our Canadian fellow-subjects, that the means of extension and regular settlement should be
afforded to them over a portion of this territory ; the necessity of providing suitably for the
administration of the affairs of Vancouver’s Island, and the present condition of the
settlement which has been formed on the Red River.

“3. Your Committee have obtained much valuable evidence on these and other subjects
connected with the inquiry which has been entrusted to them; and have had the advan-
tage of hearing the statements of Chief Justice Draper, who was commissioned by the
Government of Canada to watch this inquiry. In addition to this, Your Committee have
received the evidence taken before 2 Committee of the Legislative Assembly appointed to
investigate this subject, containing much valuable information in reference to the interests
and feclings of that important colony, which are entitled to the greatest weight on this
occasion.

“4. Your Committee have also had the opinion of the law officers of the Crown com-
x(x)xumcatcd to them on various points connected with the charter of the Hudson's Bay
ompany.

¢ 5. The
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« 5. The territory over which the Company now exexcise rights is of three descrip-
- tiong,—
1st. The land held by charter, or Rupﬁlrt’s' Land.

2d. The land held by license, or the Indian Territory.
3d. Vancouver's Island.

s g. For the nature of the tenure by which these countries are severally connected with
the Company, Your Committee would refer to the evidence they have received, and the
documents appended to their Report.

«7. With regard to Rupert’s Land, which is held by charter, it appears to Your Com-
mittee very desirable to ascertain precisely the character and legality of the powers claimed
and exercised under it, and the extent of the country over which these powers are in force.

«g8, Numerous allegations and much controversy on these questions have created a
serious evil, arising from the impression, both in Canada and in the countries subject to the
jurisdiction of the charter itself, that many of its provisions, if not altogether contrary to
the laws of England, are of doubtful authority.

« 9, The prevalence of such impressions, whether well founded or otherwise, cannot but
be prejudicial not only to the authority of the Company, but to the peaceable and orderly
oovernment of those living under them; and it appears to Your Committee necessary for
the satisfaction and benefit of those concerned, that the question of the validity of powers
so anomalous and extensive, should be sct at rest by the instrumentality of a competent
legal tribunal.

« 10. It has, however, been strongly urged upon Your Committee, in the course of their
‘inquiry, that the question of the boundaries between Canada and the Hudson’s Bay
territories is of the most pressing importance at this moment, and one that should be
determined as speedily as possible; but it is obvious that in bringing this to a practical
decision, the question of the validity of the charter presents itself as the first to be ascer-
tained. The definition of the limits of Canada must necessarily follow on the determina-

tion of what is, or is not, within the jurisdiction of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
J Yy pany

«11, Pending such an investigation, which Your Committee consider to be the first and
indispensable step to any final arrangement, they forbear to express any opinion as to the
.course which should be ultimately pursued ; but, adverting to the willingness expressed by
the Company to meet the desire of the Canadian people to obtain land fit for cultivation,
and the establishment of agricultural settlers, Your Committee think it right to express
their opinion that, in any cvent, the country capable of settlement should be withdrawn
from the jurisdiction of the Hudson's Bay Company, whose objects and interests are
admitted to be opposed to colonisation.

«12. Your Committee believe that the districts on the Red River, Saskatchewan, and
the Mackenzie, hold out inducements to enterprising individuals, from Canada and from
this country, for their early occupation, which ought, by every legitimate means, to be
encouraged. The rapid extension of settlement which had been going on in so remarkable
a manner to the south of the American boundary line, renders it a matter of great import-
-ance to establish within our own territory a counterpoise favourable to British interests,
and modeled upon British institutions.

“13. Your Committee would suggest that it be referred to Her Majesty’s Government
to consider, after conference with Canada and the Company, the best means for drawing
the line between those portions of the country which are or are not adapted for settlement;
and how the territory susceptible of colonisation, and detached accordingly from the

*Company’s jurisdiction, should be settled and governed under free institutions. We
believe that some simple and iuexpensive machinery could be devised, by the aid of which
those districts, whether ceded to Canada or erected into a separate colony, could be effec-
tively administered.

i
¢ 14. Your Committee think it best to content themselves with indicating the outlines of
such a scheme, leaving it to the Government to consider its details more maturely, before
the Bill is prepared which will be necessary to carry it into cffect.

“15. Your Committee are of opinion, that it will be proper to terminate the cunnexion
of the Company with Vancouver’s Island, as soon as it can conveniently be done, as the

'btlzst xlneans of favouring the development of the great natural advantages of that important
island.

“16. Means should also be provided for the extension of the colony over every portion
of the a'd_lommg continent on which permanent seitlement may be found practicable, to the
west of the Rocky Mountains.

“17. As to these extensive regions, whether in Rupert’s Land or in the Indian Terri-
tory, in which, for the present at least, there can be no prospect of permanent scttlement
by the European race for any purpose except that of the fur-trade, the Committee would
recommend that the privilege of exclusive trade should be continued to the Hudson's Bay
Company, and that such arrangement should henceforth rest on the basis of statute.

224. 260—Sess, 2. b3 “18., Power
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<18, Power, however,should be reserved: 1o Her Maiesty’s Government to mske grants
within such territory for the purpose of mines or fisheries, but with due regard to the
immunities and trade of the Company.

19, Your Committee have now specified the principal objects which they think it would
be desirable to attain.

« 20, How far the chartered rights claimed by the Hudson’s Bay Company may qrove
3 s 4

an obatacle to so doing, they are not able with .any certainty to -say.
could be solved, not by adverse litigation, but by amicsble adjustment, such will be best

promoted by the Government after communication with the Company, as well as
with the Government of Canada, rather than by -detailed -suggestions emanating from this
Committee. ' .

« 21. Your Committee cannot doubt but that, when such grave interests are at stake, all
the parties concerned will approach the subject in a spirit of concilistion and justice, and
they therefore indulge a confident hope that the Government will be .enabled in the next
‘Session of Parliament to present a Bill which shall lay the foundation of :an -equitable and
satisfactory arrangement in the event, which we consider probable, of legislation being
found necessary for that purpose.”

Resolutions proposed by Mr. .Gladstone read 1°, as follows :—

<1, THAT the country capable of colonisation should be withdrawn from the jurisdiction
of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

<2, That the country incapable of colonisation should remain within their jurisdictien.

«3, That power should be reserved to Her Majesty’s Government to make grants
within the said territory for the purposes of mines or fisheries, but with due regard to the
immunities and trade of the Compsay. ’

¢ 4, That such jurisdiction should rest henceforward upon the basis of statate.

« 5, That the Committee have to refer to the following paragraph in the letter of
the Chairman of the Hudson’s Bay Company, dated 18 July: ¢ Assuming, however,
- * * * * * the Company.” And the Committee
consider this as an expression of the willingness of the Company to accept i principle
the arrangements above described.

s« g, That it would accordingly, in the opinion of the Committee, be advissble that
Her Majesty’s Government should, after conference with Canada and the Company, fix
upon the best means for drawing the line between the two descriptions of country above-
mentioned.

s7. That it be referred to Her Majesty's Government to consider how the land capable
of colonisation, und detached accordingly from the jurisdiction of the Company, should
be settled and governed under free institutions.

scg, That the Committee see no objection in principle to an arrangement under which
the actual surrender by the Company of the lands it for colonisation might take place,
only in proportion as it might be required for the purposes of early settlement.

«9, That the foregoing Resolutions are intended to apply to the whole country, from
east to west, now under the Hudson’s Bay Company, whether held by charter, statute,
or the Vancouver grant.

«10. That inasmuch as the Company has tepdered concessions which may prove suf-
ficient to meet the necessitics of the case, the Committee has come to no decision upon
the question how far it may be, as some think, ust and even nccessary, or on the other
hand, unwise, or even umjust, to raise any jrdicial issue with the view of ascertaining
the legal rights of the Company.” :

Motion made and question proposed (S'r J. Pakington),  That the Draft Report pro-
osed by the Chairman be read 2°, pavagraph by paragraph.” Amendment proposed
Mr. Gladstone), to leave out from the word « That,” to the end of the question, in order

to insert the words,® The Resolutions proposed by Mr. Gladstone be now read 2°, instead
thereof” : —Question put, “ That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the ques-
tion.” The Committee divided:

Ayes, 7 Noes, 7.
Mr. Matheson. Mr. Christy.
Mr. Gregson. Mr. Gladstone.
Lord Sandon. Mr. Roebuck.
Mr. Gurney. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Lord John Russell. Colonel Herbert.
Sir J. Pakington. Mr. Kinnxird.
Mr. Lowe. _ Lord Goderich.

‘Whereupon the Chairman declared himself with the Ayes.
Main question put, and agreed to.
: Draft
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Praft: Report proposed by the Chairman: read 2°, antd considered paragraph by pursgraph.
Paragraphs 1 and 2 read, and agrged, to. '
Paragraph 3 read ; amendments were proposed and agreed to' (Mx: €hristy); paragraph,

-ag amended, agreed to.

Paragraphs 4, 5 and. 6 read, and agreed to.
Paragraphs 7 and' & read, and negatived.

Paragraph 9 read. Question put, “ That this paragraph stand: part: of the proposed
Report.” The Committee divided: : .

Ayes, 5.
Mr. Lowe.
Lord Jobn Russell.
Mr. Gurney.
Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Matheson.

)

Paragraph 10 read; and negatived.

Paragraph 11 read.

Noes,, 9.
Mr. Kinnaird..
Colonel Herbert..
Mr. Fitzwilliam.
SirJi- Phltington.
Mr. Roebuck,
Mr. Gladstone.
:F]&rwdé mn:,
Lord Goderich..

[Adjournedto Monday next, at One:e'loclt.

Eune, 27° die Juli, T35F,

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr: LaBoucHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Gurney.
Mr. Christy.
Mr. Lowe.
Lord Sandon.
Mr. Matheson.

Paragraph- 1T ﬁirtlier“cougidefed, and amended.

Mr. Blackburn:
Colonel Herbert.
Mr. Kinnaird!

Sir J. Pakington:.
Mr. Fitzwilliam,

Paragraph 12 amended, incorporated with paragraph 11, and agreed to.

Paragraph 13 read, a- ! agreed to.

Paragraphs 14 and 15 read, amended,.and agreed to.
Paragraph 16 read ; amendments made.

Amendment proposed, lire 7, to leave out the

words, “2°. The fatal effects which they believe would infallibly result. to the Indian popula-
tion from a system of open competition in the fur trade, and the comsequent intro-
duction of spirits in a far greater degree than fs'the’ case at present” (Mr. Fitzwilliam) :—

Question put, © That the words

The Committee divided :

S J .ﬁ\y‘es;\ 9.
ir J. Pakin ..
Mr. Lowe.. ghon
Lord Sandon..
Mr. Kinnaird.
Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Blackburn.
Mz.. Matheson.
Mr. Gurney.

Mr. Herbert.
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proposed to be left out stand part of the paragraph.”

Noes, 2..
M. Christy..
Mr. Fitzwilliam..

Anothee
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Another amendment proposed, line 11, to Ieave out the words, “ and 3°. The probability
of the indiscriminate destruction of the fur-bearing animals in the course of a few years”
(Mr. Christy):— Question put, * That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the
paragraph.” ~ The Committee divided:

Ayes, 9. Noes, 2.
Sir J. Pakington. Mr. Christy.
Mzr. Lowe. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Lord Sandon.
Mr. Gregson.
Mr. Blackburn,
Mr. Mathesoa.
Mr. Gurney.
Mr. Herbert.

Paragraph, as awended, agreed to.
Paragraph 17 xesd, and agreed to.

Paragragh 18 read. Amendments made. Amendment proposed, to leave out from the
word  attain,” 1. 2, to the end of the ﬁaragmph, in order to add the words: * But it appears
to Your Committee that unless the Hudson’s Bay Company are willing to accept an offer
upon equitable arrangement, it is obvious that in bringing this to a practical decision, the
question of the validity of the charter will then necessarily present itself to be forthwith
ascertained.

« Pending the possibility of such an investigation, which Your Committee consider may-
be rendered indispensable to any final arrangement, they forbear to express any opinion as
to the course which should be ultimately pursued. But, adverting to the willingness ex-

ressed by the Hudson’s Bay Comgan to meet the desire of the Canadian people to obtain

d fit for cultivation, and the establishment of agricultural settlers, Your Committee think
it right to express their opinion, that in any event, the country capable of settlement should
be withdrawn from the jurisdiction of the Hudson’s Bay Company, whose objects and
interests are admitted to be opposed to colonisation ” (Mx. Christy), instead thereof.

Question put, * That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the paragraph.”
The Committee divided : paragrap

Ayes, 8. Noes, 2.
Mr. Matheson. Mr. Christy.
Mr. Gregson. Mr. Fitzwilliam,
Mr. Gurney.
ir Jo n.
Lord Sandon.
Mr. Blackburn.

Paragraph 19 read, and agreed to.

[Adjourned to Friday, at One..

VYeneris, 31° die Julii, 1857.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Mr. LABOUCHERE in the Chair.

Mr. Matheson. Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Christy. Lord Sandon.

Mr. Gladstone. Colornel Herbert.
Mr. Roebuck. Lord Goderich.
Lord John Russell. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Mzr. Lowe.

Mr. Cliristy produced a document purporting to be resolutions passed at a meeting held
at the house of Mr. Philip Kennedy, in the Red River Settleraent, on the 26th May 1857,
and the same was read to the Committee.

The Committee resumed the consideration of the Draft Report.

Motion
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Motion made, and question proposed, *That this be the Report to The House.
Question put. The Committee divided :

Ayes, 6. Noes, 5.
Colonel Herbert. Lord Goderich.
Mr. Matheson. Mr. Christy.
Lord John Rassell. Mr. Gladstone.
Mr. Lowe. Mr. Roebuck.
Sir John Pakington. Mr. Fitzwilliam.
Lord Sandon.

Ordered, To Report, together with the Minutes of Evidence.

EXPENSES OF WITNESSES.

ComMminTEES of 1st and 2d Sessions, 1857,

N“g}b“ Expenses | Allowance | TOTAL

NAME PROFESSION From R my;m ; of during | Expenses
bsent
of or ﬁegme' m o:ney Absence | Allowed
WITNESS. CONDITION. | Whence Summoned. | jubder | popgpp | from o

C%:gt&fz. and beck. | Home, | Witnem.

£.0.d | L0 4L o d.
8ir John Richardson~ | Gentleman - - | Egsedale, Westmorland | Five -| 618 ~| 6 & ~112 8 -

J. MLaughlin - - | Gentleman - =~ | Belfast - - ~|Eight -| 0 = - 8 8 ~|17 8 -

Jamos Cooper »  « | Merchant - - | Bilston, Staffordshire | Three «{ 3 =« -} 8 3 ~-| 6 8 -~

TOTAL « ~ « £ |35 14 ~
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LIST OF WITNESSES.

Veneris, 20° die Februarii, 1857. Jovis, 21° die Maii, 1857.
John Ross, Es¢q. <« - -~ - p. 1| Mr.James Cooper - - - Pp.1g90
Zune, 23° die Februarii, 1857. Jovis, 28° die Maii, 1857.

Lient.-col. John Henry Lefroy, r.a. p. 12 | Hon. William Henry Draper, c.8. - p. 210
John Rae, Esq.. .0, - - p. 26

Jovis, 4° die Junii, 1857.
Jovis, 26° die Februarii, 1857. .
Hon. William Henry Draper, c.B. - p. 231

Sir George Simpson. - - - p. 44 Right Rev. David Anderson, p.n. -~ p. 231

Joseph Maynard, Esq. - - - p2g
Luna, 2° die Martii, 1857, ph Maynard, ksq P 247

Sir George Simpson - - - p. 78 Martis, 9° die Junit, 1857,

Mr. Williom Kernaghan = - p. 108 | g5eq Robert Roche, Esq. - - p.248
Captain David Herd - - -~ p.255

Jovis, 5* die Martiz, 1857, Mr. John Miles - - - - p.259
Mr. William Kernaghan - - p. 110

Hon. Charles William Wentworth Jovis, 11° die Junii, 1857.

Fitzwilliam, m.p. - p- 113 ‘ ]
Mr. Alexander Isbister- - - p. 120 | MP Jobn MTLaughlin - - - p.262
Rev. Griffith Owen Corbett - - p.137
Lune, 15° die Junii, 1857.
Lune, 9° die Martii, 1857. Richard Blanshard, Esq. - - p.-285
Rev. Griffith Owen Corbett - - p. 146 Li'eut.-colopel William Caldwell - p. 298"
Sir John Richardson, c.B. - - p.150 Richard King, Esq, M. - - p.312

C a7 .
Martis, 18° die Maii, 1857. Martis, 23° die Junii, 1857.

Colonel John Ffolliott Crofton -~ p. 16g Jz%mes Tennant, Bsq. - - - p3%0
Rear-Admiral Sir George Back Right Hon. Edward Ellice, m.p. - p. 322
F.RS., D.C.L. - p. 184 | Mr. Alexander Isbister- - - p. 353




MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

Veneris, 20° die Februarii, 1857.

M BERS PRESENT.

Mr. Adderley. Mr. Percy Herbert.
Mr. Bell. Mr. Kinnaird.

Mr. Blackburn. Mr. Labouchere.
Mr. Edward Ellice. Mr. Lowe.

Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam. Sir John Pakington.
Mr. Gladstone. Mr. Roebuck.

Mr. Gordon. Lord John Russell.
Mr. Grogan. Viscount Sandon.
Mr. Gurney. Lord Stanley.

Trae Ricur Hon. HENRY LABOUCHERE, 127 THE CHAIR.

John Ross, Esq., called in; and Examined.

¥ 1. Chairman.] I BELIEVE you are a Member of the Canadian Parliament 7—
es.

2. [How long have vou belonged to that body ?—Since 1848.

3. You were also, I think, a member of the Canadian Government for several
years ?—From 1851 until 1836.

4. What situations did you hold 7—I was first Solicitor-general, subsequently
Attorney-general, and afterwards Speaker of the Legislative Council.

5Y. You are aware of the objects for which this Committee has heen appointed ?
~Yes.

6. Has your attention ever been directed to the question of the affairs of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, in so far as they affect the interests of Canada ?— Yes.
I have thought very much upon the subject for several years. I do not profess
to be intimately acquainted with the affairs of the Hudson’s Bay Company, but
upon that branch of the subject with reference to how far it may affect Canada,
I have thought a great deal.

7. You have never yourself, I believe, been in the territory of the Hudson’s
Bay Company ?—Only upon the borders of their territories. I have never been
further westward than Lake Superior.

8. I think you are conuected with a railway in Canada >—Yes; I am at the
head of the trunk railway of Canada.

9. You have probably often considered the subject with reference to the
importance of extending communications in British North America ?—I have
thought very much of it.

10. Will you have the kindness to state to the Committee any views which you
may have been led to entertain upon this subject 2—The first subject, as it appears
to me, which has been very much discussed (at all events it is now being dis-
cussed in Canada), is the occupation of that part of the North American Continent
now under the control of the Hudson’s Bay Company. It is very much discussed
whether it is desirable that their privileges and control there should entirely
cease. I have considered that subject very much, and the opinion that I express
to the Committee of course I only give for what it is worth, and as my own
opinion. I believe that when the subject is well discussed and presented to the

0.25. A Canadian

J. Ross, Esq.

20 February 1837.
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Canadian public, it will then be considered somewhat in the light in which I
view it. [t is complained that the Hudson's Bay Company occupy that territory
and prevent the extension of settlement and civilisation in that part of the
continent of America. I do not think they ought, to be permitted to do that,
but [ think it would be a very great calamity if their control and power in
that part of America were entirely to cease. My reason for forming that opinion
is this: During all the time that I have been able to observe their proceedings
there, there has been peace within the whole territory. The operations of the
Company seem to have been carried on at all events in such a way as to prevent
the Indian tribes within their borders from molesting the Canadian frontier;
while, on the orher hand, those who have turned their attention to that quarter
of the world must have seen that from Oregon to Florida, for these last 30
years or more, there has been a cunstant Indian war going on between the
patives of the American territory on the one side and the Indian tribes on the
other. Now, I fear very much, that if the occupation of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, in what is called the Hudson’s Bay Territory, were to cease, our
fate in Canada might be just as it is with the Americans in the border settle-
ments of their territory.

11. How do you propose to reconcile the two purposes which you think
ought to be aimed at, namely, the power of allowing the spread of settlement
in such territory as is adapted for settlement, and yet maintaining the authority
of the Hudson’s Bay Company in any portion of their present dominions >—I
think the most desirable course, and the mwost convenient one, would be this:
So fast as the Canadian Government might wish to open up any part of the
country for settlement, which they might upon exploration find it would be
advantageous to open; say that they desired to open ten, twenty, or fifty town-
ships of land, I think the convenient course would be to' give notice to the
Hudson’s Bay Company, that in a certain space of time, say in one year, or two
vears, whatever period of time might be considered best and most fair, they
intended to make a survey of the space of country which they thought that they
could conveniently occupy for settlement, and the Hudson’s Bay Company
should be required to surrender that territory within the period of time ndi-
cated. If theyarranged to have what is called a post within the precincts of the
territory, 1 think a reservation ought in fairness to be made for them to setile
their people upon the land so to be surrendered.

12. Do you apprehend that there is any considerable extent of country near
the Canadian frontier which would be adapted for settlement and the babitation
of civilised men >—As 1 have already stated to the Committee, I have never
been within the territory myself; I have never been further westward than Lake
Superior, and all that I know of it is from what I have read and from_conver-
sations with some who have been born in the territory, and have gone up there
and gone across the continent several times, and from others who have travelled
over it once. I believe that at the west of Lake Superior, and from that to
the Red River, there are parts qf the country that might be very well settled.
I fancy that an impression prevails that the whole of it is good country. The
informaiion which I have received leads me to believe that the greater part of
the country is not good ; that is, that it is broken and intersected by swamps
to a very great extent. The country round the Red River is said to be very
good producing land indeed ; it is chiefly prairie land; I mean in the valley of
the Red River; and there is great difficulty in obtaining wood, as I am informed ;
and I am told that there is no coal on the Red River.

13. Do you think there would be any difficulty in establishing regular com-
munications between the Red River Settlement and the present province of
Canada, if any such arrangement as you have described could be effected —If
any project were mooted and were set afloat for carrying a railway across the
continent, I believe it is conceded that that portion of the continent of North
America over which the Queen’s Government extends is the most feasible route
that can be adopted. I believe that is conceded by all the Awmerican gentlemen
who have investigated the subject, and I think itis so accepted now.

14. You have heard that opinion generally expressed :—I have heard that
opinion expressed by leading and influential Americans who have investigated
the subject; I believe it is Mr. Whitney's opinion ; at least it is the impression
that that is his opinion.

15. What is about the distance from the Red River Settlement to the ex-

treme
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treme portion of the occupied part of Canada at the present moment to the west:—
I should think about 1,000 miles from the Sault St. Mary, at the foot of Lake
Superior, but I may be wrong, as there is no map in the room to which I can refer,

16. Have these questions only recently occupied public attention in Canada,
or have they been discussed for some time there :—I think it was during the
very last summer that the discussion first commenced upon the subject. The
question of the opening up of the territory has often for years been incidentally
mooted, but a regular discussion of the question has never arisen until the course
of the last summer, that I am aware of.

17. Do you think that it some arrangement could be made, such as that
which you have described, by which the Red River Settlement, for instance,
was taken out of the control of the Hudson'’s Bay Company, it could be con-
veniently governed and administered from Canada, or that it would be neces-
sary to have some form of local government ?—1 do not think that, at present,
it could be conveniently governed or administered by the Canadian Governmeat.
There should either be a railway constructed from the west end of Lake
Superior to the Red River Settlement, or a good broad open road cut out and
made ; and land, such as might be fit for cultivation, laid off on each side of it
for settlers to occupy, and as the occupation took place, and settlers went in, it
could be extended ; and in that way the Red River Settlement could be connected
with our present lines of communication.

18. With regard to the country more to the north and north-east. do you
imagine that there is any extent of country now belonging to the Hudson’s
Bay Company on the frontier of Canada, which it is probable would be occu-
pied for settlement within a few years?—1 think not; I do not think that in
that direction there is any territory which could be occupied, or that it is pro-
bable will be occupied. I know that the Hudson’s Bay Company held within
the Canadian boundary 2 section of country which was called the King's Posts.
They lay up towards the Labrador border, along the gulf of the St. Lawrence,
from below the Saguaney River. They surrendered those posts to the Canadian
Government, and during the time that I wus acting as Attorney-geperal in
Canada they were again leased to the Hudson’s Bay Company. It is not a
country which can be occupied with any advantage, because I believe that the
natives, and the people who are there connected with the Hudson’s Bay posts,
if the Hudson’s Bay Company were not there to assist them during severe
winters, would starve.

19. Mr. Roebuck.] Do you know anything about the territory round the
Saguaney River?—-I have been along the whole of the Saguaney River, navi-
gated by steamers.

20. Is not all the land at the Saguaney River very fertile ?—No ; I do not
consider it is.

Tll. Do you remember M. La Terriere being there?— Yes, I know him very
well.

22. 1t was his opinion, I believe, that it was a very fertile territory ?-—I may
state for the information of the Committee what I know to be the fact. T have
first of all been along the whole of the Saguaney River, during weather when
I had an opportunity of observing the shores on both sides. I have been at the
leading milling establishments on the river. It very often happens that when
grain is sown there in the spring of the year, it does not ripen in the fall.
That has very often happened during these last few years; almost every two
Years. The inhabitants living along the Saguaney River have suffered from that
cause ; and Dr. La Terriere has himself been at the head of deputations making
applications for assistance from the Government to keep the people from starving.
I believe that there are now quite as many people along the banks of the
Saguaney River as can be maintaived. I am aware that the opinion which I
am expressiog here may, perhaps, hurt the feelings of some of the gentlemen
who live in that part of the country, wlio would desire to have a large settlement
near them; but I must say, that I do not think it would be advantageous to the
settlers, or for any other purpose, that an increase in the number of inhabitants
should take ‘place there.

23. Chairman.] Has any inconvenience ever arisen from the circumstance of
the limits of Canada not being actually defined?—No; I think not. It is
desirable that they should be ; but up to this moment, I do not hnow that there
has been any inconvenience from that -cause.

24- In point of fact, are they. ascertained and defined very accurately to your

0.25. A2 mind ?
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mind :—They are not so accurately defined to my mind as is desirable. I have
never been able to discover the distinct boundaries.

25. Does that observation apply only to the country to the west, or does it
apply to the whole circuit of the boundary of Canada r—It applies more to the
country to the west. v .

26. The water-shed line is the recognised boundary to the north and north-
east, is it not i—That is taken to be the boundary. There is very often a dispute
as to where that is.

27. Mr. Kinnaird.] Are you not apprehensive that in that part of the terri-
torv which comes in contact with the United States, there will be settlements
made by the Americans, and that there will be difficulty bereafter, unless the
boundary is defined ’—The Americans are extending their settlements very
rapidly towards the Red River, and it is very important that that boundary
should be distinctly marked, aud as soon as possible. That is my opinion with
regard to that point.

28, Are any of them already, do you- think, coming over and settling on our
territory 7-—1It is stated that numbers have crossed the boundary; of course that
can only be ascertained by drawing the line.

2g. Lord Stanley.] At present the Red River Seitlement is not open to traffic
in any direction, except that traffic which comes by canoes >—It is not.

30. Is there, in your judgment, any probability of a line of communication
fit for traffic being established between the American settlements and the Red
River?—1 think it is tending to it very rapidly.

31. Do you know what the distance is from the nearest inhabited point within
the United States ?—I should think it about 400 or 500 miles. '

32. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Do not the Red River half-breeds continually
come down from the Red River Settlement to St. Paul’s ?—Certainly they do.

33. I think every summer they come down ?—They do; but they have to
cross a very large extent of territory on horseback to do so.

34. Do they not come down in their carts >—Yes, so I have been told; but "
a gentleman with whom I am very well acquainted, who recently crossed the
country from St. Paul's to the Red River, and who was born there, informed me,
I think, that it took him 16 days to cross from the last settlement to the north
of St. Paul’s, to the first settlement as he approached the Red River.

35. Mr. Edward Ellice.] You have never been there yourself, have you 2—No.

36. Chairman.] If a man wanted to go from this country to the Red River,
what route would he take as the easiest 7—By St. Paul’s.

37. Lord Stanley.] Through the United States ?—Yes.

58. Mr. Roebuck.] But if your scheme of a railroad were carried into effect,
he would go by that, would he not ?—Most unquestionably ; I should be very
glad to see a railway made.

39. Mr. Edward Ellice.] In whai direction do you propose to run that rail-
way from Canada to the Red River; you alladed to the railways contemplated
by Mr. Whitney and others; do you know that that scheme of railways is in
connexion with the Minesota scheme of railways ranning up from St. Paul's 2—
I do; the railway that I should desire to see carried out would be one to connect
with our own scl.eme of railways in Canada.

40. Are you at all aware of the practicability of a railway, except at a most
enormous expense, from the head of Lake Superior, from the Canada frontier,
to the Red River:—During the last 18 months an exploration has taken place
along the north shores of Lake Huron and a part of Lake Superior, and inland
from the borders of both lakes along the valley running westerly, and the report
of the gentlemen who were instructed to muke the survey represented the land
to be very good, bearing very fine timber, and to be well fitted for settlement ;
so that if we accomplished a connexion between the Canadian system of railways
and the Red River country, it would be through the valley to the north of Lake
Huron and Lake Superior until we got round Lake Superior.

41. The country of which I um speaking lies to the west of what I under-
stand to be the Canadian boundary, taking the water-shed as the boundary; it
runs about 500 or 600 miles from the extreme west end of Lake Superior, from
the extreme west Loundary of Canada to the Red River; I suppose your atten-
tion has not been directed to that country ?—The extension of a railway over
that country is just that of which 1 have been speaking; you would only have
to make a curve if you could find a valley and get out of it at the west end of
Lake Superior upon this country which I have been mentioning.

42. Your
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42. Your surveyors have not been through that country ?—No. J. Ross, Esq.
43. Mr. Roebuck.] Where does your railwsy end?—It is now very neally ——w—
carried to Lake Huron ; there is another railway connecting with it which also 20 February 1857.

runs to Lake Huron, but it runs north from Toronto to Nottawassaga Bay.

44. Isuppose you require Acts of the colopial Parliament to enable you to
make those railroads *—We do.

45. How far have you got Acts of the colopial Parliament enabling you to
do s0’—We have an Act of the colonial Parliament authorising the construc-
tion of a branch from a town called Belleville, near the head of the Bay of
Quinty, an arm of Lake Ontario, northerly to Lake Huron; that is the furthest
point to which the branch goes ; by extending that line you could get into the
valley to the north of Lake Huron, of which I have been speaking, and over
which an extension to the Red River might be made. '

46. You centemplate the extension of that railway to the north of Lake Huron
and to the north of Lake Superior >—Yes, when we can get settlements and get
it carried out.

47. The extension of the railway, I suppose, is dependent upon the settle-
ment of the country ?—Very much, I think.

48. Do you believe that a country can be settled which is retained for hunting
ground :—1 do not.

4g. Then the hunting ground is incompatible with the settlement of the
country }—That is my own impression, merely speaking from my own notion
of the matter, without being a practical hunter; we find, as a matter of fact,
that the wild animals recede from the settlements.

' 50. Then the exclusive power of the Hudson’s Bay Company over the country,
as a fur-hunting company, is opposed to colonization ?—1 think if the Hudson’s
Bay Company asserted their power over any part of the country that is fit for
cultivation, it would be an obstacle if they resisted the settlement of it.

51. In fact, then, the contemplated extension of the railway by you is incom-
patible with retaining the power now possessed by the Hudson’s Bay Company ?
—It would be so most certainly, if they resisted the giving up of any of the
territory fit for the purposes of settlement.

52. That is to say, that so long as they retain their power over the country
which can be settled, it will not be settled?—I do not say that, because I do
not know what they are willing to do; I have had no conference with them, and
Iam rot able to say whether they are willing to give up the country which is
fit for settlement.

53. But it is 10 be supposed that a fur company promote the interests of a
fur company >—It would be reasonable to suppose so.

54. Then those interests which are contemplated by the extension of the
railway are opposed to the interests of that Company ?—As I tell you, that must
depend entirely upon whether they would resist our carrying a railway through
their country ; they might give up their rights there; it may be that there are
not furs there now, or that they might think it more advantageous to have
settlements which would afford them supplies, where they could get corn, grain,
beef and pork more cheaply than they could bring them from abroad; I do not
know what their views are, for I have not conversed with any of the members
of the Company upon the subject.

55. Have you ever contemplated a scheme of colonization by the Canadian
Government like to that"which is now pursued by the American Government ?—
I bave never contemplated it in any other way than I indicated, 1 think, in my
second or third answer to Mr. Labouchere ; which is, that so fast as any part of
the country adjacent to the settled parts of Capada is r:xquired for purposes of
settlement, 1 think we ought to have the power of settling it, and I think that
the Hudson’s Bay Company ought to be required to give it to us.

56. 1 suppose you are perfectly familiar with the system of colonization on the
part of the United States under the Ordinance ot 1783 ?—Yes, 1 think I know
the whole of the system as it is pursued.

57. Have you ever contemplated the propriety of giving that power to the
colonial Government to make territories after the fashion of the American
Governmenti—It was at one time spoken of in Canada, und it was considered
that there would be very great difficulties connected with it ; I may mention a
fact which probably will be within your recollection; I think ' was in the year

0.25. A3 1849.
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1849. The Canadian Government had previously granted licences to certain
companies for mining purposes on Lake Superior ; one company, I think it was
called the Quebec Company, took possession of an island, Michipicoton Island
in Lake Superior, and established works there. Certain indians, the Garden
River Indians. known as the Garden River Tribe, and certain half-breeds,
asserted that they had a right over thcse lands for which a licence had been
granted, and they went by force and took possession of the Island of Michipi-
coton and of the works of the mining company. Thke Canadian Government of
course arrested the parties, and so far as the Indians were concerned, upon the
expression of their contrition for doing wrong, they were forgiven, and in the
end a compensation was given to them to surrender their rights; but that cost
the Canadian Government so much money, that I think whatever they might
have considered as regards colonization, they have felt very much alarmed at
the idea of getting into contact with Indians since.

58. Then I understand your objection to be, that money should be paid by
the Canadian Government. If it were paid by the Imperial Government
I suppose you would see no jection to that compensation being made :—The
question of compensation as regards the Imperial Government I have not raised
at all. I think if the Canadian Government required for purposes of settlement
any portion of the territory which is not now within tHeir borders, sach com-
pensation as might be considered fair they might fairly be called upon to pay.

59. Youdid not perceive the force of my first question. When they acquired
land beyond their borders, I propounded to you the inquiry whether you
thought it better that the acquired territory should be made a territory, or
aggregated to Canada?—1 do not think that under the system of government
which exists in Carada now, such a course of acquiring new territory, and
governing it by means of territorial government, would be convenient or
conducive to the interests of Canada. 1 think they had better take what land
they may require for purposes of actual settlement, say to the extent of 10, 20,
30, or 50 townships of lind, and so fast as they want more, obtain it in the
way I have sucgested, by notice to the Hudson’s Bay Company, than that they
should get a large extent of country with tribes of Indians, perhaps, occupying
it, and perhaps a border difficulty, or war to deal with; I think that would not
be advisatle.

fio. Would not the difficulty arise just as much whether you acquired 20
settlements or townships or 307?-—It might in that proportion of 2G and 30:
but if notice were given to the Hudson’s Bay Company that within 12 months
or two years the Canadian Goversment desired to occupy such pari of the
country as might be fitted for settlement, the Indians whom the Hudson’s Bay
Company employ and deal with, finding that settlements were to be established,
it might become a question of compensation to the Indians to leave their
hunting ground, which I think the Canadian Government should pay, and they
would remove off that part of the territory, or not continue to occupy it. The
thing, I hope, would be fairly and equitably done as regards the Indians, and
in that way I think difficulties perhaps would not ensue. But if vou take a
very large extent of territory, and by so doing take away the employment
which the Hudson’s Bay Company at present give to trives of Indians, and leave
them in want, they may perhaps find means of helping themselves, and theyv may
come down upon the border settlements. _

01. Mr. Kinnaird.] You rather think that the fact of the occupation given to
the Indians by the Hudson’s Bay Company has been a protection to the border
country ?—1I am clearly of that opinion.

62. Mr. Adderley.] To what degree do you think the Canadian Government
could extend its system of administration from head quarters *—At present Iam
not sure that it would be convenient to extend it at all. ‘

03. Talking of the extension of the colony of Canada, do you consider that it
could, by degrees, take in the whole of the habitable part of the [udson’s Bay
territory 7—I think so.

64. Under the Government of Canada, without any local or subordinate
system ? —Yes, I think so, in case they could lay off the townships; but the fact
is, thar it would not be desirable to settle them any faster than that.

65. The compensation which you suggest, I suppose would be from the
Canadian territory, both to the Hudson’s Bay Compauny and to the Indians 7—

1 have not suggesied any compensation at all. I only say that if the giving of
' compensation
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compensation be equitable and fair, if the Canadian Government require the
territory for purposes of settlement, whatever that compensation may be, I think
it fair that they should meet it.

66. Compensation tn both parties, the Company and the Indians >—To both
parties, if any compensation should be paid. If the Hudson'’s Biy Company
surrender a territory fit for settlement, which of course should only be where the
Canadian territory approaches it, I am not sure that for that any compensation
should be given. I only suggest that if they are called upon to give up posts,
they should be allowed to retain a certain portion of the land for their employés
about them, and hold it as a part of their own property. .

67. When you speak of the possibility of carrying out a railway depending
upon settlement, might it not be possible that the more distant parts might be
settled first, and that the railway might pay as the means of thoroughfare to
the furthest point >—The usual way of beginning such a settlement is by cutting
a grod broad road through the territory which you intend to open up, and then
laying off your allotments of land on each side for actual settlers. That would,
I suppose, be usually the first process before the raillway was attempted to be
made. You would carry on the thing in that way by degrees.

68. Talking of a great coutinent like that, suppousing Vancouver's Island and
the western side of the Rocky Mountains settled, although the part between that
and Canada was still wiid, might not a railway be a very feasible plan as a means
of thoroughfare to that part which was settled 2—I think it might, but I think
that more of an imperial question than a colonial one.

69. Do you think that too large an experiment for Canada to make ?—Yes,
with her present resources.

7v. If the whole of the Hudson's Bay territory were settled, do you not think
that Vancouver’s Island would be most attractive to settlers r—Yes.

71. Long before the intervening portion of the territory between that and the
western side of Canada could come into settlement ?—So far as my information
goes, that is the best for settlement, and would be the first settled.

J. Ross, Esq.
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72. The idea of a railroad, ultimately, is not so much for the benefit of the -

interior of the country, as for a means of thoroughfare and access to harbours
on the western coast of America, is it ?—That is so, and for the through trade
from China and India. The construction of that railway is a most important
subject ; apart entirely from the opening of the country through which it would
pass.

73. Mr. Gordon.] Are you aware that a society has been established, at
‘Toronto, for the purpose of forming a colonization to the west of Lake Superior,
betieen that and the Lake of the Woods ?—1I believe there are certain gentlemen
at Toronto very anxious to get up a second North-west Company, and I dare say
it would result in something like the same difficulties which the last North-west
Company created ; I should be very sorry to see them succeed. { think it would
do a great deal of harm, creating further difficulties for Canada, which I do not
desire to see created,

74. You do not know anything of the nature of the society or association,
recently formed, and what weight deserves to be attached to it?—I do know
several of the gentlemen who are moving io it; I know that at least one of
them was very ipstrumental in making the difficulty which was made with the
Garden River Indians. and the half-breeds in 1849, of which I have been
speaking. I believe he was at their head at the time that they seized upon
and took possession of the Quebec Company’s works upon the island of
Michipicoton.

75. Then you do not apprehend that there is any general wish, on the part
of the people of Canada, to have that portion of the country added to what they
now have :—1I believe there is a general wish that so fast as the territory can
be occupied, for purposes of settlemeni, means should be taken that it should be
80 occupied.

76. Do you believe that those portions of the territory, capable of being
colonized, are such as to afford sufficient attractiveness to bring colonists to that
distance, in preference to more attainable points of settlement, much nearer the
settled parts of Canada —1I should say not at present; 1 should say they much
prefer the ncarer lands to more distant ones.

77. Mr. Roebuck.] Do you say that from your experience of colonization in
the United States ?—1I say it from my knowledge of public affairs in Canada

0.25. A4 solely ;
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solely; I speak of what I think desirable for the Canadian Government aud
people.

78. Do you know the extent to which new territories are created by the
United States 7—-I know the usual process.

79. I refer to the extent of territory over which they pass; take Iowa, for
instance’—lowa has been settling for these last 20 years; 1 believe the first
settlements in Iowa were made in 1834 or 1835.

80. When Iowa was begun to be settled there were very large masses of
unsettled land, but still people went to Iowa ?—There were, but they were not
very good lands, poor lands. ‘

81. Chairman.] Iowa, I believe, is a country of remarkable fertility ?—1It is.

82. Mr. Roebuck.] But on the Gennessees there were very large quantities of
very fertile land unoccupied :—If there were, they were held at so high a price
that it was not within the means of the class of settlers to occupy them; they
were held, for instance, at the rate of 100 dollars, or about that ; they could not
be hought for twice that now.

83. Before lowa was settled, did they not create a new territory west of lowa ?
—My impression is that they did not; I think the territory of Wiscousin was a
little before that time begun to be settled, and within the next year or so, Iowa
was thrown off, but I do not think that previously to the opening of the Iowa
Settlement, there was any country to the west of it at ali.

84. Before Iowa was filled up, they began a new territory west of lowa ?—
They did.

8.);. Might not that same circumstance occur in Canada, that, before Canada
was filled up, people might travel farther westward ?—You will observe that all
these territories are adjacent to settlements ; for instance, if a settlement began
on Iowa, there would be a starting point for the settlement of a territory beyond;
but when you have a space of 1,800 miles intervening, as in the case of the
Oregon territory, and probably more than that, it does not seem to me a con-
venient course of settlement. :

86. Is that accurate respecting the Oregon territory ; that was not contiguous
g) any territory whatsoever >—The Oregon territory was not settled from

anada.

87. T am talking of a settlement from the United States ?—Oregon had been
partially settled before the United States got possession of it.

38. I am endeavouring to point cut to you that Oregon 1is an isolated terri-
tory, far from any other settled territory, and still people go there?—If people
go there, they usually go by sea; at least, they did so until the overland route
to California was established. Of course, it is well enough known that a few
persons had travelled across the continent before that time, but very few persons,
however ; and in going there they went round by sea; now there is no way of
getting round by sea to the Red River Settlement. If you go there vou must
either go directly across the country from the west end of Lake Superior, or you
can take the better route through the United States, und by St. Paul’s.

89. Mr. Charles Fitzwtlliam.] Is it not the fact that, annually, at least 4,000
emigrants cross from the Missouri River to the Oregon territory *—I sliould
doubt it; I am not inclined to believe it. ;

9o. To California 2—I am not able to say the number.

9t. Chairman.] Is not settlement progressing fast in the vicinity of the Red
River, on the American side of the frontier 7—Not in the vicinity, I think.
I stated awhile ago that I thought it was at least 400 or 500 miles from the
last settlement to the north of St. Paul’s, to the first settlement at the Red
River.

92. Sir John Pakington.] Do you mean that there is no intervening settlement
whatever in those 400 or 500 miles r—1I believe there is no intervening settle-
ment; I may overstate the distance a couple of hundred miles.

93. Mr. Grogan‘% There are railways running into St. Paul’s, are tiere not,
or very near it ?—Within a few miles.

94. Are any extensions of those lines contemplated, in the direction of the
Red River, which would shorten the distance that way *—1I think the Americans,
who are interested in those roads, contemplate their extension. I do not know
anything about those companies, beyond the fact that one year you have no
railroad at all, and the next year a great many miles are made.

95. Mr. Edward Ellice.] I think you said just now that Mr. Whitney, who

had
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had surveved that territory, had gone all the way north there’—Yes; and I
believe he has been across the continent there.

96. Mr. Adderley.) What is the nature of the country there, north of St.
Paul's 2—A very good country, I believe.

97. Is it more or less squatted upon by stragglers beyond the settlements?—
That is the way the settlement is now going on.

98. What is the first point of actual settlement within what you would call
the squatting district ——The latest information that I have upon the subject is
in a work of Mr. Oliphant’s, and in conversation with a gentleman who went
across the country, and I believe there is no settlement at all. Mr. Oliphant
has written a work called “ Minesota and the Far West,” giving an:account of
a trip which he made from the hcad of Lake Superior across the country to
the river above St. Paul’s, and he came down that river, and so homeward.
I believe there are po settlements between the most southerly point of the Red
River Settlement, and the most northerly point of the St. Paul's Settlement.
I believe there is a space of from 400 to 500 miles without settlers; there is
a long extent of country where there is not even a squatter.

99. Mr. Roebuck.] Have you any notion whether any attempt has been
made to number the Indians upon the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany >—There is a work of Sir George Simpson’s which I remember to bave
read. I think it is called - A Voyage round the World,” or some such title
as that, in which, 1 think, he gives some account of the numbers of the
Indians approximately. That is the only authority that [ have seen upon the
subject.

iloo. You have no knowledge of what the numbers of the Indians are upon
that territory, which you suppose may eventually become inhabited from Canada ¢
—No; the Canadian Government has no information upon the subject.

101. Then you have no grounds for an opinion as to the danger arising
from the opposition on the part of those Indians ?—I know that there are large
numbers of Indians within the territory, from the statement of Sir George
Simpson, for instance; I know it from others who were born on the territory,
and have grown up in it, and who have come to this country to be educated,
who say that there are large numbers ; but I would not attempt to give to the
Committee a statement o anything like the exact numbers, for I am not suffi-
ciently informed.

102. Chairman.] Is it not the case that that part of the territory of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company which is valuable for the fur trade is not the part which is
properly adapted for settlement, but is rather a more northern and a colder
part #—That is our impression in Canada, but in that we may be wrong.

103: Mr. Blackburn.] I think you say that you know no parties in Canada
wishing to settle the Hudson’s Bay territories *—There are parties who wish to
get up another North-West Company.

104. An opposition company ?—Some company who will lead to profitable
speculation. I do not think any person seriously desires to settle any of the
Hudson’s Bay territory at present.

105. Mr. Gordon.] The association of which I spoke is not a fur company at
present, is it ?—It might be converted into anything.

J. Ross, Esq.
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106. Lord Stanley.] Can you state to what extent occupation has gone on

up the Ottawa River 7~—i could send, I think, from papers which I have in my
possessiot:, the last census returns on the Ottawa.

107. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Are you aware that the Government has offered
4,000,000 of acres on the Ottawa to any company who will undertake a railway
there 2—1 am.

108. Mr. Hoebuck.] How near do the bead waters of the Ottawa approach to
the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Company ?*—You go north to the watershed,
I suppose, towards Hudson’s Bay.

109. Have the boundaries between Canada and Hudson’s Bay ever been
settled >—I think not on the west.

110. That is on the north >—7That would be north-west.

1:1. Mr, Lowe.] Has the valley of the Ottawa ever been completely sur-
veyed ?—The greater part of it.

112. Are there not some of the tributaries not yet surveyed, or traced ?—Yes;
a great deal of the valley has been surveyed, however.

0.25. B 113. Is
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113. Is the valley at all completely settled 2—1It is not.

114. A very small portion of it?-—A considerable portion of it; it is merely
a narrow.strip of settlement so far. as the north shore of the Ottawa is:con-
cerned.

115. Do you think that persons will be likely to go on, and settle on the Red
River, till thz good land on the shores of the Ottawa is taken up *—I think not,
from my own experience.

116. Mr. Rocbuck.] Does that arise from experience of the United States
I speak from what I think are the dispositions of the Canadian people.

117. I am speaking.now.of emigrants ?—1I think that emigrants would prefer
.getting good and- cheap land as ncar the great lines of communication as
possible.

118. Is that the case'in America r—1I think so. )

119. Would you say that that is the case in the United ‘States, that large
territories have not been colonised, when very ‘large portions of: very fertile land
lying intermediately have remained uncolonised for a long time ?—1I know that
it has so happened, but they have always a starting point ; they have always a
settlement adjacent to them. '

120. Is that true *—1I think so as a rule.

121. I point out Oregonf—I told you that they went there .in ships; they
had communication in that way,

122. They had no place lying near Oregon?—They have now California. to
the south of them ; but the settlement of Oregon first began frum sea; there
was an occasional pilgrimage across the country, at intervals of long years, of a
few people ; but it began by sea, and it chiefly goes on in that way now; they
go across the country now in part: to California, and partly by sea; from
California they go northwards in ships and steamers.

123. Mr. Kiniaird.| I gather f.omn your evidence that you think that what
is taking place in the United States is no guide for what would take place in
Canada; do you think there is a difference of feeling altogether among the two
people?—{ believe they all desire to get land as fast as they can on both

-sides.

124. Lord John Russell.] Is there any difficulty in governing people at a
great distance from the seat of government in Canada, with regard to police or
the collection of taxes?—No; if land be laid out in ownships for settlement
under the authority of the Government, it is included in the adjacent county,
and it comes within the municipal regulations of the county within which it’is
included.

125. Chairman.] But I believe you stated that you thought a settlement at
so great a distance as the Red River is from Canada would be, at present at
least, an inconvenient adjunct to the proviuce of Canada ? — Yes.

126. Mr. Gordon.] Until a rdad and railway were made >—Yes, until means
of communication are opencd up. [ think if the Canadian Government desired
to settle any pait of the country west of Lake Superior, and desired to bring
the Red River Settlement under their control, they would first begin by cutting
a broad road through some good land next Lake Superior, and laying off allot-
ments of land, and promoting the occupation in that way.

127. Chairman.] You think that accessibility should first be established, and
that then annexativn might follow 2—VYes.

128. Mr. Gordon.] Do you say that accessibility alune would be sufficient,
or accessibility and the annexation of the colony ?—1 thiuk it desirable to have
access first. and afterwards the annexation of the colony.

129. Is it not practically found that a population consisting, as that of the
Red River Settlement does, of a very great proportion of half-breeds aad
Indians, is more difficult to sovern than one consisting entirely. of whites ?—1I
think so; all halt-breeds are difficult to' govern. I speak now particularly of
the difficulties which they created in connection with the mining licences.

130. You think a half-breed population is more difficult to govern than a
white one *—I think it is less governed by those rules of order and that sense of
propriety which prevail in a white population.

131. Then that fact would inciease the difficulty of governing the Red River
Settlement ?—1I think it would.

132. Mr.
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132. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Do you think it would be possible to-govern the
Réd River Settlement, from the head seat of zovernment in Canada, until there
were good communications made between those two parts of the country—I
think it would be possible, but very inconvenient, and that the country would
not: be: well governed. .

133. Are you aware that for seven or eight months in the year it would be

impossible to communicate from Toronto with the Red River, except through

the United States*—1I think it would be impossible, or nearly so, at present.

134. Lord Stanley.] You do not mean that mails could not be sent ?—1I think
it would be almost impossible to send mails in the present:state of the commu-
nications.

135. Mr. Roebuck.] Could not the country govern itself ?—1I dare say it could.

136. Do not they do it in the United States —Not in small communities.

137. Take. a. territo:y; do not they immediately form a government :—
When a territorial government is authorised they immediately form that govern-
ment.

138..Could not.that be done in the Red River Settlement :—1 dare say it
could.

139. Chairman.] Do you know what the rules are upon the subject —There
is a law of Congress of the United States fixing it.

140. Mr. Edward Ellice.] What effect do you suppose would be produced
upon the Indian population by forning the Red River Settlement into a
separate territory for government uunder its present circumstances?—I think
experience has shown that in the United States, wherever these governments
have been formed, they have' come into collision with the Indians on their
borders.

141. Are you aware of the war which is at present going on in the Oregon
territory !—I know from the newspapers that there is a war going on there, and
that it has been going on for some time.

142. Mr. Gladstone.] Will you explain yovr answer as to the impossibility of
communication with the Red River for several months in the year except through
the United States 2—There are points of settlement along the north shore of
Lake Huron, extending up to Garden River, and so on, up *o St. Mary. During
a great part of the year the mails are carried from Penetanguishine across the
ice to the different points where they are desired to be left.

143. On Lake Huron ?—On Lake Huron; that is the only way in which the
mails are carried during winter ; very often the ice is in such a dangerous state
that the crossing may not'be made for a month; the Bruce mine is anuther
point, and the Island of St. Joseph’s another, and there are other large islands
lying adjacent to the north coast of Lake Huron and so up to St. Mary's Falls
at the foot of Lake Superior. When you take into cousideration the great
depth of the snow, the thinness of the settlements, and the fact that you have
to carry the mails on foot across the ice, I think till you really carry the
settlement into the valley to the north of Lake Superior, you are completely cut
off frc;lm.cummunication through Canada with the Red River during the winter
months.

144. What was the route through the United States which you indicated as
possible :—Round by St. Paul’s, and from St. Paul’s to the Red River.

145. Mr. Roebuck.] There is no difficulty, then, in your view in settling the
north shore of Lake ITuron or the north shore of Lake Superior ? ~Judging from
the reports which we have had during the Jast 12 months from our surveyors,
there is no.difficulty.

146. So that if settlement went on there would be no difficulty. in opening the
Red-River:—If settlement went on there would be no difficulty, as far as I am
informed, in settling the Red River. .

147. Then the idea which some people have got into their heads of an impass-
able morass between Lake Superior and the Red River is in your opinion incor-
rect 7—Lhat it is impassable is, I think, incorrect. I have been told by those
who have travelled across the country that there is a great deal of swamp there;
I believe there is more broken and bad land than good lying in that country
between Lake Superior and the Red River Settlement.

148. But you think it possible to run a railway there 7— Quite.

149. Mr:. Edward Ellice.] What is the distance, do you think, in mwiles, from
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the western portion of the Ottawa to the head of Lake Superior, near the country
that vou have been talking of, where 2 railway may be run; is it 1,000 miles ?—
It is about 800 I should think.

15v. Mr. Bell.] What is the distance from the most distant point of Lake
Superior to the Red River Settlement >—In round numbers, 1,000 miles from the
Sault St. Mary.

151. Mr. Koebuck.] What is the extent of your contemplated railway, from
the point to which you have now obtained an Act of Parliament, to the point
which you contemplate eventually >—~We dcsire to have it carried across the
continent, believing that it will be for the interests both of the Imperial and of
the Canadian Government; and we think that the trade with China and India
might be drawu over that line of communication. Perhaps it is taking rather a
long flight. )

152. You cuntemplate, then, going across the Rocky Mountains to Van-
couver’s Island 7—Yes, we hope to see it extended there in time.

153. How far is it from the head of your present railway concession, if I
may use that term, to the Red River?—It is upwards of 1,200 miles, I should
think.

154. Then the railway to get to the Red River would pass to the north of
Lake Hurbn and the north of Lake Superior >—Yes.

155. And you think it perfectly feasible >—As at present informed, I do.

156. Mr.Gordun.] 1s-it not the fact that the banks of the Saguenay are
extiemely precipitous and inaccessible, and that that is one of the difficulties in
the way of having a prosperous settlement there ?—The banks are very pre-
cipitous : but I was speaking of those parts which are cultivated.

157. The valleys 2—The valleys.

Lune, 23° dic Februarii, 1857.
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Lieutenant-Colonel Jokn Henry Lefroy, Royal Artillery, called in;
and Examined.

158. Chairman.] 1 BELIEVE you are connected with the War Department —

J. H. Lefroy, r.a. T am; 1 am Inspector-general of Army Schools.

T———

159. Have you had occasion to become acquainted with British North

23 1ebrurey 1857, A erica F—-1 resided 11 vears in North America, and passed nearly two years

in the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

160. In what capacity did you visit the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany 7—I was employed under the general direction of the Royal Society to
make magnetical observatious over the whole of the accessible portion of their
territory.

161. In the performance of that task did you travel very much over the ter-
ritories of the Hudson’s Bay Company >—1I visited almost the entire region;

every place of any consequence on the east side of the Rocky Mountains.ﬁ Did
162. Di
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162. Did you go at all to the west side of the Rocky Mountains ?—Not
at all.

163. The Commiitee will be glad to hear your opinion of the physical state
of that country with reference to the capacity for cultivation and settlement ?—
The general opinion which I was led to form was, that agricultural settlement
can make but very slender progress in any portion of that region.

164. Did you visit the Red River Settlement *—I did.

Liecut.-Colonel
J. H, Lefioy, R.A.

23 February 1857.

165. Is not that a part of the country very well adapted for agricultural pur- .

poses 7—The Red River Seitlement is pretty well adapted for them, although it
does not bear comparison with the best parts of the British American colonies ;
but it forms but a small proportion of the whole region.

166. Do you mean to apply. the observation which you have made (o the
country generally that borders upon the limits of Canada at present ?—I should
apply it particularly to that country, so far as my observation goes. As we pro-
ceed (o the interior, we do come to a region in the neighbourhood of the Rainy
Lake, and between the Rainy Lake and the Lake of the Woods, which seems to
me to jossess agriculural facilities. It seems to bave the conditions of soil and
climate not much more unfavourable, perhaps not more unfavourable, than in
‘many pans of Lower Canada.

167. When you say that you think that, generally speaking, there is not much
land contained in the territories to the east of the Recky Mountains bevond the
borders of Canada, which is calculated for settlement and cultivation, do you say
that chiefly on account of the nature of the soil, or on account of the nature of
the climate :— On account of both causes. With regard to tlhie nature of the
soil, a very large portion of the region is primitive in geological formation,
almost entirely denuded of soil. The frosts are so intense, that over a very
large portion the soil is permanently frozen. ‘The seasons are so short and so
uncertain, that crops are liable to be cut off by unseasonable frosts at periods
that make it almost impossibie for the husbandman to reckon with any certainty
on a return.

168. Do you know the Saskatchewan district 7—I have been once up and once
down the River of Saskatchewan.

169. Is there no land in that district which you think would be susceptible
of cultivation and fit for settlement 7—Undoubtedly there is such land in that
district, and it is along that district, and a little to the north and south of it, that
the agricultural land is to be found. Cultivation has actually been tried with
some success at Fort Cumberland, on the Saskatchewan ; wheat has grown there,
with uncertainty, however, from the cause I alluded to just now, but still suffi-
ciently to add greatly to the comforts of the residents of the district.

170. Are you acquainted with the country which belongs to the United States
to the south of the border between the two countries ?7—I am not.

171. Lord Stanley.] You spoke of an attempt at cultivation in the neighbour-
hoot! of Fort Cuimnberland. The setitlement at Fort Cumberland, 1 believe, was
not made for any purpose of colonisation, but simply as a trading post:—
Entirely so; but there was a small attempt at settlement on a spot immediately
adjoining, called on the maps the Basquiau River, but commonly called in the
country the Pas; a settlement of civilised or christianised Indians has been
formed there for the last 10 or 12 years, and they have succeeded, in some degree,
in cultivating the ground.

172. Do you know what crops arise there?—They grow wheat, barley,
potatoes, and various vegetables.

173. Mr. Roebuck.] Do they grow any Indian corn?—No. I believe that
Indian corn will not ripen except by matter of accident in that region.

174. Mr. Grogan.] With regard to the wheat, was it a crop that could be
dependel upon at all 2—I am inclined to think not, but [ do not speak with
much confideuce.

175. Or the potatoes 2—The potatoes could be depended upon, I believe.
I never heard that they had had any disease. In all instances in which these
crops grow the returns are exceedingly small.

176. Will they ripen ? — Yes, but you do not get the same crop in proportion
as you do in more genial countries.

77- Do oate: grow there >—1 never heard of their being tried, but they would,
no doubt.

178. Mr. Rozbuck.] Do not oats grow more northerly than wheat r — Certainly.

0.25. B3 179. It
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179. If wheat would grow there oats would grow there ?—According to the
best data we have, which are very imperfect, wheat will grow where the mean
summer temperature gets up to 59°, and Fort Cumberland is pretty near the limit
of that.

180. Mr. Grogan.] Do you mean that it will ripen 2—Yes.

181. Mr. Bell.] Are you acquainted with the statement of Sir Alexander
Mauckenzie, that he saw on the Elk River a kitchen garden as fine as any in
the world ? --I do not remember that particular statement, but I dare say it is
true.

182. Have you recason to believe it is correct ?—Yes ; most vegetables, or any-
thing requiring a short summer, will grow there very well. The summer, while
it lasts, is a very genial one, although there happen in it frosts; but if a little
care is taken in covering the things over they grow very well. I have seen near
Norway House, at the top of Lake Winnipeg, rhubarb, peas, cabbages, and many
othier vegetables growing with success.

183. Mr. Grogan.] But ‘it would be impossible to cover in the crops on a
large scale ?-~Quite so.

184. Mr. Roehuck.] Wheu does the winter begin upon the Saskatchewan River?
—The Committee could get very accurate data upon that subject by calling for
a return of the dates-at which the traders at each post leave their district with
their boats, because they invariably do that the moment the ice in the river
breaks up; and it is hardly fair to consider that the spring begins till that time;
as to the winter, the weather gets very cold, I believe, and such as to occasion
hard frosts, early in October, but the region is very large.

185. I pointed your attention to the Saskarchewan River; when does .the
winter begia there ;(—JI am unable to answer that gnestion.

186. Then you do not know when the winter ends there ?—1I can only speak
from general impressions, but not with statistical accuracy ; the winter, speakiag
roundly, may be considered, upon the Saskatchewan River, to last from October
to April, both months inclusive.

187. Then summer, be2inning iu April, begins earlier than it does in Canada ?
—There is an intermediate season belween winter and summer, namely,
spring.

188. Spring begins earlier than it does in Canada if it begins in April 2-—Am
I to speak of Eastern Canada or of Western Canada? I shall have the greatest
pleasure in preparing myself to give the most accarate information I can upon
this point on another occasion. 1 cannot state any precise data, but can only
speak in a general way.

189. Lord Stunley.] From your experience of Canada, and of the Hudson's
Bay territory, have you formed any opinion respecting that which is said by
many persons to exist, namely, a gradual amelioration of the climate?—
1 have met with no facts which give me any such impression, nor should I
credit it.

190. In your opinion, taking the country which you refer to as the most
favourable part for cultivation of the Hudson's Bay territory, namely, that
between the Rainy Lake and the Lake of the Woods, is there anything in that
country which woul:! be likelv to attract settlers who have the unsettled lands
of Canada at present open / —There are always a class of adventurers who will
push to the most remote reszion wherever it is. bt if they were acquainted with
the relative advantages of the two positions I do not think they would choose the
former.

191. Lord Johrn Russell] With regard to any settlement that you are
acquainted with, who are the class of people that go and muake settlemeunts;
are they from Canada, or are they from the United States ; take the Red River
Scttlement and others ?—The Red River Settlement is, I believe, composed almost
entirely of persons sent out by Lord Selkirk about 35 years ago. The Hudson’s
Bay Company did not, within my information, add to the settlement, except by
the importation of a limited number, I think about 20 families, from Lincolnshire,
perhaps 20 years ago; I think it was about the year 1838; the rest of the
population is made up of half-breeds and French Canadians, who have straggled
there from all directions. The purely English element is not very large. The
Hudson’s Bay Company make little use of Lnglish labour; they make use of
Scotch and Orkney labour, and there are a good many Scotck and Orkney men

there.
192. Is
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192. Is there any part of the territory that you are acquainted with to which
persons who go to the far West from the United States seem desirous to go?
—1I think not ; the difficulty of access is so very great that it never has attracted
emigration, I think, from any quarter ; it bad not done so down to the time
that I speak of, from the south.

193. You have not since hcard that there is any great desire to settle in
those districts either from Canada-or from the United States?—I know that
there are many persons in Canada who have a strong impression that it is a
productive region for settlement ; 1 do not think. anything that can. be called a
pressure in that direction exists.

194. Mr. Roebuck.] Do you know the United States territory in Minesota at
all?—I do not.

195. That is just south of the line running between the two territories F—
Yes.
196. And it is about, I think, the latitude of Quebec; directing your atten-
tion to that line, you see there a river.called the Red River >— Yes.

197. Do you know that at all >—I know .the Red River rupning into Lake
Winnipeg, but not the Red River running into the. Missouri.

198. I speak of the Red River running into Lake Winnipeg ; looking at,that

river running out of Minesota into the territories of the liudson’s Bay Com-
pany, do you know whether, on the northern parts of that river, the banks.are
habitable, or not 7—The Red River Settlement occupies, in a straggling manner,
about 50 miles of the course of the Red River itself, and a portion of that
ground is under cultivation ; not very much, because the habits of a great pro-
portion of the population of the country are opposed to regular industry.

199. It being under the commaud of the Hudson’s ‘Bay Company, does not
the Company rather favour hunting than cultivation ?—At the Red River Settle-
:ment [ think the Company fuvours cultivation, because unfortunately the bufialoes
swarm in the surrounding regions, and the great difficulty is to keep the people
to steady habits of industry, and to induce them to refrain-from hunting them.

200. Buffaloes, you say, swarm ?—Yes, at certain seasons.

201. Upon what do they live *—Upon the herbage of the plains.

202. Where that herbage is, is not the land fertile :—Undoubtedly where
that herbage is other things might be grown, as we find at the Red River Set-
tlement itself, until you get to a certain distance to the westward, where I have
reason to think but little rain falls ; that is one way in which I account for the
physical fact of its being a prairie, and therc the soil is, as far us my observa-
tion goes, not very favourable to cultivation ; it is generally along the banks of
the river limestone or gravel; there is' very little alluvial soil at the surface;
there is no depth of alluvial soil anywhere that I saw.

203. You say limestone is there *—Yes.

204. Is it not a remarkable fact, established by all experience, that wherever
ggne§t011e is, cultivation is pessible 7—! believe so; it is a most favourable

1strict.

. 205. You say that the geological condition of the country is primitive 7—Not
there.

206. But by the Saskatchewan River #—To the eastward of Lake Winnipeg
and 2long the line of descent to Canada on the north side, and northiards
again through the line that I travelled, except the Peace River, where we come
to the secondary formation, the general character of the region, I should say,
without giving myself authority as a grologist, is primitive.

207. 1s not that the case with Luwer Canada generally *—On the north shore
of the St. Lawrence, but not the south; but there you have very little culti-
vation ; the north shere of the St. Lawrence below Quebec is a primitive region.

208. Above Quebec —1I think not; but 1 speuk with deference there,

209. Are you at all aware of a publication, by Mr. Isbester, of the geology
of that country *—I have never seen it.

210 While you were there had you occasion to see much of the Indians*—
I took a great interest in the Indians, and I took what opportunities were given
me of inquiring into their condition, and of seeing them, but my scientific
duties left me very little leisure for anything else.

211, What were your scientific duties directed to ?— To terrestrial magnetism ;
making observations of the magnetic dip, and the magnetic variation, and the
magnetic force of the earth in that region.
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212, Then if you had not much time to consider the state of the Indians,
had you much time to consider the physical condition of the country 2—The
physical condition of the country meets one's eyes in all directions, whereas
the Indians are but rarely met with; and I did not speak their language, and
did not always have an interpreter with me, but I used to converse with the
residents at tue forts.

213. How do you judge of the fertility of a soil which is not cultivated :—
By those portions which are cultivated ; by the known facts of science affecting
cultivation, and by the proportion of alluvial soil visible at the surface.

214. Over that territory did you find large woods ?—1I have placed before the
Chairman a map on which the region of prairie is indicated by a green tint;
north and east of that region there are woods.

215. All to the north of Lake Superior is woody country ?—-Until you get to
a very considerable distance north; but I beg to say that the wood in that
country, the pine, which is the most prevalent wood, will grow in any crevice
in which there is any moisture, and I have seen pines of large size growing on
a granite rock as hard as this t.ble, simply by the wmoisture which was found

+ in the vrevices. You cannot infer that thatis a soil fitted for agricultural purposes

from the fact of there being wood.

216. Not from the fact of there being pine-wood, but if other hard wood
grows you may do so 7—Yes; those woods having a tap-root, but a great num-
ber have not.

217. Is not that the mode by which people who explore a country for agri-
cultural purposes determine the capability of the country for agriculture, namely,
from the wood upon it ; in America, I mean ?—It is one of the modes; itis a
superficial one.

218. Where you find large quantities of trees of five feet in diameter, and
large beech trees, would you not at once say that that is a cultivable soil 27—
Unquestionably ; but there is not a tree of any description five feet in diameter
in the Hudson’s Bay territory on the east side of the Rocky Mountains; the
largest pines, which are the largest trees there, seldlom exceed three feet in
diameter.

219. Supposing there were trees of three feet in diameter, would you not say
the soil was good *—Yes. I have seen that in islands possessing a depth of
alluvial soil brought down by floods. 'The island on which Fort Simpson, on
the Mackenzie River, is built, is of that description; and very fine timber is to
be found there. '

220. You say that you have not seen any evidence that the climate has
ameliorated ?—1I have seen none. ‘

221. Are you at all aware listorically of the state of Europe in centuries
past?’—Yes; I am aware that there is reason to suppose that the climate of
Europe in former times, before cultivation was so general, was colder than it is
now ; the winters were colder. Having given considerable attention to that
subject, I may state generally that the result of my inquiries leads me to this
conclusion, that the effect of cultivation anywhere in America is to diminish
the extremes of temperature both in summer and in winter, but to leave the
mean annual temperature not much affected by it. Meteorological observa-
tions were commenced at Toronto, in Canada, in 1840. I was mysclf engaged
with them about 11 years; and I of course had experience of a great variety of
hot winters and cold winters, and summers also. Since I left it, which was in
the year 1853, they have had extremes in both directions that fall far without
the limits of my observation ; they have had three winters of such severity as
I never encountered in all that period, and they have had hotter summers; it
therefore shows that conclusions based on data not derived from observations
over a long series of years, comparable and accurate ones, are very likely to
deceive us.

222. The sensations of a man are very misleading; but supposing. for example,
that formerly the territory bore reindeer, and that the rivers of that territory
were annually frozen, and that now reindeer will not live there and the rivers
are never annually frozen, would you not say from those data that the country
had ameliorated in climate ?—1 should say so, if I was acquainted with no other

facts; but I am acquainted with a fact with regard to the habits of the reindeer
which
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which would render such a conclusion insecure; until the year 1832 the reindeer
were in the habit of migrating in enormous numbers along the west shore of
Hudson's Bay, passing York Factory to the south; in that year their numbers
were greater than usual, and a most extraordinary and wanton slaughter of
them took place by the Indians; the Company were unable to restrain them;
from that day to this, according to the best of my information, the reindeer
have never been seen in that region, although there is no reason to suppose
that there is any change in the climate or its capacity for furnishing them with
food.

223. As vou say you have paid attention to the state of the climate in Europe,
I suppose you are perfectly aware that reindeer used to live upon the banks of
the Danube and on the Rhine 2—I was not aware of the fact; I had forgotten
it if I had ever seen it.

224. That fact is adduced by Gibbon as a proof that the climate has very much
ameliorated by time?—Yes.

925 The freezing of rivers, for example, is another evidence ; I suppose there
is nothing that could contradict that ?—T should think not.

226. Taking the same circumstances, namely, that Gaul and Germany were
in times past, very shortly after the Christian era, in the same state that Canada
is now ; having paid attention to the climate of different countries, would you
not conclude that the same circumstances occurring in Canada as have occurred
in Europe, namely, the clearing of woods, and the draining of morasses, would
lead to a great amelioration of the climate ? —There are some circumstances
which make an essential difference in the two problems. In the first place, the
actual soil of Western Europe is deeper, and better suited to the growth of
grains of every description than the soil of the Hudson’s Bay territory, from my
knowledge of it.

22+, Is that the case with Prussia ?-~The district of Prussia, I believe, is
generally sandy, but I have not travelled there; I speak of the country in a
general way. Then there is this cause ameliorating the climate of Western
Europe, which we feel in our own islands particularly, namely, the influence of
the Gulf Stream. Our condition is abnormal ; but if you refer on the map to
the lines of equal temperature, passing through both continents, through America
and through Europe, you will find that the Jines descend, that is to say, you will
find the line of equal temperature, of 50° we will say, which is the limit of the
profitable cultivation of barley, in much lower latitudes in the Hudson's Bay
territory than you will in Western Europe.

228. | suppose the southern point of Lake Winnipeg is about the latitude of
some of the finest countries in Europe ?—I believe it is. A

229. Do you know anything of the actual physical condition of the northern
shore of Lake Superior :—Merely from having coasted it before the explorations
which have subsequently taken place,—I mean those connected with mining

speculations ; therefore I had only ocular inspection from passing along it.

.'1230. You have not travelled on the land there>—No, except for a very few

miles.
_231. Have you any evidence that there are large morasses there which render
it impassable?—Immediately adjoining the shores there cannot be large
morasses, because the land rises rapidly ; there are two terraces indicating
changes of level at former periods, and the land rises rapidly, and in fact the
north-west shore is mountainous.

232. There is a luke called Lake Nipigon ¢ —Yes.

233. Does not that fall into Lake Superior —It drains, I believe, into Lake
Superior; I never was there.

234. Therefore, may we conclude that it is higher than Lake Superior and
the land through which it runs 2—Of course.

235. If on the shore of Lake Superior there are not morasses, we may con-
clude that there are not morasses between those two points f—Hardly that.
Morasses are to be met with at the highest points. In fact, it will be found,
as a general rule, I believe, that the districts which furnish the sources of
rivers are always districts of morass. I could point to three or four instances
of that on the map. Probably, Honourable Members can find on their wnaps
the River Savan ; the Dog Lake will be found on the map not far above Lake
Superior. If you follow the line of boundary between Lake Superior and the
Rainy Lake, about midway between the two you come to a very elevated
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district, which furnishes the sonrce of rivers falling in both directions into
Hudson’s Bay and into Lake Superior and the Atlantic. That region is one of
immense physical difficulty, in consequence of morasses, and every trader knows
the Savannah morass, the Prairie portage, and the great interruptions which he
has to pass, with extreme difficuity, in consequence of there being swamps at
what is the height of land of that region. '

236. Are you aware that there is a scheme now in commencement, rather
than anything else, of carrying a railway along the northern shore of Lake
Superior, and eventually across the Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Ocean ? —
I have seen proposals to that effect. ~ '

237. Do those plans contemplate any impassable barrier on the northern shore
of Lake Superior :—Those plans have always seemed to me to be drawn on the
engineering principle of laying down an air line, and then assuming that capital
will carry you along it; but the physical difficulties of doing it would be
enormously great, and I cannot persuade myself-that such an undertaking would
be conducted with any commercial advantage. ~

238. Mr. Grogun.] You spoke of the population on the Red Rivér Settlement
not heing very large, owing to the difficulty of access. If there were a railway
in that direction capable of being constructed, would not that difficulty be
obviated ¢-—It would undcubtedly ; but it always appears to me, on studying the
map, that the natural affinities of the Red River Settlement are with the valley
of the Missouri, and that we shall be going against nature if we try to force it
into the valley of the St. Lawrence.

239. You consider that the natural direction is to go into the TInited States?
—-I think so ; I do not think that the route by the St. Lawrence can ever compete
commercially with the route to the south. ,

240. You have illustrated your local experience for a period of 12 or 14 years;
you have said that your general observations in the country were insufficient to
enable you to form correct data*--They were insufficient to obtain the fact of
the highest or the lowest temperature, or,to furnish a mean which was not liable
to be disturbed by the observations of another year.

24+. Do any records exist at the different stations of the Hudson’s Bay
Company whereby the increase or decrease of temperature can be ascertained ?
—[ am sorry to say that the records of that region are excecdingly slender,
almost valueless in a scientific point of view. Sir John Richardson has collected
in his lust work of travels the best information he could get, but the data are
most scanty.

242. In point of fact, does the impression exist in the country that the climate
of that district is ameliorating - I never heard of it.

243. With regard to limestone, is the district where the limestone prevails of

‘any extent >—The western shore of Lake Winnipeg is entirely limestone, but

there is no soil on it ; it has literally no scil in many places; it is as bare as your
hand.

2.44. The rock is on the surface 7—Yes.

245. The soil does not cover the surface completely >—1I did not explore with
sufficient accuracy to give an cvinion upon those points. I must hez that my
observations may be considered as relating principally to the routes that I
travelled over. I did not explore the interiors: 1 went over the great routes.of
communication only.

246. Arc you able to speak of vegetation, whether it exists in detached portions
of that district ?—1I can speak more positively of that, because I made inquiries
ahout it, the subject having engaged my attention. The points where cultivation
was more carried on were these: there was the Red River Settlement, where there
was very considerable cultivation, and Fort Cumberland, and the Basquiau River,
in the Saskatchewan district, and Lake La Crosse ; at Fort Cumberland there
were about 10 acres of ground under cultivation ; at Lake La Crosse, a little to
the north of Cumberland House, there were also about 10 acres of ground under
cultivation, yielding barley ; at Lake Athabasca, where I passed a winter, which
is further north agaiu, potatoes of a small size could be grown, but there had
been no success in growing barley or any cereal at all. At Fort Simpson, on
Mackenzie’s River, where it turns to the northward, just at the angle, on a large
island of deep alluvial soil, farming was unusually successful ; there were regular
crops of barley, regular cattle, and a very good garden. That is in about latitude
62° 1 think ; barley grew there very well indeed.

247. Sir
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247. Sir John Pakington.] Were you there yourself ?—I passed about four
months there ; barley was even grown with success; that is to say, sufficiently
so to be worth the labour bestowed upon it by the trader, and to furnish grain
to add greatly to the means of subsistence of the small family occupying a
trading post at that station; they were able to pick the very best pieces of
ground to be found. Also at Fort Norman, in lat. 64° 31%, barley was grown, and
that is the most northern spot in America where any grain has been grown.

248. Mr. Grogan.] Was that the only cereal crop grown in that locality }—
Yes; wheat would not grow in either place; but I was told, I am not sure
with what authority, that wheat had been grown about every third year, it
being, in the intermediate years, cut off, at Fort Liard, not far to the south of
Fort Simpson. ‘ .

249. Wus there any peculiar geological formation in that locality which
conduced to the growth of the barley there, so much more northward than at
Fort Cumberland ?—At Fort Liard it is the tail of the prairies ; there is a long
high belt of prairie land which runs as far as the immediate neighbourhood
of that spot ; it is immediately under the shelter of the Rocky Mountains, and
the climate is undoubtedly, as you approach the Pacific, much milder than it is
to the eastward.

250. What distance would vou say that Fort Simpson is from the Pacific
or from the sea coast ?7—I think it is about 500 miles ; 1 am not quite sure.

251. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Do you mean in a direct line, or to some
particular point  —In a direct line. I think I made out that it was 500 miles
from Sitka, which is the point where observations were made at the time that I
was there; and therefore I had occasion to ascertain the distance from one
point to another ; but I speak from memory, and may not be accurate.

252. Mr. Grogan.] Do you cousider that the difference of distance from the
sea coast of Fort Simpson and Fort Cumberland was sufficient to account for
;hat change >—It is one of the facts which go a long way towards accounting

or it, :

253. You mentioned that at Fort Simpson they were able to grow cereal
crops, which at Fort Cumberland and the Red River Settlement were of so
uncertain a nature that they could hardly be relied upon ?—I did not intend to
say so much as that. At Fort Cumberland and the Red River Settlement they
grow wheat, which they do not at Fort Simpson ; and with regard to the com-
parative uncertainty of the crops in the two places, I do not think I said any-
thing. I suppose the crops are much less uncertain at the Red River than
they are at Fort Simpson ; but the cultivable portion of the soil at the latter place
was confined to the island of which I have spoken; on the mainland, on either
side, you get into a morass, which could certainly not have been cultivated.

254. Then you imagine that the island is the peculiarity 7—Yes ; it is due to
the depth of alluvial soil upon an island, and to its being pretty well sheltered
by large woods, which that soil enables to grow.

255. Mr. Gordon.] In traversing the course of the Saskatchewan had you
an opportunity of making any observations upon its mineral resources ?—Very
slight. I ascertained that in the neighbourhood of Edmonton, one of the forts
most to the eastward, coal is to be found, and workable coal, because it was
used by the blacksmith for his forge; but I do not think in any great
quantity.

256. Did you observe over what length of tract of country that coal
extended "—It probably extends to a considerable region, because it is found
again in one of the feeders of the Peace River, near Dunvegan.

257. You believe those to be portions of the same tract >—~There is no doubt
of it, I think.

258. Are you acquainted with both branches of the Saskatchewan ?—Not
the south.

259. Mr Roebuck.]) Are you acquainted with the length of the winter at St.
Petersburgh >—No ; I caunot speak with any assurance upon that subject.

260. In the Baltic generally 7—No; I cannot speak with any confidence
upon those subjects.

261. Then you are nct able to say whether the winter of that territory is
shorter or longer than the winter in the Baltic ?—I should be glad if you would
be kind enough to define what you mean by * the winter ;" meteorologists con-
fine the term “ winter” to the months of December, January and February.

0.25. c2 262. I am
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262. T am talking of a matter of fact, not of the number of months; I mean
when the earth is so frozen that you cannot ploughit; can you say that the
winter on the Saskatchewan is shorter than the winter at St. Petersburgh, or
longer, giving you that as a datum?—I cannot answer that question.

263. If it is not longer, and St. Petersburgh is habitable, and covered with a
vast population, this territory might be covered also :—St. Petersburgh has a
seaport to supply it, and it has productions of various kinds which have a com-
mercial value ; this region not only has no seaport, but it is about 700 or 800
miles from one, to be reached by a very difficult navigation, leading mnot into
the Baltic, which has its outlet to the south, but into Hudson’s Bay, which has
its outlet to the north, aud which is only navigable for ahout three months in
the vear ; those are essential differences in both the physical and commercial
conditions of the two regions.

264. Is the Baltic at St. Petersburgh navigable for more than three months
in the year r—I apprehend that it is navigable for seven or eight months; I
speak under correction. :

205. Sir John Pakington.] You mentioned the difference in climate on the
western side of this great district as it approaches the Pacific; can you give the
Committee any idea of the extent of that difference, either the extent geogra-
phically tc which it prevails, or the degree to which it prevails ?—I should be
unwilling to speak from memory upon such a subject, because it is one which
must be brought to figures; I could easily ascertain the facts as far as data
exist for doing so, but I wouid not venture to speak frora memory.

266. Is the difference a marked and decided one ?—Unquestionably so ; it
meets you everywhere in America, that the further you go to the westward along
the same parallel of latitude, you come to a milder climate.

267. Mr. Rocbuck.] Is that the case on the east of the Rocky Mountains 7—
It is so in the southern latitudes.

208. Sir John Pakington.) To what cause do you attribute the difference in
climate r—I¢t is difficult to give an answer to that question directly. The pre-
valent winds in the region beyond the tropics have » great influence upon the
climate of the countries which they pass over. You find that the prevalent
winds in the extra tropical region being from the westward, those winds bring
from the Pacific Ocean a large quantity of moisture, which moisture has a
tendency to ameliorate the climate of the regions which receive its first
benefit. As they proceed further to the eastward they lose a portion of that
moisture, and pass over regions, frozen or covered with snow through a large
part of the year; they come down to Canada more severc, of course, and
charged with less moisture, and actually colder by having given up latent heat
to the regions they have passed over, than nearer to the west.

269. What are the prevailing winds on the eastern side of this part of
America ?—| should be glad to reserve my answer to that question because I
should wish to speak with accuracy. The preva’ling winds, on the whole, are
westerly ; they are rather from the western semicircle than from the eastern.
I believe they are north-westerly.

270. How far to the westward have you penetrated?— Nearly as far as the
Rocky Mountains, but not over them. My limits westward were Dunvegan, on
the Peace River, and Edmonton on the Saskatchewan.

271. Do you attribute the power of producing barley so far north as Fort
Simpson to that comparative neighbourhood to the Pacific to which you have
referred 2—In a very great degree I do.

272. Can you state what is the general difference in climate between Fort
Simpson and these other settlements in the neighbourhood of Lake Winnipeg ?
—The difference of mean summer temperature between those two regions I
believe to be but little; but I amn reluctant to speak with precision upon
these points, because if they have value at all, it is as scientific facts, and
I confess that 1 am not sufficiently armed with them at this moment to be able
to be positive.

273. Fort Simpson has, of course, a much severer climate, I presumer—
Very much severer, taking the year round.

274. You spoke in the early part of your examination of the district which
you were then speaking as being permanently frozen, so that the crops could
not be grown; to what part of this district did you apply that expression, of

“ permanently
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¢ permanently frozen ” ?—I am unable to state very extensive facts upon that
subject ; the soil at York Factory, on Hudson’s Bay, is permanently frozeu.

275. Mr. Roebuck.] How far north is that ?—It isabout 57 degrees, I think, not
so far north as Fort Simpson ; the soil there does not thaw in the summer more
than about three feet deep, and it is frozen to about 20 feet permanently.

276. Sir John Pakingion.] 1 apprehend that you did not mean to apply that
expression, “ permanently frozen” in the sense in which I think you used it,
namely, as applying generally to this district, but only to particular parts ?—
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Of course; it is a very large region ; the district is as large as Europe, and has -

great differences of climate.

277. You applied the term generally. I presume there is nothing to which
you could apply the term * permanently frozen ” in the nature of the climate
about the Bed River Settlement, or even at Fort Cumberland Station 7—Fort
Cumberland; I believe, is near the limit of the region where the ground is per-
manently frozen ; more accurately speaking, I think Lake La Crosse is about
that limit.

278. There is cultivation at Fort Cumberland, is there not:—1I do not mean
to say there is not cultivation where the ground is permanently frozen ; at the
most northerly point [ have spoken to, namely, Fort Norman, on Mackenzie’s
River, the grcund is permanently frozen to the cepth of 45 feet, yet there is
cultivation.

279. What do you mean by ¢ permanently frozen ” ?—1I mean that it never
thaws except at the surface. I had a remarkable opportunity of ascertaining
that fact by a great landslip on the banks of the Mackenzie River, exposing
a completely permanent frozen soil to the depth of 45 feet. The surface thaws
to ihe extent of a foot or two. In the more open situations, it thaws of course
to a greater depth.

280. Under those circumstances, with a depth of permanently frozen ground
of many feet, and only thawed very superficially, does the ground admit of
cultivation 2—Not, 1 tkink, with any profit; indeed, a white population accus-
tomed to civilised life cannot find subsistence.

281. The ripening cf the crops under those circumstances must be preca-
ricus 7—Yes. There is a difference between absolute cultivation yielding small
returns for the support, or the assistance of other means of support, of a very
small community, such as is to be found at all these forts, and one on which
a large community can permanently depend. All over that country, although
they have a crop in many places, they depend principally upon fish, and the
dried meat of the buffalo.

282. What is the population of the Red River Settlement ?—In 1843 or 1844
it was about 5,000, according to the information given me,

283. What population is there at the northern settlement of Fort Cumber-
land, or Norway House ?—1It does not in any one instauce, I imagine, amount
to 20 persons permanently resident. At some seasons of the year there are
others coming and going, and the Indians occasionally frequent them. Not, of
course, including the Indians inhabiting the districts supplying those stations
with their furs; but taking the residents, you will find 10, 20, or 30, according
to the means of subsistence.

284. Are there any European inhabitants in the district between the Red
River and Cumberland Fort and Norway House ?-- None but the traders in the
Hudson’s Bay Company’s employment.

285. Is Lake Winnipeg open for navigation for any length of time in the
summer ?—Not for long; I should suppose that Lake Winnipeg is open for
navigation from May till about the ond of October.

286. The whole lake would then be open ?—Yes.

287. Mr. Rocbuck.] 1o you know how long the St. Lawrence is open at
Quebec r—It varies extremely in different seasons; but the St. Lawreuce at
Quebec is generally open early in April.

288. I beg your pardon ?—In April.

289. Not till May. Do you not know that after the month of November
begins, the insurance upon ships doubles 7—1 am quite aware of that; but
I amn equally aware that the last vessels leave Quebec very late in November,
and I have known them leave in December.

290. You say that you attribute the possibility of growing barley at Lort
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Simpson to its proximity to the Pacific 7—1I attribute it in a great degree to
that fact.

201. Does not Fort Simpson lie very near the Rocky Mountains, to the east
of the Rocky Mountains 7—Yes.

292. Do not the Rocky Mountains continue frozen throughout the year upon
their sumnmits >—The Rocky Mountains tnere are very muck lower than they
are in lower latitudes. I have seen snow over the whole region of the Rocky
Mountains within view in June; therefore, I presume that they are covered

. with snow almost all the year round.

293. The proximity of Fort Simpson to the Rocky Mountains would lead to
the chilling of the atmosphere, would it not >—It depends a little upon the
distance; the actual distance is rather considerable. The Rocky Mountains
approach the Mackenzie's River at a much lower latitude; at the limit of the
Arctic region the chain comes nearest, but at Fort Simpson it recedes to some
distance. I have in many instances observed that a sudden change of the wind
from the eastward to the westward would almgest immediately raise the tem-
perature of the air ten degrees at Fort Simpson.

294. South-west '—VYes, south-west.

295. Sir John Pakington.] Has the altitude of the Kocky Mountains in
the British dominions ever been ascertained ?—No; the altitude of the great
passes between the Saskatchewan and thie Columbia has been ascertained with
tolerable precision, but not further to the north.

296. What is it there ?—1 do not like to speak from memory.

297. Mr. Edward FEllice.] On ordinary maps the highest range is marked
at about 15,000 or 16,000 feet, is it not >—Burt the pass is much lower than
that.

208. Mr. Grogan.] You spoke of the barley, for instance, having been
ripened at Fort Simpson ; do vou attribute that to any greater quantity of rain
that may fall there than down at Fort Cumberland 7—No.

299. Mr. Lowe.] Have you had occasion to observe the effect of summer
frosts in these territories upon crops ?—No, not personally; but I have made
inquiries concerning them.

300. Will you state what is the fact in that respect ?—Summer frosts come
at night in all months of the year, frequently with very great severity, and the
ground will be frozen in June; of course that cuts off all delicate cultivation.

301. Does that interfere with the certainty of crops at the Red River?—
I believe very much.

302. And of course further north 2—Further north still more so.

303. Have you observed the Indians on the Saskatchewan River 7—7Yes.

304. What is the nature of the Indians there; are they very fierce > —Some
of the tribes on the Upper Saskatchewan are very warlike and untameable.

305. What are they principally ; the Blackfeet? — 'he Blackfeet ; there are
five or six tribes which go under the general name of Blackfeet ; the Crees, who
inhabit the lower pertion of the region, seem to have less savage tendencies.

306. Is it safe to travel there, one or two people together ?—Under the pro-
tection of the Hudson’s Bay Company it could be done with perfect safety. -

307. Do you think that a railway could be made with facility from any point
in Minesota to the RRed River 7—VYes.

308. From what place 2—TI think almost anywhere.

309. From St. Paul's ?7—Yes, I should think it might.

510. Mr. Percy Herbert.] You spoke of the district between the Rainy Lake
and the Lake of the Woods as being not much inferior to Lower Canada; is
that district of which you spoke of considerable extent ?—I do not think it is of
great extent, but it must be to the extent of several townships, as they are laid
out in Canada.

311. Would the district between that and Lake Superior adunit of a commu-
nication with Lake Superior ?—It would admit of a communication by going
to a very great expense; the distance is not very great, but you have to pass
over a region of swamp and morass, and a river which is not navigable ; there
is a line of detached lakes, communicating by streams and rivers, which are not
navigable. ’

312. Mr. Gregson.] Upon the whole, what inducements are there to attract
emigration to these regions ?—1I do not myself think that emigration can be

judiciously
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judiciously directed to those regions. ' Undoubtedly there are the attractions
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life at the Red River Settlement, but there is no trade, or uoxt to none, because
its interior position and its want of communication with the ocean add so much
to the freight upon all articles that they cannot be exported at a profit. But
persons who will be content with sufficient for the passing hour, and who have
a turn for wild semi-civilised life, will enjoy themselves there very much.

313. Chairman.] Tt is a pretty healthy country, is it not ?—Very healthy.

314. During your residence in that country had you any opportunities of
forming an opinion of the general character of the government of the Hudson’s
Bay Company, so far as relates to their conduct towards the Indians and their
mode of preserving the peace of the country ?—The best preservative for the
peace of the country was taken by the Hudson’s Bay Company about the year
1852, when they entirely discontinued sending spirits into it, or, I believe, not
entirely, but almost entirely. Since that time blood feuds and quarrels among
the Indians have diminished very much indeed. The white population is so
very small that there is very little crime necessarily. What crime does occur
there, is, 1 believe, treated at the Red River Settlement by a recorder, the law
officer there, and he told me that the gaol was generally empty. I believe there
is very little crime there.

315. Is there security of travelling there ?—Perfect security, except at the
head of the Saskatchewan, and among the warlike tribes, who are sumetimes no
respecters of persous, and who will pillage their best friends.

316. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] What do you call the warlike tribes >—~The
Blackfeet, mostly.

317. Mr. Edward Fllice.] Those which are nearest the frontiexrs >—Yes.

318. Chairman.] Do you apprehend that there has been a very effectual
check to the use of ardent spirits among the Indians, by the measures taken by
the Hudson’s Bay Company r—I am confident that there has, over the whole
region except the Saskatchewan, where the necessity of meeting the Americans
in some degree with their own weapons had obliged a very limited use of spirits;
but the rule, if I am not misinformed, was. that for one gallon of rum they put
seven gallons of water; the spirit issued was so much diluted that it had not
much effect.

319. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Is it not true that Americans trading in liquor
are subject to a very severe fine ?-- I believe there is that law in the United
States, but it is evaded constantly.

320. Have you not heard of a trader being sent down in chains from the
post to the United States *—No; I know that Americans do trade largely in
liquor on the Missouri. .

3211. Mr. Roebuck.] You know nothing, you say, of Minesota >~ Not per-
sonally.

322. I suppose you know, from its position on the map, that there are no
further means for going to Minesota than to Lake Winnipeg? — Minesota has a
dense, industrious, enterprising population to the south and east of it, con-
stantly pressing in that direction, but the Hudson’s Bay territory is not quite
in that condition; you come down to the lower parts of the Missouri, where
you get into a comparatively dense population. _

323. lowa comes between #--I include all that. There is no physical reason
why the people there should not press onwards; and they are perpetually
pressing onwards into Minesota.

324. ls there any physical reason why they should not press across the
border, and come from Minesota t¢ Lake Winnipeg’—None at all. They do
not do so from the United States, which fact I think shows that the inducements
are not very great.

325. Would not the fact of its being British territory be a reason’ why they
should not come across the border :—I do not think that that would have any
influence ; if they found it advantageous I think they would do it.

326. Sir Jokn Pakington.] Is the Indian population supposed to be decreasing
in those regions r—I fear there is no doubt that it is decreasing very rapidly.

327. From natural causes, not from the effect of European encroachment ?—
I apprehend that European encroachment has had a great deal to do with it,
but it has been rather inore from moral influences than from any direct physical
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influences. I do not think, for example, that the traffic in liquor has been
chargeable with it, which undoubtedly has been chargeable with it in other
countries, or more to the south.

328. Chairman.] When you say that the Indians have diminished, are you
speaking of the Hudson’s Bay territory, as a whole, or are you referring to par-
ticular districts only ; are you prepared to say that you believe that the number
of Indians within the limits of the IJudson’s Bay territory, taken as a whole, has
diminished r —When I was able to compare the estimate of the number, which I
procured in 1844, with Sir John Franklin’s of about 20 years previously, I
found a diminution of number ; and the aggregate number which I was able to
establish by the best statistics that I could get was so very small that I cannot
but believe they must have been more numerous, from the accounts which we
read of a century ago.

329. Did their physical condition appear to you to be bad ?—Miserable in
many cases.

330. Mr. Roebuck.] Is it not a known fact that the brown race disappears in
proportion to the coming on of the white race >~~I think it is.

331. And the mere fact of a settlement, even at the Red River, would of
itself tend to diminish the red population ?— It would undoubtedly lead in that
direction ; but the Red River Settlement is peculiarly situated; the Indians in
that part of the country are not diminishing so fast, because the buffalo is not
decreasing, which is their great means of subsistence. As I mentioned before,
the buffalo swarms to the south of the Saskatchewan, and even tc the north of
it; the Indians there are the finest, and I do not think they are diminishing
so much as elsewhere.

332. Chairman.] Did you think that the physical condition of the Indian was
worse as you got to the north 2—Unquestionably, and also worse to the south;
the physical condition of the Indians about the Lake of the Woods and the
Rainy Lake is very much worse, and all round Lake Superior, within our own
region, than it is on the Saskatchewan, because the resources of subsistence are
so much less; the Indians there are again and again in the most abject misery
by the failure of the precarious means of subsistence which they have.

333. Had you any opportunity of seeing the condition of the Indians within
the Canadian territory *—I have seen a good many of them from time to time.

334. What is their condition ?—'They are comparatively comfortable ; if not,
it is their own fault.

535. They have property ?>—Yes.

336. Even money in the funds ?>—Some of them have.

337. Sir John Pakington.] Looking to this vast district between Canada and
the Pacific, there is a great portion of it, I apprehend, in which the white race
can hardly be said to be advancing as yet >—Yes. )

338. And over a great portion of that tract I presume there is no reason’ to
suppose that the Indian population is deteriorating or diminishing *—1It is so,
I think, from causes which may appear rather remote. I believe there is a con-
stant depressing moral influence, which is caused by association with classes in
a superior condition of comfort to themselves ; then they become reckless and
improvident ; they barter what is necessary to their own subsistence, or to that
of their wives and children, which is equally important, for finery, things which
are of 1o real good to them ; their good furs, which they had better wear them-
selves, they trade away for beads, and they go half clothed, and they contract
pulmonary complaints, and their children are born with weakened constitutions,
and their families are diminished in number; the result is, that it is hard to
find an Indian family of more than three or four children. I remember an
instance of one man who, 1 think, had nine children, who was quite a pheno-
menon of paternity.

339. But surely your last answer applies to those cases in which the Indian
has been brought into contact with the European ?—They are all brought into
contact with the Europeans by constantly trading with them and depending
upon the European trade for their means of subsistence.

340. Is that answer correct as affects the whole of the great district to which
I have referred ?— With the exception of a very small district to the north, on
what are called the barren grounds, where there are bands of Chipewyan Indians
subsisting on the flesh of the reindeer, and where the skin of the reindee}r‘ is

their
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their clothing, who rarely come to any forts for trade, because their country has
nothing valuable.

341. Do all the tribes between Canada and the Pacific occasionally visit the
forts for trade and communication *—1I can only speak of the west side from
hearsay; the Indians there have a great resource in the salmon, which abounds,
and, I believe, do not all come to the forts ; on the east they all come to the
forts.

342. Mr. Guraey.] With reference to the river between the Lake of the
Woods and the Rainy Lake, does the river at that part form the boundary
between the United States territory and the British territory ?—I think it does;
the boundary starts at the parallel of forty-nine degrees, I think, to the north-
ward of that river. ;

343. Then one bank of the river is American and the other bank British
—Yes.

344. Is there any marked difference as to the degree of settlement on the
two banks :—There is none on either.

345. Although both are sufficiently fertile to allow of some setilement there ?
—1I think there might be some settlement there.

346. Mr. Bell.] Are you aware of aby settlement in the Hudson’s Bay terri-
tory besides the Red River where any attempt has been made to civilize the
Indians ?—Such an attempt was made near Norway House, at the head of Lake
Winnipeg, where there was a village of Cree Indians in a tolerable state of
civilization when I visited it.

347. Do you think they were diminishing or increasing —The experiment
had been so recently tried that I think it was impossible to say.

348. That is the only case you know of ?-~That is the only case I know, of
an attempt to collect the Indians and to settle them in a village. Since that
time a small settlement has been formed at the Pas, at the Basquiau River. It
was occasioned by the bequest of a private benevolent person, who left a sum
of money to be laid out for that purpose, and it has been so done.

549. You have visited most of the establishments of the Hudson’s Bay
Company ?—Yes.

350. And that is the only instance ?—That is the only one that I can think
of at this moment.

351. Mr. Roebuck.] Speaking generally, have not all attempts to civilize the
Indians in North America failed *—They die out in the process; some progress
has been made.

352. They disappear *—Yes.

353. Mr. Adderley.] You stated the population of the Red River Settlement
at 5,000 :—Yes.

354. What time were you speaking of —Of 1843 and 1844.

355. Do you know at all what the population now is ?—I do not.

356. In your opinion, how have the Company generally treated the Indians
-—It is necessary, in answering that question, to draw a distinction between the
Company in its corporate capacity as a body of non-resident shareholders, and
the Company as a body of resident traders, its servants. The traders, almost
without exception, as far as my observation went, treated the Indians with
signal kindness and humanity. Many instances of their relieving them in their
distress, and taking great pains to do so, came to my knowledge. But then
their means of doing so are in some degree contingent upon the financial
arrangements of the Company at large, over which they have no control, or
but little.

357. Drawing that distinction, what do you think is the effect upon the
Indians of such arrangements made by the absentee proprietors?—1I think the
" Indians sometimes suffer, because I think that the supplies of goods sent by
the Company are sometimes inadequate. The traders can only do the best
Wltil?' the goods which they have; they have nothing to do with what are
sent in.

358. Is the want of supplies the only arrangement which you think defective?
—The principal one.

359. Chairman.] What is the general character of the agents of the Hudson'’s
Bay Company; as far as you could observe, were they respectable men?—
Very generally so; I never mingled with a body of men whose general qualities.
seemed to me more entitled to respect. They are men of simple primitive
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habits, leading the most hardy lives; generally speaking, contented, doing
their duty faithfully to their employers, and in many instances taking sincere
interest in the welfare of the Indians around them, and doing all they can
to benefit them, but the Indian is a very difficult subject.

360. You think, upon the whole, that their conduct was that of men who
were doing their duty, and acting in a considerate manner towards the Indians?
— I think so, most eminently.

361. Mx. Charles Fitzwilliam.] You say that the buffalo exists over this territory
on the bank ; can domestic cattle live there also :—The buffalo exists over it ;
there are domestic cattle at most of the forts now}; a cow or two; even low
down on the Mackenzie’s River they have domestic cattle. I was a fellow-
passenger with a bull in a small boat on that river.

362. They can exist in the winter >—They have to be housed; but horses
exhibit extraordinary hardihood there; the horses I have known to pass the
winter in the open air at Edmonton, subsisting themselves by what herbage
they could find under the snow.

363. The buffaloes are generally fatter in winter than in summer, are they
not 7—I believe so.

364. As spring comes, the cows, which are the fattest, I believe, immediately
waste almost to skeletons?—I cannot speak with much authority upon that
point, but the annoyance of flies in summer is so great, that I know it frets the
animals almost to death, and they lose flesh very much.

Jolhn Rae, Esq., M.D., called in ; and Examined.

365. Chairman.] 1 BELIEVE you are very conversant with the territory now
in the occupation and management of the Hudson’s Bay Company *—With the
large portion east of the Rocky Mountains. I have never been across to the
west.

366. Will you have the goodness to state under what circomstances you have
become acquainted with that country ?—I entered the service of the Clompziy
in 1833, and was stationed at Moose Factory, in latitude 51°, on Hudson's Bay,
as medical man, 10 years ; during that time I saw a good deal of the natives of
that part of the country. After that, for the last eight or 10 years, I was
employed in arctic service, and spent some short time in Mackenzie’s River.
I then, in a winter journey, passed from Mackenzie’s River by the usual route
to the Red River, and down to St. Paul's across the frontier through the States.
Those are the only two distiicts in the country that 1 have been engaged in;
at Moose Factory ten years, in the Mackenzie River one year, and at York
Factory for one season ; all the rest of the time I have been employed in arctic
service.

367. How long have you been employed in arctic service *—Eight years
altogether ; eight summers aund four winters.

368. Speaking generally, what is your opinion of the capacity of this ter-
ritory for the purposes of settlement and cultivation —1 have never been in
Saskatchewan, but I know the character of the country from: others; it is alk
capable of cultivation, I believe. The difficulty is the same as €olonel Lefroy
mentioned, the difficulty of carrying out the produce by Hudson's Bay, or by
communication by the States, beeause in the States of course there is the same.
sort of produce nearer at hand, and of course the expense of carrying this
produce from the Saskatchewan to market would do away with any profits that
could be derived from it.

369. But you believe that, as far as soil and climate are concerned, there is
in that part of the Hudson’s Bay territory a considerable district of country
suitable for cultivation and for settlement >—Quite so; it will be capable of
preduetion as soon as the country grows up to it; the country must grow up
to it, the same asit does in the States. I passed through the States from
the Red River, and the country has gradually been settled up ; there was still
about 400 miles of quite uncultivated eountry lying between Pembina and the
farthest part settled by the Americans, when I passed down in 1852.

370. As far as you ean form a eonjecture, supposing that country was entirely
open for purposes of settlement; do you think that there would be a disposition
on the part of emigrants to go there 7—Never, until the country is settled up
near to it from the States, because as soon as settlers attempted to settle there

the
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the Indians would attack them : it is a buffalo-hunting country. The greater J. Rae, Esq., s:p,

portion of the Indians are warlike in that part’—I should believe that that

would be the consequence; I only speak from supposition, because I have

. never been in the Saskatchewan ; but I know that the habits of the Indians are
rather warlike.

371. Your opinion seems to be, that if there was nothing to prevent it,
settlement in that district of the country would not be immediate, but would
be gradual, and would be certain 7—Quite so; when the country gradually
settles up to it; the produce cannot be carried out to Hudson’s Bay, the
ditficulty of road is so great; that is my impression.

372. You have stated that you were in the service of the Hudson's Bay
Company ?—For 23 years.

373. Are you still in their service?>—No; I left their service last year.

374. You are now quite independent of them ?—Yes.

375. What is your opinion of the system pursued by that Company, so far
as relates to the Indian population : —The system pursued is as fair, I think,
towards the Indian as possible ; the Company’s tariff with the Indians is one
of the principal things I wish to mention : the turiff is formed in a peculiar way,
and necessarily so; the sums given for furs do not coincide with the value of
the furs traded for with them, because the musk-rat, or the less valuable furs,
are paid for at a higher rate ; were the Company to pay for the finer furs at the
same rate, the Indians would hunt up the finer furs and destroy them off, as
has been done all along the frontier, and we should then require to reduce the
price for the musk-rat and the inferior furs, and the Indians would not hunt
them at all; the Indians would never understand our varying the prices of the
furs according to the prices here; the consequence would be that the Indian
would not be a bit better off, and he would kill -up all the finer animals aud
leave the musk-rat and ordinary furs unaffected.

576. You have stated that, in your opinion there is a portion of the territory
now belonging to the Hudson’s Bay Company to the south, which may be at
. no distant period available for the purposes of settlement ; what is your opinion,
in that respect, with regard to that vast district of country which lies to the
north of the region which you have referred to:—As far as I can answer, we
could not grow wheat. At Moose Factory, in latitude 51°, barley would naot
ripen ; you could not depend upon it. Potatoes were very variable ; sometimes
they would give five or six fold ; that was the highest I saw, I think, during 10
years ; sometimes the crop yielded scarcely the seed.

377. Do you believe that, under any circumstances, there would be the
slightest probability of settlenfent taking place in that great district of country
within the next 20 years, for instance ?—I think decidedly not; it must be
pushed up from the south ; I mean, not to pay ; people might settle. No person
would go there to settle unless he was paid for it, and paid well. I apply my
answer to the wooded country.

378. You think there would be no inducement for persons to go there except
for the purposes of fur trading 7—Only that; and then they would require to
have the exclusive right to trade ; any opposition would do away with any profits
or advantages from it to a great extent.

379. What, in your opinion, would be the consequences of throwing open the
present exclusive system of fur trading to the public generally, and letting any-
body who chose go and trade for furs there, and kill the fur-bearing animals /—
The effect would be, the introduction of spirits among the Indians again, and the
demoralization of the Indians. ‘

380. Do you think that the effect would be the extirpation of the fur-bearing
animal ?—In a great measure; it would lead to that, because trappers would be
sent in. People would come up and kill the animals themselves instead of
leaving the Indians to hunt over the grounds; they would kill them at all
seasons, whereas the Hudson’s Bay Company discourage the killing them in the
summer time; they discourage the Indians from killing them in the breeding
season.

381. Do you consider the fur trade in its very nature to be necessarily and
essentially a monopoly : —1I think that to continue it regularly it requires to be a
monopoly in some hands something similar to what it is now.

382. Would not the effect of throwing it open be that it would give a great
stimulus to it for the next few years, and absolutely destroy it afterwards ?—
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Yes, and when the fur-beariny animals were hunted up, the country would be
left a wreck.

383. What would be the effect of such a process upon the Indian tribes 2—
Most injurious, I should fancy. )

384. You say because spirits would be introduced >~—That would be a great
injury. They would get much better paid for their furs for a time, but the
effect after, say eight, or 10, or 12 years, or I will not say what number of
years ; but after a lapse of years, not a very long period, would be to demoralize
the Indians; they would kill up the principal finer furs, and it would do no
good to any person, because the parties coming in, if there was opposition, could
not make a profit.

585. Do you think that it would be possible to provide, by some arrangement
with the Hudson’s Bay Company, for the retention of the fur trade in their
hands in those regions whick are fit for nothing but the fur trade, and can be
only fit for the fur trade for some time to cume, and at the same time to open
up, for the purposes of cclonization, all such parts of the country as it is at all
reasonable to suppose within the next 20 years, for instance, could be settled
and colonized *—I should be rather ata loss to give an opinion upon that
subject, as I have not studied the circumstances ; it would be very difficult to
make the arrangement ; it would be an excellent one, I believe, if it could be
effected.

386. You think that if it could be done it would be a desirable arrangement
to make ?—A very desirable one indeed. '

3387. Why do you think that it could not be done?—I do not say that it
could not be dune, but it would be difficult; I could not give a reason why it
should not be done. 1 have not studied the subject.

588. I believe the Russians have a fur-trading establishment on the extreme
north-west point of North America >~—Yes; it comes in contact with Mackenzie's
River, the district of which I was in charge for one season.

389. Are you aware of any arrangement which the Russian Company have
made with the Hudson’s Bay Company, by which the most valuable portion of
their fur-trading territory is leased to the Hudson’s Bay Company on certain
conditions ?—There was an arrangement of that sort some years ago ?—I cannot
say whether it is still in force ; it was a lease not of the whole, but of the strip
of land which you will see in the charts running along the shore.

390. Do you know what were the motives of the Russian Company for coming
to that arrangement *—1I do not.

391. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] You say that you were in charge of the dis-
trict on Mackenzie's River; can you state to the Committee the climate and the
capabilities of the land there ?—The climate is a severe one; but we grew
barley at Fort Simpson, in latitude 620 or 63° I think ; we grew barley at Fort
Liard ; we grew barley at the Yukon, which is close to the Russian territory ;
that is a post which was established some time ago; we could grow wheat at
no place in the district; barley is grown at all the posts except three, Fort
Norman. Peel's River, and Fort Goodhope, which are far down the river.

392- Mr. Adderley.] In what year were you on Mackenzie’s River 2—In
1849-50. )

303. Have you been at long intervals of time on the same spot —1I have been
four years there at different times; I was two years wintered there in the
expedition, but I was only one year in charge of the district.

394. Did vou see anything of the Red River settlement at long intervals of
time >~—~No; I was only there part of a winter on two occasions, and once in
spring.

395. You cannot speak to any alteration of climate in spots which have been
settled 7~—No, I cannot; but I can say with regard to the tract of country of
which we are speaking, namely, the woody country, that there is an influence
against its being affected by clearance, which does not exist in other parts of
the world. There is the large Hudson’s Bay opening up to the north, where
there is a continual flow of ice during the whole summer; it is frozen up seven
or eight months in the winter, and in the summer season there is a constant
influx of ice which keeps the climate colder than it otherwise would be for per-
haps 100 or 200 miles inland in all directions ; that is an influence which does
not exist elsewhere, and which would affect the climate, I think.

396. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliom.] While you were at Mackenzie’s River, you, I

dare
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dare say, visited Banks’ or Baring Island :—I visited Wollaston and Vietoria J. Ree, Esq., . b.
Lands, I surveyed all the southern coasts there. —

397. You were not on Banks’ Island ~—No. [ was not so far north. a3 February 1857.

398. Then you cannot speak to the natural productions of that land >—No;
there is nothing to be found on the neighbouring lands, the Wollaston and
Victoria Lands, except limestone; a little trap and sandstone rock are seen.

399. Ithought that coal was to be found on Banks’ Island ?*—They have found
that there, but on the land that I was over there is no symptom of coal; the
whole coast is bare limestone.

400. Is it a coal or an ignite r—I am not quite sure. 1 have seen none of the
specimens. I think it is a coal; there are no great quantities of it found.

401. Are animals found on it?—Yes; reindeer and musk ox.

402. Does the musk ox require a very cold climate :—Generally ; it is seldom
seen south of the Arctic Circle.

403. Mr. Lowe.] You heard Colonel Lefroy express some doubt whether the
Company did all they could for the Indians in the matter of goods being sent out ;
what do you think on that subject >—I have never met with that myself.

404. What do you understand by it 7—What Colonel Lefroy, I think, alluded
to, was the deficiency of ammunition for a year or two at the Athabasca and the
Mackenzie Rivers.

405. Ammunition to be supplied to the Indians 2>—Yes; I have heard a different
reason for that, from that given by Colonel Lefroy. The gentleman in charge
of those districts appeared to be very close and anxious to make a very large
traffic at a very little expense ; and goods were actually forced upon him from
the depot at York Factory; 1 have authority for saving so; and more goods
were actually sent up than the gentleman asked on his requisition.

406. Was that the only defect :—That was the principal one.

407. Do you think that it would be a good plan if the Company were to furnish
goods in great abundance, and with great facility to the Indians :—Clearly, and
they do so generally; it is their object both to clothe the Indians well and to
give them plenty of ammunition, because the better they are fed, and the better
they are clothed, the better they will hunt.

408. Do you give them those things, or do they trade for them?—They get
them in advance; they get their goods all upon credit; not to keep them under
subjection to the Company ; but the Indiun is so improvident that if he were
paid in the spring he would waste everything before winter. Several attempts
have been made to do it, and their debts have been cancelled to them; but it
could never be done except at two or three of the forts, where we gave them
employment in the summer, when they sometimes earned from 127 to 251.
worth of goods in a season. '

409. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Does that mean 25 l. worth of goods at the

price of the country, or in the market in London ?— At fifty per cent. on the
prime cost here, which we put on for charges of freight, loss, damage, and loss
of interest. Let me add, to show that this per centage is not exorbitant, that
our servants buy goods, and take them up from the Bay to the United States,
at (?t. Mary’s, and sell their clothes to the Americans, a profit being thus
made. -
. 410. Lord Stanley.] Yousay that 50 per cent. upon the prime cost in England
is the rent-charge to the Indians>—That is the tariff to the servants; and in
supplying the Indians at that price the Indians can gain by their labour at that
rate, goods to the value of 12/. to 25 Z. in the summer season.

_411. Are the prices of goods sold to the Indians uniform thoughout the
district, or is there any increase consequent upon the greater distance in the
case, for instance, of forts upon the Mackenzie ?—The tariff is increased there ;
it is higher; but to show that it is not exorbitant, compared with other traders,
we sell our goods at Mackenzie's River, at Fort Simpson, upwards of 100 per
cent. cheaper than they are sold in the Russian settlements over in the
tRussmn territory, and the Hudson's Bay Company’s goods have much further
0 go.

412. Do you know whether the Russian Company has any monopoly or not ?
—It is a government thing ; of course it is » monopoly.

413. Then you are merely comparing one monopoly with another monopoly *
—-tYes; at Fort Simpson we have ne opposition, and we sell the goods at that
rate.

0.25. ‘ D3 414. Is
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414. Is it nct a fact that in those parts of the territory which border upon
Canada and the United States there has been a good deal of trouble with
interlopers —7es ; and there higher prices are given for the furs, consequently
all the finzr furs have been killed up ; the opposition does not pay; there are
no profits.

415. In those districts has not the Company, on various occasions, paid large
sums to traders to take themselves out of the country r~Never that 1 heard of.
I bave heard of the Company buying their furs, and taking the traders into the
service frequently, which I think a very bad plan.

416. Buying off their opposition 7 —I never knew anything of that kind, but
] think it a bad plan to buy uvp their furs at any time ; if they are admitted into
the service and make a little money, they use it against the company afterwards ;
they frequently have done so. )

" 417. Mr. Bell.] Do you think that the settlement of the Indians is advantageous
or disadvantageous to the fur trade 7—I should thipk it is not disadvantageous,
because the winter is the time at which they hunt; consequently they can
employ the whole summer season to cultivate the ground, and it would make
them better off; I believe that the settlement of Indians at Nurway House hunt
as well as they did before.

418. Do you know why attempts have not been made te settle them at other
forts ?—There have been attempts, that is to say, it was attempted at Moose
Factory when I was there.

419. Which Moose Factory do you mean *—The one at James's Bay; I have
known seed potatoes given, which is the only crop that can be grown there
with certainty ; tools have been given, and ground that had been culiivated, and
food for a few days; they would plant their potatoes and never come back to
attend to them ; I have known that done two seasons while I was at the Moose
Factory.

420. Have the missionaries who have been anxious to civilise them been
encouraged to do so *—They have, wherever it is practicable, but I cannot speak
of cther parts of the country except at Moose, where the climate is not very
suitable for growing, :

421. Mr. Grogan.] You stated that at Moose Factory an attempt had been
made to settle the Indians by giving them seed and ground for potatoes?—
Yes. ,

422. Were the Indians that you referred to the ordinary residents of that
place ?—Yes ; they came in to trade, to barter there.

423. Did they return to the factory after they had sown the potatoes :—They
returned frequently, and they left them to get destroyed ; they never looked at
them again ; they never thought it worth while to dig them out or hoe them
out.

424. Did they know the potato practically i—Perfectly well ; they used to
be supplied at the forts with potatoes when they came in, and they knew the
use of them. :

425. Mr. Bell.] Then do you attribute that circumstance to the particular
character of those Indians, because I have read that on the western side of the
Rocky Mountains the Indians sow potatoes in large quantities for their subsist-
ence ?>—Yes; they are a different race ; we have found that although the Indian
works well in the Company’s service he will not settle down generally; there
are many exceptions. I cannot speak of the west side of the mountains ; I know
from hearsay that what you have stated is correct. . )

426. Do you know what is the cause of the failure of the experiment in the
place to which you allude, for it has answered ir. some places ; at the Red River
Settlement, for instance, and Norway House, if not in other parts >—It has not
answered fully in either place; they never become great farmers, and I believe
it arises from a fondness for the chase; they.object to settle down anywhere for
a length of time.

427. Have the half-breeds the same objection to settle down as the pure
Indians >~The French half-breeds have, but the English half-breeds have not so
much so.

428. Ts there much union of the English and the Indian races going on r—
There is; it arose from the Company’s servants and people marrying Indian
women ; there is not so much of it now as there was originally, because many
of the half-breeds are growing up, and they intermarry with them instead.

A 429. Have
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420. Have you heard the statement, that south of the Saskatchewan River
the English blood is so mixed up that there are no perfectly pure Indians
there >—1 think it is incorrect; south of the Saskatchewan the Indians are
most free from cross of any kind. I understand that they are less crossed than
any other with white blood from all that I have heard ; I cannot speak from my
own knowledge.

43v. How far north have you travelled on the Mackenzie River ?—I have
been down to the mouth ; I went down to the mouth with Sir John Richardson
in 1848.

431. Have you been westward along the coast >—Never westward.

432. You do not know what facility there is for ships sailing round to the
mouth of the Mackenzie ?—The only cases of their having come round were
those of Captain M‘Clure and Captain Collinson ; they passed there.

433. That arises from the great obstruction >—Yes, from the ice ; those were
the only two instances where they managed to get through.

434. Mr. Roebuck.] How far north have you ever been in Scotland *—To
the Orkneys and Shetland.

433. Comparing the climate of the Orkneys with the climate at York on
Hudson’s Bay, where was the great difference>—The difference was, that the
summer was much as our summer in Orkney is; but the winter, of course,
extended over seven to eight months, when there was no navigation. The

winter sets in in the beginning of November, and the ice does not get away
from the rive. vefore June. I could not get across the north river at York
Factory, on account of ice, before the 10th or 12th of June.

436. Can they grow wheat in the Orkneys ?— It willripen in small quantities,
but it is not generally grown ; barley and oats are generally grown.

437. But you can grow wheat at York > —Never.

438. The climate in the summer, I take it, is finer than at the Orkneys :—
1t is milder, a little; but it is more irregular, because we have frosts. owing to
the ice being in the Bay close off York ; you can see ice in the Bay almost the
whole season round.

439. Going further south, have you ever been to Lake Winnipeg?—Yes; 1
have passed through it several times.

.Iq\?o. Have you been in that part of the country through the twelve months?
—=INQO. N

441. You do not know when the winter begins to the south of Lake Win-
nipeg *—The winter begins about November, that is to say, the ice begins to
shut up the navigation by the end of October; the little rivers and lakes are
impassable about the end of October.

442. When does the winter end there >—You can get through Lake Winnipeg
sometimes about the 1st of June; at other times you may be stopped by ice up
to the middle of June; when I went through with Sir John Richardson we were
stopped in that way.

443. Agricultural operations you think would not begin before June near
Lake Winnipeg >—No ; not to go through the Lake.

y 444. You say that you went from the boundary over to the United States?—
es

445. Did you go through Minesota }—Yes, to St. Paul’s.

446. At what time of the year was that?—In the winter.

447. So that you could not very well judge of the difference between
Minesota and the country round Lake Winnipeg *~No, I could not tell further
than that it is a perfectly level tract between Red River and Minesota; there
are no hills or difficulties in the way of travelling.

448. On the Saskatchewan I believe you have never been ?—I have never
been up there.

449. What part of the territory then is it that you say is perfectly fit for
agriculture 2—I speak of the Saskatchewan from hearsay, not from personal
knowledge. -

450. Round about Lake Winnipeg is it fit for agriculture >—It is a low flat
sandy place, full of marshes along the north shore of Lake Winnipeg ; we
sometimes had to go many miles before we could get ground to make an
encampment on; sometimes we had to travel half the night before we could
make an encampment,
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451. Was that during the winter : —No, in the summer time.

452. Then you have travelled in that portion of the world in the summer,
bui not through Minesota *— No.

453. Were you ever at the Red River Settlement during the summer :—For
a short time in the spring. .

454. What sort of land is it about there *—Very excellent ground ; rich, good

ground.
455. When you passed through Red River and afterwards through Minesota,

"did you see any great difference between the appearance of that country round

the Red River and Minesota }—Very little; it was all covered with snow at the
time ; I could not judge. '

456. Are they peopling Minesota now from the United States:—When I
passed up I found no settlements for about 400 miles, between Crow Wing and
Pembina. I saw the small trading posts, with a little piece of land cultivated on
them, but no settlements that could be called so.

457. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Where is Crow Wing ¢—It is marked as the
Crow Wing River beyond St. Anthony, to the north of St. Paul's.

458. Mr. Lowe.] Is the Crow Wing River a tributary of the Mississippi? —It
is one of the tributaries of the St. Peter’s.

450. Which runs into the Mississippi *—Yes.

460. Mr. Roebuck.] 1 believe now Minesota is a territory, is it not?- ~Yes.

461. Did it become a territory lately :—In 1852 ; it was becoming a territory
I think either in 1851 or 1852, when I was passing through.

462. Wisconsin is a state, is it not >—Yes.

463. Is Wisconsin peopled thoroughly, or is a large portion of it still wild : —
A very large portion ; at least the portion that I travelled through was wild.

464. Whilst Wisconsin remained wild, Minesota was begun ?—Minesota, up
north as far as St. Paul's, seems to be pretty well settled ; that is to say, there
are now houses; but beyond that, between that and Red River, there seemed
to be from 300 to 400 miles, by the route I took about 450 miles, not settled.

465. While very large portions of Wisconsin remained uninhabited, a portion
of the territory of Minesota became peopled:—I cannoi give you reasons,
because I merely speak of the route that I passed through.

4661.‘ Did you pass through Wisconsin ?—I passed through a very small por-
tion of it. | A

467. Was that part of Wisconsin through which you passed uncultivated ; was
there a large portion of the territory unceded ?—There was a large portion
which seemed scarcely settled; there were saw-mills, and things of that kind.

468. At that very time there were people in Minesota ?—Yes.

46¢. So that Minesota began to be peopled before Wisconsin was full of
inhabitants — Clearly because, they followed the route of the river. They could
get steam-boats completely up to Minesota, up to St. Paul's. The steam-boats
came all the way up the Mississippi with one small break.

470. So that we may conclude that people would go to a new territory if
there were inducements to go there, though Canada should still retain lands
uncultivated, unsettled, unceded :—Yes, if there were inducements sufficient;
but the Americans have not had inducements yet to push up beyond, except at

St. Peter’s River.
471. Going to a different subject, you spoke of the tariff established by the

Hudson’s Bay Company ; do not they establish a tariff upon the goods they sell
and the goods they buy ?—Yes ; they establish there a tariff for their servants.

472. So that if a man sells you a beaver skin, and you sell him a flannel
shirt, you put your own price upon the flannel shirt, and upon the beaver skin ?
—There is a different settlement of tariff for the Indian, and for the servant.

473. Do not you put your own price upon the flannel shirt and upon the
beaver skin ?—Yes ; 50 per cent. is the price put on.

474. For example, we will take an item; take a flannel shirt; suppose it
cost here half-a-crown, you say you put 50 per cent. upon that ¢—Yes.

475. Fifty per cent. would be added to the half-crown when it got to York ;
if you took it to the Mackenzie River how much would be added to it there?
— Nothing to the servant; our tariff is higher there.

476. 1 am talking of the Indian —1I do not understand the question. Our

tariffs are made; there is 50 per cent., a fixed tariff, put on for the servant.
a77. We
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477. We will not talk about the servant ?—Then this article is sold to the
Indian; there is a certain tariff made without any fixed per-cemtage. The
articles that are useful, such as woollens, guns, and absolute necessaries, are sold
to the Indian at a comparatively cheap rate; there is no fixed per-centage upon
them.

478. So that in fact there is no tariff at all to the Indiani—I never made
out the tariff, but this is the way in which we did it. Supposing there was a
valuable skin, we could not pay the Indian for that in the same proportion as
its value. :

479. 1 am no:_asking that question; I am asking you whether you do not
put your own price upon the goods you sell to the Indian, without regard to
any tariff whatever /—Exactly so, but there is a fixed price that the Indian
perfectly understands; there is no regular per-centage put on.

480. You lived some time at York 7—At Moose, in James’s Bay.

481. Do you know what the tariff was there to the Indian *— Yes; as far as
I remember, it was from 2s. 6 d. to 3s. for what we called a made beaver.

482. What was the tariff upon goods taken from England and sold to the
Indian there ?—1I do not know that; I did not meke out the tariff,

433. Were you there 10 years without ever learning that fact ?—VYes; it is
difficult to learn.

484. Why difficult to learn 7—Because T find that they have no fixed tariff
made out upon the plan you have spoken ‘of, wherever it is. There is no fixed
per-centage put on the goods anywhere, wherever we have traded with them,
or wherever any person else has traded with them.

485. Mr. LZowe.] Do you ask the Indians different prices for goods at differ-
ent times ”—Never; we cannot vary the price.

486. A beaver skin will always command the same amount of European
goods !—At the same place. .

487. Mr. Roebuck.] Are there mot varieties of beaver skins 7—Yes; but the
beaver skin is the standard; a large beaver making one skin.

483. Do you give the same price for every beaver skin?— Certainly
not ; two small ones go for a large beaver; two martens go for a large
beaver.

489. Who determines whether it is a small or a large beaver ?—The Indians
themselves determine it; they know it perfectly well, and so does any man
who is acquainted with it; any man who looks at it can tell the age of a
beaver.,

490. Lord Stanley.] When you say that a beaver skin commands a fixed
price, you mean, of course, a skin of the average size >-—A skin of the average
size ; a good large skin killed in winter or in spring.

491. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] When you talk of a thing costing so many
beavers, you mean that they may give a beaver skin and five or six racoon
skins, or marten skins, in the same way that in the buffalo country they talk of
a thing being worth so many robes } —Yes.

492. 1f you boaght a horse from an Indian you would give him so many
beavers for it t—Yes,

493- If you sold a gun, you would say, “ I will take so many beavérs for it ? ™
—Yes; it is a thing perfectly understood by the Indian. ‘

494. The beavers being the current coin of the country 7—Yes ; the sa.ne as
the current coin of this country. The Indian understands it, and no one will
do anything until he gets up to the standard price.

495. Mr. Roebuck.] If a man came with ten beaver skins to the factory at
Moose River, you say that he would know what price was to be put upon those
beaver skins; but would he know the price to be put upon the European goods?
—He does not know anything about the price of the European goods to him.
He knows exactly the articles that he wants; he knows how many skins he has
got, and he knows what he can get for them.

496. Who determines how much he can get ?—It was determined long before
I entered the service.

497. It never varies >—It never varies much; it was increased some years
ago in favour of the Indian.

498. So that, as goods in England become cheaper, they do not become
cheaper in Hudson’s Bay?—No ; and if the furs sell cheaper we do not give
less for them to the Indian.

0.25. E 499. So
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499. So that, if by improvements in manufacture here, you can manufacture
a woollen shirt at one-fourth of the money previouszly charged, you still ask him
the same sum that it cost when it was four times as dear ?—The tariff has been
cheapened to the Indian several times ; it has been several times altered in his
favour. That tariff was made long before I entered the service; I do not know
what rules it was made by; but 1 suppose it was so adjusted that there was a
fair profit to be got from the business.

500. Mr. Edward Ellice] Do you remember what was usually given for a
beaver :—A blanket was four beavers, but if you got the value of it in musk-
rats you would not have above a shilling or two profit, which would not cover
the expense; ten rats go to a beaver; ten rats, a few years ago, would sell in
the London market for about 3 s.; they are higher now.

501. Mr. Roebuck.] Have you happened to see the account of Hudson’s Bay,
published by Chambers ?—No.

502. If a statement is therein made of a coat being charged 10/ or 127 to
the Indian, it is incorrect? —Certainly; it may have cost him that, but the
chances are that it only cost him 2/. or 50s.; it depends upon the skins he gave
for it. The tariff is an arbitrary thing; if you paid for the silver fox and for
the marten according to their value, the Indians would hunt up those skins
and destroy them in a very short time ; they would not think of hunting the
inferior skins of the musk-rat, which form about half the returns of the southern
districts ; and the Indians would not be any better off.

503. Sir John Pakington.] If I understand your use of the word * tariff,” it
is a written scale of prices according to which the goods which the Indians
require are supplied to them, estimated in beavers *—Lixactly.

504. WWhat is the money result as regards the payment made by the Indians
for those goods so supplied to them, of course taking the average value of the
skins; you have said that the servants pay fifty per cent. on the London price; |
what do you suppose the Indians pay ?— Much higher.

505. How much higher?—I cannot say; it varies.

506. Do you think they pay 200 per cent. on the London price >—I should
think they do.

507. Do you think they pay 500 per cent. *—1I cannot say.

508. Do you think they pay very much more than 209 per cent. ?—I should
think they pay more than that, but it is a caleulation that I never entered
into ; it varies so much with the prices of the furs, and the quantities of skins
obtained.

509. You say you have never entered into the calculation ; at the same time
you seem to have an accurate idea to this extent, that they pay more than 200
per cent. upon the cost price in London :—Yes.

510. Do yo think they pay 300 per cent.?—They may; I never made a
computation.

511. Do you think if anybody said that they paid 500 per cent. it would be
at all an extreme statement 2—1I cannot tell you; I never made the calculation.
Besides which I have heen for the last eight or 10 years employed in quite a
different service, and have had little to do with the Company’s affairs.

512. When did you leave the service of the hudson’s Bay Company ?—Oaly
in 1856, but since 1847 or 1846 I have been almost wholly employed in arctic
service, consequently 1 have been only one year on actual duty in the Com-
pany’s service since then, and I can only speak generally.

513. I think you stated that you had been in the service of the Hudson's Bay
Company for a very long time?—Twenty-three years.

514. Where did you chiefly reside during that time }*—Moose Factory was the
place whzre I remained longest. 1 was there 10 years.

515. The neighbourhood of the Moose Settlement being the part of the
district with which you are most familiar, as I understand you, is there much
wood atout that part of the country F—There is pine wood.

516. Is it extensively wooded ?—It is well wooded.

517. Are there extensive forests 7—There are extensive forests.

518. There is not much prairie about there ’—Merely swamp.

510. Does the wood grow to any large size ?—About two or two and a half
feet in diameter is about the Jargest that I have seen.

520. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Does not the profit made upon the article that is

given
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given for the beaver in the country depend upon what the beaver sells for in
London >—Of course, entirely. .

521. Do you remember the price of beaver a pound some 20 years ago in
London ?--I do not. )

522. Was it 30s. >—About 30s. or 32s.

523. Do you remember what it was selling for about three years ago —
Seven shillings or eight shillings a pound.

524. It is now, I believe, about 13 5. r—Yes.

525. Mr. Percy Herbert.] What is the weight of an average beaver ?—About
a pound ; some of the large ones are a pound and a quarter.

526. Mr. Grogan.] Am I to understand you to say, that in fact the whole
trade there is one of traffic >—Yes.

527. And that the beaver is the unit of computation in the purchase and sale
of any article 2—VYes ; it is the currency understood by the Indian.

528. 1 think you stated that latterly the tariff for that barter had been aug-
mented by the Company in favour of the Indian 7—Yes.

520. That is, that they allow a larger quantity of European guods for the
beavers than they formerly did *—Yes; there was a modification of the tariff
in favour of the Indians some years ago ; I forget the season.

530. How do you reconcile that with the fact which we have just heard, that
the value of beaver has fallen from 30s. to 7s. or 8s., or 13s.2—I do not
know the reason for making this modification.

531. Have you any impression on your mind that the Company are carrying
on an unfortunate trade —No, I think not.

532. How does it arise that the Company are able, notwithstanding the great
reduction in the value of beaver. to givea larger quantity of European goods
to the Indian and still have a large profit ?— It arose. I fancy. from the fact that
European goods got cheaper; that is the only way that I can account for it; I
was ordered to make a modification at Mackenzie’s River, and I would not do it,
except to a small extent, because I found that things went on just as well ; that
the Indians could clothe themselves very well if they did any work.

533. Are the goods furnished to the servants of the Company and to the
Indians the same in quality -—Exactly the same.

534. Are the Indians aware that they pay a higher rate for them than the
Company’s servants are charged ?—They do not seem to be aware of it; they
are not told that they pay a higher value, but they are quite satisfied with their
treatment generally, and the Indian can clothe himself and get 2ll his requisites
if he likes to work.

535. Mr. Bell.] Has the same reduction taken place with regard to other
furs besides the beaver; the silver fox, for instance ; is that selling at a pro-
portionately lower price now to the beaver?—No, I believe not.

536. Is it higher *—It is about the same that it always has been; thev vary
considerably ; some kinds of fur go out of fashion, and others come in.

537. Has the general average price of furs in this country fallen within the
last 20 years, or risen ?- Some have varied. I do not think the average price
on the whole has altered; but beavers have fallen very much, and they were
the principal returns of the country at that time. ‘

538. And some have risen 7—Yes; I believe a few have risen.

539. Mr. Rocbuck.] I suppose, during your residence at Moose Factory. you
saw the trading with the Indians*—I saw it; [ was not a trader, but I saw
the mode of trading.

540. 1 will read you a description given of that mode of trading, and will
ask you whether it be a correct one: *Thus, an Indian arriving at one of the
Company’s establishments with a bundle of furs, which he intends to trade,
proceeds, in the first instance, to the trading room; there the trader separates
the furs into lots, and, after adding up the amount, delivers to the Indian
a number of little pieces of wood, indicating the number of made-beaver to
which his hunt amounts. He is next taken to the store-room, where he finds
himself surrcunded by bales of blankets, slop-coats, guns, knives, povider horns,
fiints. axes, &c. Each article has a recognised value in made-beaver. A slop-
coat, for example, is 12 made beavers, for which the Indian delivers up 12 of
nis pieces of wood ; for a gun he gives 20 ; for a knife, 2; and so on, until his
stock of wooden cash is expended.” Have you ever seen that process?—

0.23. E 2 Certainly ;
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Certainly ; but a coat generally costs five or six skins. The process is true;
but the details are not true.

541. 1 will now read to you from the * Indian tariff of the territory embraced
within the Royal License, situated east of the Rocky Mountains.” 1 find that
a gun, which in England cost 22s., is charged to the Indian 20 beavers,
equivalent in market value to 324 10s.; is that anything according with your
experience :-—It was true many years ago, but it is not true at present.

542. Have you wonderfully reformed of late 7—No, but the price of beaver
is not that ; it is 13 5. in the market at the present day.

543. Then the Indian would have to give more beavers ?—No, it would stiil
be the same; and the gun might rise to 30 s. or 40 s.

544. In marten skins he gives for the same gun, costing 22 s., 60 skins, and
their value is 46 I. 10 5. ?—I never saw more than two martens go to a beaver
since I have heen in the service.

545. He gives five silver fox skins for the same gun, and their market value
is 50 ?>—Yes, it is true.

545%. Do they descend to musk-rats, which form half the stock *~-At some

laces.
P 546. They do not say anything about musk-rats?—No; that is just the
thing ; there is little or no gain upon them. Let me give my side of the
tariff: ten rats go to a beaver ; for a gun it would be 200 rats, and the price in
the market, some years ago, was 3 d. or 4 d. a skin.

547. Mr. Grogan.] How many beavers go to a gun?—Twenty by that
account, and that is the Mackenzie River tariff; that is the very highest tariff
that we have to the Indians. If you are paid for that gun in rats you have
scarcely the profit that a London merchant would take, even in the Uity, instead
of going to the Saskatchawan, and those musk rats form one-half of the bulk of
the returns of the southern department, and a great portion of the northern.

548. Mr. Roebuck.] Can you state the difference between silver foxes and
beaver skins ; how many beaver skins go to one silver fox ?—Four or five. :

549. Then they give five silver foxes for this same gun ;—VYes, in Mackenzie
River, but about half the amount elsewhere.

550. And that is equivalent, it is stated, to 50 I. 2 —Yes.

551. That is the mode of trading with the Indians?—That is the mods on
the one side ; you must take both sides. There is a loss, at least not a gain,
in trading with the inferior furs. "Were we to pay according to the value of
the skins the Indian would hunt up and destroy all the valuable fur-bearing
animals, and would not catch a musk rat or the inferior skins at all.

552. When you trade in musk rats in order that the Indians should catch
musk rats in place of catching beavers, you give more for the musk rat in
proportion than for the beaver /—The more inferior the skin, the higher the
price which is given in proportion.

553. Supposing an Indian comes with musk rats to buy a gun, how many
musk rats will he give for this gun:—About 200 in Mackenzie River, and a
little more than half elsewhere.

554. And how much is each musk rat worth 2—Tiiey have got up this last
year, they were from 3d. to 4 d. for several years.

555- What are they now ?—1 forget, but they have increased this last season.

556. Are they 6 d.?—VYes, fully that; more.

557. That would be 51.7—~Yes, at Mackenzie River, but not much above
half the sum elsewhere.

558. Instead of 22 s. 2—Yes ; but 6 4. was a high value, 2 .10 s. to 3 /. would
be the value of them some few years ago; 2. 10s. would be at 3 d.

559.- Mr. Gurney.] If 1 understand rightly, the principle is, that you give a
higher price for the lower skin, and a lower price for the more valuable skin,
with the view of yielding the Indian a fair average on his general huat 27—
Exactly so, because were we not to pay them for the inferior skins higher than
any person could do with a profit, they would not hunt up those skins, which
are very numerous ; they would follow up the others as they have done on the
frontier, and destroy all the valuable animals without advantage to themselves.

560. Mr. Lowe.] It is a contrivance for preserving the more valuable
animals r—Yes, and probably the Indians also, because the poorer Indians and
the women and children hunt up the musk rats, of which there are abundance,
and can provide food and clothing for themselves in that way.

561. Mr.



SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY. 37

561. Mr. Edward Ellice.] You were at Moose for a considerable time, and
were through the Indian territory ; what disposition have you generally observed
in the Indians towards the iraders ?—They are most friendly, as far as I have
ever seen them.

562. When Indians care to the fort that you were at, in distress or in a
state of destitution, did the servants of the Company relieve them r~-—They were
always relieved both in food and clothing if requisite, and in medicines if
necessary, for those who were sick, and that was done gratuitously; they got
the clothing gratuitously ; if they could not pay for it, it remained a debt. If
it was an old person that could not hunt he got the clothes gratuitously, and
some food also.

563. At your station were spirits ever bartered for the furs *—Never. Where
I was, there was a dram occasionally given to a good hunter when he came in,
one on coming and one on going, but spirits were never bartered for furs.

564. Was it an uncommon thing to see an Indian in the territory in a state
of intoxication >—Very uncommou in late years in the Company’s territories.

565. Are you aware that spirits are given in small gratuities at certain times
of the year?—They are given in the summer when Indians are employed to
voyage; they are given because it is an old custom with the men, much as it
is with sailors or anybody else, to give them a little spirits when they come
down to the depdt, and the Indians sn employed get the same quantity. But
the Company, wherever I have been, hiave offered them other articles, tobacco,
tea, and sugar to two or three times the value, if they would take them, instead
of the spirits.

566. Mr. Roebuck.] The spirits were for payment in that case, then ?—No,
the spirits were given as a gratuity. What they call the regale given to the
men when they come down.

567. Mr. Edward Ellice.] The supply of spirits was limited to what -vas
called the regale >*—Where I was, and in many cases, we had no spirits; we
have no spirits in the Athabasca or in La Crosse or on the Mackenzie River, for
the men, officers. ur Indians; the persons in charge had no spirits or wine
allowed them. ’

568. In trading with the Indians, did you find them tolerably quick in their
dealings with you, or were they credulous and to be imposed upon easily 7—
They understood the value of every skin they had, and they had in their mind
everything that they wanted.

509. Were they shrewd in their dealings f—Perfectly shrewd.

570. They knew their rights >—Perfectly so.

571. They were aware that with this tariff, which was established for the
barter, the servants of the Company could not interfere ; thatit was a fixed thing
with them :—They knew it thoroughly.

572. Mr. Gordon.] But I think you said that you thought the Indians were
unaware of the much higher per-centage that they were paying for articles >—
Yes; they did not understand anything about the per-centages.

573- Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is there any district in the country besides the
district you were first speaking of, the Saskatchawan, where you think a self-
supporting colony could exist >—Not in the present state of the country; not
tig.it is settled up to that point, and then it might, but it would take a long
while.

574. To what part of the country do you allude besides the Saskatchawan ;
to the thick wood districts ?—The only part that I should fancy, would be up
about the Rainy Lake.

575. The Rainy Lake is between Lake Superior and the Red River —Yes.

576. In what part of the thick wood districts, north of Lake Winnipeg, do
you think a self-supporting colony could exist >—~Nowhere, according to my
experience.

577. 1 believe you have travelled in the country between the northern shore
of Lake Superior and the Red River >—Yes, in winter.

578. What sort of a district is it, keeping on British territory, between the
Red River and Lake Superior ?—From the Red River to Lake Superior, by the
route that I came to Fort William, towards the west end of Lake Superior, is
not a difficult country to travel over, because we in the winter followed the
lakes and rivers; but on coming to Lake Superior, the hills on the north shore
there run north and south, consequently there is a continuous series of ridges
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having deep ravines between them, where the streams running out to Lake
Superior pass through, and you have to go about 100 miles to the north of the
place before you can travel well. I went to the north about 100 miles, and
found the country there difficult to travel over; we were obliged to leave our
dogs, and carry our clothes and provisions on our backs.

579. That is on the northern shore of Lake Superior -—Yes.

580. Was there any temptation to a colonist to settle? —It was the
winter time, and I saw no country that would dc for settlement ; there were a
great many swamps. I passed along the head waters from Nipegon to Long
Lake, and it scemed to me a swampy conntry, like most of the head waters of
the country. _

531. In travelling from Fort William to the Red River, in taking goods is it
a difficult or is it an easy route *—Very difficult; we are not able to travel
there with any thing but canoes; the rivers there are too difficult for boats
even.

582. It is a very level and swampy country:—It is a level and swampy
country in one part. and it is very hilly close to Lake Superior; there are some
high hills to climb over, two in particular.

583. For all purposes of practical transport that country is an impracticable
one in winter, is it not 7—Quite so, to a great extent.

584. There has been a good deal said about a railway coming from Canada
to the Red River, and so on; from what you saw of the character of the
country, are the physical difficulties very great against carrying out that
railway >—I should think they would be immense; not insurmountable, but
immensely expensive, particularly on that line along the north of Lake
Superior.

585. Did you hear Colonel Lefroy’s evidence ?—Yes.

586. He describes that uzs a line which engineers had drawn in the air,
of course imagining that sciecnce and art can overcome all the physical
difficulties ; I suppose you agrec in that evidence —Perfectly; as fur as the
practical results go, it could never pay anything in the present state of the
country.

587. Supposing that a British colony was founded, and that the Government
of Canada was to be extended to the Red River, and no railway was to be made,
how could communication be kept up between the seat of government in
Canada and the colony of the Red River in winter >—There is no regular
communication without going through the States; there could be no regular
and quick communication.

588. If any one now wanted to go, say from Toronto to the Red River, in
winter, how would he go >—Through the States, by railway as far as it went,
and he would then cross over the prairie country, which is unsettled, with
horses or dogs.

5890. Mr. Kinmaird.] Was the 400 miles that you travelled to St. Paul’s with
horses 7—Dogs ; horses could not travel ; the snow was too deep; it was in
February or March.

590. Could you have done it with horses in the summer ?—Yes, it is practicable
in summer both with horses and with waggeons; light waggons go regularly
across the prairie plains.

591. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Do you know the Nipissing at the head of the
Ottawa *—I have never been there, but I know where it is.

592. Taking that to be the end of the railway concession, how far is it in a
straight line from the Red River '—It is difficult to say, but I think it is some-
where about from 1,000 to 1,200 miles ; it is on the charts.

593. I understand you to say that you have been through the district ex-
tending fron: there, and are able personally to speak to the sort of country
which it is ?—1I have traversed that country once, and I have passed through
Lake Superior several times by water; the whole of the shores of Lake Supe-
rior are perfectly impracticable ; there is a little cultivable ground at the mouth
of each river, but otherwise it is an immense rocky tract.

594. Mr. Roebuck.] Supposing you were going from Lake Erie up to Lake
Superior, could not you go in a steamer up Lake Erie, and from Lake
Erie into Lake Huron, and from Lake Huron into Lake Superior :—Yes, in
suuner,

595. Mr.
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505. Mr. Lowe.] Istherea canal open now :—They are preparing one; I am J. Rae, Esq,u. n.
not quite sure whether it is open.
506. Mr. Roebuck.] When that canal is finished, if it be not finished, there 23 February 1857,
will be a regular communication from the Atlantic Ocean to the head of Lake
Superior ?—Y'es.
97. You say that the road is impracticable during winter ?—Yes. .
508. If the country were peopled, would not the people make a road in
for the sleighs :—Not along the North shore of Lake Superior.
500. Would they not travel over the ice '—The lake is so bad that the ice
gets detached from the rocks; it does not remain fast, and our expresses seldom
or never attempt to go there. The wind comes on, and the waves from
the lake break up the ice; and several of the expresses have been nearly
lost.
600. Sir John Pakington.] Which line do they take in winter *—They go
further to the north by Lake Nipigon, and a place called Long Lake, 100 or
120 miles in from Lake Superior.

601. Mr. Roebuck.] So that if the country were peopled at Lake Nipigon,
there would be a regular communication by sleighs ?—I cannot say ; the route
that I passed by is impracticable to sleighs.

6o2. Are you at all aware of the richness of the northern shore of Lake
Superior in metal :—1I have understood that there are mines; at least that there
is copper ore there.

603. Is that no attraction, do you think ?-—I understood that the geologists,
who visited them, caid that they would scarcely pay for working them; they are
not equal to the mines on the south shore. I have not examined them myself;
I only speak from hearsay on that point.

004. Therefore you cannot say whether that county has inducements to
settlement or not ?—I can say that it has not the least inducement of having
fine agricultural land to seftle upon ulong the north shore; it is a perfectly
barren, rocky coast, perfectly iron bound, except at the mouths of some of
the little streams where there is a little alluvial deposit of land, where little
pgé:ches may be cultivated ; generally speaking, it is a rocky, barren coast with
ridges.

605. Do you know the northern shore of Lake Huron ?—I never came along
that side.

606. Have you passed over from Lake Huron to Lake Nipissing*—I never
was there.

607. Then the questions put to you about Lake Nipissing you cannot
answer 2—No. I said that I could not answer them. I never passed that
way.

608. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Will you describe upon the map the line of
country that you have been through, starting from Fort William ; where did
you go to, going up towards Nipigon :—1I passed directly from Fort William
up to Lake Nipigon ; I then struck east to a place called long Lake, about
100 miles.

609. What sort of a country was it between Lake Nipigon and Long Lake?
~—It was low and swampy. I passed through a number of little lakes and
rivers, and swamps, apparently ; they were all covered up Wwith ice at the time.
Then from Long Lake I went to the Pice River, a difficult tract of country ;
that is on Lake Superior.

_610. What sort of a country was it between Long Lake and Pice River :—
Very rough and rugged; our dogs got knocked up; we could scarcely use
them ; we were obliged to carry our clothes on our backs.

621. Which way did the rivers run there®— Nearly north and south
generally.

612. Mr. Roebuck.] The Pice River falls into Lake Superior 7—Yes.

613. Mr. Edward Ellice.] And the water the other way ran to the north, to
Hudson's Bay *—I did not go so far up, I was only at the watershed at the
head waters.

614. Did there appear to be no valley in that direction, or no part eligible
for settlement ?—I saw nothing, excepting that the country which I went over
was low ; it looked swampy, like most of the watersheds there.

615. Where did you go to from Pice River #~—To Michipicoton.

0.25. E 4 616. There
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616. There you came down into Lake Superior *—Yes. From that I came
to St. Mary’s; we were obliged to leave our dogs behind.

617. Sir John Pakington.] How did you get on ?—We walked on foot, and
carrizd our baggage and provisions on the backs of men. It is one of the
roughest countries I ever passed through.

618. Mr. Edward Ellice.] With respect to the mines on Lake Superior, are
you aware uf the number of them, or the available state of the work at those
mines :— [ am not.

619. But a great many companies have attempted to work them >—Several.

620. Both on the American and on the Canadian side }—On both sides.

621. The general result has been not very profitable >*—~Not on the north
side, because they have given them all up, or most of them. There are only
a few of the American mines paying where they get large masses of copper.

622. I believe that the great difficulty with the copper there is from its
extreme purity, and the great masses that it is in, so that they cannot easily
break it 2—On the south side; but they have found nothing of that kind on
the north side that I am aware of.

623. But all the copper s actually in large solid masses, requiring great
force to break it :—I have seen pieces of one or two tons, and pieces are found
much heavier than that.

624. Sir Jokn Pakington.] What was the length of time occupied in your
jou131ey from the Red River to Toronto ?—To St. Mary’s, two months; about
60 days.

625. Itis a journey rarely made I suppose >—Not by the same person; there
are generally relays of men at each post; each eight or ten days.

620. The journey is made from post to post?—Yes; by different relays of
men.

27. In that way is the journey often made during the winter months?—
Only once or twice when the express comes down; the winter express used to
come that way communicating with all the posts bringing information down to
Canada.

625. What is the distance between the posts ?—Generally 100 or 200 miles ;
by the route followed it is more. .

629. Mr. Grogan.] You said that the express went by Lake Nipigon and
by Long Lake; did the express travel that route because there were posts
there 7— Partly, and partly because they cannot travel along the lake on account
of the ice breaking away sometimes with a gale of wind, which renders it very
dangerous; the shore is so precipitous that the ice is apt to break away and
prevent travelling.

630. Are there no posts between Lake Nipigon and the north shore ;:—No.

631. It is the only route that is practicable ?>—It is the only route that the
Company’s people go generally ; they make a rush sometimes across the Bay,
but they do not do so generally, it being so unsafe.

632. Mr. Bell.] Are there any whales in Hudson’s Bay ?—1I saw a few up to
the north.

633. You do not know whether the Hudson’s Bay abounds with them ?—No,
not the southern part; Isawa few in the northern part, towards Repulse Bay.

634. Are there any seals *—There were plenty of white*porpoises, and many
seals, and some walruses the last time I was there.

635. Do they afford a large quantity of oil?—Yes; the Esquimaux kill them.

636. There are no British fisheries ?~——No ; none are established there.

37. They are not allowed, I suppose ?—No one ever attempted it that I am
aware of.

638. Do you know whether that is part of the Hudson’s Bay monopoly 7—It
is part of the Hudson’s Bay territory.

639. So that no ships can come into the Hudson’s Straits to fish for whales ?
—- I suppose so ; there are not many whales.

640. Do you suppose there would be a sufficient quantity of fish of that kind
to support a settlement *—1I think not; when I went in 1846-7 | saw a good
many whales; when I went in 1853 and 1854 I saw only one or two small
ones.

641. At what part of Hudson’s Bay 7—Iuside Southampton Island.

642. Mr. Edward Ellice.] How long is the water so free ;rom ice that vessels
could hunt the whales 7—About two months ; it is very daugerous ; itis full of

currents ;
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currents; it nearly wrecked Sir George Back’s vessel, and prevented another

entleman, Captain Lyon, twice from getting up there, whose vessel got nearly
destroyed ; the currents are very strong and it is very dangerous; 1 got on
because I had boats and got inside the ice in shoal water.

643. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Do you know of any coal being discovered
anywhere on the shores of Hudson’s Bay *—I am not aware of any.

644. Mr. Grogan] Along the journcy which you have described to us as
having taken, were there any houses or any pevple ?-—None, except the posts
that I have mentioned. :

645. The whole of the rest of the country is unoccupied and desolate 7—
Quite, except by Indians.

646. Mr. Kinnaird.] From your evidence I gather that you entirely approve
of the rule of the Company, in not selling spirits to the Indians ?—Perfectly ; it
is the best rule that was ever made.

647. Have you compared them with those who have access to spirits ?—Yes,
I have seen the effect; the Indians are much easier to deal with, more attentive,
and better in every way.

648. You also, I gather, approve of settling and attempting to civilise them
you think that it may be done with success ? —I think it is a good thing; if it
could be possibly done it would be beneficial in every way ; it is not even
opposed to the Company’s trade, because the time when they would be employed
in the settlement is not the time when they hunt.

649. The scheme has been partially successful in the Red River :—Yes, but
very partially, because most of them hunt in the winter, and they do not
depend upon the farms.

ti50. The settling and the civilising have never been opposed by the Company
in any way ! —Not that I am aware of.

651. Chairman.] Still, do you think that the constitution of the Company is
such as to make it very well fitted for the management of settlements except
upon a very small scale ?-—I speak of the Indians settling down, not of others
settling ; not of colonising, not of strangers coming in.

652. When you use the word * settlements,” vou mean mere Indian villages?
—Indian villages and settlements ; local trading places.

653. Mr. Roebuck.] But surely a fur company is opposed to colonisation, is
it not 7—1I should fancy so, generally.

654. Therefore, insomuch as the Hudson’s Bay Company is a capital fur
Company, it is a very bad coloniser r—I should fancy so; it never professed to
be a colonising Company. .

t55. Mr. Lowe.] With regard to the half-breeds, do you consider them a
material from which an agricultural population can be formed ?—1I believe that
the English half-breeds may be so; they are a very excellent race generally,
but careless and improvident.

0.,6. Will they settle down and cultivate the ground?—There will be a
difficulty about it, because they generally prefer the hunting.

657. Have they settled in any great numbers:—In the Red River to a con-
siderable extent. .

653. Have they given up hunting altogether ? — Not so far as I know. They
generally hunt as long as they are able; they go as voyageurs in the summer,
and hunt in the autumn and winter.

659. And they do not really cultivate the ground much*—Many of them
do, but the generality of them prefer the sort of wild life of huuting.

660. Are they troublesome people to govern >—Not so far as I am aware.

661. The Company has no difficulty in ruling them, and keeping them in
order *—I think not ; I speak particularly of the English half-breeds. 1 have
generally had them with ine on my expeditions, and found them good practi-
cable men

06¢. Chairman.] Is the number of the half-breeds much increasing ?—I
should think it is; where they are colonised, they are increasing largely.

663. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] You spoke of the settlement at the Red River
just now, as if it wus a settlement of Indians ; there are very few Indians there,
I believe ?—There are a good many at both ends.

664. I mean full-blooded Indians 7—A good many Crees are settled there,
and uthers.

0.23. F 665. They
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665. They do not farm, do they ?—They do to a small extent.

666. Are they not the onlyinstances of Indians, except those that have been
surrounded by the population of Canada, that you know of, who have settled
down as farmers ?—There is one instance in the States that I have heard of.

667. Where 2-—I forget the name of the tribe.

668. The Cherokees *—Yes; they have settled down, and have really become
civilised ; they have their own Member going to the Legislature, and they have
schools.

669. The Cherokees are not now inhabiting the ground where they were
originally found ?—No ; they have changed their ground, and also so have some
of the others ; some have immigrated from their own lands to the Red River.

670. Mr. Roebuck.] In the whole history of America has there been .one
instance of a half-breed settlement continuing up to the present time?—I am
not able to answer that question.

671. Has it not been found by experience that the red man is opposed to
that kind of life which we call civilised life *—Exactly so; there is no doubt
about it.

672. And wherever the civilised man comes the red man disappears *—Yes,
that is the result, generally speaking.

673. Mr. Gordon.] In a letter from Sir George Simpson, which is to be
found in some papers laid before Parliament in 1842, he says: * Our different
trading establishments are the resort or refuge of many of the natives who, from
age, infirmity, or other causes, are unable to follow the chase; they have the
benefit of the care and attention, free of expense, of our medical men, of whom
about 12 are usually employed in the service; every trading establishment being
in fact an Indian hospital.” How far does your experience as a medical man
in the service of the Company bear that out :—Wherever we act as medical men
our services are given gratuitously. We go to a distance if an Indian is at a
distance, and have him taken to a fort, and he is fed and clothed there. And
it is no uncommon thing to hear the old Indians, when unfit for hunting, say,
“ We are unfit for work ; we will go and reside at a fort.” That is the ordinary
feeling which prevailed in the country. Although there are no medical men
up at the different posts (there may be the number Sir George has mentioned
scattﬁred over the country), yet medicines are sent up to all the posts in regular
supplies.

74. If that attendance were asked it would always be afforded >~—Yes.

675. Was it frequently afforded?—Frequently so; but those places on the

coast are liable to much more disease than places inland.

676. Then, in short, you think that if a statement were made, that the
Directors of the Hudson’s Bay Company considered that it was their business
to attend to the Company’s own servants, but not to any other class of the
population, it would be a false charge r—Perfectly erroneous; in fact the Indian
is more readily attended to generally than the others.

677. And as a rule the medical men appointed by the Company would not
consider it their sole duty to attend to the Company’s servants z—Certainly
not ; they are there for the Indians as much as for the Company’s people.

678. Mr. Roebuck.] How long did you say that you dwelt at Moose Factory ?
—Ten years.

679. During that time what was the average number of the worn-out hunters
who lived there upon your charity >—I cannot exactly tell that. The popu-
lation of the place was, I think, about 180 altogether ; few Indians came there ;
but there were generally two or three or four old families, or six sometimes,
pensioners at the place. They called at the Fort; they were there regularly
every week; they had their encampment at the place, and they went and
hunted at intervals as they were able, and if they were not able to get food
enough, they had it given to them.

680. How many people would those families number 7 —Perhaps 12; perhaps
13 or 14 altogether.

681. Then I understand vou that atthe Moose Factory there was an average
of about 12 old Indians ? —Yes, women and men.

682. That was the sum of the great advantage that the Indians round about
Moose Factory derived, namely, 10 or 12, or, say, 14 or 16 :—'The whole popu-
lation there is about 180, and if any of them came in and were unfit to hunt,

they
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they were received at the Fort; we never forced them into the Fort; but if J. Rae, Esy, m.0:
they came and asked assistance and wished to stay, they did so. —_—

683. Mr. Labouchere wishes to know whether anything is done with respect 23 February 1857,
to vaccination ?~—Yes ; vaccine matter is sent to all the posts. I may mention
a curious fact, which is, that in the year 1835 the small-pox was brought up by
a steamboat from the States. A gentleman at the Saskatchewan vaccinated all
the Cree Indians that came in; and there was scarcely a single case occurred
among the tribe; we supposed it was because they had all been vaccinated ;
whereas deaths took place amongst the more distant tribes, near the Missouri.
The small-pox was brought by steamboat up the Missouri, and was brought
over to the Saskatchewan by a quantity of horse-stealers, who heard that the
disease was at the Missouri, and went to steal horses there. They found the
Indians dying by hundreds; they took the disease with them, and most of them
died upon the road.

684. Taking you from Moose Factory to the mouth of the Mackenzie River,
where you lived ; how long did you live there >—About nine months at Fort
Simpson, and two years at Bear Lake, which is in the Mackenzie district.

685. How many worn-out hunters lived there, deriving charity from you ?—
I do not remember ; I think there were about two or three families whilst I
was there ; at the one post.

686. Say six people 7—TYes, about that at that time ; but it varies according
to the privations which the Indians have suffered.

687. Mr. Gurney.] Did I understand you rightly, that in addition to the
worn-out hunters who were resident, there was also gratuitous medical advice
given to the other Indians as they happened to require it ?—To every one that
came, or that we heard of.

688. Sir Jokn Pakington.] How far south do the Esquimaux come >—Along
the shore of Hudson’s Bay; they come to Churchill, in latitude 59°.

689. Do they come down as far south as the Great Slave Lake ?—They do
not go inland at all; the furthest inland that they go is up the Back River,
that we know of now.

690. They always keep to the rivers or the sea:—Yes, it is generally
found so.

6g1. Is there in the interval a large tract of land between the North
American Indians and the Esquimaux r—Certainly ; a sort of debatable land ;
and between each tribe of the Esquimaux themselves there is a debatable
land ; for instance, the tribe of LEsquimaux about the Copper Mine River do
not seem to me to associate or mix with those to the West or East; when any
one has gone there, they have found that they have no tools, either Russian
or Hudson’s Bay, among them ; nothing that could be traced either to the
Russians or to the Hudson’s Bay Company.

692. The Esquimaux, I presume, from what you say, are different tribes, but
not different races *—~—Not different races, I think.

693. What is the extent of the debatable land between the Indians and the™
Esquimaux ?—It varies according to the circumstances; the Chipewyans and,
the Esquimaux frequently meet at Churchill; then the Louchoux and the
Esquimaux meet again on the Mackenzie, but on the Copper Mine River the
interval between them is about 60 or 100 miles.

694. Mr. Grogzan.] How long at any time did you reside at the Red River
Settlement >~ About two months at one time ; that was the longest period I
was there.

695. Do you know the regulations of the American companies with regard to
hunting ; do they give a larger price relatively to their value for the inferior
skins, as the Hudson's Bay Company does ?>—They sell their goods nearly at the
same price as the Hudson's Bay Company, only the goods are inferior ; Indians,
frequently from the American side, come over to the Hudson’s Bay Company to
get good guns or a good article, and they get them as cheaply as in the States;
that I have heard from hunters who have been among the Americans. Another
point I may mention, namely, the proportion of spirits which is acquired on
the American frontier; when I travelled down from the Red River to Crow
Wing to the Minesota territory, nearly every American Indiun that I found
travelling, had bottles of spirits with him.

025, F2 696. Mr.
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696. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.) That country which you travelled through
from R;Id River down to Crow Wing was a so-called settled country, was it
not :—No.

6g7. It formed what is called in the States, Indian territory :—Perfectly so,
as much as in any of the Hudson's Bay Company’s territory, where I passed
through ; we came to little posts between Pembina and Crow Wing.

698. 1 mean within the boundary of the Minesota territory :—Yes.

69g. Consequently these people who traded in this liquor were not the
licensed Indian traders, men who had paid money to obtain a licence to trade
with the Indiaus, but they were the free settlers ?—Yes, I think free settlers.

700. Over whom no company had any power whatever; an American
trading company has no power over the free settler of Minesota 2—The Govern-
ment have ; they made it a rule that no spirits should be sold to the Indians on
or near the frontier; that was what I understood; whereas there they had
abundance; it was against the rules of the Government for them to get it, but
the Government could not prevent it.

701. Chairman.] Do you imagine that the American Fur Trading Company
does put any effectual check upon the sale of spirits to the Indians in their
country r—I cannot tell, because I have never been among them.

Jovis, 26° die Februarii, 1857,
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Tae RicuT Hox. HENRY LABOUCHERE, in THE CHAIR.

Sir (i eorge Simpson, called in; and Examined.

»02. Chairman.] 1 BELIEVE you hold an important situation in the adminis-
tration of the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—1I do.

»03. What is it ?—1I have been Governor of their territories for many years.

704. How long have you held that situation —Thirty-seven years 1 have
been their principal representative.

705. Mr. Edward Ellice.] As governor the whole time ?—Yes; I have held
the situation of governor the whole time.

706. Chairman.] What is the nature of your authority in that capacity ? —
The supervision of the Company's affairs ; the presiding at their councils in the
country, and the principal direction of the whole interior management.

=07. Where do you geunerally reside 7—I have resided for several years at the
Red River Settlement ; I have resided in Oregon; I have resided in Athabasca,
and latterly I have resided in Canada.

208. Is there any fixed seat of Government within the territories of the
Hudson's Bay Company :—There is no fixed seat of government, but there is a
seat of council for the northern and the southern departments; one at Norway
House, at the northern end of Lake Winnipeg, and the other at Michipicoton,
or Moose Factory, for the southern department.

709. Your authority extends, I imagine, as well over Rupert’s Land as over
the territory which the Company holds by licence ?—Over the whole of the
Company’s affairs in North America.

710. What
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v10. What is the nature of the council which you have mentioned ?—The
principal officers of the Company, the chief factors, are members of council.
If there is not a sufficient number of chief factors the number is made up by
chief traders, who are the second class of partners, and all matters connected
with the trade are discussed and determined at this council.

711. What is the nature of the authority of the council as distinguished from
your own ; are they merely advisers >—They are advisers, and they give their
opinions and vote upon any question that may be under discussion.

712. Does the ultimate authority and decision reside in you solely, or is it
with you in conjunction with the council :—With me in conjunction with the
council.

713. Do you mean that they could outvote you and prevent your doing any-
thing which you thought proper :—They could outvote me, but it has never
been so; in the absence of the council my authority is supreme; in travelling
through the country, or giving any direction connected with the management of
the business, my authority must be acted upon until it be annulled or disallowed
by the council or the Company.

714. Of course, having admirnistered the affairs of the Hudson’s Bay Cor-
pany during so long a period, you are well acquainted with every part of their
territories *—I have travelled through the greater part of the country; I have
not visited what are usually knowx: as the Barren Grounds.

715. You are well acquainted with the western portion, as well as the eastern?
-—Yes; I have not been in Mackenzie's River, but I have beer in nearly all the
other parts of the country ; my usual route in going up the country is from
Montreal by Rainy Lake and Lake Winnipeg to Red River; I have crossed the
Rocky Mountains at three different points to Oregon.

710. Will you have the goodness to give to the Committee an account of
your impressions of the character of the territory of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany in point of soil and climate, particularly with reference to its adaptation
for the purposes of cultivation and colonisation ?—1I do not think that any part
of the Hudson's Bay Company’s territories is well adapted for settlement ; the
crops are very uncertain.

717. Do you mean that observation to apply only to Rupert’s Land or to the
entire of the territory now administere y the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—
1 mean it to apply to Rupert’s Land.

718. How would you describe the limits of Rupert's Land to the west *—
The Rocky Mountains to the west.

v 719. Would you apply that observation to the district of the Red River ?—
es.

720. And the country immediately behind it >—Yes.

721. Is it not actually settled ?—1I do not consider it well adapted for settle-
ment,

722. Why so 2—On account of the poverty of the soil, except on the banks
of the river. The banks of the river are alluvial, and produce very fair crops of
wheat ; but these crops are frequently destroyed by early frosts; there is no
certainty of the crops. We have been under the necessity of importing grain
within these last ten years from the United States and from Canada, for the
support of the establishment.

723. Have you an equally unfavourable opinion of the country on the Sas-
katchewan River >—Yes; the climate is more rigorous, and the crops are even
less certain on that river; the scarcity of timber also is a great bar ; there is
little or no wood in the country. The present population of Red River have
great difficulty in providing wood for their immediate wants.

724. Is there any part of the territory of Rupert's Land towards Lake
Superior that you think adapted for cultivation *—Immediately upon the right
bank of the Rainy Lake River cultivation might be carried on to advantage ;
but there is merely a slip of land adapted for cultivation ; immediately behind
are deep morasses which never thaw.

725. Mr. Gladstone.] Is that right bank of the Rainy Lake River in the
Hudson's Bay Territory %—Yes.

726. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Do you mean by * never thaw” that in the
summer, when the surface is thawed, if a person was to walk through that
moiass his foot would get to the ice below ?—No, not immediately so; but by
digging deeper you would come to ice.

0.25. T3 727. Chairman.)
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727. Chairman.] You have stated that in Rupert’s Land you do not think
there is any extent of territory of any consequence which would, for some
time at all events, be adapted for colonisation and settlement ?~—Which would
be favourable for colonisation or settlement; it is possible.

728. Do you apply the same observation to the land to the westward of the
Rocky Mountains ?—In the British territory I do, north of parallel 49°; it is a
rugged, precipitous, mountainous country.

72y. Isthe whole of it of that character >—Principally of that character.

730. Do you know Vancouver's Island ?—I have passed Vancouver’s Island
previously to its being British territory; I cannot speak to it.

731. Do you consider Vancouver’s 1sland as being within the territory of the
Hudson’s Bay Company ?—No.

732. You do not mean your observations to apply to that?—No, not to

Vancouver’s Island.
733. Are you acquainted with the coast near Vancouver’s Island and above

it?—Yes, I have gone along the coast from Puget’s Sound to the Russian
principal establishment at Sitla.

734- Do you believe that coast to be altogether unfavourable for the purposes
of colonisation *—I believe it 10 be quite unfit for colonisation.

735. Do you know Queen Charlotte’s islandf—I have not been on Queen
Charlotte’s Island.

%36. Mr. Edward Ellice.] You confine your observation to the main land ?
—Yes.

737. Mr. Gladstone.] 1 think you have spoken of Rupert’s Land as including,
from west to east, the whole country, beginning from the Rocky Mountains
and moving eastwards #—Yes, to the shores of the Bay.

738. Do you understand that to have been the original signification of the
term Rupert's Land, dating from the period of the charter 7—Yes, that it
includes the land on all waters falling into Hudson’s Bay ; they form the bounda-
ries of the territory. :

739. There is a reference in the charter to the fall of the water, is there r—
I cannot call that positively to mind; that is the impression upon my mind,
and I believe it is the general impression.

740. 1t is difficult, I suppose, for you to state what you would take as the
northern boundary 7—The northern boundary of Rupert’s Land I call the
Methy Portage and Lake, dividing the waters that fall into the Bay from
those that fall into the Arctic Sea; there is a height of land at the Methy
Portage.

741. Taking the Methy Portage as the northern boundary for that longi-
tude, as you come eastwards the territory trends very much to the north ?—
Yes.

742. And goes up to the Melville Peninsula, which seems to be about the
northernmost part -—Yes. )

743. Speaking of the whole of that country, as included in Rupert’s Land,
would you draw any material distinction between the climate of one part and
the climate of another >—Yes ; the climate of the southern part of the country
is not so rigorous as that of the northern ; the winters are not so long.

744. What would you say was the length of the winter in the most favourabiy
situated parts of the territory ?—Five and a half months, I should say, at Red

" River, which is the most favourable part of the country.

745. Is there any part of the coast of Hudson’s Bay, or James’s Bay, which
partakes of a comparatively good climate *—Certainly not.

746. Is the softening influence of the sea not much felt in any portion of
it *—Not much; at York Factory, within about 18 inches or two feet of the
surface, we come to ice.

747. Mr. Edward Ellice.] A% all times of the year 2—At all times of the
year.

743. Mr. Gladstone.] Would that observation apply to James’s Bay, even
down to the southernmost point, viz., Moose Fort?—I should say the climate
is not much more favourable ; barley very seldom ripens there, and the pota-
toes are exceedingly small, and the crops unproductive.

749. hrrespectively of the question of north and south, is not there a good
deal
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deal of difference in the climate, according as it lies eastward or westward 2—
Yes.

750. Does the climate improve westward ?—It rather improves westward ;
as you go from the coast westward the cli.zate improves.

751. Did you ever hear the saying in America that a degree west was equal
to a degree south ?—No, I never heard it.

752. Take the Saskatchewan country, upon the banks; is there no alluvial
soil on the River Saskatchewan :—There is alluvial soil, but the season is not
so long, and the frosts are earlier than at Red River.

753 Have you travelled up the Saskatchewan yourself >—Repeatedly; we
have very seldom been able to raise wheat in the Saskatchewan.

754. Have you travelled up different branches of it ?—I have.

755- What length of winter would you give to the banks of the Saskatcle-
wan —About a fortnight or three weeks longer than at Red River.

756. Would it be six months *—Yes.

757- In the account which you have given of the climate of that country,
take, for instance, the climate of the banks of the Saskatchewan, you have made
no allowance for the influences upon climate which are produced by settlement?
—No; I am not aware that settlement does produce any material influence
upon climate; 1 have not known it do so in Canada; I have been in the
Canadas for a great many years, and I do not find the climate improved; I
think the last two winters have been the two most rigorous winters I have
experienced in Canada.

758. I suppose it is nok to be doubted that when a large district of country
becomes populous, there is then an influence upon climate *—I have not seen
it; from my experience it is not so; I think the climate of Canada is as severe
as it has been at any time during the 37 years for which I have known the
country.

759- And that is true even with respect to the most settled and the most
densely peopled parts of the country F—Yes.

760. Taking the case of the country to the west of the Rocky Mountains,
understand you to have described Vancouver’s Island as upon the whole favour-
ably circumstanced with respect to climate *—I do not speak to Vancouver's
Island; I have never been there, except touching the northern part of the
island in a steamer; the weather was unfavourable and I could not examine
the island.

7601. Taking the coast opposite to Vancouver's Island, is it less favourably
situated than Vancouver's Island 7—It is so ; it is rugged ; it is only the southern
end of Vancouver’s Island that is favourable for settlement; the northern
part is exceedingly rugged, of the same character as the opposite mainland
coast.

762. Take the coast opposite the southern end of Vancouver’s Island; it has
a south-western aspect, has it not > —"The southern part of the mainland has.

703. Is that as favourably circumstanced as Vancouver’s Island itself:—
;lthink not; it is not so favourable as the southern part of Vancouver's

sland.

764. What is it that makes the portion of the mainland opposite the southe: n

Sir G'. Simpson,
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part of Vancouver's Island less favourable for settiement than the island itself .

—That portion in British territory is exceedingly rugged and mountainous,
cragey, and there is a want of soil.

765. Is the mainland side of the channel there rugged, and the island side
of the channel open and favourable, or are both sides rugged >—The island is
less rugged than the mainland at the northern end of the island.

706. I am now speaking of the southern cnd of the island and of the land-
ward side of it ?—The American side of the channel is the same character of
country. .

707. Rugged ?—No, opcn.

768. What is the character of the mainland opposite that open country on
the landward side of the southern end of the island ? -~ The same character ;
open.

709. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is not British territory?—No; that is
Amcrican territory ; that is south of 49°.

770. Mr. Gladstone.| Take it north of 49°, between Fraser River and the water?
—North of 49°, north of Fraser River, the country is exccedingly rugged.

0.25. F 4 771. I know
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»71. 1 know that your own experience and authority are very great; but do
you think that the opinion which you have given of the climate of this territory
is the general opinion?—I think so; at least it is my opinion, and I believe it
is the general opinion. _

772. Mr. Gordon.] 1f I understand you rightly, you think that no portion of
Rupert’s Land is favourable for settlement, but that some portions might be
settled >—Yes.

773. In your very interesting work of a “ Journey Round the World,” I find
at page 45 of the first volume this description of the country between the
Lake of the Woods and the Rainy Lake : “ From Fort Irances downwards, a
stretch of nearly 100 miles, it is not interrupted by a single impediment, while
yet the current is not strong enough materially to retard an ascending traveller.
Nor are the banks less favourable to agriculture than the waters themselves to
navigation, resembling, in some measure, those of the Thames near Richmond.
From the very brink of the river there rises a gentle slope of greensward,
crowned in many places with a plentiful growth of birch, poplar, beech, elm,
and oak. Is it too much for the eye of philanthropy to discern through the
vista of futurity this noble stream, connecting, as it does, the fertile shores of
two spacious lakes, with crowded steamboats on its bosom and populous towns
on its borders " I suppose you consider that district favourable for population?
—The right bank of the river is favourable, with good cultivation ; that is to say,
the soil is favourable ; the climate is not; the back country is a deep morass,
and never can be drained, in my opinion.

774. Do you see any reason to alter the opinion which you have there
expressed > —I do see that I have overrated the importance of the country as
a country for settlement.

=75. Chairman.] It is too glowing a description, you think 2—Exactly so; it
is exceedingly beautiful; the bank is beautifully wooded, and the stream is
very beautiful.

==6. Mr. Gladstone.] What is the character of the Saskatchewan, or of any
of the principal branches of it as a stream, with regard to navigation ? —There
are several lorg rapids in the Saskatchewan, at various points. I think a
steamboat migat, with the exception of those rapids, or by cutting canals round
those rapids, ascend to Edmonton.

=27. ‘That is on the northern Saskatchewan ?—It is.

=78, What would you say of the southern Saskatchewan !—On the southern
Saskatchewan there are fewer rapids.

779. Are there long reaches which are wholly without rapids ?—- Yes.

=80. With a depth ample for navigation *—There are chains of rapids below
the junction of the two rivers.

=81. At Nepeeween ?—Yes; there are two very long chains of rapids; 10
miles at oue place, and seven or eight miles at another.

=82, Are there any long stretches of water of navigable depth, without
rapids, upon the branches of the Saskatchewan ?—Yes.

=83. What is the longest stretch that you can remember :—Perhaps 50 or
60 miles.

=84. Mr. Grogan.] Is it to be understood, then, that except for those rapids
the northern branch would be navigable for steamers, as you describe, up to.
Edmonton >—Yes ; at the junction with Lake Wiunipeg there is a very long
rapid called the Grand Rapid.

=85. W hat may be the length of it ?—From two to three miles.

=86. Those three rapids which you have pointed out would be the three
obstacles tc the navigation ?>—There are several other smaller rapids ; there are
a great many rapids, but those are the principal rapids.

=87. ‘Those are the rapids which you think would require expense to obviale
them ?—Yes.

788. Supposing that that expense should be incurred, and a canal, as you
have suggested, should be formed, would any difficulties of a serious character,
sufficient to impede navigation, exist between Lake Winnipeg and Edmonton?
—In the spring of the year the water of the whole river is exceedingly low ;
I have come down in a perfectly light boat, and we have been frequently under
the necessity of getting out of the boat to hand it over shoal wate:.

=80. Before the snow has melted *—Before the mountain snow has come

down,
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down, namely, from about the 10th to the 15th of May ; then about the Ist of
June the mountain snows melt, and there is a freshet in the river.

790. From the 1st of June to what time would the navigation of the river
continue good ?—Until the month of September tolerably goud; the water
falling off about the middle of July. .

791. On the southern branch of the Saskatchewan to what extent would it
be navigable, supposing those improvements were effected ?—1I cannot speak so
distinctly with regard to the southern branch; I have merely seen it in
parts ; I have not gone up the southern branch to any great distance. There
is no timber on the southern branch, and there is very little timber on the
northern branch.

792. There have been no attempts, I suppose, to effect those improvements ?
—None at all ; there is no commerce to justify any outlay.

793. What is the distance from the southern part of Lake Winnipeg to Fort
Williain on Lake Superior >—About 500 miles, 1 think ; from Lake Superior to
Lake Winnipeg is about 500 miles of bad canoe navigation with 66 portages,
varying in length from 100 yards to 33 miles, ]

794. Do you know a gentleman of the name of Captain Kennedy who made
a speech at a meeting of the Toronto Board of Trade *—1I do.

705. He states there that the distance would not exceed 200 miles:—Yes;
he does not know the country ; he never was ia the country.

796. What may be the state of the river going through Rainy Lake and from
the Lake of the Woods down to Fort William ; is it navigable for boats, or rafts,
or anything ?—Between the Rainy Lake and Fort William it is navigable only
by canoes; I have passed through that country about forty times ; it is passed
only by canoes, and in many places with very great difficulty.

797. Is that from want of water F—From want of water and shoals in the
navigation, and the wretched character of the country altogether; many of the
rivers are embarrassed with timber constantly falling every year; there is one
river which is one continuous mass of timber, requiring to be removed every
season.

798. Mr. Edward Ellice.] s that what is called the Savanre portage?—Yes
that is a river from the Savanne portage to Mille Lac.

799. Mr. Grogaa.] Do you consider that obstruction so material as to impede
the navigation of that river r—Yes.

800. Could not it be removed *—It could not ; in the autumn of the year, or
rather in the month of August, I have been obliged to get out of a light canoe
and wade in the water, handing the canoe along this river.

801. Has any attempt ever been made to remove those obstructions 2—The
obstructions are removed ever; season, so as to enable the canoes to pass.

802. You mentioned, with regard to the Red River Settlement, that the
climate was so unfavourable for the growth of corn, and that there was so much
uncertainty as to the ripening of the corn, that at times you were obliged to
import corn for the supply of the residents there 3—We imported corn some
years ago; there was a failure of the crops; I was apprehensive of famine,
z(x}nd imported flour from St. Paul's in the Minesota territory, and from

anada.

803. Is that an exceptional case, or does it occur every year i—It does not
oceur every year; it is an exceptional case; but the crops very frequently fail.
We have been obliged to send for seed grain ; we have not had sufficient grain
to sow the ground in the following seasun.

804. Can you say, during the 37 years that you have beun Governor, how
often you have been under the necessity of importing corn for the supply of
the people at the Red River Settlement *—We had never imported any large
quantity of grain for the support of the people until that season, in the year
1847, I think ; but the crops have been entirely destroyed, {rom the country
having been overflowed with water. The country was entirely overflowed with
water in the year 1826 ; the habitations were swept away, and the people were
obliged to remove to high grounds for the purpose of saving themselves.

805. Am I to understand that the occasion to which you refer was an entirely
exceptional one, and owing to the flooding of the water?—It did not arise on
that occasion from the flooding of the water, but from an apprehended scarcity
owing to the presence of troops. In 18326 the country was flooded and the
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crops were destroyed. Several years previously to that the Crops were
destroyed three years in succession by locusts ; myriads of locusts ate up every
particle of grass.

806. In what year was that >—1In the years 1818, 1819, and 1820.

807. You have mentioned one instance in which corn was imported in some
quantities, you say not considerable :—Flour was imported.

808. For the supply of the inhabitants at the Red River Settlement 7—Yes.

809. Is that the only instance *—That is the only instance where we have
imported; it was especially for the garrison. We had a wing of a regiment
there, and were apprehensive that the crops would be insufficient for their
maintenance.

810. In other years has there been a sufficiency of corn grown in that district
in general for the supply of the locality ?—Certainly not; two-thirds or fully
half of the population live by hunting and fishing.

811. Are the settlers there encouraged in regard to hunting and fishing
pursuits generally, to follow those pursuits rather-than agriculture }—No ; we
are very anxious that they should follow their agricultural pursuits.

812. Does the Company purchase their flour ?—Yes.

813. The Company purchase flour at the Red River Settlement, from the
farmers in the neighbourhood ?—We purchase all their surplus agricultural
produce.

814. Do you mean that the farmers have no more to sell than what you
purchase, or do you only purchase what you want? ~They have no more to
sell: they have only 8,000 acres of land under cultivation at the present time,
although the country has been settled upwards of 40 years.

815. I suppose it was during the time that you were Governor that a certain
Mr. John M<Lean, who has published “ Notes of a Twenty-five Years’ Service
in the Hudson’s Bay Service,” was a servant £ the Company :~—Yes, he was so
a part of the time.

816. I will read you an extract as taken from his book, and you can say how
far it is correct. “A single Scotch farmer,” says Mr. M¢Clean, *could be
found in the colony able alone to supply the greater part of the produce the
Company require; there is one in fact who offered to do it; if a sure market
were secured to the colonists of Red River they would speedily become the
wealthiest yeomanry in the world ; their barns and granaries are always full to

overflowing ; the Company purchase from six to eight bushels of wheat from
each farmer, at the rate of 3s. per bushel, and the sum total of their yearly
purchases from the whole settlement amounts to 600 cwts. flour, first and
second qualities; 35 bushels rough barley; 10 half-firkins butter, 28 Ibs. each;
10 bushels Indian corn; 200 cwts. best kiln-dried flour ; 60 firkins butter, 56 lbs.
each ; 240 Ibs. cheese ; 60 hams. Where he (the Red River farmer) finds a sure
market for the remainder of his produce, Heaven only knows, I do not; this
much, however, I do know, that the incomparable advantages this delightful
country possesses are not only in a great measure lost to the inhabitants, but
also the world, so long as it remains under the dominion of its fur-trading
rulers.” Do you agree in the comment of Mr. M‘Clean there ?—Certainly not.

817. In point of fact, do the Company purchase from the farmers settled in
the neighbourhood of the Red River Settlement, all the corn the farmers are
able to sell :—~We are not able to get the quantity of corn to be held in depét
that we require. Ihave written over and over again to the person in charge, to
get all the grain he could for the purpose of being held in depdt, and we can
never get our quantity.

818. Mr. Gordon.] Will you allow me to remind you of one other sentence
in your interesting work. It is at page 55 of volume 1: “The soil of Red
River Settlement is a black mould of considerable depth, which, when first
tilled, produces extraordinary crops, as much, on some occasions, as 40 returns
of wheat ; and even after 20 successive years of cultivation, without the relief
of manure or of fallow, or of green crop, it still yields from 15 to 25 bushels an
acre. The wheat produced is plump and heavy; there are also large quantities
of grain of all kinds, besides beef, mutton, pork, butter, cheese, and wool in
abundance.” Do you adhere to that statement :—1 do.

819. And yet you think it unfavourable for cultivation ?—Yes. I there

referred to merely a few small alluvial points occupied by the Scotch farmers.
820. Mr.
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820. Mr. Adderley.] What is the nature of the wood growing in the woody Sir G. Simpson.
district =—There has been elm at Red River. It is now quite denuded of wood —————
about the Red River Settlement by fire. 26 February 1857.

821. T refer to the higher part about James’s Bay; what is the nature of the
wood there ?—Small stunted pines.

822. What is the highest latitude at which fine timber grows >—I cannot
tell precisely ; there is very little timber on the shores of the Bay to the north,
100 miles north of Churchill. On the eastern side of the Bay there is very
little timber north of Big River, or Fort George on James’s Bay.

823. When you get to those fine elm forests, is it not very fine timber /—
That is in the prairie country. There was some very good timber about Red
River at one time.

824. Is the patural wild growth of the prairie country good >—In some

arts.
P 825. Is it very luxuriant ?>—In some parts ; in other parts the soil is exceed-
ingly thin, and there is very little herbage.

826. What should prevent cultivated produce growing equally luxuriantly
on the same spot i—Immediately bhehind Red River, about a mile from the
banks of the river, there is merely a thin skin of soil.

827. Is there any luxuriant herbage, either grass, herbs, or fruit of any kind,
at a greater distance from the river than you have mentioned ?—1I think not,
except in detached spots. There has never been any cultivation a mile from
the river.

828. Would not many of the imp:diments which you have alluded te be
got rid of by art and cultivation *—(ertainly not.

829. It is impossible ;—1It is imyossible ; I have paddled over the roofs of
some of the houses in my canoe.

8§30. Do you say that you never knew any wild country in which the climate
was softened by drainage >—I lave heard of the climate of countries being
improved by drainage, and settlement and cultivation, but I have not experienced
it myself.

331. Are you aware that Europe was once as much frozen as Rupert’s Land
now is 7—1I am not aware that it was; I have heard of some historical facts.

832. Can you state the present population of Red River, and the increase in
the last 10 years i—Tke population of Red River is about 8,000.

833. Ju what iime has it doubled ?—The settlement has been established 40
years.

834. We had a statement from a former witness that, 10 years ago, the
population was 5,000 ; can you state whether that is correct r—It may have
been; the population is now about 8,000. It is not from natural increase, but,
from the migration of some Indians from other parts of the country.

835. Is there not always emigration in the shape of a squatting population
from the United States :—Not from the United States.

836. Where from r—The neighbouring districts ; Indian migration.

837. Should you say that there was much difference between the climate of
Minesota and that of the Red River ?—Decidedly, the further south you go the
better the climate is.

838. Anddo you state that there is no overflow of population from Minesota
to Red Riverr—I am not aware of any; I believe two or three Americons
have gone from St. Paul’s, who have seated themselves down as small dealers
and opened shops.

§39. Is there any barrier to their doing so from the nature of the Red River
Settlement regulation ¥—None.

840. Mr. Kinnaird.] Are there not westward from the Red River colony
several hundred miles of level country towards the Rocky Mountains 7—-Yes, a
very fine country.

841. And comparatively speaking, a railway might eosily be made along
therei—Yes, from the Red River to the Rocky Mountains.

842. How far are the large rivers from the Settlement of York navigable up
the interior?—"They are navigable by boats from York Factory to Lake Winnipeg;
boats carrying about three tons.

843. Without much portage ?—There are a great many portages ; there are
from 40 to 45 portages, I think.

844. Could they easily be removed —No.

0.25. G 2 845. Mr.
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845. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1 think 'that at those portages every thing is
literally carried on men’s backs *—Yes.

846. Mr. Kinnaird.] Did you not, after that interesting extract from your
book, recommend to the Company the establishment of a settlement somewhere
between the Lake of the Woods and the Rainy Lake >—No ; I suggested that
a missionary establishment might be formed there.

847. Which would attract settlement ?—Merely for the improvement of the
Indian population.

848. You recommended it as a place adapted for a missionary station, which,
in other words, would be adapted for a settlement?—A missionary settlement
would live by fishing in a great degree; they could not only raise produce
but fish, and give their time and attention to hunting during the winter.

849. Are you not aware that the whole of the manure which is made in the
Red River Settlementis wasted, because it is not required for the improvement
of the land, it being so fertile >—Some improvident, careless people, who know
very little about cultivation, rather than take the trouble of collecting their
manure, throw it over the side.

850. I believe it is not required ™—In some parts it is required; in the low
alluvial points it is not required ; the low alluvial points which are improved
year by year, or every second or third year, from the overflowing of the river,
reguire no manure.

851. Mr. Bell.}] What communication is there on the shores of the Saskatch-
ewau towards Edmonton ; what is the nature of the country >—The country is
level ; it is a rolling prairie.

352. It is a practicable country >~Yes; I have travelled on horseback through
the whole of that prairie country. I have travelled from the Red River to the
Columbia on horseback.

853. Mr. Gurney.] I understand you to have spoken of the right bank of the
river of the Rainy Lake ; by the right bank, do you mean the southern bank or
the northern bank ?—Going down the stream ; the north-eastern bank. -

854. Going down the siream would be rather the southern bank?—No,
north-east ; the opposite side is south-west, the American bank.

855. Does not that bank belong to the United States :-—No, the right bank
of the Rainy Lake River is British territory ; the river divides the territory ; the
right bank, going down the stream from the Rainy Lake to the Lake of the
Woods, is British territory.

856. The opposite bank is American :—Yes.

857. Then the right bank is what would rather be the northern bank on this
map ?—The north-eastern.

858. Opposite the southern part of Vancouver’s Island there is a place on
the maps marked Fort Langley *—That is at the mouth of Fraser River.

859. I believe you mentioned that there was no very good land between
Fraser River and the coast ; but how is the land immediately inland from Fort
Langley, between Fraser River and the American boundary ?—The boundary is
Fraser River, or very nearly so.

860. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Does not Fraser River run north and south ?
f{:I think the boundary is very near Fraser River, at the mouth of Fraser

iver.

861. Mr. Gurney.] My object was rather to inquire whether Fort Langley
was in any way the centre of a small district of good land ?—No, it is near the
southern boundary of the British territory.

862. What is the character of that district 7—All the way down Fraser River
to within about 50 miles of Fort Langley, it is an exceedingly rapid river.

863. What is the nature of the land eastward from Fort Langley, inland?—
A short distance to the eastward is level; there is a mountainous country
higher up the stream.

864. Therefore there is a space of level land immediately inland from Fort
Langley ?—Yes.

865. Is the mouth of the Fraser River at all available as a port or outlet ?—
No; there is a bar at the mouth of the river; vessels with a small draught of
water would take the ground.

866. That bar could not be easily removed >—It would fill up again imme-

diately.
807. Mr.
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867. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Do you know what the water on the bar is ?
—I think about eight or niune feet.

868. Mr. Lowe.] Which do you consider the best way to the Red River
Settlement from Europe?—Through the United States, by Minesota.

869. By St. Paul's t— By St. Paul’s.

870. From Canada, which do you consider the best way }—By Lake Superior,
Fort William and Rainy Lake, into Lake Winnipeg, and then on the southern
side of Lake Winnipeg.

871. Is that the way you went yourself >—Forty times I passed over that

ound. .
gr872. Mr. Bell.] Is there any other practicable route from Canada to the
Red River :—No other.

873. North of Lake Superior inland ?—There is no other practicable route.

874. What has induced you to change your opinion since you wrote that
passage in your journey with regard to the nature of the climate and the soil,
and its applicability for cultivation, because I observe that you had been 20
years in the country when you wrote that passage i—I had never given par-
ticular attention to the climate of the country, nor to the fact of the country
being one continued morass behind, until after my narrative was written ; the
Company have a farm at the outlet of the Rainy Lake at the commencement
of the river, and our crops very frequently fail.

875. Mr. Edward Ellice.] At Red River Settlement, owing to the great
uncertainty of the crops, do not the Company keep two years’ consumption of
grain on hand in case of accident?—Yes, that has been our object; we never
can get up a stock of grain.

876. With regard to those floods which you have spoken of, are you not
aware that they have bappened repeatedly on former occasions?—Yes; there
was a flood upon one occasion, a few years previous to 1820, on my first
visiting the country. In 1826 the whole country was one continued sea.

a 8(71'7. And in 1848, I think :—Yes, about 1850 or 1851 there was another
ood.

878. To give the Committee an idea of those floods, what did the breadth of
the river increase to ?>—There was no river ; it was a continued sea for hun-
dreds and hundreds of square miles.

879. With regard to the farming at Red River, do you consider it the inte-
rest of the Company to promote agriculture there ?—It is very desirable, for
the purpose of furnishing ourselves with the means of living.

8%0. Have the Company been in the habit of giving encouragement to

agriculture at Red River ?—We have promoted agriculture by every means in

our power, .
‘ 8§31, Have the Company established model farms ?—We did establish a model
arm.

882. Have the Company taken out stock on purpose to promote and im-
p}ll'ove the breeds ?—Yes ; the most improved breeds of cattle and horses and
sheep. .

883. You told us about the character of the territory in Rupert’s Land and
in Oregon, but you have said nothing of the character of the land in the part
of Canada occupied by your posts, and more especially the part between
Sault St. Mary and Fort William ; what is the character of the country on the
north side of Lake Superior between those points >—It is a very craggy, barren,
rugged country ; a surface of rock.

884. Viscount Sandon.] You are well acquainted, I imagine, with the Assi-
niboine branch of the Red River :—Yes.

885. Will you state to the Committee how far it is navigable >—There are
shoals and rapids at the very commencement of the stream.

§86. For what distance >—From the Forks where it unites with the Red
River, I think about three niles, there is the first rapid; and 20 or 30 miles
higher up a further rapid, and above that there are very frequent rapids.

887. So that it is in fact unfitted for navigation *—Quite so.

838. What is the character of the land along the banks of that river >—The
land is pretty good immediately along the banks.

889. I think the land is cultivable nearly to the sources of the Assiniboine
River ; immediately upon the banks.

890. That is for a distance of about 150 miles ?—Yes.

0.23. G 3 891. A former
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891. A former witness has stated that the Americans are extending their
settlements very rapidly towards the Red River, and that numbers have crossed
the boundary ; do you imagine that fact to be correct *—I am not aware of
any American settlers having crossed the boundary.

892. Would you have the means of knowing >—Yes, decidedly; I thiuk the
nearest settlement of the Americans is at the Crow Wing River, one of the
branches of the Mississippi.

893. Chairman.] How far is that off >—1I think perhaps 350 to 400 miles.

894. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Does the Crow Wing run below St. Peter’s
River or above it >—It falls into the Mississippi above St. Peter’s; above the
falls of St. Anthony; the Crow Wing River is above St. Paul’s.

895. Mr. Gladstone.] 1s St. Paul's near the junction of the St. Peter’s with
the Mississippi ?—7Yes.

896. Whereis the Crow Wing ?—The Crow Wing is about 100 miles nearer.
Red River, I think ; it is not marked on this map.

897. Mr. Kinnaird.] Is there not a settlement at Pembina :—Yes. 1 call thé
settlement of Pembina an offshoot from Red River; it is principally inhabited
by half-breeds from the settlement of Red River.

898. It is in the United States territory >—It is on the frontier.

89y. Therefore, in fact, there is an American settlement nearer than you
have stated 2—No ; I think they are settled within the British territory. I'am
not aware that they are outside the liue.

goo. Does not Fort Pembina belong to the Americans ?—There is no fort at
Pembina. Fort Pembina is an old trading establishment of the Hudson’s Bay
Company.

901. Mr. Grogan.] But does Fort Pembina belong to the Hudson’s Bay
Company or to the Americans >—Fort Pembina did belong to us.

Ggo2. To whom does it belong now *—There is no Fort Pembina now.

903. I mean the settlement, or the station, or whatever you please to call it ? .
—1 think the settlers are upon both sides of the line.

Q04. Viscount Sandon.] You imagine that the nearest American settlement is
on the Crow Wing River?—1I consider that an American settlement because there
is an American population. I consider it the nearest American settlement.

905. If it was proved that there were American settlers coming in consider-
able numbers to the British boundary you would think that a considerable
argument in favour of the goodness of that territory, would you not*—I do not
think they would go to the Red River from the United States or anywhere else
for the purpose of settlement.

906. I only asked you whether, supposing that was proved, you would not
regard it as a considerable argument in favour of the character of the territory ?
—7Yes; but I should not agree in that fact.

907. Mr. Blackburn.] Provided that they settled for the purpose of agricul-
ture?—Yes; but I am satisfied that they will not do so.

908. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] You say that the north shore of Lake
Superior is barren and rocky *—TIt is, except at the outlets of the rivers; the
general character is rugged and barren, and a surface of rock and water and
swamp.

909. Is there any timber immediately on the shore of Lake Superior?—
Very little ; scarcely any ; it is all burnt; it is a burnt wood country.

910. Burnt by what?—By fires having overrun the country ; the greater
part of the thick-wood country is overrun by fires.

911. Of what wood are those the remains ; is it a fir wood ?—It is a small

description of fir.
912. What is the breadth of that belt of timber?—It extends from the

shores of Lake Superior to the shores of Hudson’s Bay.

013. Without any intermission >~—Yes ; except by lakes. I think there is a
larger surface of water than of land in the whole of that thick-waod country.

914. When you get from Lake Superior, and travel north, do not you come
to any country which is timbered with maple and oak; soft wood?— At the
River Kamenistiquoia falling into Lake Superior at Fort William, for 20 miles,
I think there is a good deal of maple, and perhaps a small quantity of oak; I
have not noticed oak.

915. That
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915. That womli grows on the valley of the Kamenistiquoia ?—Yes ; that is Sir G. Simpson.

r, barely 20 miles.

S0916. I do not mean so far to the west as that ; there is a place called the 26 February 1857.
Pic?—VYes, it is a perfectly barren post; it is sand wpon the beach and rock
behind.

917. It is a mineral country, though, is it not *—Yes; all alog the eastern
shore of Lake Superior is a mineral country.

018. There is copper ?—Copper.

919. And iron ?—Yes. o .

920. And the vegetation is pine wood F—Yes.

g21. When you go through a belt, say of two miles of that country from the
shores of the lake, do you not then come to a maple and oak vegetation —
Certainly not. There may be patches here and there on the banks of the
river of maple, but in a very small quantity.

922. The country rises from the bank of the shore of Lake Superior, does it
not +—Yes ; to the watershed.

923. You come into a country filled with small lakes and morasses }— Yes,

924. How are those lakes formed >—They have been lakes from the begin-
ning of time, I believe. These basins are formed by large quantities of snow,
and the morasses are very deep, and the season is not sufficiently long to dry
them up.

92 5.pAre there not some artificial reasons for that, as there are on the south
shore of Lake Superior ?—No ; I am not aware of any.

926. Dams of different sorts 2~No.

927. Then it is not of the same nature as the shore on the southern side of
Lake Superior 7—I am not aware that the waters are dammed on the southern
shore.

928. With regard to Fraser River, you said that the country on the main-
land was generally unfavourable for cultivation *—Yes.

L 929. But there are farms at Fort Langley, I think ?—There is a farm at Fort
angley.

930. Mr. Edward Ellice.] To what extent ; how many & _res P—Perhaps about
20 acres.

931. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] But there is plenty of room for more )—Yes,

932. Chairman.] There is some extent of ground there fit for cultivation >—
Yes, at Fort Langley.

933. What extent should you say ?—Perhaps several hundred square miles.

934. What sort of cultivation ; would it grow wheat >—I¢ might grow wheat.

935 Is it as good as the southern portion of Vancouver's Island *—Not so
good, I should think ; it is a more moist climate. '

936. It is not so good in point of climate ?—I should think not.

937. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Is not the droughbt at the southern end of
Vancouver's Island rather a drawback to cultivation in the summer time ?—JI
am not able to speak to Vancouver’s Island.

93 8. Is the country round Fort Langley of the same character as that between
Nisqually and Fraser River?—No, it is a more thick-wood country; from
Nxs%ually to very near Fraser River is a prairie country, with patches of
wood.

939 Or rather a woody country with patches of prairie ?—VYes.

940 Is the country to the north of the British line like the country about
Nisqually *No ; it is a thick-wood country.

941. Still, with small prairies -—No; I think the prairies are not so
frequent.

. 942. Mr. G'rogan.] You have described to us the countries as having been
VISl_ted by very severe floods ; was there any particular cause, such as an early
spring, or the sudden melting of the mountain snows, which occasioned it ?—
Yes ; there was severe weather until the season was far advanced, and the sun
burst out with great power.

943. A‘nd this great extent of flood was the overflow of the rivers >—Yes.

944. To which of the rivers do you principally attribute the flooding > —It
was all over, not only Red River, but the whole of the country.

945. Generally through the whole district ?'—Yes, the York River and Moose

ver ; they were obliged to get their goods out of the stores and put them on
stages, for the purpose of being saved from the flood.

0.25. G4 946. Then
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946. Then those particular floods were not local, in fact, in the neighbour-
hood of the Red River i—No.

947. They were general through the country ? —Yes.

948. With regard to the Red River Settlement, was that settlement more
damaged or more exposed to flood than any other part >—It was; it was more
exposed and more injured, because there was a larger population.

949. The Red River discharges itself into Lake Winnipeg ?—Yes.

950. Is there any obstruction to the river going into the lake 2—No.

951. Or to the waters of the lake finding their way into the sea t—No. The
lake was overflowed, which rendered it necessary to remove our establishments
from the lower end of the lake.

952. Would the existence of those 47 portages which you described as on
York River, up to Lake Winnipeg, in any way conduce to damming up the
waters, and flooding the country 7—Lake Winnipeg empties itself into Nelson
River, a little way to the northward.

953. Are there any obstructions on that river which would tend to dam up
the waters of Lake Winnipeg ?—None at all.

054. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is it not the general flat nature of the country
which causes the flood ?—Yes.

955. There is not declivity enough to carry off the water ?—Just so.

%56. Mr. Bell.} The same as in the neighbourhood of Lyons, in France?
—Yes.

957. Mr. Gordon.] When did the last great flood occur ?—In 1851.

958. Mr. Bell.] Do vou know the neighbourhood of Fort Alexander :—1I do.

959. What sort of country is it F—The back country is thick wood country ;
the timber is pine, and there is a great deal of swamp; it is a swampy country.

gvo. Mr. Gladstone.] With respect to the wheat at the Red River Settle-
ineﬁxigkat what period do they sow ?—They sow in the early part of May,

t .

961. And when do they reap *—In August. \
962. Is the harvest pretty good, or is it overtaken by the winter, without
having sufficient sun to ripen the corn?—The crops are usuaily, or always,
secured before the winter sets in.

063. From whence did the Hudson’s Bay Company bring the corn and other
provisions for its servants before the Red River settlement was founded ?—Very
little grain was used in the country previously to that time. The provisions
used in transport were pemican, a compound of buffalo meat and tallow; the
buffalo meat dried upon stages, and ground down, and mixed up with the fat of
the animal.

y64. Then it was almost entirely animal food ?—Animal food and fish.

965. Mr. Edwurd Ellice.] Is it not in a great measure so now ?—7Yes, in
travelling to the northward.

986. Mr. Gladstone.] Was there no regular import of grain or other vegetable
produce into the Hudson’s Bay territory before the Red River Settlement was
founded ?—Merely for the use of the establishments upon the coast, and for the
Indians near those establishments. ‘

967. From whence was that grain brought ?—From England.

968. By the Hudson's Bay Company ?—Yes, through Hudson's Bay.

969. You do not consider that the Hudson’s Bay route is the most economical
or convenient route, in a commercial sense, for connecting the Hudson’s Bay
country with England, do you?—No great extent of traffic can be carried on
through Fudson’s Bay, inasmuch as the season is exceedingly short; the Bay
is aever free of ice.

970. How long is it open ?—About two months.

971. With regard to the Saskatchewan River, are the banks of it tolerably
timbered :—There is very little timber on the banks of the Saskatchewan.

972. Is there such a deficiency of timber both on the Upper and Lower
Saskatchewan that that of itself would, in your view, constitute a serious
impediment to settlement ?—Decidedly ; throughout the whole of that prairie
country, from parallel 49° northwards, I think the want of fuel would be a
great drawback to settlement.

973. Is not the Red River country pretty well timbered /—It was pretty
well timbered, but people are now under the necessity of going further for
timber ; they go up the river and raft it down 40 or 50 or 60 miles.

074. Arc



SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY. 57

974. Are the outfalls of Lake Winnipeg exclusively into Hudson's Bay f—

Yes.

973 Are there several?—No; the lake empties itself by Nelson River into
the sea.

976. Entirely 7—Yes.

977- Mr. Kinnaird.] You say that there is no timber on the Saskatchewan
River 2—There is very little timber.

978. Has any search been made for coal in that district *—Yes; an inferior
description of coal, a lignite, has been found near Edmonton.

97y. Mr. Beli.] You say there is very little timber in that country; I find
that in your Journal of a Journey from the Red River Settlement across the
Rocky Mouutains, you constantly describe the country in this way; “Picturesque
country, lakes with gently sloping banks, the greensward crowned with thick
wools ; then you say, * Beautiful country, lofty hills, long valley, sylvan lakes,
bright green, uninterrupted profusion of roses and blue-bells, softest vales,
panorama of lLanging copsesi—Yes, there were a great many flowering
shrubs.

g8o. Then you say that within a day’s march of Carlton, on the Saskatche-
wan, in latitude 53° there were large gardens and fields, and an abundance of
potatoes and other vegetables 7—Yes.

931. I understood you to say that there were no woods in that country :—
There is a very small quantity of wood, insufficient for the purposes of a large
popuiation.

982. About Edmonton, as to the pastarage, your remark is that it is luxuriant,
and that the barley is very productive ?—Yes, it is very good.

983. Chairman.] Will you state to us the system under which the country is
managed, with regard to trade and gcvernment, with reference to the Indian
population ; in short, the machinery vwaich is employed ; how many oficers and
servants altogether are employed by you in the management of the territory
of the Hudson’s Bay Company r—There is the governor-in-chief, to begin with ;
there are 16 chief factors, who are the principal officers, members of our council ;
29 chief traders, five surgeons, 87 clerks, and 67 postmasters; the last rank
between the labouring man and the clerk.

084. How many are employed at your trading posts :—Those people are all
employed at our trading posts.

985. How many other agents are there employed at your trading posts 7—
We have no other agents; we have servants.

980. ITow many servants have you’—There are about 1,200 permanent
servants.

087. Does that include voyageurs and people of that sort?—No: there are .

about 500 voyageurs, and other temporary servants beside.

988. Mr. Edward Ellice.] How many are employed besides those occasion~
ally —There are 150 officers and crews of vessels.

939. What number of persons do you think the Company gives employment
to in the trading season >—Perhaps about 3.000.
: bggo. Mr. Kinnaird.] s that exclasive of Indians *—That is including Indian
abourers. :

y91. Chairman.] Do you mean hunters ?—After the hunting season is over
the Indians are frequently employed as boatmen or canoemen ; as temporary
servants,

09=. You do not include in that number, I presume, the Indian population
employed by the people from whom you purchase furs ?—No.

993. What number of Indians do you calculate are living in the whole of the
Iil:f:%za Bay Territory 2—The Indian population of Rupert’s Land we estimate
at 42, .

094. When was that calculation made ?—This scason; [ collected from
different data all the information within reach when I understaod that I was
required to lcave Canada. '

995. In the rest of the territory what are the numbers?—In the Indian
tseorritory, east of the Rocky Mountains, 12,730 ; west of the Rocky Mountains,

,000.

99h. What is the whole amount of Indian population within the territories of
the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—139,000.

0.25. 21 997. Does
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997. Does that include the Indians in Vancouver’s island 2—Yes.

998. Since you have known that country, has that number been on the
increase or the decrease :—For two or three years previous to 1820 there was
a great mortality in the northern parts of the country, in the thickwood
country, from small-pox and measles: that was in 1816, 1817 and 1818. After
that period we introduced vaccine inoculation, and the small-pox has been
unknown in the country since then.

999- Since that period, do youn believe that the number of the Indians have
increased or decreased :—1 think the number of the Indians in the thickwood
country has increased. :

1000. Take them as a whole *—In the prairie country I think they have
decreased owing to wars and small-pox. :

1001, By wars you mean wars among themselves *—Yes.

1002. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Those are the Indians on the frontier 7—Yes, the
Blackfeet tribes ; they are principally American Indians.

1003. Chairman.] What do you mean by the thickwood country:—The
thickwood country is a very extensive district of country lying 300 or 400 miles
inland round Hudson’s Bay; that is to sayv, to Luke Winnipeg, to the barren
grounds and to the height of Jand dividing the St. Lawrence or Canada from
Rupert’s Land ; thatis the thickwood country. ‘

1004. To what do you attribute the difference which you state to have
existed in the number of the Indians ; the number you say has not diminished in
the thickwood country, and has diminished elsewhere >—In the thickwood
country they are more under our own care, under our own eye ; we have a certain
control over them ; among the prairie Indians we have no control.

1005. Do you mean that there are not wars between themselves in the thick-
wood country 7—There are no wars, and there is no loss of lifc arising from wars.
There has been no small-pox ; the country has been healthy, aud the means of
living, if not very abundant, have been sufficient.

1006. To what extent have you been able to prevent the introduction of spirits
among the Indians ?2—Spirituous liquors have never been used as a medium of
barter for furs, within my knowledue.

1007. What is your system with regard o the Indians in counexion with the
fur trade 2—-Our mode of management is this; the Indians are usually ourtitted
from the establishment in the fall of the year with such supplies as wiil enable
them to get through the winter in comfort and make their hunts.

1008, How do you pay them for the furs which they bring*—We pay them
by barter entirely ; money is not kuownin the country ; they do not know money ;
it is a barter trade on a tariff of very old standing, varied from time to time
according to circumstances.

1009. Do you ever encourage them to resort to agriculture under any circum-
stances, when it can be done?—Always; we bave encouraged them_ by every
means in our power.

1010, Where ?—At the Rainy Lake, Cumberland, Swan River, Norway House,
and the seats of all the missions. We are exceedingly anxious that they should
give their attention to agriculture.

1011. Have they to any extent adopted agriculture ?—Not to any material
extent ; they have a distate for field labours.

10t2. You state that there are wars in some parts of the country between
different tribes of Indians 7—Yes.

1013. I believe you have managed to preserve peace as between the red man
and yourselves : —Decidedly. ’ ‘

1014. It has been almost entirely preserved:—Yes; for 37 years, during
which I have had the priucipal munagement, there have been very few cases of
crime, considering the character of the population and the extent of the
country. ‘

1015. T believe during the last few years there has been a warfare of the most
dreadful description carried on between the inhabitants of the United States in
Oregon and the Indian tribes in that neighbourhood ?—There has been.

1010. It lias extended to your frontier, has it not > —VYes.

1017. But has ncver passed that frontier /—1It has not gone bevond ; we have.
sufficient influence with the Indians in the British territory west of the mountains
to keep them out of it. '

1¢18, In
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1018. In what way is justice administered in that country which is under
your control ?—As nearly as possible according to the laws of England ; we
have a very competent legal officer, who fills the office of recorder at Red River
Settlement,

1010. Supposing an outrage takes place in a distant part of the country,
what happens ?—The case would be tried probably at Red River or at Norway
House.

1020, How can that be done; when a murder, for instance, takes place in a
very distant part of the country, what is then done ?—1In one case three parties
who were concerned in a murder were removed to Canada for trial, all the way
from Mackenzie’s River, at great difficulty and great expense.

1021 I suppose in very distant parts of the country you administer justice as
best vou may :—In many instances we have brought cases to Red River, where
the parties have been regularly tried by jury.

1022. For minor offences what proceedings do you adopt practically r—
The Indian is reprimanded and held in disfavour for some time.

1023. Mr. Ldward Ellice.] Will you illustrate that answer by giving a case
which occurred at Norway House recently 7—Some Indian lads broke into one
of our stores and they were regularly tried, and two of them were transported
from their own district 300 miles off to another district ; that was the entire
punishment ; it was, in fact, no punishment; they were also severely repri-
manded.

1024. Chairman.] What system do you adopt in the way of preserving dis-
cipline and proper subordination among your own officers, scattered over this
vast extent of country, at the different posts *—I do not know that there is any
particular discipline; we generally contrive to have respectable men; our
officers are always highly respectable men, and we generally keep orderly ser-
vants; our scervants are orderly and well conducted.

1025. Do you take care to keep a pretty strict supervision over them, and
does their advancement depend altogether upon their conduct ?—There is a very
strict supervision.

1026. Besides your own territory, I think you administer a portion of the
territory which belongs to Russia, under some arrangement with the Russian
Company :—There is a margin of coast marked yellow in the map from 54° 40’
up to (‘ross Sound, which we have rented from the Russian-American Company
for a term of years.

. 1027. Is that the whole of that strip >—The strip goes on to Mount Saint
“lias.

1028. Where does it begin ?—Near Fort Simpson, in latitude 54°; it runs up

to Mount St. Elias, which is further north.

Sir @. Simpson.
26 February 1857.

1029. Is it the whole of that strip which is included between the British -

territory and the sea’—We have only rented the part between Fort Simpson
and Cross Sound. ‘

1030. What is the date of that urrangement ?—That arrangement, I think,
was entered into about 1839.

1031. What are the terms upon whicn it was made; do you pay a rent for
that land ?—The British territory runs along inland from the coast about 30
miles ; the Russian territory runs along the coast; we have the right of navi-
gation through the rivers to hunt the interior country. A misunderstanding
existed upon that point in the first instance; we were about to establish a post
upon one of the rivers, which led to very serivus difficulties between the
Russian-American Company and ourselves ; we had a long correspondence, and,
to guard against the recurrence of these Jifficulties, it was agreed that we should
lease this margin of coast, and pay thema rent; therent was, in the first instance,
n otters; I think we gave 2,000 otters a year; it is now converted into money ;
we give, I think, 1,500 /. a year. i

1032. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] What otter is that?—The land otter from
the eust side of the mountains; we now pay 1,5007 a year for the use of this
margin of coast.

1033. Chairman.] Is it a lease for a term of years ?—I think the term was
originally 10 years.

1034. Mr. Kinnaird.] Fave you the whole care of it, or are there Russian
officers in the territory >—We have the entire care of it.

02.25, H 2 1035. Mr.
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1035. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That was maintained through the last war, was
it not, in order that there should be no disturbance among the Indians?—
Yes.

1036. Chairman.] Was any inconvenience sustained before this arrangement
was made with regard to the management of the ‘Indians, inasmuch as it was
found that spirits were introduced among them by parties competing with one
another for the fur trade’—Ves, there was a great abuse of spirituous
liquors.

q1037. Was that the main inducement to vou and to the Russian Company
to make this arrangement *—1It was not the principal inducement, but it was
one of the inducements. A year or two afterwards I entered into an arrangement
at Sitka with the Governor of Sitka that the use of spirituous liquors should be
entireiy prohibited. A murderous scene took place under our own eyes at Sitka,
arising from a debauch among the Indians, and we came to an agreement then
that liquor should no longer be introduced into the country.

1035, Mr. Kinnaird.] Has that agreement been rigidly kept on their part 2—
It Las been rigidly kept, I believe, by them as well as by us.

1039. Mr. Gordon.] With regard to the administration of justice, is it not
the case that under the Acts by which the Company exercise jurisdiction, viz.,
the 43 Geo. 3, and the 1 & 2 Geo. 4. the Company are bound, under a penalty
of 5,000Z, to transmit cases of felony for trial to Canada ?—The ex-recorder of
Rupert’s Land will be here in the course of a day or two, and I should rather
prefer that he should znswer the question, and explain all matters connected
with the administration of the law.

1040. I suppose you would also wish to defer till the recorder is here, the
answer to the next question which I should put, viz.,, how often that had been
done ?—There have only been two cases transmitted to Canada in my time ; one
is tlﬁe case of those Indians in Mackenzie’s River, a few years ago, of whom I
spoke.

1041. How long has there been a recorder established at the Red River*—
In 1839 the first recorder was appointed there.

Th1042. Mr. Grogan.] What was the name of the recorder in 1839 F—Adam
om.

1043. Mr. Gordon.] How was justice administered previously to a recorder
being appointed i—There was never a criminal case within my recollection
};{ev10usly to 1839, except the case to which I am alluding, in Mackenzie’s

iver.

1044. With regard to the introduction of spirits into the territory; are spirits
allowed to those who are in the employment of the Company?—1I may say that
the whole importation of spirits, from the year 1847 to the year 1856, averaged
under 5,000 gallons into the whole country.

1045. Are spirits habitually ailowed to be used by the servants in the
employment of the Company ‘—Certainly not.

1046. Not for their own use ?—Not for their own use; not even the officers
in some parts of the country are allowed the use of spirits.

1047. I find it stated in a speech made by Mr. (iladstone, onthe 10th of
August 1848, that in the year 1837, about 3,800 gallons of spirits had been
imported into the Hudson’s Bay territory ; and in the year 1843, three years
before the date of his speech, 9,075 gallons. From the statement which you
have just made, 1 suppose we must conclude that that proportion has diminished
a good deal 7—In 1845 the quantity was increased, in consequence of a wing of
the sixth regiment having been sent to Red River; it was for the use of the
troops.

1048. Then we must not take that as representing an increase or decrease in
the consumption }—No ; the average since 1847 is 4,911 gallons, it is under
5,000. Of that quantity, two-thirds are used by the 8,000 inhabitants of Red
River; the remaining one-third, or 1,630 gallons, is all that is allotted for the
use of our own servants, for an occasional dram to Indians who are employed in
transport with our own servants, and for the purchase of provisions in parts of
the country where we canuot get them otherwise.

1049. I find in a report which was made by a Committee of the House of
Commons, which was appointed to consider the condition of the aborigines in
the British Colonies, a statement that the Coppermine Indians had decreased

one-half;
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one-half ; and among other causes which are assigned for that decrease, intem-
perance is mentioned. Have any but the Company’s traders access to that
country 2—None, except the Company’s traders ; that statement is not true; no
liquor goes there.

1050. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is it not the fact that that is one of the districts
into which spirits do not go at all :—No spirituous liquors have been sent north-
ward of Cumberland to my knowledge since 1822.

1051. Either for the Company’s servants or for the Indians?—Not for any-
body ; neither for officers, servauts, nor Indians.

1052. Mr. Gordon.] Then you presume that the Committee of the House of
Commons were misled by the evidence before them ?—Decidedly.

1033. It has been stated to me by officers in the army who have travelled
in those parts of the country where the Company have stations on the Saguenay
River, at Chicoutimi, for instance, that though liquor was not traded with the
Indians for furs, yet at the time the bargain was concluded a certain quantity ot
liquor was always given to them as’a present; does it appear to you that that
differs in anything hut name from making spirits a portion of the trade*—I
T think it very likely that on the St. Lawrence, where we are surrounded by
opposition, that may have occurred. Where we have opposition, we wust,-in
order to uet furs, do as other parties do ; but we never sell liquor. Liquor has
never been used as a medium of barter. We are opposed on the St. Lawrence
by every shipmaster and every pilot and fisherman.

1054. The greater portion of your Eurcpean servants, I presume, come from
England or Scotland, they are not born of white parents in the country ?—
The greater portion of our white servants are Orkney men ; there are a few
Highlanders, and a very few Shetlanders ; a large proportion of our servants are
half-breeds.

1055. With your Indian servants what sort of contract do you enter into;
how long is their term of service ?—Merely for the trip ; merely for the summer.
They are sometimes employed as express bearers going with letters, and they
are frequently employed as boatmen, mixed with the Company’s servants and
with the half-breeds.

1056. Is there any provision made for your servants in case of sickness or old
age :—There is no provision made for them. They are paid liberal wages, and
our servants very frequently save large sums of money for their walk in life.
They generally leave the country before extreme old age comes on.

1057. But there is no reguiar provision for a person who becomes disabled in
your service #—There is no provision.

1058. That happens, 1 suppose, not unfrequently from accidents >—It does
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happen, and it frequently happens, that the Company, after their return to Eng- '

land, allow them a small pension.

1059. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have you ever known, in any case which was
deserving, a small pension refused *—Never.

1060. Mr. Gordon.] I suppose this can hardly be considered as administration
of justice : I find that in Mr. Alexander Simpson’s * Life of Mr.Thomas Simpson,”
at page 427, it is stated that the Company has the invariable rule of avenging
the murder by Indians of any of its servants, by blood for blood, without trial of
any kind. s that the case?~-We are obliged to punish Indians as a measure of
self-preservation in some parts of the country.

1061. And without any form of trial ?—We seldom get hold of them for the
purpose of trial, and they are usually punished by their own tribe. I scarcely
know a case, there way have been perhaps a few cases, in which our own ser-
vants have retaliated ; but the Indians are usually punished by the tribe to which
they belong.

1062. Mr. Gregson.] What mode have you of ascertaining the population of
the Indians #—We have lists of the Indians belonging to various posts; we have
compared and checked them with the report of the Government officers who
went to Vancouver’s Island some years ago, as regards the tribes to the west of
the mountains, and with Colonel Lefroy’s lists, as regards those on the east side,
and we have arrived at this estimate of the population.

1063. You say that you fit,out the Indiaus—is that only for the hunting
season ?--They do not require any outtit for the summer.

1064. Do they continue throughout the year to be provided for by the

0.25 H3 Company
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Company in clothing *—Yes; that is fosay, an Indian does not require European
clothing ; he usually has blankets and a coat.

1065. Do they depend wpon you for their support throughout the year ?—
Entirely, except such as they provide themselves with skins. They are very
frequently clothed in skins; rabbit skins and leather ; indeed, many of our own
servants are clothed in Jeather.

1066. Mr. Kinnaird.] You stated just now the population in rough; would
you have any objection to give in to the Committee a copy of the estimated census
of the population which you have made. There are some other parts; can you
give us your census of the Red River population ; you have got it, I presume, in
detail ?—I think I have; 1 am not certain; I took these notes previously to
leaving Canada.

1067, 1 think I heard you say that one vessel or more enters Hudson’s Bay
for the supply of the colony  —We usually employ.two ships to York ; one ship
to Moose, and another to East Maiue.

1068. May ships come and wrade at York or Moose Bay, if they choose, on
their own account; would every facility be given for other ships besides the
Comipany’s ships coming?—Not to oppose us in trade, because we conceive that
our charter sufficiently protects us.

1069. You conceive that your charter precludes any other vessels but the Com-
pany’s vessels trading at York and the Moose River ?—Yes.

1070. Under those rircumstances might not a larger stock of goods be kept at
the Company’s store at the Red River, so as to supply the demand there ?2—We
keep in store generally a two years’ supply of the most essential articles of trade,
to guard against the possibility of loss by the wreck of our ships, or the burning
down of our establishments.

1071. Are you not aware that you do not sufficiently supply the Red River
Colony with goods ?~I think the Red River Colony is usually sufficiently
supplied.

1072. 1 thought that a great caravan annually went down, and got their
goods from the United States at St. Louis:—Yes; a caravan goes taking
buftalo robes for sale in the United States, and cattle for sale, and bringing back
tobacco in some cases; they likewise smuggle liquor into the country, and there
are other supplies which are 10 be had cheaper from the United States than
from England.

1073. Mr. Edward Ellice.] With regard to the traders, cannot the traders at
Red River get out whatever they like in your ships by Hudson’s Bay ?—Any-
thing they like except liqucr. 'We object to become the freighters of liquor.

1074. And the traders at Red River may charter ships on their own account,
so long as they do not interfere with the fur trade ?—Yes; they have never
chartered a ship yet, because they get their freight cheaper through the Com-
pany than they can by charter.

1075. Mr. Bell.] Have you never refused to take goods for any of the:
traders of the Red River ?—I think on one or two occasions we may have done
so; perhaps on one occasion. I am not satisfied of that.

1076. Mr.Gordon.] Was that in the case of a Mr. James Sinclair -——Yes.

1077. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That was when it was in contemplation to inter-
fere with the fur trade r—Yes.

1078. Mr. Lowe.] Will you state what the case was with respect to Mr. James
Sinclair ?-~ There was some objection.

1079. What did he want to do?— We objected to bring out goods for him at
one time.

1080. What goods did he want you to bring out /—DBritish manufactures.

1081. You objected on what ground 7—On the ground that he was to employ
them in the fur trade.

1082. Mr. Kinraird.) The Company does not oppose a passive hinderance to
the entrance of goods or of people necessarily ?—Not at all ; we take their goods
out on freight.

1083. If I wanted to bring a mechanic into the Red River, could I do so ?—
Decidedly ; we should afford him a passage.

1084. Then the Company would ‘facilitate the entrance of free labourers of
good character who should present themselves, by giving them a passage?—
On paying.

1085. Allowing them to have the benefit of the Company’s stores upon the

terms
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terms of the Company’s servants 2—No, not on the terms of the Company's
servants ; the Company’s servants receive very low wages.

1086. You have told us, I think, that no other ship would be allowed to trade
at York :-~Yes.

1087. Therefore if I wanted to import a mechanic, you would allow him to
come i vour ship F—Decidedly.

1088. Might not he trade on the same terms as tlie Company’s servants ;
might not he buy his things in the same way ?—He wight buy his things as the
other inhabitants of Red River do.

1089. And he might have the benefits of the Company's stores >—Yes ; our
shops are opep to all parties.

10go. He would have to pay for his passage +—VYes.

1091. By a tixed tariff*—There is a regular passage money charged, which
I cannot call to memory at this moment. Every facility is afforded ; a passage
has never been refused to any one that I am aware of.

1092. There is an idea that the Company opposes the settlement of Indians as
agricultural labourers or as a Christian community ?--It is not the case.

1093. What is the tenurs of the land in the Company’s territory ?—Nine
hundred and ninety-nine years.

1004. Is the right of the Indians to sufficient lands for their support recognised?
—They occupy lands wherever they please. The Indian has never been required
to pay for lands. .

1095. Du you pay no chief for the occupation of land yourselves in the Indian
settlement ?—There is a very old respectable chief, a man who has been very
friendly to the whites ; we support him principally.

1096. Do you not recognise their holding their possession of land >—No ; the
land was purchased of them, I thiuk, in the time of Lord Selkirk by a regular
purchase; a certain quantity of ammunition and tobaccg, and various other

- supplies being given for it.

1097. What provision is made, or can be made, for the settiement of such as
desire to become agricultural labourers, or to live as a community ; what would
be the facility given by the Company ?—They would be permitted to take lands,
wherever vacant lands were found, ata price which might be considered nominal ;
the prices are never exacted.

1098. Is the Indian settlement at the Red River approved of and encouraged
by the Company }—Decidedly.

1099. In every way — In every way.

1100, What provision is made for the instruction of these Indians 2—The
Church Missionary Society bave a missionary in charge of the settlement

1101. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Will you state what rcligious establishments there
are ’—In the Company’s territory there are 19 missionary stations of the Church
of England, 12 Roman-catholic, 4 Wesleyan, and 1 Presbyterian, making a total
of 36. In Oregon there is a Roman-catholic mission.” On the Gulf of St.
Lawrence, one. ~ At Albany and Temiscaming, one. At the Pic there is a
Wesleyan missionary. At Fort William there is a Roman-catholic missionary :
and at Vancouver’s Island there is a Church of England missionary, making in
all 42 missionary stations.

1102. Mr. Kinnaird.] What provision is made for the chaplain ?—The Bishop
of Rupert’s Land has a salary of 3001. a year from the Company. In aid of
schools he has 100 7. a year. “The bishop’s chaplain, at Red River, has 150/ a
year. At York, 50/ a year. At Moose, 501 a year. At East Main, 50/ a
year. At Victoria and Vancouver’s Island, 200 L. a year. The Roman-catholic
mission at Red River has 100/ a year. At Oregon, 1001 a year. On the
Gulf of St. Lawrence, 105 L. a year.

. 1103. Mr. Clarles Fitzwilliam.] What do you mean by Oregon; Oregon is
in the United States *—We call it Oregon.

1104. Do you give relizious instruction to the, inhabitants of the United States ?
—No; there is a Roman-catholic bishop whu was taken across by us a good
inany years ago to Oregon, and he remains there on the promise that he should
be allowed 100 7. a year.

1105. Mr. Roebuck.] Do you pay him ?—We pay him 100 a year now.

1106. And you maintain him in the United States territory } —We give him
100/ a year.

1107. He being in the United States territory 2—IHe being in the United
States territory.

0.25. H 4 1108. Mr.
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1108, Mr. Edward Ellice.] You have possessory rights, I believe, under the
treaty ?—Yes.

1100. Mr. Roebuck.] But has not Oregon been given up by treaty *--By that
treaty our possessory rights are retained. )

1110. What possessory rights have you *—We have various establishments;
pasture grounds ; hunting grounds. We claim very large possessory rights.

1131, Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have you not also the free navigation of the river ?
—Yes.

1112. Mr, Rocbuck.] What do you mean by possessory rights ; do you mean
rights under the charter >— Rights as British subjects previously to the treaty.

1113. Had you possession of land 7—VWe had possession of land.

113i4. How did you acquire it *~-Under the licence to trade.

1115. But that is not possession of land :—Yes, under the licence to trade we
had various possessions in the country.

110. Do vou understaud that a licence to trade gives you possession of the
land ?>—We understood so.

1117. That is the interpretation which you give to the words “a right to
trade,” that it gives you a right to the land ?*—We conceive so.

1118. In fee-simple *—I do not say under what tenure, but we consider that
it gives us a right to the land.

1119. So that when you received by charter from the Crown a monopoly to
trade over certain portions of territory. you believe that the whole of that
territory was ceded to you ?-—No, not the whole of the territory that we trade
over, but the territory that we bring into cultivation.

1120, How much land did you bring into cultivation in Oregon :—I really
cannot tell.

1121. Did you bring 100 acres ? —~Five thousand acres.

1122, Into cultivation ?—VYes.

1123. And those are all the possessory rights which you have ?—We have
various establishments all over Oregon; we have them In various parts of the
Columbia River and Puget Sound.

1124. Mr. LEdward Ellice.] Ave you not aware that in addition there is the
Puget Sound Company, who also have those rights reserved under the treaty:
—Yes, that is an offshoot of the I{udson’s Bay Company ; an agricultural esta-
blishment formed by the Hudson’s Bay Company, or parties connected with or
interested in the Hudson's Bay Company, encouraged by the Government of
the day.

1125, Mr. Kinnaird.]l gather from your evidence, that in stating the number
of people whom you employ, you do not consider the Indians who hunt for you to
be your servants i—We do not.

1126. Is not the Company pledged to them by payments in advance ! —
Decidedly ; that is to say, an Indian to make his hunt must be provided with
certain necessaries to enable him to live during the winter ; he requires a gun ;
he rcquires ammunition ; he requires blanketting.

. 1127. Are they not to all intents and purposes your own servants hunting for
you, for which you pay them in advance >—There is no contract; there is an
understanding that they will pay us if they can. 1f the Indian is sick, we lose
the outfit.

1128. You make him paymentsin advance ; then yousettle with him after the
hunt, and in the event of any illness, or sickness, or of old age, you undertake
to provide for him ?—We consider that a dead loss.

1120. What provision do you make for the instruction of these Indians ?—In
the ditlerent parts of the country favourable for scttlement we always encourage
missions ; but in many parts of the country it would be impossible to collect any
body of Indians ; the means of subsistence are not sufficient to do so

1130, As the missions extended would you grant assistance ?—Decidedly ;
we are anxious to improve the condition of the Indians.

1131, What grants in aid are given for the education of the half-breeds and
the Indians ?—We give no grants in aid. The half-breeds are quite in a condi-
tion to pay for themselves; the inhabitants of the country; the heads of
families.

1132. And the Indians 7—They are brought to the missions.

1133. In iact, you think they are able to take care of themselves, and you

make no grants in aid for their education ?— No.
1134. The
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1134. The barter of ardent spirits, you said, was never allowed under any
circumstances >—Never for furs. In the Saskatchewan it is necessary to give
a small quantity” of spirits to the Plain Indians, as an inducement to bring in
provisions, otherwise they will not do so; theseare principally American Indians.
A small quantity is likewise given to some of the Indians at the Rainy Lake,
who supply us with dried sturgeon and wild rice.

1135. Have any ordinances or rules been passed by the Council on the sub-
ject of ardent spirits 7—Yes. .

1136. Can you put in copies of your rules with respect to ardent spirits 2—
The most effectual rule is not to introduce the article.

1137. Have you no written minute from the Council >—No, I think not.
There can be very little spirit used, inasmuch as the whole iinportation is under
5.000 gallons.

1138. What is the amcunt of ardent spirits imported in the ships :—Four
thousand nine hundred and some odd gallons.

1139. How is it distributed in the territory >—Two-thirds of that quantity are
for sale to the inhabitants of Red River, who would otherwise distil. We have
had great difficulty in preventing them from establishing distilleries in the
country.

1 14();. Are the Company’s regulations, to your knowledge, violated in that
respect :—1I think not.

1141. Have any of the officers of the Company been called to account for bar-
tering ardent spirits where it was not necessary *—No, not that I am aware of.
We are so decidedly opposed to the use of spirituous liquor in any of our esta-
blishments that no officer would venture to act in opposition to our desire.

1142. T think you said that the government of the country was vested in a
council >—VYes.

11435. Are the transactions secret >—Not at all.

1144. Are minutes kept?—Yes.

1145. And is it open to the public; may anybody have access >—All criminal
and other legal cases are tried at Red River, and are open to the public. There
was a trial by jury last year at Norway House which was open to the public;
but our own deliberations with reference to the management of the trade of the
country are not open to the public.

1146. Is there any bank out there for the use of the servants ; any savings
bank or any place where they can deposit their savings ?7—We have no savings
bank ; but the Company allow the interest of the day, I think it is four per cent,,
to any partics who may choose to leave their money in their hands, or they will
pay their balances, as they accrue from year to yvear, as they may desire.

1147. Is every facility given in that respect at the different posts >—In the
Red River Settlement we have gold, silver, and copper as a circulating medium,
and a paper currency. That paper currency is redeemable by drafts on London
ai 60 days.

1148. If any of your servants at the different posts wanted to place money at
interest, you would allow them four per cent. upon it >—If they choose to leave
their money in our hands they get four per cent. for it.

1149. Ilave you it in contemplation to form a savings bank in any part of
your territory?—No; it has never been contemplated; we have never thought
ofit; it has never been suggested.

1150. Mr. Lowe.] In whom does the executive power reside ; in the governor
exclusively >—The governor and his council.

1151. The Council of Factors 7—Yes.

1152. Consisting of 16 ?— Yes; and where therc is not a sufficient number of
chief factors, the number is made up by chief traders; that is as regards the
Company’s affairs, the business of the country.

1153. As regards the government of the territory, how is it governed ; I am
how speaking not of trade, but of the general government of the territory ?—In
the Red River Settlement, in the district of Assiniboia, the present recorder is
the governor of the district.

1154. He bas the executive power as well as the judicial F—Yes.

1155. What extent of territory is that over >—The district of Assiniboia takes
50 miles by the compass round the Red River Settlement.

1156. Has he any assistance in that, or does he do it entirely himself >—The
fact is there is very ittle to be done in that resiect.

0.25. I 1157. What
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1157. What there is to be done he does >—Yes; our gaols are alinost always
empty ; they scarcely ever have an inmate.

1158. As to the rest of the terrritory, how is that governed ?— By myself and
the council.

1159. Have you any legislative power >— No.

1160. You cannot make laws in the territory *—We can make laws as far as
regards the management of our own affairs, which is the only case in which we
have occasion to make laws.

1161. As to the tenure of land, how is it regulated ; what law is in force in
the territory 7—The law of England, I imavine.

1162. Up to what period 7—Up to the present time.

1163. You spoke of a lease of 999 years; why is the land not given in free-
kold ~Qur counsel in this country recommended that lease.

1164. Do you know why ?—No

165. Who grants the lease *—The Company; generaiiy the governor of the
district.

1166. Under the seal of the Company ?—Under the seal of the Company.

h'] lf 67. Have you a seal of the Company out there—Yes, as Governor-in-
chief.

1168. Has the Company in London any legislative power ; can it make laws
for the territory ?>—1t gives instructions with regard to the rnode of conducting
the business.

1169. There is no power of makiang laws, then, at all, as I understand, for the
territory 2—On the subject of the laws, I would beg to refer to the recorder.

1170. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is it not the case that the directors in London
have the supervision of the acts of the council ?—Yes.

1171. Mr. Lowe.] The Governor is the Executive >—Yes.

i172. All over the territory ?—VYes.

1172. There is no legislative power at all, as I understand ; there is no power
to make laws in anybody ?—We make such laws as are necessary.

1174. You do not make Statutes at all —No.

1175. Do you make Ordinances*—No, we have never had occasion te make
Ordinances ; we have passed certain Resolutions of Council.

1176. Are they considered binding in the nature of laws on the inhabitants
of the territory >—They are principally in reference to our own trade ; the laws
are administered as nearly as possible in accordance viith the laws of England
by the recorder of the country, and the late recorder is now on his way to
London, and wili be forthcoming in the course of a day or two.

1177. Where do these 16 factors, who form the council, live :—All over the
couniry.

1178. Are they summoned every year to meet ? —A sufficient number assemble
for the purpose of holding a council every year.

1179. Where do they meet >—At Norway House.

1180. At what time * —Generally about the 10th, or 15th, or 20th of June.

1181, Mr. Bell] What number is considered ‘sufficient >—I think seven
factors with the Governor. :

1182. Mr. Lowe.] Does the public ever attend the discussions of this council?
—No, never ; the public would be our own servants.

1183. Mr. Kinngird.] There is a council at Red River 2—Yes, at Assiniboia,
where the recorder resides, and where the white population is assembled.

1184. Mr. Lowe.] Has the recorder a council ?—Yes.

1185. What does that consist of >~—Certain inhabitants of the colony. I
think there are 10 or 12; the ‘clergy, the Roman Catholic and Protestant
bishops, the principal inhabitants of the settlement.

1186. By whom are they selected 2—By the Company, on the recommenda-
tion of the governor of the country, or the application of any of the parties.

1187, Mr. Adderley.] Does the Governor-in-chief sit with the council himself;
is he a member of the council 7—Yes ; he is the president of the council, and
the recorder 1s the law officer.
thl 133. The members of the council are nominated by him ?—He suggests

em.

1189. Mr. Bell.] Is there a recorder, independent of the Governor ? — Yes.

1190. At the Red River and at Norway House also:—No ; the recorder of
Red River goes to Norway House. :
119t. Mr.
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1191. Mr. Lowe.] Have you any magistrates, justices of the peace?—We
consider all our factors as magistrates.

1192. Do they hold any commission trom the Crown, or from the Governor?
—Their commission as factors is understood to answer the purpose of a com-
mission as magistrates.

1193. Have they power to imprison, and to decide any matter t—We have
never had any case of imprisonment.

1194. Mr. G'rogan.] Does the charter specially confer on the Company a
power of government, such as we are now speaking of, namely, of imprisoning
parties, or is it only a licence to trade’—I must beg to refer vou to the
charter.

1195. Have you it with you ?—I have not.

1196. In point of fact, if an English settler was to go out to the Red River
district and settle on a portion of land there, without any reference at all to the
Governor of that district (you say it is the recorder in that district), could you
remove him 7—We have never yet removed anybody.

1197. But could you remove him ?— We have never had occasion to examine
into the question.

1198. Has the question never been raised ?—Never. We have never removed
any man.

1199. Mr. Adderley.] But is it your opinion that you have the power ?—I do
not know. I am not clear that we have. Squatters throughout the United
States and in Canada are allowed to remain on payment of the established price
of land.

1200. Mr. Roebuck.] To whom is that price paid :—We have never exacted
pavment for land in Rupert’s Land.

1201. Mr. Adderley.] Of no kind :—Of no kind.

1202. Has any payment been exacted by the Company from settlers, either
by way of a price per acre, or by way of a licence to purchase 7 —In cases where
our own servants, who are free only upon their return to Europe, go to the Red
River, we sell them lands. In some cases they have paid for them ; in others
they have not, but very rarely. .

1203. If I wanted to buy land in the Red River Settlement, should I require
any licence from the Company to enable me to buy 2—I should think you would.
There has never been a case in point.

1204. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is it not the fact that the Company claim to be
the proprietors of the soil of Red River ?—Yes; we have never enforced it.

1205. Mr, Adderley.] 11as nobody ever paid anything for a licence to buy
land }—Not .excepting in the cases of our own retiring servants, who are bound
to go back to their own country.

1206. Mr. Edward Ellice.] As I understand it, there is no licence to buy land ;
it Is an actual purchase >—It is an actual purchase.

1207, Mr. Adderley.] If 1 wanted to buy land in the Red River Settlement,
upon what terms could I buy it ?>—Five shillings an acre.
y 1208. And that would bLe the only payment which I should have to make?—
es.
1209. That would be to the Company >—Yes; 5s. in one part of the country,
and 7 s. 6d. in another,
1210. I should have no other impediment, either in the way of payment or
in the way of restrictive regulation to my buying land there >—None at all.
1211. Anybody, from any part of the world, could, by paying 5s. an acre,
purchase any quantity of land at the Red River Settlement from the Company ?
—Yes, [ believe so.
1212, Mr. Roebuck.] 'The Company sell that land, you say *—Yes.
1213. By what right do they sell that land 7—By the right which they hold
under their charter.
1214. Does the charter give you land ?-~We believe so.
1215. Doyou know the words of the clarter *—No.
1216. Are they not a licence to trade; to hunt?—-No; I think the charter
gives us a right to the land.

1217. Mr. Grogan.] Ju the event of a merson coming from England, for
instance, and purchzsirg land, as you say, at §s. an. acre from you, is the land
0.25. I2 conveyed
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conveyed to him in fee-simple, or for any particular term, or under any deed  —
It is conveyed to him under a lease of 999 years.

1218. Is there a regular form for all those leases >—Yes.

1219. What are the terms of those leases *—I cannot call them to mind.

1220. Have you a copy of the lease with you 2—No.

1221. Will you furnish one to the Commuttee *—I will.

1222. Are there any conditions whatever in that lease respecting exclusive
rights and privileges to the Company :—1I think there are with reference to trade,
as far as my recollection goes; I have not read the lease for a great length of
time ; we have so very seldom occasion to issue those leases that I do not at this
moment call the particulars of them to mind.

1223. Then, we are to understand that a settler going from this country to
purchase land in the Hudson's Bay Company’s territories gets a lease for 999
years, at the rate of 3s. or 7 s. 6d. an acre, according to the locality —Yes,

1224. And he is also subject to certain restrictions as regards a particular
trade >—Yes ; trade in furs.

1225. Simply as regards the trade in furs *—Yes.

1226. There is no other limitation of any kind :=-No other limitation what-
soever.

1227. In regard to the exports, which such a settler is permitted to iake, is
there any limitation whatever on that point —None at all.

1228. How do you explain then the case of Mr. Sinclair, and the export of
tallow, to which vou referred a short time ago ?—I think in his particular case
he had traded in furs.

1229. Mr. Bell.] And therefore becau = he had traded in furs, you would not
allow him to trade in tallow ?-—No; we dia ..oi give him freights. That was not
approved of at the time by the Company.

1230. That was the method whizh you took to punish him*—I did not take
it, but the officer in charge at that time. .

1231. I mean the Company ?—VYes.

1232. Mr. Grogan.] I will read to you a passage from a pamphlet, entitled
‘¢ Canada West, and the Hudson’s Bay Company.”—* Mr. James Sinclair sent
in one of the Company’s vessels a small quantity of tallow to London, as an
experiment. It proved remunerative, and the next year he sent a much larger
venture, but this was not allowed to be taken. In the interim, however, appli-
cation was made to the Company by other settlers for permission to ekport tallow
at moderate freights ; but to this no answer was returned. Subsequently the
Company found it necessary to legislate on the subject. Yrom the Minutes of
Council on this subject, published June 10, 1845, and from a letter of the
governor of the country, in answer to the application of certain half-breeds to
have their position with respect to hunting and trading defined, ull of which
documents will be found given in extenso in Fitzgerald’s ¢ Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany and Vancouver’s Island,” we learn that it is the fundamental law of the
country, that no settler should trade in furs.” Do you remember the trans-
action relating to the export of tallow *—~I do not remember the particulars; I
was not in the country at the time.

1233. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1s it the fact, that any trader who was refused by
the Company could himself have a vessel to take away his goods from Hudson’s
Bay 2—Yes.

1234. So far as that goes, it is merely a favour that the Company does to the
trader 7—Yes. -

1235. Mr. Grogan.) Is there any limitation with regard to the imports Which
such a settler might make ?—None at all. T have myself suggested to settlers
that they should charter a vessel for themselves.

1236. Is any particular licence required for imports by settlers >—No ; there
has bee. no application for a licence.

1237. I will read to you another passage, and you will tell me how far it is
correct : “ Further, that while once in every year settlers are permitted, at their
own risk, to import stores, fur traffickers are excluded from this privilege, but
that even for this a licence is required.” Ts that the fact 7—No ; it is not true.

1238, *“ Moreover, that while iinports to the amount of 50/ are permitted,
they must be purchased only with certain specified productions or manufactures
of the settlement, carried away the same season.” Are those facts correct to
your knowledge P—T1he only article of import prohibited is liquor, and the only

article
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article prohibited for export is fur; with those two exceptions, you may import
or export anything that anybody requires. ] ]
123g. Then how do you explain the circumstance of these parties not being
allowed to export their tallow ?—1I do not exactly call to mind that circumstance.
I was not in the country at the time: it led to a good deal of correspondence ;
the thing is not quite fresh in my memory. . .

1240. Did yov kuow a retired servant of the Company, Mr. Dunn :—1I did
not know him, but there was such 4 man.

1241. In what capacity was he employed by the Company r—1I think he was
originally a Greenwich scholar ; a boy from the Naval School at Greenwich, and
taken as an apprentice on board one of the Company’s ships, and he was after-
wards promoted, I think. I am not quite clear as to his position.

1242. He was promoted to what. Did he become captain of one of the ships ?
—No. :

1243. Supercargo ?—-Mate, I think.

1244. Mr. Edward Lliice.] How many years ago is that?—A good many
years ago.

1245. Is it 30 2—About 25 years ago, I think.

1246. Mr. Grogan.] Was he in the Company's service during the time that

vou were there ?—No. [ never saw hinm,
" 1247. You mentioned that 5,000 gzllons of spirits are imported into the
country. Do you mean that that is the quantity of all the spirils imported ?2—
That is the whole quantity imported from England. Some of the settlers at
Red River smuggle spirits into the couatry. We are unable to prevent it.

1248. Did you ever hear that Mr. Dunn had published a journal, in reference
to his experience in the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—Yes, but I do not think I
ever saw it. I do not recollect having seen it. Upon the north-west coast of
America, I have not the least doubt that spirituous liquor has been very much
abused ; that was during the opposition with the United States.

1240. In 1832 —VYes.

1230. You gave us the number of chaplains that were employed and paid by
the Company. Are those chaplains required to keep school?—They are
encouraged to keep school.

1251. Are they required ;(—No.

1252. The salary that you pay them has nothing to do with their necessarily
keeping a school 2-~No. Theyare likewise paid by the societies to which they
belong ; the Church Missionary Society, or the Wesleyan Society. At Norway
House, and at several of the Wesleyan establishments, very large schools are
kept.

I1)253. Are they paid for their services as schoolmasters by you or by the
Missionary Society * —They are paid by usin aid of the mission. A salary is
given to those parties in aid of the mission, and they keep schools, according to
the instructions which they may have from the society to which they belong.

1254. Do they receive any payment from the scholars who frequent the
schools ?—I think not.

1255. For what period of time do your servants that go from this country
engage with you ?— Generally five years.

1256. On the average do they return at the expiration of the five years :—
No, I think they generally remain; I should say that six out of eight remain ;
they renew their contract over and over again. There are many servants who
have been in the service 25 or 30 years. )

1257. As a general average, do they remain, say 20 years with you :—
Perhaps barely 20 years at present.

1258. Butthey remain along time !—Yes, many of our servants remain a long
time. Many of our servants remain altogcther in the country. They retire
from the service, and become settlers at the Red River.

1259. What is the highest salary that the Company pay their servants i —The
price of labour has increased very much. It was some years ago 17/. sterling,
and now it is increased to men coming direct from England on their first engage-
ment to 20/.; and it is raised according to their position afterwards. A man
from being a common labourer, takes either the stern or the head of a boat;
being called the bowsman or the steersman; in that case, he is paid higher
according to his capability as & boatman. Fishermen are paid higher; they
are paid 30 4, 35 /., and 40 . in many cases ; tradesmen also are paid higher.

0.23. 13 1260. The
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1260.1'7I‘he class that you describe as labourers are paid 20 /. to 30/, and
35 [ %—Yes.

1261. What may be the salary of the superior officers >—The factors and
traders have an interest in the trade ; they are partners.

1262, Mr. Kinnaird.] The 16 factors >—The 16 factors and the 29 traders.

1263. Mr. Grogan.] They are, to a certain extent, partners in the adven-
ture :—Yes.

1204. A witness informed us on the last day that, with regard to the barter
between the trader or factor and the Indiaus, it was all done according to a
tariff 7°—Yes, there is a tariff.

1265. Is that tariff settled by the council, the governor,'and factors; or is
it settied in this country »—There is a tariff of very old standing ; the Indian
and the trader perfectly understand each other as regards the tariff.

1206. By whom was the tariff settled?—The tariff was settled originally by
the original traders. It has been modified from time to time according to cir-
cumstances.

1267. The existing tariff in its modified form is ratified and carried out by the
council ?—Yes. It varies in different parts of the country.

1268. In the event of a variance of that tariff, who settles that variance 7—
The council do.

1269. A question was put to you relative to any compensation or pension
which might be given by the Company to old officers or servants, and those
who might have received injuries in the service, and you stated that many of
them were extremely comfortable >—Yes, many of them have retired with means
saved in the country.

1270. Do you confine your answer to the superior officers, the factors, and
traders, or do you extend it to the servants?—I speak of labourers. I have
known labourers retire with from 200 /. to 300L ; Orkney labourers, who are
extremely economical in their habits. 1 speak of those who have been in the
country for a great length of time. g

1271. They have saved that money out of the wages of from 20/ to 301 a
year, and}the four per cent. which you allow them for money which they do not
draw *—Yes.

1272, Mr. Gordon.] 1 think there is no other settlement of any importance,
besides the Red River, of whites living under the government, but not in the
service ot the Company, in vour territory ; of course I do not spéak of Van-
couver's Island ?—There is a small settlement at a2 distance of about 60 milce
from Red River, at a place called Portage la Prairie.

1273. How long has that settlement been established :—Seven or cight
years.

1274. Mr. Roebuck.] Whereabouts is it :—That is up the Assiniboine.

1275. That is close to the Red River >—Yes.

1276. Mr. Gordon.] Is it in your power to sanction such an establishment,
oris it only in the power of the Governor and the Company at home ?—We were
opposed to this settlement in the first instance as being difficult of management.
1t was at such a distance from the seat of government, that we had not the same
control. If offences were committed, there were uo constables within reach.
There were no means of laying hold of the offenders.

1277. What reason made it much more difficult to communicate with it ?—
The distance of 60 miles is considerable.

12, 8. Is it 60 miles of interrupted river ?—1I think it is about 60 miles from
Portage la Prairie tu the Forts (Fort Garry).

1279 And the river communication is not good :-—The river communication

is not good. o
1280. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam. | Is there no communication by land *—There

is a communication by land.

1281. Mr. Gordon.] Is it in your power to sanction such an establishment
as that, or must it be the Governor and Company at home who sanction its
formation ?—I referred to the Governor and Committee, who thought it desirable
that the settlement should not be established; but no step was taken to
prevent it.

1282. They permitted it, but did not sanction it /—Yes.

1283. If 1 went and chose to settle there, might I do so without any opposi-

tion 2—Yes; in any part of the territory, so far as I am aware, it has never
been
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been objected to. There has never been a case where application has been
made.

1284. Supposing such application were made, would it be encnuraged, or
discouraged as you have discouraged it in this latter case >—That would be a
matter for consideration. I have not prepared myself to answer that.

1285. Do you consider that your right to sell land is the same in those terri-
tories which you hold under your charter, and in those which you hold under
your license to trade >~—No; we do not consider that we have any right to sell
land under our license to trade.

1286. Am I mistaken in supposing that you said that you considered your-
selves justified by your license to trade, in selling land in the Oregon country ?
—A special provision was made in the treaty for such sale, respecting our
possessory rights.

1287, Mr. Edward Ellice.] That related to property which the Company
actually created ?>—Yes.

1288. Mr. Gordon.] Which you could occupy, bat not sell ?—We were pro-
prietors as well as occupiers.

1289. What are the conditions now required of any settler taking a lot of
land on the Red River Settlement?—It was arranged, I thought, that I should
bring a copy of the deed before the Committee.

1290. What is the usual price of unsettled land now in Upper Canada *—
I cannot speak to that.

1201. You do not suppose the land, the price of which you have stated to
be 5s. or 7s. 6d. au acre, to be better than that in Upper Canada ?—Certainly
not ; it is not so good.

1292. Are the laws or regulations under which the colony of Red River
is governed printed ; are they accessible to the settlers ?—They are not printed
but they are usually posted on the church doors, and the settlers have copies of
them all through the country.

1203. You mean that that is done with any new ones?—Yes; anything that
affects the Red River Settlement.

1204. But how do they know old ordinances or regulations ?—The settlers
there are so very few that that has never been necessary. .

1255 Mr. Edward Ellice.] I suppose there are no newspapers to advertise
ti.emr-—No.

1206. Mr. Gordon.] Then, in short, they may not be aware of the laws and
regulations under which they are living ?—The laws and regulations are so very
few that they know them perfectly.

1297. But they are not accessible 7—They are not published.

1298, Mr. Edward Ellice.) It is a very simple state of society, is it not?
—Yes.

1209. Mr. Gordon.] There is no newspaper in the Red River colony ~—No.

1300. You are aware, I suppose, that a newspaper is generally the first thing
introduced in an American colony ?—Yes.

1301. Has there never been a wish expressed by the settlers of the Red River
colony to have a newspaper there?—Not that I am aware of. I suggested,
some years ago, that they should get up a newspaper, but they could not get
anybody to take charge of it.

1302. Can you tell me what is the freight per ton on goods imported from
London to the Red River?—£.5 a ton, and 1/ for lighterage and storage, and
being warehoused ; that is 6 /.

1303. It was lately a good deal higher than that, was it not, 8 Z or 9 {.7—
No; I think it was lower. I believe there has been very little ~hange.

1304. I have heard it repeatedly stated, that the cheapest way of receiving
goods in the Red River for traders there is to have them transmitted by New
Orleans, and along the Mississippi ; that it is cheaper than their going by York
Factory ; do you believe that to be the case ?—The freight to York is 52. a ton.
The freight from St. Paul's to Red River is 181 a ton, or 16s. the piece of
100 pounds.

1305. What is the distance from Red River to York Factory?— About 600
miles, I think ; and the freight from York Factoryis 20/ a ton to the Red River.

1306. Mr. Edward Ellice.] With regard to that freight, any person can take
the goods us cheaply as they like —They can take them any way they please;

0.25. Is we
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we pay that amount ourselves. We do not do our own transport ; we usually
employ the freighters at the Red River. Different traders do the transport for
us from York Factory to the Red River.

1307. Mr. Gordon.] What is the distance from Red River to Lake Superior ?
—Six hundred miles. ) :

1308. You think that the distance from York Factory to Red River is not
greater than from Fort William to Red River ?—It is about the same, perhaps:
but the freight from Lake Superior to the Red River in the transport of the
flour which I have before mentioned, was 40s. a piece, or 45 /. a ton.

1309. The route from York Factory to Red Riveris not a very good one, is
it >—It is very bad as far as Norway House.

1310. Is it not the case that there have been petitions from the settlers in the
Red River to have that route improved ?—We cannot materially improve it.
It is not susceptible of improvement without a prodigious outlay ; such an outlay
as our traffic would not afford.

1311, Mr. Bell.] Has there been a petition *—I am not aware of a petition.
We are very anxious that the route should be improved for our own purposes;
but the outlay for improvement would be more than the trade could afford.

1312. Mr. Gordon.] You say that it is very bad ; do you think it worse, or not
so bad as the route to Fort William r—It is not so bad, inasmuch as we can use
boats, carrving about three tons, between York Factory and Red River, and the
only means of transport between Lake Superior and Red River is a small canoe.

1313. I suppose, if the route to Lake Superior could be improved, it would be
the shortest route from England for goods ; there would be water communication
up to Lake Superior >—Yes.

1214. It would be easier than by Hudson’s Bay ?7—1 think the route cannot
be improved sufficiently for the transport of goods.

1315. What are the great difficulties on that route which prevent its being
improved —The depth of water in the river, the interruption from rapids and
falls, and the swampy character of the country. ‘

1316. Is not that the way which the old North-West Company used to
carry all their supplies for the use of the interior ?7—It is.

1317. Then they must have carried along there nearly as much as you carry
from York Factory *~—Ne; it was not one-tenth of the transport that we have
from York.

1318. If I understood you rightly, you said that the copy of the resolutions,
dated 1845, was not authentic; I have a copy of the resolution with respect to
the duties to be paid cn all imports into the settlement?—That resolution, I
think, was disallowed.

1319. Have you reason to believe that the colonists at the Red River are
satisfied with the government of the Company there 2—1 have reason to believe
that they would be perfectly satisfied if their minds were not unsettled by agita-
tors who have an eye upon the trade.

1320. In short, you think that the agitation comes from without, and not from
within ?—Decidedly.

1321. In your ** Journey,” to which you have referred two or three times
before, at page 54 you say, with regard to education, “ As to the charges of
education, four-fifths of them fall on the pious and charitable association just
mentioned ;” that is, the Church Missionary Society ; ¢ while the remaining fifth
is borne by such individual parents as are able and willing to spare 15 s. a year
for the moral and intellectual culture of a child.” As five-fifths make a whole,
I suppose it may be taken that the Company do not pay anything 2—No ; those
are the agricultural settlers of the Red River, who are in a condition to pay for
their own children.

1322. Then the Company do not contribute >—Not there; that is under the
direction of the bishop.

1323. Is pemican sold to the schools and missionaries at the same price that
it is to the Company’s servants >—We do not sell it to the Company’s servants;
we sell it at a very small margin of profit; there is a great deal of waste, and it
is necessary to sell it ata very small margin of profit to cover that waste.

1324. Mr. Gurney.] What do you imagine is the ordinary time which elapses
on an average between goods being bought by the Company in England and
those identical guods being delivered to Indians within the Hudson’s Bay Com’-

pany’s
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pany’s territory 7—It depends upon the locality ; in one part of the country, as,
tor instance, a part of Mackenzie’s River, it occupies seven years ; that is, from
the time the goods are shipped in London until the returns are brought to sale in
England.

1325. Then seven years would be the extreme ?—Yes.

1326. And what would be the minimum ?—From three to four years.

1327. It ranges from three to seven years *—Yes.

1328, Mr. Kinnaird.] You have not told us anything about the nature of the
population in Vancouver’s Island ?>—1 know very little about Vancouver’s Island ;
I have not been there since it was established.

1329. Can you tell me the state of the population on the west of the Rocky
Mountains ; of the Indians there ?—The Indians are all in a state of warfare in
Oregon. In the British territory they are more independent ; they have a better
position as regards means of subsistence than on the east side of the mountains ;
fish is very abundant ; salmon.

1330. s there no process cf settlement :—None. 'There are Indian villages
along the coast, and salmon are very abundant, and deer are very abundant, and
on some of the islands they raise potatoes.

1331. Mr. Charles Fitzwillium.] With reference to schools, has any obstacle
ever been put in the way of schools being established for the instruction of the
Indians ?—Never. On the contrary, they have been encouraged.

1332. Did you know Mr. Leith, a chief factor >—Yecs, Mr. James Leith. I
knew him intimately.

1333. He died some years ago >—VYes,

1334. He had amassed a considerable sum of money r—Yes.

1335. Which on his death he bequeathed to various purposes *—Yes.

1336. Can you tell the Committee what those purposes were :—1I think the
promotion of religion in the Company's territories ; religion or religious instruc-
tion ; I forget the precise terms.

1337. Mr. Edward Ellice.] The amount was 10,000 /,, was not it >— Yes.

1338. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Are you sure that it was not for education,
and not religion ?~—I cannot speak to the will, but the executors, I think, were
the Bishop of London, the Dean of Westminster, the Governor of the Hudson’s
Bay Company, and his own brother.

1339. How has that money been applied :—To the support of this mission.

1340. Of what mission ?—7The Bishop of Rupert’s Land.

1341. But a little while ago you informed us that the Company paid to the
Bishop of Rupert’s L.and a salary of 3001. a year >—Yes.

1342. What has become of the income of 300 /. a year, which is the interest
on 10,000/, more or less ?—I am not able to answer the question. I cannot
state distinctly how the application of this money has been made.

1343. Mr. LZowe.] You say that it goes to the Bishop of Rupert’s Land 7—
I think it is under his direction.

1344. Mr. Grogar.] You spoke of the Company possessing rights in Oregon,
which rights were recognised under the treaty with America *—VYes.

1345. What were those rights; a licence to trade »—They were our posses-
sory rights, whatever they were ; there is a difficulty as to the interpretation of
possessory rights.

134€ Lands which you have improved and cultivated?—Yes. There is a
question as to what the possessory rights may be considered ; different lawyers
give different opinions upon the subject. The late Daniel Webster considered
that wherever our trappers wrought, wherever our wood-cutters hewed timber,
wherever our flocks and herds ranged, we had possessory rights. Other lawyers
have given a different interpretation.

1347. Had you the exclusive right to trade in that district >—The same licence
to trade as we had on the east side of the mountains.

1348. Do you consider that you have that right now *—Yes; our licence to
trade has not expired yet; it will expire in 1859,

1349. If an Englishman went to that district and attempted to trade in furs,
do you consider that you would have the power to prevent his doing so ?—
I think so.

1350. If an American were to do it, do y ou think you would have the power
to prevent him ?—17 think so.
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:1;1;31. Do you think he would be prevented by you *—I do not know that he
would.

1352. Mr. Edward Ellicc.} With reference to the council at Norway House,
is it not one of the objects of the council to assemble together once a year the
persons having charge of the posts in distant parts of the country 7—Yes.

1353. In order that they may compare notes, and consult together in the
aggregate as to what should be done r—Yes.

1354. That is the only time for bringing them together ?—Yes.

_1355. The eountry, I believe, is as large as Europe :— The country is of pro-
digious extent : I have an estimate of the mileage.

1356. Mr. ddderley.; Would it not be possible to govern the country by
delegated authority ot different distances from the centre; do you suppose that
in the general settlement of the whole of this territory, as big as Europe, it would
be absolutely necessary always to refer home, on every detail of management, to
Norway House ?—No, I should conceive not.

1357. Is it the case that there is that reference between the Government of
Red River and Norway House * —No. "

1358. Is there none whatever -—No. ) :

1359. Did you not state that the Company opposed themselves to another
settlement on the borders of Red River, as being too distant from the seat of
government ?—They did not decidedly oppose it, but they discouraged it.

1360. On that ground ?—As being more difficuit of management.

1361. From its distance from Norway House ?—No, from Assiniboia. Our
gaol, and court-house and police, are all in the settlement.

1362. When you speak of the seat of government, what do you mean 2—The
seat of government of Assiniboia, which forms a circuit of 50 miles by the com-
pass from the forks of the Red and Assintboine Rivers.

1363. Have the inhabitants of the Red River Settlement any influence what-
soever over the decisions of the council which govern them r—The principal
inhabitants of Red River are themselves the councillors of Assiniboia, with the
gOVernor.

1364. When you say that the recorder is governor of Red River, do you mean
that he is ex gfficio always so —No ; he was considered a very fit man to hold

both offices. o
1365. He was so appointed >—Yes ; he was the recorder originally, and on

the retirement of the former governor he had the commission of governor like-
wise.

1366. Who appoints his council 2—They are appointed by the Company, at the
suggestion of the governor, or on the application of any of the inhabitants.

1367. But is it an appointment by the governor, or an application by the
inhabitants >—Both. The Company is willing to appoint anybedy who may be
considered a fit person qualified for the office. '

1368. What is the name of the present recorder 2—Francis Johnson. He was

a Queen’s counsel in Canada. ‘ ] -
1360. For what length of time are the members appointed ?—There is no

limitation of the time. . . ]
1370. Are their appointments for life?—No ; there is no fixed period; they
are appointed councillors. . ‘
1371. During pleasure ?— Duriog pleasure. o .
r372. Are the council at Norway House appomted 1n the same way :—At
Norway House the factors are eouncillors ander their commission.
i373. Are they appointed during pleasure >~ No; it is while they hold the

commission of factor.
1374. For the whole length of the tenure >—Yes, the teaure of office.

1375. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is under the charter 7(—1t is. o
1376. Mr. Adderley.] s your appointment an appointment for life :—No ;
my appointment is by the Governer and Committee.

1377. Mr. Roebuck.} I think itis a double government. You have a govern-

ment in England and one ix Hudson’s Bay, have you not 7—The Governer and

Company are the superiors; they have the supreme direction.

1375. The Governor and Company in England appoint the Governor in

Hudson’s Bay ?—They do. 1379. According
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1379. According to their will and pleasure, and his appointment is revoked at Sir G- Simpson.
their will and pleasure :—It is so. .

1380. So that, in fact, the Governor out there is the downright servant of the 26 February 1857.
Governor and Company here >—He is positively their servant.

15381. And what they desire him to do he is bound to do+—He is.

1382. Where does he live usually when he gets to that country r—1I have been
the Governor for the last 37 years, and I have lived npearly all over North
America. I have lived in Oregon, 1 have lived in Hudson’s Bay, in Red River,
at York Factory, and in Athabasca. I have travelled the whole country over.

1383. There are no head-quarters of the Government, then, and the talk about
the Governor and council is a mere idle statement ?—No. The Goverror of
Assiniboia is resident upon the spot. : 5

1384. I remark that vou always allude to your Red River Government at
Assiniboia ; did you not just now say that that simply occupied a circuit of 50
miles by the compass 2 —Yes. ‘

1385. And the whole country, you have told us, and the map tells us also, is
as large as Europe ?—VYes." )

1386, So that when you talk of that small territory, it is like talking of San
Marino, in Europe *—Criminals would be sent down to Assiniboia. '

1387. If a murder were committed on the shores of the Arctic Sea, would the
man be sent down to Assiniboia ? —Yes, in the first instance.

1588. Have you ever known an instance of a murder on the shores of the
Arctic Sea >—Not on the shores of the Arctic Sea, but within the Arctic circle.

1380. Can you state that case to me ?*~—1 cannot give all the details from
memory.

1390. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Was that the case which you spoke of before
to-day 3—Yes; Creole le Graisse was one: there were three.

1391. Mr. Roebuck.] So that in your long life there of 30 odd years you have
known three cases F--That was one particular case; those three persons were
accomplices ; they were sent to Canada for trial.

1392. Are those the only cases which you recoliect *—The only cases in the
Arctic regions, that I recollect.

1393. How many criminals do you suppose are annually tried at Assiniboia ?
—1 think the whole of the criminal cases within my recollection are but 19 in
the 37 years.

1394. And that you call administering justice in that country i—Yes.

1395. We may take that as a specimen of the administration of justice in those
couniries under the rule of the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—Of the absence of
crime, I should hope ; we claim to ourselves great credit.

1396. Do you mean to say that in your tenure of office there for 37 years there
has been only in fact 19 criminals in that country 2—1 think so.

1397. Mr. Edward Ellice] Are those serious cases of minor offences —

rlous cases.

1598. Mr. Roebuck.] Take murders: do you mean to say that in all your term
of office of upwards of 30 years, there have been only 19 murders committed in
the whole of the Hudson’s Bay territory —There were 11 people killed in this
particular case which [ am referring to. :

1399. Do you mean to say that in the 37 years of your government of that
country there have been only 19 murders committed 2—Nirceteen cases; I said
there were 11 murders in that first case which I spoke of. \

1400. I want to ascertain what has been the administration of justice in that
country ; I want to know how many persons have been brought to justice; you
tell me 19 }—Since 1821 there have been 19 cases of honicide in which the
Hudson’s Bay Company’s people were concerned ; in 11 punishment was inflicted ;
cone prisoner was tried and acquitted ; one was a case of justifiable homicide ;
three accused parties died before being captured, and in three cases there was no
evidence to proceed against them ; those are the 19 cases.

1401. Do vou say that thatfairly represents the state of crime in that country *
—1 do.

1402. Do you mean to say that since 1821, the date that you have quoted,
there have been only those 19 cases of murder in that country ?%—1In which the
Company’s people were concerned ; in the wars that take place in the plains
among the Blackfeet there are cases in which we cannot interfere.
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1403. I refer to cases over which the recorder has jurisdiction ?—Yes.
1404. That is your estimate of the crime in that country 72— Yes.

1405. Mr. Edward Ellice.] In short, it is your knowledge ?—Yes, as far as
my knowledge goes.

1406. Mr. Roebuck.] I have a book in my hand published by you I think in
1847 ?—Very possibly.

1407. How long had you been then Governor of that country *—Twenty-seven
years.

1408. And I suppose that in those 27 years you had acquired a good deal of
experience :—Yes. .

1409. Are we to take this book as the result of your experience of 27 vears?
—I think you may. .

1410. And all that you stated then was your view after 27 years’ experience
of that country ?—1I think so.

1411. So that if you had died at that moment, which I am very happy to see
tha}ti you did not, we might have taken this book as your view of that country ?
—YXes. ‘ ’

1412. Has anything happened since that time to alter your views of that
country 7—No, 1 do not know that 1 have materially altered my views in regard
to it.

1413. I know that this passage has been read to you before, but its matter
has struck me very much, from its poetry as well as otherwise, and I will read
it again, and ask you why, if you have changed your opinion, you have changed it :
* The river which empties Lac la Pluie into the Lake of the Woods, is, in more
than one respect, decidedly the finest stream on the whole route. From Fort
Frances downwards, a stretch of nearly a hundred miles, it is not interrupted
by a single impediment, while yet the current is nct strong enough materially to
retard an ascending tsaveller. Nor are the banks less favourable to agriculture
than the waters themselves to navigation, resembling in some measure those
of the ‘Thames near Richmond. From the very brink of the river there rises a
gentle slope of greensward, crowned in many places with a plentiful growth of
birch, poplar, beech, elm, and oak. Is it too much for the eye of philanthropy
to discern, through the vista of futurity, this noble stream, connecting as it
does the fertile shores of two spacious lakes, with crowded steamboats on its
b;])som, and populous towns on its borders’ 7—I speak of the bank of the river
there.

1414. I am going to direct your attention to the river itself ; the river itself
was at that time capable of bearing steamboats >~ Quite so.

1415. Is it not so now ?—1It is.

1416. And the land was very fertile then, you say :~—The right bank of the
river which I speak of, indeed both banks, the lip of the river.

1417. You say, “ Nor are the banks less favourable;” you allude to both'banks ?
—VYes; I confine myself to the banks; the back country is ene deep morass,
extending for miles.

1418. So that anybody reading that passage would have very much mistaken
the nature of the country if he had thought that that was the description of.it?
—Not as regards the banks; 1 confine myself to the banks.

1419. Does a traveller usually give such descriptions of a country as that 2—
Yes, I, as a traveller, did so.

1420. Then we may take that to be a specimen of your view of the country?
—You may.

1421. I will now direct your attention to that portion of the country stretching
round the Red River Settlement. Supposing you took the compass as far as the
boundary line, and struck a circle round, how far is the Red River Settlement
from the boundary ?—About 50 miles.

1422. That would be a diameter of 100 miles *-—Yes.

1423. Supposing you took a square, and you included Lake Winnipeg, up to
the north, and went to Cumberland House, and you then came down the parallel
of longitude 105°, making a very large square of 10 degrees of longitude and five
degrees of latitude, you would have a large territory, would not you :—It would
be a large territory.

1424. A good large colony >—Yes. ]
1425. Supposing
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1425. Supposing that were done, and it were erected into a territory, say at
the end of the United States ; do you suppose that that country could be self-
supporting ?>— I think not.

1426. Why ?—On account of the poverty of the soil ; along the banks of the
river I have no question that a settlement might be self-supporting; a popu-
lation thinly scattered along the banks of the river might support themselves,
but a dense population could not live in that-country; the country would not
afford the means of subsistence.

1427, That is your view of the country ?—That is my view of the country.

1428. You are here to tell us that the country is very barren, and could not
support a population >—lt could not support a large population, and, moreover,
there is no fuel; the fuel of the country would be exhausted in the course of a
very few years.

1429. Whyis there no fuel ; are there no woods ?—No woods ; all that prairie
country is bare of woods. | -

1430. And yet I see the country upon this map marked green, and they tell
me that that signifies the woody country >—Yes, that is the woody country.

1431. Mr. Grogan.] You described the river at the Rainy Lake, in the passage
read by Mr. Roebuck, as capable of bearing steamboats at the time that book
was written >—VYes.

1a32. For about 60 miles of its distance 7—Probably about 60 miles.

1433. Is‘it in the same condition now —Yes; from the outlet of Rainy Lake
to the Lake of the Woods, there are four rapids.

1434. But those rapids you do not consider would be an impediment to steam
navigation >—Two of them would be, and a third rapid, at the establishment,
would be an impediment. .

1435. What may be its extent i—It is a waterfall of about 40 or 50 feet.

1436. For a quarter of a mile, or less ?—The portage formed by this waterfall
is a quarter of a mile.

1437. You would then get into the Rainy Lake; that is navigable, of course ?
—VYes.

1438. For a steamer — Yes. _

1439. Then I see a series of small lakes going down towards Whitewood ;
are they navigable *—No.

1440. Am I to understand you that, from the Lake of the Woods down to
Whitewood Lodge or House, it would be navigable for a steamboat also ?—No,
but to the end of Lac la Pluie.

1441. What distance is that altogether; is it 60 miles ?—The Lake of the
Woods is about 60 miles.

1442. A second 60 miles >—A second 60 toiles. .

1443. That would be 120 >—Yes. The river'runs from the Rainy Lake dpwn
to the Lake of the Woods, and from the Lake of the Woods the River Winnipeg
flows down to Lake Winnipeg. i

1444. Is it navigable for that distance?—Not the River Winnipeg. There
are a number of portages in it, and the river is not navigable except by boats.
The part of the navigation which is fit only for canoes is from the Rainy Lake
to Fort William, Lake Superior.

1445. What distance is that —That is about 300 miles. .

1446. Mr. .Edward Ellice.] Are reports of the conduct of each servant sent
in by the chief factors and traders every year ?—No; reports-upon the character
of the whole establishment are sent in; if there is any thing remarkable it is
noted.

1447. And each chief factor is responsible for the conduct of the servants

under him ?—Decidedly.
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Sir Geeorge Simpson, called in ; and further Examined.

1448. Mr. Edward Ellice.] YOU were asked the other day to hand in a copy
of the land deed by which the Company convey land to settlers at Red River ¢
—Yes; here itis. The leading conditions are, not to deal in furs; not to distil
or import spiritaous liguors ; to resist foreign invasion, and to promote religious
instruction.—( The same was delivered tn.) .

1449. With regard to the Indian Setilement at Cumberland, you were asked
some questions with reference to a2 sum of money of 10,000/. which was left by
the late Mr. Leith, who had been in the Company’s service >—Yes.

1450. Will you have the goodness to explain that matter >—The words of the
bequest are the following : The legacy hy James Leith was “ for the purpose of
establishing, propagating and extending the Christian Protestant religion in and
amongst the mative aboriginal Indians of Rupert’s Land.” The fund, with the
accumulations of iuterest, now amounts to 13,345 L. ,

1451. Mr. Roebuck.] What are you quoting from 7—The words of the will.

1452. Is that the only statement in the will; does the will say nothing of the
means by which religion is to be propagated 7—No. These are the words :
¢“ For the purpose of establishing, propagating, and extending the Christian
Protestant religion in and amongst the native aboriginal Indians of Rupert’s
Land.”

1453. Is that all ?—That is all that is said upon the subject.

1454. Mr. Edward Ellice.] I think you stated the other day that the money
was left to certain trustees>—Yes. The sum now amounts to 13,3451 Three
per Cent. Consols.

1455. Mr. Roebuck.] That you do not quote from the will?—No. A

1456. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is lodged in Chancery, is it not ?2—Yes, it
is now in Chancery.

1457. By whom is it administered ?—It was commilted to the Bishop of
Rupert’s Land by the Court of Chancery, upon the understanding that the
Hudson’s Bay Company would add to the Bishop’s income a salary of 300/ per
annum, and provide him with a residence. )

1458. Which the Company did ?—Yes. The executors are; I think, the
Bishop of London. the Dean of Westmiuster, the Governor and Deputy-Governor
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, and his own brother, Mr. William Leith.

1459. They are the trustees by whom the fand is administered ?—Yes.

1460. With regard to the pensions of retired servants of the Company, have
vou anything to add to your former statement?—Yes. I was asked whether
there was any pension for retired servants. There is a sum of 300/ a year
set aside from the profits of the trade to pension old and deserving officers.

To servants and others not entitled to participate in that fund, special grants
are
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are made on the recommendation of the councils. When servants are incapa-
citated by age for active duty, they are superannuated, and kept at the posts as
supernumeraries, rendering such voluntary service as they please in return for
their food and clothing.

1461. You were also asked to put in the census of the Red River population.
Have you it ?—Yes.

1462. Will you put it in >—(The Witness delivered in the same.) The total
population shown is 6,500; add the population of Portage la Prairie, Manitobah,
and Pembina, 1,500 ; making a total of 8,000. '

1463. Mr. Roebuck.] Will you tell us where those places are, so that we
may know the area of country?—They are parts of the Red and Assiniboine
Rivers. The settlement extends along those rivers, up and down, above and
below the fort. . :

1464. You stated a certain number of names. I want to know where those
names are upon that map ?—1 am stating where the first is.

1465. The first is the Red River Settiement ?—Yes.

1466. What is the next 7—The next is Portage la Prairie, about 60 miles
above Red River, upon the Assiniboine; Manitobah is about 60 miles in 2
northerly direction, upon a lake of that name.

1467. Mr. £dward Ellice.] Will you point out Pembina® (The same was
pointedout.) -

1468. Mr. Rochuck.] What is the number of the population in those places ?
—-~Eight thousand.

1409. Whites and altogether ?—Yes.

1470. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have you put it in in detail —Yes.

1471. You were also asked to put in the census of the Indian population in
detail over the whole territory *—Yes. Here is the census of the Indian popu-
lation. There is a list of the Company's trading posts, ard the estimated number
of Indians frequenting those posts. (The Witness delivered in the same.)

1472. Mr. Rocbuck.] Will you state the total *—The Indians, east of the
mountains, 55,000; west of the mountains, 80.000; Esquimaux, 4,000.

1473. What is the date of that census ?—Last vear.

1474. Have you any census for 20 years back :—We have no regular census.
It is a very diflicult matter to get a census; the tribes are so migratory that it is
impossible to fill up a correct census ; this is an estimation.

1475. Did the Company ever attempt to make a census in times past 7—We
bave attempted it in various parts of the country. ’

1476. Have you that census :-~I have no census.

1477. Could you get it ?—Not in less than two or three years; two years
certainly.

1478. Why would it take you that time to get it’—On account of the dis-
tance ; sending off now, we could not get the census in the most remote part of
Mackenzie’s River before 18 months or two years from this date.

1479. I asked you if the Company had made attempts to get a census some
years back, and you said they had ?—Yes, we have, from time to time, in different
parts of the country.

1480. Can you pat the Committec in possession of those censuses 7—1 think
not.

1481. Why not*—1I do nect know that they have been sent here. But our
estimate of the population has been confirmed by travellers ; for instance, Colonel
Lefroy took an estimate of the population.

1482. You give the census now. I want to get the census 20 years back, to
kl?ow whether the population has increased or decreased >—I cannot supply
that. ‘

1483. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Colonel Lefroy’s estimate was made in 1843, I
think ; that is I3 years ago?—Yes.

1464. When was Major Warre’s made ; in 1845, 1 think P—Yes.

148;. Vith regard to the use of spirituous liquors, you were asked the other
day whether there were any rules in the council, or any published regulations
regarding them ; have you got any such rules >—VYes. 1 have first an "extract
from the standing rules and regulations of the fur trade; dated 1843, prohibiting
the use of spirituons liquers. Likewise, a copy of the 42d minute of the
council for the southern department, dated 1851, prohibiting the importation
of spirituous liquors into that department. Thirdly, a copy of an agreement,
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dated 13th May 1842, between the Hudson's Pay Company and the Russian-
American Company, prohibiting the use of spirituous liquors on the north-west
coast of America.

1486. Will you hand those in ?—{Zhe Witness delivered in the scme.)

1487. You were also asked with reference to the refusal of the Company to
export some goods belonging to a man named Sinclair, at Red River 7—Yes.

1488. Have you any explanation to give of that circamstance,”—1In 1844, Mr.
Sinclair forwarded to York a quantity of tallow, for the purpose of shipment to
England in the Company’s vessel. The ship was so full, that a large quantity of
tbeCompany’s property and Mr.Sinclair’s tallow were left out. As it was doubtful
whether room could be found in the following season, the Company took -the
tallow off the hands of Mr. Sinclair, on his own terms, on the 25th of July 1845,
But although the property of the Comnpany, it remained ther: for a year after-
wards, for want of room in our ships.

1489. Mr. Roebuck.] Was there any attempt to accumulate tallow by other
persons, besides Mr. Sinclair, the next year ?—Mr, Sinclair, and, I think, Mr.
M‘Dermot, collected tallow, and sent it down for shibment to York Factory.

1490. The pext year 7—In the year 1844.

1491. That was the first year; 1 asked you with reference i the second vear?
—The second vear I am not aware that there was any tallow shipped.

1492. Was there an accumnlation of tallow by other parties besides Mr. Sinclair
in that territory 7—1I think not.

1493. There was none brought ?—None that I am aware of'; Mr. Sinclair and
Mr. M‘Dermot were the only two parties tbat I have any recollection of as having
collected tallow for the purpose of shipment to England. .

1904. T think you say the Company left the tallow there, and they did not
buy it until the next year ?—They could not ship it; a large quantity of the
Company’s goods were likewise shut out.

1495. That is to say, the Company having the exclusive right of trading there,
did not provide shipping enough to carry it on:—Yes; there was not shipping .
enough that season. .

1496. Mr. Edward Ellice.] But 1 think you stated the other day that there
was no objection on the part of the Company to any other person chartering a
freight if he liked ; to take away or to bring anything he wanted ?—Not at all; I
have suggested to Mr. M‘Dermot and Mr. Sinclair, and various other people. that
they bad better charter a ship for themselves.

1497. Mr. Roebuck.] Do you mean 1o say that the Company would allow any-
body to send ships into Hudson’s Bay, to trade in that part of the world >—No,
not for the purpose of trade; I said that the inhabitants of Red River are quite
at liberty to import their own supplies in their own ships.

1498. How much tallow was there ?—There may have been a few tons; I do
not exactly recollect the number of packages.

1499. And you suggested to the senders that they should get a large ship, to
carry 200 tons of tallow 2—No ; we take out about 10,000 L. worth of property for
them sometimes.

1500. You say that you offeted to those gentlemen, Mr. Sinclair and Mr.,
M‘Dermot, the power to charter a ship to carry that tallow to England?—Yes ;
at that time they were talking of forming a large association for the purpose of
breeding cattle for the export of tallow, and for growing hemp or flax ; 1 suggested
that they should charter a vessel for themselves for such purposes.

1501. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have the Company ever chartered vessels so small
as 200 tons to take out their property 7—Yes, several ; there Was a ship called
the ¢ George,” and others,

1502. Mr. Roebuck.] There were 200 tons of tallow left behind that year >—1
do not say there were 200 tons, but there was a quantity of tallow : I cannot fix
upon any specific amount.

1503. You say there was no increase of that quantity the next year>—No, I do
not think there was any.

1504. And you suggested to these parties that they might then charter a
vessel to carry home that tallow 7—No, not then, but previously for many years
I bad suggested it ; they talked of forming a large export trade of colonial
produce; I said, “ Very well ; there can be no objection on the part of the
Company.” : ‘
1505. We
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1505. We are row directing our attention to this portion of tallow, and you Sir @. Simpson. -
tell us that you suggested to these parties that they might charter a ship; did =~ —8+~
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1506. What did they do with that tallow?—They sold it to the Company.

1507. They could do nothing else I suppose ?—They might have allowed it to
remain there till there was an opportunity of exporting it. .

1508. Till it pleased the Company to take it home?—No, not till it pleased
the Company to take it home, but till they bhad an opportunity.

1509. What opporiunity could they have?— Their own ships. ,

1510. That is to say, if they chartered ships according to your suggestion ?

— The Company have certain ships; they generally send two ships a year to
York Factory, and if there was room in those ships, they would naturally take
tallow as a matter of course, or any other produce they might have.

1511.. Do you not think that a mode of procesding which would put an end
to all trade ~—No ; 1 thipk if the trade was sufficiently extended, the Company
would provide shipping, or the settlers might provide shipping themselves.

1512. Was not there more produce than the Company’s ships could carry
home upon that occasion ?—Yes ; perhaps there were 30, 40, 50 or 60 tons.

1513. I understood you 200r—You said 200; I said there were a few
hundred weight, or possibly tons. ,

1514. It was for thut that they were to charter a ship ?—No.

1515. Mr. Gregsor.] Did you not say that you had not sufficient tonnage
that season for your own goods F—We had not sufficient tonnage that season
for our own goods ; we were obliged to leave out some of our. own goods.

1516. Mr. Roebuck.] That is to say, you did not charter vessels enough even
for your owa trader—Yes. -

1517. And yet you werc traders?—Yes; it very frequently happens in the
port of Liondon, as in every other port, I believe, that goods are left out.

1515. With respect to the manufactured goods which you take out to that
territory, have you any account of the amount of goods which you annually
take out to that territory ?— No.

1519. Could you get it 2—I could ; I could obtain an estimate of it.

1520. Possibly, not kuowing the actual quautity, you can tell me the mode
in which the goods, whatever may be the quantity, are distributed ?—I think
the imports into the country by the Company are about 60,000 a year; at
the York Factory, Moose and East Main ; that is to say, to the Bay.

1521. Can you give me any idea how that 60,000/ worth of goods is
distributed over that immense territory-—1 think about two-thirds of that
quantity of goods is given to the Indians; however, this is merely an approxi-
mation ; | have no figures.

1522, What was the number of Indians which you just now stated ?—On the
east side of the Rocky Mountains, 55,000.

1523. | suppose that quantity is confined to the east side of the Rocky
Mouniains #— Yes.

1524. You distribute 40,0007 worth of goods among 55,000 Indians *:—I
think that is about the estimate.

1525. What are those gonods usually composed of?—British manufactures ;
the staple articles are blankets, cloths, arms, ammunition, iron works, axes,
and various things.

1526. I will direct your attention to arms; in what way are they sold; are
they sold by barter or for money ?—They are sold by barter.

1527. For so many skins ?—For so many skins.

1528. When you sell a gun to an Indian, do you ever take inferior skins for
that gun 2—We outfit the Indian.

1529. Cannot you answer me that question 2—We do not scll a gua for
skins ; we give the gun to the Indian, as everything else, on credit, and he pays
for those supplies in the spring of the year.

. 1530. Supposing a gun is sold to an Indian, would you take in payment an

inferior kind of skins?— We take in payment whatever he cangive us. .

Y 1531. If an Indian had nothing but musk rat skins, you would take those ?—
es.

0.35. L 1532. Do
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7532. Do you mean to tell me that?—~I mean to say that we would take
from an Indian whatever he could give us. The Indian must have certain
supplies. : | .

1533. My question is a very plain one; would you take musk rat skins in
payment for a gun from an Indian >—Certainly ; we take whatever the Indian
can give us.

- 1534. And you mean to state that to me, that guns are sold to Indians with
the full understanding that they may pay you back in musk rat skins:—If an
Indian has nothing but musk rat shins, we will take musk rat skins. '

1535. Supposing that were to occur with an Indian once, would he be likely
to get a second gun :—Yes, decidediy, if he required it.

1530. Do you know the relative proportions between musk rat sking and
beaversi—We have a variety of tariffs; it depends upon the- part of the
country where the goods are traded; as, for instance, in Canada we pay in
a great degree money for ourfars. On the'American frontier we'pay frequently
in money; in the interior it is principally a barter trade; and on the fronticr we:
are regulated in ourprices by the prices given by opposition. '

1537. Are the prices rather higher upon the frontier than they are in.the
interior of the country +—Yes.

1538. Does not that arise from the competition ?—Yes.

1539. So that the Indian, where there is competition, gets more than he does
where there is none *—~He does. L

1540. Does not that rather improve the condition of the Indian 7—No, cer-
tainly pot,

1541. So that getting more does not improve him ?—No, it does not improve:
his condition. 1 think that the condition of the Indian, in the absence of oppo-
sition, is better than where he is exposed to opposition.

1542. Chairman.] For what reasons —The absence of spirituous liquors.

" 1543. Mr. Rocbuck.] First of all let us understand this: in the interior of the .
country you say you barter with the Indian ?— Yes.

1544. Aud on the frontier you give him money ?—That frequently happens
in some parts of the country.

1545. On the frontier he gets a larger price for his goods than he does in the
interior 2—Yes. :

1546. And you say that notwithstanding that, he is better off in the interior
than Le is on the frontier, because in. the one case he gets spirituous liquors,
and in the other case be does not 2—And in.other respects. The Indian in the
interior depends upon us for all his supplies ; whether he is able to pay for them
or not, he gets them ; he gets his blankets, he gets his gun, and he gets his am-
munition. If from death in his family, or any other cause, he makes no huat, it
cannot be helped. '

1547. 1 suppose you recoliect that you distribute among the Indians less than
1. a head ?—Very possibly we do.

1548. 1 want you to-tell me.the.condition of the Indian in the interior: is he
ever starved to death in the winter ?~—Very rarely. .

1549. So that if travellers.tell us that story they tell us a traveller’s story 3—
Indians do starve as whites do siarve sometimes.

1550. Have you ever heard of lndians being reduced to cannibalism during
the winter 7—Yes. I think I Lave, and of whites likewise,

1551. Because they have not enough to eat, 1 suppose *—Yes.

1552, Upon what. in the hunting territory, does the Indian live t—In the
prairie country he lives principally upon buffalo meat.

1553. Does the butfalo reach to where the fur country is>—There are a,few
furs in the buffalo country. '

1554. 1 am talking ot the fur country, where the people pass their time in.
hunting for furs: how do they live in the winter—They livein a great degree
upon fish.

p1555. Are they from oneyear to another fully supplied with fish %—1I thirk
generally speaking they are. o

1556. Youstill have instances in your recollection of cannibalism occurring ?—

Cannibalism has occurred repeatediy. :

1557. When did it occur in your recollection?—1I do not exactly recollect;
N ' : I think



SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY. 83

I thizk there were some «cases of cannibalism in the last few years in the
Athabasca country. ,

1558. I have before me a letter.of Mr. Kennedy: I suppose you have heard
of Mr. Kennedy ?—There are several Kennedys; which Kennedy do iyou
mean ? .- , i , .

1559. He is a person who has quarrelled with your Company, I bglieve; and
he wrote a letter <o -Lord Elgin ?—William Kennedy. .

1560. There .is this passage in his letter ; and I want to ask you whether you
are at all cognizant of the facts: quoting from a letter received by him, he
says, * You will be grieved to learn that the curse which had effect in the old
country has extended here, though arising from causes of more frequent occur-
rence than -even the failure of the crops. Starvation has, I learn, commutted
great havoe among your old friends the Nascopies, numbers of whom met their

death from want last winter; whole camps of them were fuund dead, without -

one survivor to tell the tale of their sufferings; others sustained life in a way
the most revolting, by using as food the dead bodies of their companions; some
even bled their own children to. death, and sustained life with their bodies!”
Quoting from another letter, he says, *“.At Fort Nascopie the Indians were
dying in dozens by starvation; and, among others, your old friend, Paytabais.”
A third he quotes as saying, *“ A great number of Indians starved to death last
winter ; and —-—— says it was ———"s fault in not giving them enough of
ammunition.” Do any facts like that come within your knowledge ?—No; that
is an.exaggerated statement.

1561. In your 37 years’ experience .in that territory, you have never heard
of any transactions like that, and deaths like that ?—Never, except in Mr. Ken-
nedy’s letter. ‘

1562. Not in your own experience ?—Certainly not.

1563. Mr. Edward Ellice.] In what part of the country is that >~—Upon the
Labrador coast. :

1564. Mr. Roebuck.] Then you do not -believe that statement 2—I do not.

14565. Where is Fort Nascopie ? (Zhe same was pointed out.)—It is on the
‘Labrador cvast. ‘

1566. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is in Canada, is it not ?—It is in Newfound-
land.

1557. Mr. Rocbuck.] Does not the Hudson's Bay Company’s territory extend
over Labrador 7—No ; it is a part of Newfoundland.

1568. So that that northern peninsula does not belong to the Hudson's Bay
Company 7—The whole does not.

1569. Mr. Grogan.] But ‘is_that fort which Mr. Roebuck is questioning you
about, in Labrador, or is it in Rupert’s Land !—1It is in Labrador.

1570. Mr. Roebuck.] It is pointed out as on the Green; then it is in the
Hudson’s Bay Company’s territory ?—1I think not.

1571. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have you examined that map ?—1I have not atten-
tively. I had not seen it till I came in just now.

1572. Do you know whether that fort belongs to the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany ?—1It does; it is.a post .or establishment called the Post of -Nascopie.
These posts are meved from time to time according to circumstances.

1573. Mr. Roebuck.] Can you remove a fort ?~A fort is half-a-dozen log
huts, and may be erected by half-a-dozen men in' about a week ; that is what
we call a fort. ’

1574. It ‘bears :the same name wherever it travels >—We call it either a post
or a fort,

1575. Do you mean to say that you move a:fort about?— We call it an cut-
post; a trading post. I do not call it a fort.

1576. It is called a fort here?—It may be so; it is @ misnomer.

1577. Do you mean to say that you have no Fort N ascopie '~ We have .an
outpost called Nascopie.

1578. You have no fort called Nascopie f— We have not.

1579. Mr. Grogan.] 1t is a station *—It is a statjon.

1580. Mr. Edward Lllice.] And those stations depend upon the time they
are occupied ?—Lixactly so. . '

0,25, Lz 1581. Mr.
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1581, Mr. Grogan.] Has that station ever been abandoned ?—1I really cannot
tell; I think it is very likely,

1582. But has it been abandoned r—I really cannot tell ; we move an esta-
blishment according to circumstances. If the fish and 1he other means of sub-
sistence are not sufficiently abundant, we move it to another point, 19, 20, or
30 miles distant.

1583. Mr. Roebuck put a question to you about the death of a great number
of natives adjoining a fort, which at first you were under the impression was in
Labradorr—Yes.

1584. Now it appears that it is in the Hudson’s Bay Company’s territory !—
I am not quite sure that it is; | am rather disposed to think it is not.

. 1585. Mr. Roebuck.] You distinctly said that Nascopie was a station belonging
to the Hudson’s Bay Company :—Yes.

1586. This account speaks of Nascop’e —VYes.

1;37. Therefore it belongs to the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—1It did belong to
the Hudson's Bay ('ompany., .

1588, Mr Grogan.] Has it ever been abandoned !—I do not even know
whether it is at present occupied or not. '

1589. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1t is still occupied 7—7Yes.

1500. Mr. Roebuck.] So that it still belongs to the Hudson'’s Bay Company ?
—It always has belonged to the Hudson’s Bay Company, when it has been
occupied. S

1591. Tt just now belonged to Labrador:—Upon the coast of Labrador; we
have establishments upon the coast of Labrador. '

1592. Mr. Biackburn.] Are these posts sometimes in Labrador, and some-
times in the Hudson’s Bay territory 7—They are moved as circumstances may
render advisable.

1503. Mr. Roebuck.] But they are always under the command of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company 2—Yes.

1504. So that wherever they are moved to they belong to the Hudson’s Bay
Company ?— Hudson's Bay establishments are under the control of the Hudson’s
ll)BaydCompany, but thers are other establishments in the immediate neighbour-

ood.

1595. Chairman.] Is there any arrangement with the government of Labra-
do(li, by which you use that territory for your purposes ?—It is open for any-
body.

1596. In truth it is practically unoccupied ?—Yes.

1597. Mr. Roebuck.] Will you allow me to read to you another passage :
“ There are some extensive tracts of country in which the means of subsist-
ence are scanty in the extreme. In the region lying between Lake Superior
and Lake Winnipeg, the natives, during the winter, can with difficalty collect
enough of food to support life. In the country lying immediately north of
the Canadas, though fur bearing animals are still comparatively numerous, and
the trade consequently valuable, the poor Indians have at all times a hard
fight against famine. In this tract of country fish is at all seasons scarce, and
in winter the sole dependence of the natives for subsistence is placed upon
rablits (the most wretched food upon which to exist for any time that can pos-
sibly be conceived), and when these fail the most friuhtful tragedies at times
take place. Parents have been known to lengthen out a miserable existence by
killing and devouring their own offspring ;" do you believe that ?—That is an
exaggerated statement.

1598. Did you ever know a book called * The Life of Thomas Simpson " >—
1 did.

1599. By whom was it written !—It was written by Mr. Thomas Simpson,
I believe.

1600. And if that is an extract from Mr. Thomas Simpson’s book, you say it
is an exaggeration?—1I do not know what part of the country he speaks of.

1601, Between Lake Saperior and Lake Winnipeg?—There is a very thin
population there. )

1602. Who was Mr. Thomas Simpson ? —Mr. Thomas Simpson was a distant
relative of mine.

1603. Was not he a long time in the Company’s service ?—No.
1604. Was
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1604. 'Was not he a long time in that country :~No ; when I say not a long
time, I speak comparatively. 1 think he may have been six or seven yearsin the
country altogether, or seven or eight years with me.

1605. You say that that statement made by him (because you say the life is
written by himself), is an exaggeration i —Yes ; between Red River and Lake
Superior, which I believe is the tract of country he speaks of, the population is
exceedingly thin, and never was numerous.

1606. Do you know a book called * Ballantyne's Hudscn’s Bay "?—Yes, I
have read it. \

1607. In that book there is this statement: ‘At these posts the Indians are
frequently reduced to cannibalism, and the Company’s people have on more than
one occasiorf been obliged to eat their beaver skins; this was the case one winter
in Peel’s River, a post withia the Arctic Circle in charge of Mr. Bell, a chief
trader in the service; and I remember well reading in one of his letters, that all
the fresh provision they had been able to procure during the winter was two
squirrels and one crow ; during this time they had existed on a quantity of dried
meat which they fortunately had in store, and they were obliged to lock the
gates of the fort to preserve the remainder from the wretched Indians, who were
eating each other outside the walls; the cause of all this misery was the entire
failure of the fisheries, together with great scarcity of wild animals. Starvation
is quite comnmon among the Indians of those distant regions; and the scraped
rocks, divested of their covering of tripe de roche, which resembles dried sea-
weed, havea sad mieaning and melancholy appearance to the travellers who
journey through the wilds and solitudes of Rupert’s Land "?—Yes; Mr. Ballan-
tyne never was in that country; he dues not know the country. The cases of
cannibalism are very rare indeed. .

1608. I will read to you a very short passage, and ask you whether it is a
true description of Mr. Thomas Simpson: “ No man in the Company's service
had such opportunities as he enjoyed of becoming acquainted with their
management, and none was better able to appreciate its effects;” is that an
accurate description of Mr. Thomas Simpson ?--No, I think not; he acted as
my secretary for a short time, but I do not think his judgment was very scund
upon many points. ‘

- 1609. If those words come from a report on the part of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, then they are incorrect :—Yes; I do pot conceive that his judgment
was sound upon many points.

1610, I ask you, if those words come from a report made by the Hudson's
Bay Company, still, notwithstanding that, they are incorrect’—Yes; his judg-
ment is lauded a little higher than 1 think it should be.

1611, Who made that report, do you kncw }—[ really do not recollect.

1612. There was a letter written by dir J. H. Pelly, Bart., to Earl Grey,
dated * Hudson’s Bay House, 24th April 1847.” ‘There is, as an enclosure in
Sir John Pelly’s letter to Lord Grey, a report on the memorial of Mr. A. K.
Isbester and others, to the Secretary of State for the Colonies; that report, I
suppose, was a report of the Hudson's Bay Company. In that report is the
description which I read to you of Mr. Thomas Simpson; in spite of this coming
from the Hudson’s Bay Company, you say that it is an incorrect description of
Mr. Thomas Simpson ?—Mr. Thomas Simpson was a very active, energetic man,
but not a man of sound judgment upon many points.

1613. Are you aware of 2 complaint made by the American Government about
the sale of spirits by the Hudson's Bay Company ¢—No, I am not. '

1614. You are not aware that the American Government applied to the
English Government in consequence of certain complaints made to them, the
American Government, of the sale of spirits by the tludson’s Bay Company 7—
No, 1 do not recollect any such complaint ; there may have been one.

16:5. Are you at all aware whether the numbers of the Indians are diminishing
now —No; I think the Indians of the thickwood country are increasing in
numbers; the population there, I think, is increasing.

1616. You say that in ditterent parts of the territory different prices are
charged by the Company for the goods they sell to the Indians 7 —Yes.

1617. At the mouth of the Red River what is the per-centage of the tariff
added to the cost price of goods ?~1 cannot say at the Red River, because it
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?epends entirely upon the price given by the Americans and others upon the
Tontier. -

1618, Is the mouth of the Red River ‘near the frontier 7—The mouth of the
Red River is close to the frontier.

1619. I would say the mouth of Mackenzie's River :—1I cannot tell the precise
tariff'; 1 have no copy of the precise tariff; they pay a higber price for their
goods than those nearer the coust; the returns do not cume to market until
about from six to seven years after outfits are issued.

1620. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is to say, that you give less for the furs ?—
We give less for the furs. .

1621, You take more furs, in fact, for an article ?—Yes ; our system of dealing
is this : Indians require certain necessary supplies to enable them to hunt, and
these we provide them with. ‘

' i022. M» Roebuck.] Do you know the quantity of beads which you have
imported per annum ?—1 do not ; they are not an article of trade ; they are given
48 presents. \

1623. You never give so many beads for so many skins r—Never; they are
entirely gratuities ; beads are never traded, to my knowledge; if they are, it is
Quite contrary to instructions.
 1624. Do you know the amount of marten skins imported last year?—I do
not; I cannot tell from recollection. Awls, gun flints, gun worms, hooks,
needles, thread, beads, knives, gartering ribbons, &c., are given as gratuities;
about 20 per cent. of the outfit in those articles are given as gratuities.

1625. So that a good knife is not considered an article of commerce at all 7 —
‘No; it is given as a gratuity.

1626. And that is the statement which you make of tbe way in which you
deal with the Indians with knives ?—That is the usual practice.

1627. So'that if a knife were to cost iU s., you would make a present of it 2—
We never give 10-shilling knives ; they are too exp=usive an article; we cannot

afford to pay such prices.

. 1628. Do you ever give 5s. for a knife ?—No, never.

- 1629. Half-a~crown ?—I cannot tell precisely what the cost price of a knife
may be, but I should think the cost price of a knife is high at half-a-crown for
the [ndian trade.

1630. Was not there some agreement or some bond entered into by the
Hudson’s Bay Company, that they would send the criminals to be tried in
Cynada —There is a concurrent jurisdiction in Canada.

1631. Will you answer my question #—1 am not aware of any bond, but very
likely there may have been; I do not recollect.

1632. So that though you have been Governor for 37 years of that territory,
if such a thing has occuried, it does not now occur to your memory ’—I do not

_recollect : the cases are so very few.

1633. In your long experience of that country are you aware of any criminals
ever having been sent to be tried in Canada ?— Yes.

1634. How many times?—On one occusion ; there were three men sent for
trial for murder; and I think tHat case was noticed in the former investigation
of the Committee. '

1635. Chairman.] Supposing an arrangement was made by which any por-
tion of the territory now administered by the Hudson’s Bay Company, which
mizht be supposed to be fit for the purposes of colonisation, was separated from
that administration, such a district of country, for instance, as the Red River,
and any land in the neighbourhood of the Red River, or of the frontier of
Canada, or land on the extreme west coast in the neighbourhood of Vancou-
ver's Island, would there be any difficulty in the Hudson's Bay Company con-
tinuing to conduct their affairs after that separztion had taken place ?--1 think
not, because I do not believe there would be any settlement for a great length
of time ; I do not believe there would be any migration into the country for ages
to come.

1636. Suppose that was left to be tested by experience ; suppose any country,
such as it could be thought would be available for the purposes of colonisation,

was taken from the administration of the Hudson’s Bay Company under a

suitable arrangement, would it interfere in any way with the management of

the affairs of the Hudson’s Bay Company, or of such territory as was lel'tt?l——{
thin
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think not, provided the incoming population were restricted from interfering
with the fur trade.

1637. Do you mean in the same manner in which the inhabitants of Canada
are now restricted from interfering >—No; they are not restricted. from inter-
fering with the far trade of Canada. .

1038, But with your fur trade?—Yes; provided they were so, I think there
would be no decided objertion.

1639. Is the constitution of your Company, in your opinion, particularly
favourable to the management of colonists, or of any thickly settled districts —
I think the territory held by the Company is not favourable for settlement.

1640. 1 do not mean the physical nature of the territory; but do-you think it.
advisable, for your own objects, that you should: have the administration or
management of anything which could be called a thickly peopled settlement !—:
No, 1 do not think it is- important that we should.

1641. It is rather difierent from your a-ual course, is it not?—Yes, I
think so. :

1642. For instance, do you think it would do you any harm if Vancoaver’s.
Island was taken from you and made a Brtish colony :—1I think not.

1643. Do you think that if there was any country on the mainland in that.
corner in the vicinity of Vancouver's Island to which it was thought likely that
settlers would be attracted, it would interfere with your affairs as a trading Com-~
pany. if an establishment of that kind was formed. there and separated from you ?
— 1 think it would not do any harm if they were restrained from interference
with the fur trade.

1644. In the same manner if the settlers from Canada were allowed to occupy
any country in their neighbourhooud, or in the neighbourbood of the Red River,
which they were disposed to go to, provided, as you. say, your own monopoly as:
traders was reserved in the for-trading districts, it would be far from interfering
with you, as I understand ?—1I think so. I think there would be no objection to.
it, provided the Company were satisfied ; they consider themselves lords of the
soil, proprietors of the country, in their own special territory..

1645. As fur traders, do you consider monopoly as essential to the conduct of
a trade of that description F—Decidedly.

1646. What do you believe would be the consequence, supposing the trade
was thrown open indiscriminately to anybody who chose o pursue it 7-—T think
the fur-bearing race would be in very short time destroyed, and the Indians left
to poverty and wretchedness.

1647. Would there be anybody then who would have any interest in pre-
serving the fur-bearing animals, and who would not, on the contrary, have an
interest in destroying them as fast as possible with a view to immediate returns ?
—Decidedly not.

1648. Were you acquainted with that country when there was a contest in
trade, and I am afraid a contest awful in violence and acts of outrage, carried on
between the North-Western Company and the Hudson's Bay Company in that
country 7—Yes, I was there-the lust year of the contest.

1649. What were the effects of that contest? —The demoralization of the
Indians ; liquor was introduced as a medium of trade throughout ; the peace of
the country was disturbed ; there were riots and breaches of the peace conti-
nually taking place, and the country was in state of great disorganization.

1650. Mr. Roebuck.] Did that take place because the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany went to war with Lord Selkirk ?—The Hudson’s Bay Company did not go
to war with Lord Selkirk.

1651. Then did Lord Selkirk go to war with the Hudson's Bay Company 7—
No; they were on the best possible terms.

1652. They fought, did they not 2—No, I believe not.

1653. I am making a mistake; the Hudson’s Bay Company and Lord Selkirk
fought with the North-West Company ?-—There were breaches of the peace very
frequently, from day to day and year to year, and it will be sv wherever there is
competition in the fur trade, whoever tlie parties may be.

1654. It is to those circumstances that you refer, is it not 7—VYes.

1655. T think the Right Honourable Chairman put a question to you as
to whether you were in the country when certain transactions occurred ?—

I was. .
'-0.25. L4 1656. The
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1656. The transactions to which youn referred were those which took place
between the Hudson’s Buy Company and the North-West Company :—Yes, the
traders of Canada and the Hudson’s Bay Company.

1657. And you fancy that that was the result of the free trade, if we may so
express it +—Yes, I think so.

1058. And that that would be the result under any circumstances >—There
would be a recurrence of the same evils if the trade was thrown open
again.

g“:659. Are all those evils occurring in the territory of the United States at the
present moment ?—There is no fur tiade in the iuterior of the United States of
any cousequence.

1660. Is there no fur trading upon the western coast of the Pacific from the
boundary line down to Cahfornia ?—Very little.

1661. Is there uot a fur company ¢~ No, there is no fur company that I am
aware of,

1662, So that the Americans do not accumulate furs at all?—-In that part of
the country they do not. ,

166:3. Do they in any part of the country ?—-No, I am not aware of it; on the
sources of the Mis«ouri a good many furs are collected.

1664. Is there not an American fur company >—No, I think not; there was
an American fur company ; it was broken up long ago. ‘

1665, Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Within the last two months ?—No, wiihin
the last few years. .

1066. Mr. Adderley.] 1n reply to a question put by the Chairman, you stated
that the Company would not object to any settlement west of the Rocky Moun-
tains, provided such settlers were restrained from interfering with the rights of
the Company as to the fur trade ?—I think so.

1667. Will you describe {he nature of the restraint which you would suggest ?
—That they should not be aliowed to interfere in the fur trade, but confine them-
selves to agriculture or other pursuits.:

1608. Do you mean, then, that the settlers west of the Rocky Mountains
should be bound to maintain their own settlement in a fur-bearing condition >—
No; the country adapted tor settiement is not a fur-bearing country.

1669. Then what would be the nature of the restraint which you think the
Company would consider necessary —That the settlers should not go into the
fur-bearing countries

1670. The restraint would only apply to other portions of the district claimed
by the Hudson's Bay Company 7~ Yes. . .

1671. Do you consider that the Company would have a right or interest in
making any restrictions upon the settlement of the country itself west of the
Rocky Mountains *-—No, I think not. .

1672. The settlement of that part of the country might be effected with ne
injury to the Hudson’s lay Company, without any restrictions as to the territory
itself >—Provided they did not interfere with the fur trade.

1673. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Would the restriction. of dealing with the Indians
be sufficient for your purpose 7= Yes, it would, I think.

1674. Mr. Adderley.] The country to be settled, west of the Rocky Moun-
tains, might be settled free from any conditions relative to that country itself F—
Except as regards the fur trade. .

1675. Chairman.] How do you manage to prevent the Canadian traders now
from introducing spirits into the territories of the Hudsou’s Bay Company, along
that great extent of frontier?—They cannot pass through the country without
our assistance. . .

1676. Is that difficulty of communication sufficient to enable vou practically
to prevent the trade in spirits ?—Yes, decidedly. . . .

1677. 1 suppose there is some smuggling in the districts immediately in the
neighbourhood of the settled countriesr—1 think there is no smuggling in the
territory of the Hudson’s Bay Company, in the district of country over which they
claim an exclusive right of trade, except at Red River. ‘

1678. When you say no smuggling, do you mean that there is none of any
consequence, or none at all >~ believe there is none. .

1679. Lord Stanley.] You have posts beyond yvour own territory, have you
not, in Canada ?—Yes; we have establishments all the way down the St. Law-

rence.
1680. Chairman.}
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1630. Chairman.] Have you gone on in harmony with the Canadians and the
Canadian Government >——Perfectly so. .

1681. Mr. Ruebuck.] In that census which you have given in, is there an
account of the numbers of the half-breeds in the Red River Settlement:—Yes ;
8,000 is the whole population of Red River; that is the Indian and half-breed
population.

1682. Can you give any notion of how many of those are half-breeds:—
About 4,000, I think.

1683. Can you tell the Committee whether those half-breeds are improving
in their intelligence ?—1 think they are. :

1684. Have not the Company established schools there >—Yes, there are
schools.

1685. Do not the half-breeds go to those schools?’—Many of them do,
especially the half-breeds of European parentage.

1686. Since they have gone to those schools have you found the half-breeds
as submissive as they were before 7—Yes, I think they are fully ; more so.

1685, So that they do not give you any more trouble than they used to do?
—We have little or no trouble with them.

1683. They do not demand free trade in furs; you never bheard of such a
thing ?~—They do not demand it, but they practise it ; many of them do.

1689. Have you found the free trade increase since the instruction of the
people increased ?—No, I do not find that since the encouragement to trade has
increased they have been extending their operations in that way.

16go. Do you mean to say that the free-trading has not increased of late
years >—Not very materially ; they have been in the habit of trading, more or
less, for a great many years; perhaps there may be more engaged in it recently
than there were a few yvears ago.

1691. So that the increase of education at the present moment has not at all
increased the desire of the people to have communication with America 2—No, 1
aw not aware that it has; I am not aware that there is any particular desire to
connect themselves with America.

1692. T mean to trade with America /—To trade in what?

1693. In all commodities 7—I believe there is very little trade at present going
across the frontier.

1694. Are you at all aware of any increased desire on the part of those people
to carry on trade with the Americans >—No; I am not aware that there is any
increased desire.

1605. So that we may take it as your statement that there is no increased
desire on the part of that population in that respect r——They have more frequent
communication with the United States than heretofore, inasmuch as they have
larger dealings.

1696. Mr. Edward Ellice.] That is not in furs?—Not in furs: principally in
buffalo robes, and a very few furs.

1697. Mr. Roebuck.] What do they give to the Americans ?—They take cattle
from Red River; buffalo robes, and a small quantity of tallow and horses; I
think those are the principal articles. .

169S. Do the Indians of the Red River Settlement wish to trade with the
Americans ? —I think not.

1699. I mean the pure lndians >—The pure Indians, I think, principally deal
with us.

1700. You have found no desire on their part to conduct trade with the
Americans ?—No; not across the boundary line; they principally deal
with us.

1701. But I want to know about their desire to have communication with
the Americans: have you any proof respecting that 2—I think not; there is
nothing to prevent their having it if they have any desire.

1702. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Do not they like to sell their fars to the best
bidder :—Yes, they go to the best market. ’

1703. Chairman.] And I suppose they would get spirits wherever they could
find them %—Yes, I think they would.

1704. Are the fur-bearing animals on the increase or otherwise, in the Hudson’s
Bay territory, speaking generally ?—1 think towards the southern frontier they
are on the decrease.

0.25. M 1705. Take
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1705. Take the whole together ?—In the northern part of the country we
nurse the country very much, and the country has improved and is much richer
in fur-bearing animals than it was 20 years ago.

1706, Taking it altogether, is the export of furs increasing or decreasing :—
It is larger now than it was at any time within my recollection.

17675, It is the most valuable fur trade in the world, is it not *—I think so.

1708. A great deal larger than the Russian fur trade *—Yes.

1709. Mr. Grogan.] You stated that in the form of the lease of land, one of
the clauses was, that the settler should endeavour to encourage the Christian
religion —Yes.

1710. What is the meaning of that covenant?—I do not know; I do not
recollect the covenant. Perhaps you will draw my attention to it.

1711. You read a passage from one of your land deeds. Mr. Ellice asked
you the conditivns of grants of land to settlers. One of them you said had
relation to efforts on the part of the settler to encourage morality and the
Christian religion *—Y'es. ‘

1712. What meaning do you attach to that covenant :—The covenant ex-
presses it.

1713. Will you read it7—* And for encouraging and promoting general educa-
tion and religious instruction. And that he the said ——, his executors,
administrators, or assigns, shall or will from time to time, and at all times during
the said term, contribute in a due proportion to the expenses of all public
establishments, whether of an erclesiastical, civil, military, or other nature,
including thercin the maintenance of the clergy, the building and endowment
of schools, which are or shall or may be formed uader the authority of the
charter or charters hereinbefore referred to.”

1714. What may be the tax imposed upon the settler?—There is no tax.

t715. Then that covenant is void r—That covenant is void as far as taxation
goes. ' \

1716. There is no contribution imposed upon the settler for anv of the par-
poses stated in that covenant; viz., the mairtenance of the clersy and the
maintenance of schools 2—No, I think not.

1717. In answer to a question a few moments ago by Mr. Roebuck, you s ated
that there were schools established in the country, at the Red River Settlem-=nt,
for instance ?—Yes.

1718. By whom were those schools established  —By the Missionary Soeieties;
the Church Missionary Society and the Wesleyan Missionary Society.

1719. And they are still maintained by them *—They are still maintained by
them, and assisted by the Hudson’s Bay Company.

1720. Will you explain to me the amount of assistance which the Hudson's
Bay Company give them ?—There is a money grant to the Bishop of 300 L. per
annum.

1721. What Bishop ?—The Episcopalian Bishop of Rupert’s Land. There
is 100 /. in aid of schools; there is 156 L to a chaplain at Red River; 50/ at
York ; 507 to 2 chaplain at Moose; 50 L at East Main; 200l in aid of the
schools at Fort Victoria ; to the Roman Catholic Mission at Red River, 10017 ;
to the Roman Catholic Mission at Oregon 100 /. ; on the Gulf of St. Lawrence,
100 guineas ; to the Wesleyan Missionary at Norway-house, 50 L. ; at Oxford-
house, 50(; Rainy Lake, 50/ ; Saskatchewan; 20/.; and the Presbyterian
Chaplain at Red River, 50 1.

1722. With regard to the sums which you have just enumerated, are those
payments out of the proper monies of the Hudson’s Bay Company, or out of any
other fund 2—Out of the funds of the Hudson's Bay Company.

1723. Exclusively :—Exclusively.

1724. If a missionary were dispatched from this country to that district to take
up a location there, would he have a free passage in one of your vessels i—Yes;
they usually get free passages.

1725. Are you sure on that subject >~ do not_recollect that any case has
ever been refused. )

1726. Are you aware of any cases in which f{exght has been charged for
missionaries going to that country in your shipsr—I cannut tax my memory
with that.

1727. In the Parliamentary Paper befure us there is a statement of expendi-
ture
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ture for two passages in a Company’s ship, and travelling expenses 41/ 9s.:
freight, shipping and insurance 81/.; that is charged to the Church Missionary
Society for two persons who were sent out’—Very likely it was so. If it is
stated there the probability is that it was so.

1728. Then how is that recoucileable with the fact which you have just told
us, that there was no charge made #—1 did not say so. I said that [ could not
call to memory whether there was any charge or not; but we are in the habit
of allowing them these salaries.

1729. Are those salaries to these missionaries and clergymen to them as
chaplains or as schoolmasters 7—'T'hey are to them in the double capacity of
chaplains and schonimasters. ,

1730. Is there any requirement upon them on the receipt of such a salary to
keep a school ?7——No, there'is no positive requirement, but they usually do keep
schools, '

1731. Is it entirely optional with them whether they keep a school or not 72—
It is optional as far as we are concerned ; we do not insist upon their keeping
schools. They are under the control of the bishop of the territory, or the
society to which they belong. We exercise no coatrol over them.

1732. Chairman.] 1 think you made an arrangement with the Russian Com-
pany by which you hold under lease a portion of their territory ?—VYes.

1733. I believe that arrangement is that you hold that strip of country which
intervenes between your territory and the sea, and that you give them 1,500 [
a year for it ?— Yes.

1734. What were your objects in making that arrangement ?—To prevent
difficulties existing between the Russians and ourselves ; as a peace offering.

1735. What was the nature of those difficulties %—We were desirous -of passing
through their territory, which is inland from the coast about 30 miles. There
is a margin of 30 miles of coast belonging to the Russians. We had the right
of navigating the rivers falling into the ocean, and of settling the interior
country. Difficulties arose Letween us in regard to the trade of the country,
and to remove all those difficulties we agreed to give them an annual allowance.
I thivk, in the first instance, 2,000 otter skins, and afterwards of 1,500/ a
year.

1736. Before that arrangement was made did you find that spirits got intro-
duced, owing to a sort of competition between your traders and those of the
Russian Company r—Yes ; large quantities of spirits were used previously to
that.

1737. And you found that very injurious :—Yes.

1738. During the late war which existed between Russia and England, I
believe that some arrapgement was made between you and the Russians by
which you agreed not to molest one another ?—Yes, such an arrangement was
made.

1739. By the two companies }—Yes; and Government confirmed the arrange-
ment.

1740. You agreed that on neither side should there be any molestation or
interference with the trade of the different parties *—Yes.

1741. And I believe that that was strictly observed during the whole war ?
—Yes.

1742. Mr. Bell.] Which Government confirmed the arrangement, the Russian
or the English or both 7—Both Governments.

1743. Mr. Grogan.] Did you know or hear of one of the servants of the
company, named John Saunderson :-—No, I do not recollect the name.

1744. Or Peter Walrus ?—No. There are many Saundersons in the service ;
it is a common Orkney name, and we employ a good many Orkney men.

1745. Is it a fact that a distillery has recently been established at the Red
River Settlement 7—There was a distillery erected a good many years ago, but
never put in operation. We have never attempted distillation. By the desire
of the settlers we built a distillery to please them ; but we have never put it in
operation.

1746. Mr. Eduard Ellice.] 1t was stopped by the Company in London, I
believe ?—It was,

1747. ‘Mr. Grogan.] What privileges or rights do thenative Indians possess
strictly applicable to themselves *—They are pertectly at liberty to do what they
please : we never restrain Indians.

0.25. - M 2 1748. Is

Sir G. Simpsan.

2 March 18573.



Sir G. Simpson,

2 March 1857.

92 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFOCRE THE

1748. Is there any difference between their position and that of the half-
breeds ?—None at all. They hunt and fish, and live as they please. They look
to us for their supplies, and we study their comfort and convenience as much as
possible ;* we assist each other.

1749. Lord Stanley.] You exercise no authority whatever over the Indian
tribes ?—None at all.

1750. If any tribe were pleased now to live as the tribes did live before the
country was opened up to Europeans; that is to say, not using any article of
European manufacture or trade, it would be in their power to do so /—Perfectly
50 ; we exercise no control over them.

1751. Mr. Bell.] Do you mean that, possessing the right of soil over ‘the
whole of Rupert’s Land, you do not consider that you possess any jurisdiction
over the inhabitants of that soil >~No, I am not aware that we do. We exer-
cise none, whatever right we possess under our charter.

1752. Then is it the case that you do not consider that the Indians are under
vour jurisdiction when any crimes are committed by the Indians upon the
Whites :—They are under our jurisdiction when crimes are committed upon the
Whites, but not when committed upon each other; we do not meddle with their
wars.

1753. What law do you consider in force in the case of the Indians commit-
ting any crime upon the Whites ; do you consider that the clause in your license
to trade, by which you are bound to transport criminals to Canada for trial,
refers to the Indians, or solely to the Whites ?—To the Whites, we conceive.

1754. Mr. Grogan.] Are the native Indians permitted to barter skins inter se
from one tribe to another 7—Yes.

1755. There is no restriction at all in that respect ?——None at all.

1756. Is there any restriction with regard to the half-breeds in that respect?
—None, as regard dealings among themselves.

1757. Lord Juhn Russell.] Supposing any person was to come from the
United Srates to trade with them, would you interfere ?—We should oppose it
by every meuns in our power, but not by violence.

1758. By what means would you prevent it?—By giving higher prices, or
watching the Indians.

1759. But you would not drive away such a person >~—No.

1760. Mr. Grogan.] Have you ever seized and confiscated the goods of parties
who were trading in that way with the Indiaus?—If it has been done, it has
been of very rare occurrence; I do not recollect the circumstances.

1701. It is stated in these papers that an instance occurred where the goods of
some of the settlers were seized and confiscated on the suspicion that they
were intended for the purpose of trade with the Indians >—It has been of such
rare occurrence that I have not the least recollection of it.

1762. You stated on Thursday that the price of land to a settler was 7 5. 6 d.
an acre r—From 5s. to 7 5. 6 d. an acre.

1763. That is at the Red River Settlement 2—Yes.

1764. Is that price ever exacted ?—Very rarely.

1765. If you practically give the land free, why is it held out to the world
that you demand 7 s. 6 d. :—We consider ourselves proprietors of the soil.

1766. Has the 7 5. 6 d. ever been paid :—1It has been paid.

1707. Lord Stanley.] You claim the right to impose that price, but you do
not impose it in every case *—That is so.

1768. Mr. Edward Ellice.] But inasmuch as it has been the interest of the
Company to settle the land as fast as possible, they have withdrawn from taking
toe price, because they thought it for the Company’s interest :—Yes.

1769. Mr. Grogan.] What amount moy the Company ever have received
from settlers in that way by the sale of land ?—I think from the beginning of
time it does not exceed from 2,000 I to 3,000 /.

770. Within your own government can you say what sum has been re-
ceived —] cannot tell from recollection, but I think under 3,000 /.

1771. In what way was that money applied?—It was the property of the
Company.

1772. It was applied to the general funds of the Company >—Yes; part of
the time it went to the estate of Lord Selkirk ; Lord Selkirk was then the pro-
prietor of the soil. ~
' 1773. 1 asked
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1773. I asked you, within the time that you had been Governor, am I to
understand that the sum of 3,000/. has been received from settlers for the pur-
chase of land ?—Yes. '

1774. Since your own government ?—Since my own government.

1775. Mr. Edward Ellice.] TIs that since the year 1834 ?—I think not so
much since the vear 1834.

1776. Previously to 1834 the Red River Settiement belonged to Lord Selkirk,
did it not ? —Yes.

1777 1t had been sold a long time previously by the Hudson’s Bay Company
to his Lordship for the purposes of colonisation :—Yes. ,

1778. He re-transferred it to the Company in 1834 2—Yes.

1779. And you paid his Lordship for that acquisition i—Yes. |

1780. Mr. Grogan.] You stated that the sum of 3,000Z. had been paid by
settlers for the purchase of land *-—I think so.

1781. To whom was that money paid 7—Partly to Lord Selkirk or the heirs
of Lord Selkirk, and partly to the Company.

1782. Can you say how much was paid to the Company ?—I cannot from
recollection. :

1783. Was there anything paid to the Company 7—Yes.

1784. 100.7—1I think so; more than that.

1785. 1,000 L. r—Perhaps not 1,000/.; or possibly it may be 1,0001.

1786. Did that go into the general funds of the Company, or was it applied
to any other purposei—I think it went into the general funds of the Com-

any.
P 178-. It was not applied in the construction of roads *—No; monies were
given from time to time for the construction or voads.

1788. From the funds of the Company ?—No; from the general funds. There
is an import duty of 4 per cent. chargeable upon all goods imported into the
settlement of Red River. The Hudson’s Bay Company are the principal
importers, and thev pay the largest portion of that duty.

1789. Am T {5 understand that the amount of that duty is expended upon
roads ?—It is expended fer public purposes—roads, and bridges, and schools,
and in various other vsays for public purposes.

1790. Mr. Edwar- Ellice.] Is it the fact that the Company pay 4 per cent.
upon all taeir imports into the colony for that purpose >-—That is the fact.

1791, Mr. Grogan.] Then did the sum which you spoke of as having been
given by the Company to the schools come from this source >—It is without
reference to this source.

1792. Then the money which you have now spoken of derived from the
customs of the country, and being given in aid of schools, is additional to the
sum you bave already mentivned as having been paid by the Company in aid of
schools 2—Yes.

1795. Can yon give the Committee any estimate of what the amount of that
expenditure on roads and public improvements would be ?—No, I cannot. Per-
haps 600!. or 700/, a year.

1794. You described the country about the Ked River as being very pro-
ductive 7—Yes, upon the banks of the river.

1795. But you stated that your impression was that the land beyond a mile
from the river was not so good :—It is not so good.

1796. On what is that opinion based ?—Upon experiment ; trial. It has been
tried and found not good, and discontinued.

1797. Mr. Gludstorne.] 1 did not quite clearly understand you whether the
price of 7s. 6d. per acre or 5s. per acre still purports to be the rule of the
Company —That is the rule of the Company. We sell very little land. Our
sales of land from the beginning of time, I believe, are only from 2,000/ to
3,000 L

1708. But the settlements are very much more considerable than would be
indicated by such a price ?—Decidedly.

1799. In point of fact, then, a very small portion of land bas been sold I—
Very small.

1800, Has a long time elapsed since any price was received for land at the
Red River :—1I think there has been very little inoney received for land at the
Red River for several years.

0.25. M 3 1801." Have
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1801. Have several years elapsed since, in any instance, a price was received
for land to the best of your remembrance ?—If money has been received for lands
it is to a very small amount. If a person retiring from the service expresses a
desire to go to Red River to settle, we say, * In that case vou must become a
purchaser of land.” And he may purchase his 50. acres, and pay down 25 per
cent. upon the amount.

1802. Supposing an application is made for land, what consideration governs
the authorities of the Company in determining whether to sell or whether to
grant >—The means of the parties generally.

1803. If you think them able to buy then vou sell F—Yes.

1804. If you do not think them able to buy then you grant?—They squat ;
we never disturb anybody.

1805. Then you do ot make grants of land !—We give them grants when
they apply for them, but they rarely apply.

1806. Then, do you encourage squatting?—We caanot prevent it.

1307. Do you endeavour or desirc to prevent it>—No ; if the people cannot
afford to pay for land, we cannot interfere with them.

1808. Lord Jokn Russell.] How do you prevent disputes between two squat-
ters >~—We never have any disputes upon the subject ot lands.

1809. Mr. Gladstone.] Is that owing to the abundance of the land *—Yes.

1810. Mr. Adderley.] Are there many squetters?—They are nearly all
squatters

1811, Out of how many ?—The population is 8,000.

1812, Are those 8,000 squatters ?—No; some have paid.

1813. What proportion of the 8,000 do you suppose have paid ?-—The whole
receipts for land, from the beginning of time, are certainly under 3,000 /.

1814. Can you tell us at all, in round numbers, what proporticn of the families
who have settled at the Red River Settlement, have paid for land ? —Nineteen
twentieths have not paid.

1815. How do you reconcile the statements you have just made as to the
mode of disposing of land with your answer to Question 1217, in which you said |
that Jand was granted at sums varying from 5s. to 7s. 6. an acre, not in fee
simple, but under leases of 999 years 7—The parties frequeatly set themselves
down on land without consulting us ; we never disturb them.

1816. I asked you, in Question 1207, «If I wanted to buy land in the Red
River Settlement, upon what terms could I buy it 7 Your answer was, * Five
shillings an acre ?"—Yes.

1817. Am I to uuderstard that if I applied for it for nothing I should get it,
equally 7—If you were to squat, we shouid not, in all probability, disturb you.

1Y 818. You said that free grants were given to those who applied for them?
—Yes.

1819. Squatters do not apply for free grants, do they >—We point out the
situations where they may squat; we do not give them titles unless they make
some arrangement for the payment.

1820. Are we to understand that squatters squat under terms of agreement
with the Company ?—Yes; very frequently.

1821. Mr. Roebuck.] Then why are they called squatters %—A man without
means, coming into the country, says, “I should like to settle there, but I have
not the means of paying;” we say, ‘There is no ‘objection to your settling
there.”

1822, Mr. Adderley.] Are there settlers in the Red River Settlement who
squat without any agreement with the Company ?*—Many.

1823. Am I to understand that a great proportion of what you call squatters
have squatted under an agreement with the Company ?—No.

1824. May we understand distinctly what you mean by the word “squatter "?
— A man who comes and sets himself down upon land without title.

1825. Is it p..ssible that a squatter should settle under distinct terms of under-
standing with the Company, even though he does not pay for his land 7—Yes ;
very likely a man without means would say, *“ Where can I settle?”” We should
point out ascertan district of country which we thought desirable, and the best
situation for settlement.

1826. Are there many squatters in the Red River Settlement who had their
location pointed out by the Company, and who paid nothing for their land ?—
Many.

1827. Is.
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1827. TIs that the case with the majority of them ?—I think the majority of
them have settled themselves down where they liked, and we could not pre-
vent it. ‘

1828, Without asking the Company *-—Yes.

1829. Mr. Bell.] Then you mean that the difference is, that, where they
settle without paying for the land, they have no agreement ?—They have no
agreement.

1830. And they have no title; when they apply for land and pay for it, then
they have a title?’—Yes.

1831. Mr. Adderley.] When the Company assign a territory in the nature of
a free grant, is there anything paid in the way of license duty 7—Nu, nothing.

1832. Do any people settle in the Hudson’s Bay territory upon licenses,
wijhout a payment per acre ~—No, I am not aware that they do.

1833. Mr. Roebuck.] Is that the form under which lands are granted (kanding
an indenture to the witness) >—Yes, 1 think this is it.

1834. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is that the Company’s grant or Lord Selkirk’s
grant 2—This is the Company’s grant. .

1835. What is the date of it :—March, 1844.

1836. Mr. Ruebuck.] Is this indexture the title by which a person holds land
who buys it #—1It is.

1837. Amongst the engagements of the buyer, is there ocpe that he will not
part with any portion of the land ?—The conditions are there; I cannot call to
mind the precise conditions.

1838. Then though you have been 37 years governor of that country, you
do not know the conditions upon which land is granted ?—I have been very
little resident during that time in Red River; there has been usually an officer
in charge of Red River, who is styled Governor of Assiniboia.

1839. Are you aware that this is one of the engagements of the buyer, that
he “shall not nor will at any time during the said term,” which is 999 years,
“ underlet or assign, or otherwise alienate, or dispose, or part with, the actual
possession of the said land hereby demised, or any part thereof, for all or any
part of the said term, or any interes* derived under the same, without the con-
sent in writing of the said Governor ar.d Company for the time being first had
and obtained " ?—Yes ; that is a clause in ir.

1840. Were you aware that that was in the indenture ?—Yes,

1841. So that when a party buys Jand of you he cannot sell one particle of
that land, or even let it *—VYes; but we never object to it.

1842. This is your indenture 7 —Yes ; that is our indenture.

1843. Does. that, in your view, tend to promote the settlement of the
country #— I do not think it can materially affect the settlement of the country.

1844. Do you fancy that depriving a man of the power of alienating any part
of his land, or even underletting it, conduces to the settlement of the country?
—I do not believe that the settlers of the Red River pay much attention to the
terms of their title-deeds.

1845. Do you fancy that preventing a man from underletting, from selling or
parting with any porticn of his interest in the land, conduces to the settiement
of the country r—No; I do not think it does.

1846. Do you think it hinders the settlement *—I think it does not hinder it
in the Red River, because there are no applicants for land.

1847. Mr. Edward Ellice.] With reference to the question which the Chair-
man put to you just now, with regard to the territory beiag colonised, I think
your answer was that you did not consider that the colonisation of any part of
the territory which the Government might think proper to reserve for that
purpose would be prejudical to the fur trade, if the exclusive right was pro-
perly protected *—Yes ; | think it would not be prejudicial.

1848. By the exclusive right being protected you mean the trade of the
Indians being protected ?— The fur trade with the Indians.

1849. With regard to the cases of starvation, I presume that the means of
the Company in supporting the people in the territory very much depend upon
the produce of the buffalo hunt and upon the crops raised at Red River *—Yes,
the produce of the chase and the products at Red River.

1850. Would it be impossible for the Company to undertake to provide for
the general population throughout the country in times of scircity *—Quite
impossible. )

0.25. M4 1851. Mr.
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1851. Mr. Roebuci:.] Do the buffaloes extend to the Aretic circle >—The
prairie buffalo does not; he is confined to the prairies; the musk ox is to be
found in the Arctic circle.

1852. What proportion of the food of the inhabitants is supplied by the musk
ox 7—It is verv small ; it is entirely confined to that part of the country.

1853. In fact, you may put it out of consideration altogether ¢—Yes.

1854. Therefore, your answer that the food of the country chiefly depended
upon buffaloes was not correct ?—The foud of the prairie country is buffalo; the
food of the thickwood country is principally fish.

1855. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Is not pemican almost the staff of life of the ser-
vants of the Company in all parts ?—For transport.

1856. Mr. Roebuck.] What is pemican >—Pemican is a compound of buffalo
meat and tallow ; it is a portable provision, principally used in travelling.

1857. Have you formed any idea of the quantity of pemican which is manu-
factured in that country per annum ?—Perhaps from 2,000 to 3,000 cwt. per
annum ; some years more; sometimes less.

1858. And you have told us that there are 55,000 inhabitants 7—East of the
mountains there are about 55,000 ; of these about 25,000 are Indians living upon
buffalo meat principally, and 30,000 live principally upon fish; that is to say,
fish and rabbits.

1859. Mr. Edward Ellice.] But the means of existence of the servants of the
Company depend upon provisions taken to the different posts frora. other parts *
—Yes, and the fish they are able to collect; they live very much upon fish
throughout the country.

1860. Has that deed which is before the Committee ever, practically speaking,
11\)Ieen made use of by the Company to restrain settlement at the Red River :—

ever.

1861. Mr. Roebuck.] What is the use of the deed, then *—It is so very little
used that it is of no value, in fact; nineteen-twentieths of the people have no
title ; they squat and set themselves down.

1862. Supposing a dozen people were to start from Canada determining to
settle in the Red River Settlement, would they be at all iinpeded by the Com-
pany ?—I think not.

1863. And if instances are brought forward of great impediments being
thrown in the way, you never have heard of them?—There has never been an
ir]xstance to my knowledge ; they squat and set themselves down wherever they

ease.

I_) 1864. Have the Company ever ejected anybody ?—Never to my knowledge.

1865. Mr. Grogan.] If an emigrant, as Mr. Roebuck describes, come from
Canada to the Red River Settlement, and be anxious to purchase a partly-
improved land which some squatter had been upon, would your Company
interfere to prevent the transfer of the land ?—No.

1866. Would it be necessary to ask your permission®—We usually enter all
such transfers in a transfer book when the parties apply; but if they do not
choose to apply to us we cannot delp it.

1867. Is there any fee for that entry 2—None. ‘

1868. Then is not the practical effect of such a deed as has been read to pre-
vent any person taking such a deed from you ?7—I think that it is not.

1869. If a man may squat on the land, and hold undisputed possession of the
part that he squats upon from you or from any one else, and if he may transfer
that land to another person without obstruction, why should he take a deed from
you *~—That other party would not be disposed to pay unless he could have
some title.

1870. Mr. Gladstone.] Then the restriction is operative, if so, is it not; ifa
purchaser from a Red River settler will not be disposed to pay unless a title is
given, and if, in order to make a title, it is necessary, as it plainly must be, to
show the consent of the Company, then the clause requiring the consent of the
Company is an operative clause ?—The cases of the purchase of land are so very
rare that there is scarcely a case in point.

1871. Lord John Russell.] Is that deed ever made use of now, or is it dis-
used '—When parties apply for a deed that is the deed which is given.

1372. Mr. Bell.] Have those settlers who now do not hold a deed applied for

a deed ’—I think not.
1873. You
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1873. You are not aware of any applications having been made by those who
hold without deed >—No; applications are not usually made for deeds; an ap-
plication for a deed is a very unusual thing.

1874. They are satisfied to hold the land without a deed ?—7Yes.

1875. Mr. Grugan.] 1 understood you to explain to us that there was a cer-
tain annual sum received by the Company as duties of customs, viz., four per
cent. ;—Paid by the Company.

1876. To whom '—To the treasury of the Red River.

1377. Is the treasury of the Red River part and parcel of the Company ?
—No. . ’

1878. Isnot the government of the Red River Settlement, and of course the:
treasury, as a part of that government, a part and parcel of the Hudson’s Bay
establishment *—No ; it is in the hunds of the settlers themselves.

1§79. Am 1 to understand you, then, that the Company pay four per cent..
as well as the public :—1hey do.

1880. They paid that amount on all goods imported into the Red River
Settlement to the local municipality of the Red River Scttlement ?— Yes,,
decidedly.

1881. Which money is employed in local improvements >—Yes.

1882. Is there any establishment by the Company or Ly the Red River
- Settlement, whereby if a settler wished to send a letter, for instance, he could
do it >—There is a postal communication through the United States.

1883. How is it to get there?—1lhe United States are close upon the
border.

1884. How many miles is it :——About 50 miles ; there is constant communi-
cation with the frontier. _

1885. If therefore a letter written at Assiniboia finds its way to the frontier-
of the United States, the United States take care of that letter and will forward
it to its destination as far as it goes through their territories 7 —-Yes.

1886. Mr. Edward Ellice.] There is a regular post, is not there:—-Yes,
twice a month.

1887. Mr. Grogan.] Who maintains that regular mail ?—The United States
Government.

1888. Is there any wail or post, or despatch of any kind, maintained by the
Hudson's Bay Company in their territories >—There are several expresses in
the course of the season.

1889. Is there any mail or post or despatch maintained by the Hudson's
Bay Company for the accommodation of the settlers or the public ?—Yes,
there is.

1890. Will you describe it :— By canoe during the season of open water, and
I think there are three or four expresses in the interior in the course of the
winter.

1891. In the event of a settler wishing to send letters or anything of that
sort by those despatches, can he do so >—Decidedly.

1892. Is he charged for it ?—There is a very small charge: I forget what.

1893. But he is charged for it >—There is something, 1 thiuk.

1894. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1s there a regular post maintained by the settlers.
between Red River and Pembina ’—No, there is no regular post; at least I am
not aware that there is.

1895. Mr. Roebuck.] 1 have a letter in my hand which is to the following
effect: “ My dear Sir,—As by the new regulation regarding the posting of
letters, it will be necessary that Mr. McLaughlin should send up his letters
open for my perusal, a thing which cannot be agreeable to him, will you have
the goodness to tell him that in his case I shall consider it quite sufficient his
sealing the letters in my presence without any perusal on my part, and for that
purpose I shall call in at your house to-morrow evening. Lelieve me, &c.,
R. Lane.” ‘lhat is dated 29th December 1844 >—It was quite unauthorised.

18y6. Who was Mr. Lane :(—Mr. Lane was a clerk then in the service of the
Company.

1597. What does he mean by the new regulation ; he says, “as by the new
regulation regarding the posting of letters” ?—It was no regulation of the
Company.

0.25. N 1898. Do
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1808. Do you mean to say that there was no regulation ¢ —~ There was no
regulation within my recollection ; there may have been a local regulation.

1899. Do you mean to say that you, being guvernur of that territory, if that
was a regulation, you are ignorant of it >—Yes ; there was no regulation to that
effect that I recollect. I was governor of that country, and superintendent of
the whole of the affairs of that country, but there was a local governor, who
conducted the affairs of the district of Assiniboia.

1900. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1 think we have had it hefore in evidence that
the government of Assiniboia comprises the settlement of Red River; that
there is a separate governor there, who resides there, and who governs all
things within a radius of 50 miles: the colony being a settlement of itself, and
there being a separate council >—1Yes. \

1901, Mr. Roebuck.] Do you know a person of the name of R. Lane ?—Yes;
he was a clerk in the Company’s service a good many years ago.

1902. Where was he a clerk :—He was at Red River.

1903. Do you know his writing ; will you look at that (kanding the Letter to
the Witness) ?—1 think it is very likely that this may be his writing ; 1 eannot
prove his writing.

1904. Did you know a person of the name of Andrew M‘Dermot ?*—Yes.

1905. So that there was a person of that name ?—There is a person of that
name now in the settlement.

1906. The letter there is written by a clerk of the Hudson’s Bay Company to
a person whom you know to have resided in that part of the world *—Yes.

1907. And that letter speaks of a set of new regulations, of which you know
nothing 2—Of which I am not aware unless my memory be refreshed upon the
subject. :

1g08. The letter speaks of new regulations, of which regulations you know
nothing —Very likely ; I do not know unless my memory be refreshed upon
the subject; I was very likely not in the settlement at the time.

1909. That is not an answer. Iask you, do you know anything of those!
regulations *—No, I do not; at least I cannot call them to mind.

1910. Mr. Gladstone.] This letter, purporting to be written by a person who
was a clerk of the Company, and resident in the country, and written to another
person, with whose name you are also acquainted as being that of a resident in
the country, do you think it is likely that there were such regulations as are
alluded to in the letter >-—I think it is very likely that there were such
regulations, but they were not continued for any time; they were, very likely,
disallowed.

1911. Apart from this letter, did you ever hear in the course of your expe-
rience of any regulation in force within the Hudson’s Bay Company’s territories
under which it was required, or under which the Company had the power to
read the private letters of individuals 2—Never. I never knew an instance.

1912. Supposing there was such a regulation as i here mentioned by Mr.
Lane, by whom would that regulation be made r-~ Very likely by the Council or
the Company's principal representative for the time being at Red River, but
it would be disallowed forthwith. .

1913. Could such a regulation, that is to say, a regulation to the effect that
the letters of residents must be perused by the authorities of the Company, be
made by any local officer of the Company upon his own responsibility 7—
1 think not.

1914. Then are you at a loss to conceive how such a regulation as this
could have been made at all 7—I am quite at a loss; I am not aware of the
regulation.

1915. Could such a regulation be made by the Governor and Council 7—Of
Assiniboia it might; but it is not likely to have been continued ; it would not
have been continued.

1916. Would the Governor and Council of the colony have been competent
to make such a regulation ?—Yes; but I think it would have been disallowed
by the Company forthwith.

1917. Mr. Roebuck.] Disallowed where —At home.

1918, How long would it take to send from there home —A very few

montlhs,
1919. Then
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1919. Then that is different from your answer to me, that it would take three
years >—No; [ never made such an answer.

1920. ‘Mr. Gladstone.] Do you consider that the Governor and Council of
Red River would have been legally competent to make such a regulation if they
had thought fit :—I think not.

1921. Mr. Grogan.] I think you told us, that a letter which should find its
way to th(;’ frontier, to Pembina. could be despatched thence through the United
States =—Yes.

1922. At the expense and cost of the United States Government ?—VYes.

1925. Is there any provision made by the Governor and Council of Assini-
boia for the transmission of a letter from Assiniboia itself to the froutier 1
think pot. .

1924. The distance, you said, was about 60 miles >—About 50 miles.

1925. Is it once a week. or once a month, or once in'a season: or how often
is it that the mail in the United States part of the territory is despatched ?—
Once a fortnight.

1926. And yet there is no provision by the Governor and Council of Assi-
niboia for transmitting a letter regularly to the frontier at all%—No; at least I
am not aware that there is.

1927. I asked you a general question, whether there was any post or despatch
by which letters could be sent through the Hudson’s Bay territory, maintained
by the Government, and you said that there were canoes and boats occasion-
ally =—VYes. .

1928. Do those expresses, or canoes, start periodically :—They do.

1920. When >—Two or three times in the course of the season of open water,
and I think once a month (at least it was so when the troops were there) during
the winter ; not so frequently now.

1930. What do you call the period of open water ~ From the month of May
until the month of October.

1931. That is four months *—Five months.

1032. Then there are opportunities of sending letters two or three times
during the fine season *—Yes.

1933- And once a month during the bad season ?—I am not sure that the
mail is continued so frequently as once a month during the winter.

1934. Do you know how often it is sent; my object is to ascertain the
exact information as to what means of communication, sending letters for
instance, exist in the Hudson’s Bay territory =—Through the United States
regularly. ‘

1935. 1 do not ask as to the United Stutes >—The time occupied from Red
River to the Sault St. Mary, where there is the first regular communication, is
so long, that parties will not be disposed to send their letters in that way: for
instance, they would send them by the United States.

1936. Would that arise from the uncertainty in the means of sending them *
—The uncertainty and the length of time occupied in conveying the letters.

1937. 1 see in your evidence you state that you have travelled from Fort
William, at the head of Lake Superior to Assiniboia. about 40 times *—Yes, 1
think so.

1938. Of course you know that road remarkably well?—Yes, pretty well.

1930. Are there steamboats which now navigate to Fort William, on the
head of the lake, from Canada®— No; there is no regular steamboat commu-
nication. Steamboats have passed round on pleasure excursions.

1940. Do they go periodically ?—No.

104:. If it were stated that they went once a week regularly, would it be
correct >—It is not the case. o X

1942. Are there steamboats of any nation that traverse the lahe periodically -
—On the south-west side of the lake, the American side of the lake, there are
steambcats which pass, I think, once or twice a week ; on the north-east side
of the lake there is no traffic; there is no communication. o

1043. With those boats passing once or twice a week, as you describe it,
where is the uttermost limit of their journey on the lakei—I cannot exactly
tell you the port on the west side of the lake.

1944. Do they go up to Fort William ?— Certainly not.

0.25. N 2 1945. Mr
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1945. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Do they go beyond Fort William:—No, they
do not go near Fort William.
1946. You mean that they keep to the west of Fort William 2—Yes.

1947. Mr. Bell.] Do they go to the River St. Louis*—I am not aware that
they do; I think not.

1948. Mr. Grrogan.] Have you ever read a work called ¢ Minesota,” by Mr.
Oliphant ’—No.

1949. I think it was published in 1845. If he stated that he went in a
steamboat which traversed that distance in the territory up to the River St.
Louis, you do not know whether that would be correct or incorrect ?*—That
would be out of our reach; it is perfectly possible. If he says so I should
suppose it to be correct. ‘

1950. What is the distance from Fond du Lac, at the River St. Louis, to the
Kamenistiquoia, where Fort William is:—One hundred or one hundred and
twenty miles.

1951. You have no reason to doubt that steamboats travel two or three
times a week up to that district >—1I think it very likely.

1952. And yet there is no facility made or contemplated for the transmission
of letters through the Hud. on’s Bay territory, by the Hudson’s Bay Company,
for the settlers from that place, to meet those boats?—None ; not through the
United States; availing ourselves of the United States communication.  You
are talking of the west side of the lake; I am talking of the east side of the
lake ; we keep op the east side of the lake; we have no steam communication
on the lake.

1953. Mr. Edward Lllice.] Would not the shortest route for a letter be by
Pembina and St. Paul's to this country :—Decidedly.

1954. Mr. Grogan.] In the Parliamentary Papers, under the date of the
23d of April 1849, at page 58, there is the following passage: ¢ Mr. Dunn’s
book was written with the same view as his letters to the ¢ Times' newspaper,
namely, to draw the attention of this country to the value of Oregon, and the
encroachments which the Americans made. Neither bis disposition nor his
temperament admitted of his telling the whole truth. Had he written his book
himself, and had he not been compelled, according to his own statement, to
burn his journal at Fort Vincouver by a regulation of the Company prohibiting
their servants from retaining any record of what passes in the country, his
History of Oregon would be far more valuable than it is.” What regula-
tion of the Company is it which prohibits their servants from keeping any
journal or record of what passes in the country }—There never was any such
regulation in my time. It is the first time I ever heard of it.

1955. I presume you have seen these papers—1I have not seen them.

1956. Are there any limitations whatsoever imposed by the Company, on
their servants of any class, with regard to keeping a journal:—None; I never
lreard of any restriction in any shape, directly or indirectly; they write what
they please, and send it as they please.

1957. Mr. Adderiey.] Did you ever hear of Mr. Dunn’s journal being burnt ?
~—1I never did. :

1958. Or destroyed ?—I never heard of it.

1959. Mr. Gordon.] I wish to ask you a few questions in continuation of
those which I put to you on Thursday with.respect to the Red River Settle-
ment. I think you said that one of the causes which rendered the Red River
unsuitable, in your opinion, for settlement, was the prevalence of great floods
there 2—Yes; the prevalence of floods and of droughts.

1960. What is the length of country into which the Red River Settlement
extends along the river?—About 80 miles; perhaps not quite so much as 80
miles.

1961. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1 think you said 50 the other day F— Yes.

1962." Mr. Gordon.] Ts the whole of that length of the river equally subject
to floods ?—The whole of that country has been overflowed in my recol-
lection.

1963. Am I to understand you to say that the whole of that 50 miles is
equally subject to be devastated by extensive floods 7-—Not equally so; because
the lower grounds are more subject to flood than the higher grounds.

1y6q. Is
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1064. Ts not the lower part of the river, near Fort Garry, more elevated
than the upper part, and therefore less subject to floods ?—The lower part is
more elevated than the upper part.

1965. And therefore less subject to floods -~—Yes.

1966. Is there a marked difference between the two in that respect?—Not a
marked difference; perhaps eight or ten feet.

1967. Has the district of the Grand Rapids ever been covered by floods ?—
No.
1968. That is free from floods ?—Yes; that is at a great distance from Red
River.

19tig. Mr. Edward Ellice.] How far is it 7—I should think from 200 to 300
miles ; it is the Grand Rapid of Lake Winnipeg ; it is the outlet of the Saskat-
chewan River.

1970. Mr. Gordon.] Is there not a place upon the Red River iermed the
Grand Rapid —There is a place upon the Red River termed the Kapids of the
Red River; but there is a place known in the country as the Grand Rapid,
which is the Grand Rapid of Lake Winnipeg ; the outlet of the Saskatchewan
River.

1971. I meant upon the Red River; is that subject to floods *—The bank at
the Rapid is a few feet higher, perhaps 10 or 15 feet higher, than in many
other parts of the stream. _

1972. Does not that objection apply chiefly, if not only, to the upper part of
the river, and not to the lower part of the river /—The bank at the Rapids is
higher, and thence down towards the lower establishment.

1975. Is that equally liable to be overflowed with the upper part 3>-—~No ; the
ground is rather higher. ‘

1974. Then I suppose that is more favourable for cultivation and settlement?
—One part of the population prefer the upper district of country ; for instance,
the Canadians prefer the upper part above the junction of the Assiniboine
River.

1975. Notwithstanding the floods >——Notwithstanding the floods. The Orkney
half-caste population prefer the lower end of the stream.

1976. The chief nart of the settlement is in a district of about 20 miles long;
is it not?— About 50 miles in length.

1977- Has it ever been wholly covered by floods *——Yes, I think so, except-
ing the higher spots, which form islands in seasons of flood.

1978. Has any attempt ever been made to improve the banks of the river to
prevent those floods —Never.

197g. Why not ?—Because the means of the country could not by possibility
admit of it.

1080. The banks are not susceptible of improvement >—Not at all.

1981. The settlement is on both sides of the river, is it not ?—It is.

1982. Has any attempt ever been made to establish a communication between
them by means of a bridge or otherwise?—No ; there is 2 ferry in use.

i983. What is the average width of the Red River :—The average width
below the forks is about one-sixth of a mile perhaps.

1984. What is the width of the Mississippi at St. Paul's %—Not quite so wide,
I think, or about the same width.

1985. You are aware, I suppose, that at St. Paul’s there is a large suspension
bridge *—1 am not aware that there is ; there was none when I passed there.

1956, St. Paul's is a settlement of much more recent date than the Red
River *—Yes.

1987. And they have now a large bridge >—There was no bridge when 1 was
at Sr. Paul's. ,

1988. Why has no attempt ever been made in the nature of a communication
by. bridge at the Red River %—The cost would be too large; there is no traffic
and no population to justify such an outlay.

1989. Have any of the smaller streams been bridged over by the Company ?
—Yes, many of the smaller streams, especially in the settlement ; they have
been bridged out of the funds of the settlement.

1990. Have the Company done anything to make roads in the settlement ?
—They have contributed their share of the duties of four per cent. upon all
1mports.

0.25. N 3 1991. And
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Sir G. Simpson. 1901. And with that have they made roads themselves ?~—With that the

- settlers have made roads.

2 March 1ii57. 1992. About what number of miles of roads, should you say, have been made
under the authority of the Company *—The Company make no roads.

1993. Mr. Edward Ellice.] They pay for their being made:—They con-
tribute their share of the tax.

1994. Mr. Gordon.] You mentioned in your evidence on Thursday. ¢ The
Company allow the interest of the day, I think it is four per c.nt, to any
parties who may choose to leave their money in their hands, or they will pay
their balances as they accrue, from year to year, as they may desire.” Does
that apply only to the servants of the Company, or does it extend to any of the
settlers in the Red River —The servants of the Company.

1995. Is there anything in the nature of a hank established for the settlers:
~—There is no bank.

1996. Then what do the settlers do with their money :—7The settlers have
their own agents in England whom they employ ; a few of them. I think, leave
their money in the hands of the Company; they are retired servants. :

1997. Mr. Kinnaird.] In question 1009, put by the Chairman, you were
asked, “ Do you ever encourage the Indians to resort to agriculture, under any
cifcumstances ?" and your answer was, ““ Always ; we have encouraged them by
every means in our power.” Will you kindly state to the Committee some of
the means which have been used :—By giving them agricultural implements,
free of charge, and seed of various kinds ; seed wheat, seed potatoes.

1698. Without charge for the land >—Without charge for the land.

1999. That has been done in the different Indian settlements:—7Yes; in
several parts of the country.

2000, There is every facility given ?—Every facility.

200i. With reference to question 1102, with regard to the education and
Christian instruction of the Indians, are we to understand that the Company
have adopted no means for the education of the 55,578 Indians from whom.
they receive their furs, and whose land they claim; I do not refer to the half-
caste, but to the positively Indian population :—Over 25,000 of that Indian
population we have no control ; namely, the Plain tribes. They wander from
the Missouri to the banks of the Saskatchewan ; they are a bold, warlike people,
over whom we have no control.

2002, That is a part of themi ; with respect to those who hunt for you, you
use no means for their instruction :—There are religious missions in various

. parts of the country.

2003. You comuribute a very small sum, but that is for them to minister to
your own stations and factories, not as missionaries 7—Yes.

2004. You give no specific help for the [ndians:—-The country is so pour
that they cannot form settlements: the wissions must be immediately in the
neighbourhood of the establishments.

2005, Arc we to understand that the Company give no aid specifically for

’ the instruction of the Indian children to the missionary societies who have
voluntarily undertaken it :-—We are very anxious to give the Indian children
imstruction ; but the Indians will not give up their children.

2006. Then you would give assistance to schools and missionaries for that
purpose, although you have not done it at present *—Yes.

2007. Have you taken any means of getting books of education, either in
the Roman or syllabic character, for the population >~ "he missionary societies
have sent out books from time to time.

2008. Al their own expense *—At their own expense.

2000. With no assistance from yourselves for that purpose *—I am not
aware that therc has been any.

2010. Can you tell me of any case where you have centributed for school-
rooms for the benefit of the Indians?—We are quite ready to receive Indian
children at our own establishments when ther can be obtained.

2011, I do not see any record of any contributions out of the funds of the
Company for the erection of these schools :—There is no immediate outlay con-
nected with the ercction of schouls at any of our establishments. We have a
regular establishment of people who do all the work about the establishment;
they build houses and erect schools, and whatever else may be necessary.

2012, At York, have you un cvening school, conducted by one of the Com-

. pany’s
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pany’s servants during the winter, for the benefit of the Indians and others
resident at the fort *—VYes.

2013. Was that forined under the direction of the Company ?—Yes.

2014. Is that carried out at any other station ?—1I think at Norway House,
and at all the establishments where there are missions.

2015. Do you assert that there are evening schools conducted at the expense
of the Company : —There is no expense connected with it. At the different
establishments where there arc missionaries we promote education by every
means in our power.

2010. It would be very easy to enforce this at all the stations, would it not ?
—Not to enforce it, but to encourage it.

2017. And yvou would do so ™—Yes, we would do so.

0(}18 Mr. Roebuck.] Is there a licence to freight goods granted by the Com-
pany ! Supposing that I, being a settler at the Red River Settlement, wanted
to freight goods to London, is there not a licence granted by the Hudson's Bay
Company to enable me to do so 7—No, 1 am uot aware that there is. We
freight all goods that come to us if there is room in our shipping.

2010. 1 Will read vou a copy of a licence to freight goods. It is signed by
a Company’s officer; it is signed ‘¢ Alexander Chmtle chief chtor of the
Honourable Hudson’s Bay Comp'my “I hereby license — , of Red
River Settlement, to carry on the business of a freighter between Red River
Settlement aforesaid and Y ork Factory. Provided, however, that this licence
shall be null and void for every lerral purpose from this d'lte if he traffic
in anything whatever beyond the Fmits of the said settlement, excepting
in so far as he may do so under any municipal regulation, or if he traffic
in furs within Rupert’s Land or without, or if he usurp any privilege whatever
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, or if he become, or continue to be the employer,
or the ageut or the partner of any person who may traffic or usurp, or may
have tratficked or usurped as aforesaid, or of any such person’s debtor. Given
at Fort Garry this 29th day of J uly 1845, Alc.z'(mde) Christie, Chief Factor
of the Honourable Hudson’s Bay Company.” Are you aware of any such
documents as this (the same being shown to the Witness) i—1 am not aware of
them. I do not think this is Mr. Christie’s writing, and I never heard of the
regulation.

2020, I think you are or have been governor of Rupert’s Land. In 1845,
were you at the Red River Settlement 7—It is very likely 1 was there in 1845
I do not exactly recollect.

2021. You had a council there, I suppose ?—Yes, in all probability.

’022 That council was held on the 10th of June >—Very likely.

2023. I see that you passed certain resolutions at that time ; have those reso-
lutions been allowed or disallowed —If you will allow me to see the resolutions
I may have some recollection of them. I cannot exactly call them to mind.
We pass resolutions for our own operations.

2024. You do not bear in mind whether any of those resolutions were dis-
allowed or not 7—I think the Company did disallow some of our resolutions,
but 1 forget exactly what they wcre. c

2025 Will you 1)e kind enough to inform us why, amongst yonr re~olut10ns
you resolved this, “ That all other imports from the United Kingdom for the
aforesaid settlement shall, before delivery, pay at York Factory a duty of 20
per cent. on their prime cost, provided, however, that the governor of the
settlement be hereby authorised to exempt from the same all such importers, or
any of them, from year to year, as can be reasonably believed by him to have
neither trafficked in furs themselves since the 8th day of December 1844, nor
enabled others to do so by ﬂle*rallx or improperly supp13 ing them with tr adm«r
articles of any description.” Do you recollect passing any such resolution as
that >—I do not recollect such a resolution ; it may have been so.

2026. In your present view of the matter, do you think that that would con-
duce to the settlement of the country :—I think it would not.

2027. Therefore, if passed at that time, it would have opposed the settlement
of the country >—~No; I do not think it would have materially affected the
settlement of the countly

2028. Not prohibiting the importation of guods, except upon a duty of 20
per cent., and that from the United Kingdom ?-~I do not recollect that it was
-ever enforced.

0.23. N 4 2029. Laws
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2020. Laws are made to be enforced >~—But I do not think that was.

2030. Mr. Ldward Ellie.] Is it so now :—Certainly not.

2031. Has it ever been so in your recollection >-—Not in my recollection. I
never recollect to have heard it.

2032. If such a rule had existed, would it not have been solely for the protec-
tion of the fur trade :—Decidedly.

2033. Mr. Gladstone.] How can you be very certain that that regulation is
not in force now; if it appears to have been in force at one time without your
knowledge, how do you know that it may not be in force without your know-
ledge still :—1 do not think it ever was in force.

2034. Mr. Roebuck.] You do not deny that it has been in force *—I do not
deny it. I have no recollection of it. 1t was disallowed"if so.

2035. Mr. Edward Ellice.] But you say that if passed, it has not been en-
forced as against the importers :—No.

2036. Lord Stanley.] You would have known if any action had been taken
upon it >—I should have known as a matter of course.

2047. Mr. Gladstone.] On the subject of the import duty which is paid by the
Co;_npzmy, I think vou stated that it was paid to the Treasury of the Red River ?
—Yes.

2038. Is it expended under the direction of the Governor, or of the Governor
and Council 2—The Governor and Council.

2039. To whom do they render an account of the expenditure ?—There is an
officer called the Head of the Board of Works; he takes the entire management
of the fund, and an account is submitted to the Council at the close of each
season.

2040. Who appoints the officer of the Board of Works?—The Council do.

2041. Isthe money paid to the Council and by them handed to this officer, or
what is the course through which it goes ? —The officer draws upon the establish-
ment ; we are the bankers; the funds are usually left in the Company’s hands ;
the proper officer draws upon the Company from time to time for such funds as
may be required.

2042. Is the import duty paid to the Company or some officer of the Com-
pany for account of the Governor and Council of Red River —For safe keeping,
it is paid into the Company's hands. .

2043. Tt is paid into the Company’s hanas, but merely by way of deposit >—
Merely by way of deposit.

2044. Then if I understand rightly, the Company hold it, subject to be drawn
upon by the officer of the Governor and Council of Red River 7—Yes.

2045. Does that officer, by authority of the Governor and Council, draw the
money *— Yes, at pleasure.

2040. And he renders an account of thc money and expenditure to the
Governor and Council :—Yes.

2047. Then the Hudson’s Bay Company hear nothing of the money, and
know nothing of the mode of its expenditure ?—Not further than that they
have to pay their quota. . .

2048. But after payment they have no further concern with that money at
all *—No.

2049. It is disposed of by the Governor and. Council of the Red River
Settlement, or under their authority, just as much as it would be if the colony
were a frec and open colony :— Decidedly.

2650, Mr. Roebuck.] Ihe Governor of the Red River Settlement is appointed
by the Hudson's Bay Company, is not he 3-—Yes. . .

2051. Mr. Gludsione.] 1 believe the Governor and Council are both appointed
by the Hudson's Bay Company, and likewise hold office during pleasure :—
Yes.

2052. Mr. Edward Ellice.] But the money is actually expended?—The
money is expended decidedly. .

2033. Lord Stanley ] You were asked .\vhether you had done anything for
the improvement of the navigation ; 1 will now ask you whether there is any
trade with the western couutry which would justify a large expenditure upon
navigation >—None ; there is no trade which would justify an outlay.

2054. Is there any trade at the present time which may not be effectually
and satisfactorily carricd on in canoes ?—Between Canada and the interior the

trade that is conducted from Canada must be entirely by canoe; but the com-
munication.
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munication with England is by boat from York Factory and Moose Factory, the
two depOts upon the coast, _

2055. 1 was referring to the Red River, and that part of the country:—
With Canada the communication must be hy canoe. With England by boat to
the coast.

2056. You have been asked questions with regard to the appliances of
education and civilization which you have provided for the Indian tribes. Have
you ever considered yourselves as a Company charged with the education or

civilization of those tribes 7—No, we do not consider vurselves charged as a
" Company, but we contribute nevertheless.

2057. If I understand your former evidence rightly, you have no control
over those tribes, except that of being able to exclude other traders from the
country 2—None.

2058, Are you well acyuainted with the country to the west of the Rocky
Mountains — Yes; I have travelled through that country repeatedly.

2050. Are you able to form any opinion as to how much of it, or whether
any of it, is fit for colonization ; I speak of the mainland ; not of Vancouver’s
Island 7—Very little of it I think is fit for settlement und colonization north of
49e, from the rugged character of the country; it is an exceedingly rugged and
mountainous country.

2060. Do you mean by that, that the soil is unfit for culture, or that there
are no means of transport to the sea ?—There are patches of soil near the rivers
in certain localities where agriculture might be carried on upon a small scale ;
but generally speaking, the country is exceedingly wild and rugged and
mountainous north of 49°.

2061. What are the winters there; are they severe?—The winters are not
so severe as east of the Rocky Mountains.

2062. Assuming the soil to be suitable, is it probable that wheat crops would
not ripen in that country ?—I think they would not; there is too much
moisture ; it is exceedingly humid.

2063. Have any experiments been made in the neighbourhood of the forts
there At Fort Langley there have been experiments made, and grain has
been raised upon a very small scale ; potatoes are very abundant; and likewise
further north.

2064. In the event of colonization being attempted there, is it likely that any
difficulty would arise as regards the Indians :—The Indians are very warlike
and very numerous, and I think they might be troublesome to settlers in the
first instance, until they were sufficiently numerous to protect themselves.

2005. The Company has had more trouble with them west of the mouatains
than in the east #—Much more trouble. They are difficult of management.

2066. Ithink about two-thirds of the whole Indian population reside west of the
mountains >—1I think about 80,000; the whole population being about 139,000.

2067. Therefore on account of those tribes, putting other difficulties out of
the question, there are only some parts of the country where it would be
possible for settlers to establish themselves ~—-Yes.

2068. They could not do so in small numbers or at outlying posts i—-They
could not.

2069. In the event of any part of that western territory being constituted a
colony apart from the Hudson’s Bay Company, would it be easy to mark
a boundary, so that the estabiishment of a colony there should not interfere
with the exclusive rights of the Company*—I think there is no room for
a colony of any extent north of 49°, upon the west side of the mountains.
The character of the country is exceedingly rugged.

2070. In the event of any portion of the territories being set apart for
purposes of colonization as a colony independent of the Company to the west
of the Rocky Mountains, would there be any difficulty in so defining the
boundary of such a colony as to prevent any disputes or difficulties with regard
to the point at which the rights of the Company terminated >— You mean the
British territory I presume north of 49°.

2071. I mean, of course, the British territory ?—I think there is no portion
of that country north of 49° adapted for settlement.

2072. Mr. Roebuck.] That is not the question ; the question is, whether there
are any means of marking out the boundaries of the colony, suppusing that a
colony should be determined upon; supposing it should be determined to make
a colony west of the Rocky Mountains, taking the southern boundary to be

0.25. 0 _ the
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the boundary between it and the United States and the eastern boundary,
the Rocky Mountains, is there any possibility of finding a northern boundary ?—
I do not know of any other meuns of finding it than determining it by observation.
The country is not so marked in its character as to form any boundary.

2073. There is no river ?—There is no river.

2074. With respect to the climate, you say that you have travelled in that
country ; is not the climate of America, on the west of the Racky Mountains,
similar, in point of fact, to that of Europe, in the same latitude?—I think
there is more moisturc on the shores of the Pacific than upon ihe eastern side.

2075. That is not my question; my question is, whether taking latitude for
latitude in Europe, and on the west of the Rocky Mountains in America, the
climate in the same latitude is not the same>*—I have been such a length of
time out of England, that I scarcely recollect what the climate is. )

2076. I am not talking of England; I am talking of Europe :—1I cannot tell.

2077. We will speak of the climate of Vancouver’s Island; do you know
that >—Not well.

2078. Is not it a fine climate *—It is a very good climate, I believe.

2079. It will grow pretty nearly anything, will not it >—On the southern part
of the island.

2080. It will grow wheat *-—Yes; on the southern side of tbe island.

2081. And on the northern too?—The northern is a rugged, mountainous
country, where you can grow nothing.

2082. But it would not be prohibited by climate?---There is a great deal of
moisture ; there are torrents of rain.

2083. So there is in England ?—1I think there is more on the west side of the
mountains than in England.

2084. Lord John Russell.] Is the quantity of moisture such as to prevent the
culture of wheat ?2—It is such as to prevent the ripening of grain, I think.

2085. Mv. Edward Ellice.] But at Fort Vancouver, on the Columbia, in the
Oregon, are there very fair crops>—Yes; never productive crops; we used to
look upon a return of ten or twelve, as very fair crops for Oregon.

2086. With reference to Fort Langley, which is near the southern boundary
of the British territory, and where there is a fort, I think you said the other day,
that there were about 100 square miles of level ground there *—Yes, I think so.

2087. Could not a colony be planted there 2—It might be.

2088. Is there any thing remarkable in the climate there different from what
it is in Vancouver’s Island ?7—1I believe there is more moisture.

2089. Nearer the mountains 7— Yes.

2090. Mr. Grogan.] You are making a comparison between Fort Langley and
Vancouver’s Island 2—Yes.

2091. You say that there is rather more moisture at Fort Langley *—Ves.

2092. Does the thermometer show any difference in the temperature ?—The
further north we go, the degree of cold is greater.

2003. I am speaking of those two situations ?—Yes ; the one is in 50°, and
the other is in 46}°. (a)

2094. Practically, is the heat there very great in summer:—In the Columbia it is.

2095. In the part called Caledonia, there is the Columbia River; that is on
the west side of the Rocky Mountains *— Yes.

2096. I am not speaking now of the American territory, but of the British
above 49°. Is the heat in that part of the country very great in summer *—
Not very great.

2097. I perceive that in the account of your travel, speaking of Fort Colvile,
yot;_ speak of its being an cxceedingly productive, and well circumstanced place?
—Yes.

2008. And that what you describe as a fine season is a damp season 7—Yes.

2099. That is owing to the great heat which prevails below 49°?-—The great
drought, the great length of time they are without rains, they are weeks and
months together without rains.

2100. Docs the same observation apply to the land immediately above 49°?2
—Upon the coast there is more moisture than inland.

2101. 's the quantity of moisture sufficient to destroy the ripening of the
grain —Yes, I think so; in some seasons I think it is likely.

2102, But

(@) ‘This answer hed reference to Fort Vancouver, on the Columbia River.
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2102. But as a general rule?—As a general rule I think the great meisture
would materially affect the crops.

2103. What mauy be the distance of Fort Colvile south of the 49th degree of
latitude, the boundary *—T think Fort Colvile is about 48 or 49 degrees.

2104. About one degree southward of the boundary }—VYes.

2105. Do vou consider that the difference of one degree would make such a
difference in the temperature of the place ’—There is more moisture on the
coast than inland.

2106. Fort Colvile is not on the coast— No, it is inland.

2107. I want to draw a comparison between Fort Colvile and the same land
on the British side of the boundary. What circamstances exist to make a dif-
ference in the climate and the adaptability for colonization of the two places :—
The climate west of the mountains is warmer, I think, than in the same parallel
east.

2108. Would not that part of the British dominions north of the 49th degree
of latitude, but in the same parallel of longitude with Fort Colvile, be equally
adapted for colonization as Fort Colvile itself*~——No ; tihe climate of the west
side is warmer, there is much more heat. but very little level land.

2109. Supposing a colony were planted on the 49th degree of latitude, quite
close to Fort Colvile, on the Columbia River, what circumstances exist which
would prevent that colony so planted being equally well favoured aud well
circumstanced as Fort Colvile itself 7—I do not see that it would be materially
prevented. I am not aware of any circumstances which should cause it.

211v0. Then would this description in your judgment apply to it, * Cattle
thrive well, while the crops are abundani. The wheat, which weighs from 63
to G51bs. a bushel, yvields 20 or 30 returns. Mlaize also flourishes, but does not
ripen till the month of September. Potatoes, pess, oats, barley, turnips, melons,
and cucumbers, are plentiful.” That is the description which you give of
Fort Colvile :—Yes.

2111. And you do not see any circumstances which would preveut a colony
on the British territory opposite Fort Colvile being so well favoured >~—No; the
climate is not so warm.

2112. Therefore it would, in your opinion, hold out equal inducements as
regards the ripening of grains and fruits as Fort Colvile itseif?—No. 1 think
the climate of the Pacific is more favourable to cultivation than the same
parallel on the east side.

2113. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1 suppose if a population were found to want a
settlement of that kind, and chose to go there, they could raise crops very well
for their own support >—On either the one side or the other, I think ; on either
side of the mountains.

2114. Mr. Grogan.] Have any attempts ever been made to establish a
colony, or any settlement at all to the eastward of Fort Garry on the Assini-
boine, up Lake Winnipeg, Rainy Lake, or in that district:—No attempt has
been made to form a settlement at Rainy Lake.

2115. Or to the eastward of it 7—To the westward there may have been a few
settlers at Manitobah, within 40, 50, or 60 miles of Red River.

2116. In fact, there is not a sufficient population to render those localities,

which you have described as so beautiful, an object to settlers ?—That is the
fact.

2117. But if it should become an open colony, and settlers should go there,
there are no physical circumstances in the country in your judgment to prevent
their success?—Nc, [ think not. The country is not favourable for settle-
ment, I think, about Red River.

2118. Why :—The crops are very uncertain.

2119. You have nothing to-adduce beyond what you have stated already ?—
No.

2120. In the extent of land lLetween the Rainy Lake and Fort William, on
the Kamenistiquoia, at the head of Lake Superior, what may be the height to
which the land riscs; is it 804, 1,000, or 2,000 feet, or what *—I think about
800 feet above the level of the luke.

2121. Do any serious practical difficulties or impediments exist in making
that navigation, which you have traversed with your canoes, a regular course of
navigation ?—I think there are insuperable difficulties, unless the © Bank of

England were expended” upon the lnprovement of the country. Near the
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height of land there is no water; the rivers are shoal, and the soil is bad.
I think the difficulties are very great.

2122. To how many miles of country, in your judgment, would your present
remark apply ?—I think about 300 miles.

2123. As much as that 2—I think so. .

2124. You have given the entire distance from Assiniboia to the head of
Lake Superior as about 500 miles > —Yes.

2125. And you think that in 300 of those 500 miles, there would be such
difficalties 7—Yes.

Mr. William Kernaghan, called in; and Examined.

2126. Lord Jokn Russell.] WHERE do you reside 2—At Chicago.
h2127. What is your business or occupation *— I am a General Merchant
there. ‘

2128. Have you any statement to make with regard to the Hudson’s Bay
Company, or their territory, or their trade ?—The Chicago peopie are running
steam-boats now towards that part of the country.

2129. Where from, and where to?—From Chicage to Superior City, Onto-
ganan and Marquette ; steamers also ply from Detroit and Collingwood to
those cities.

2130. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Are you a native of the States *—I am an [rish-
man.

2131. Lord John Russcll] Have you any statement to make with regard to
that matter7—I should like to sec the trade opened up there in the Hudson’s
Bay country.

2132. That is to say, you would like to see an end put to any exclusive privi-
leges 7—Yes, either in land or trade.

2133. Have you found any obstacles practically to exist to the trade which °
you wish to promote ?—There is every opposition thrown by the Company in
the way of our traders there. ’

2134. Of what kind?—Every opposition. They are not allowed to trade
there. This last season 500 waggons started from Pembina, or the Red River
Settlement, and sold their loads of wheat, tallow, beef, and other produce at
either St. Paul or St. Anthony, I do not know which, returning with goods of
American and British manufacture and other produce back to the Red River.
That is the first direct trade the Red River and the Company’s country have -
had with the United States.

2135. Were not they allowed io dispose of the goods which they had bought
in St. Paul’s >*—A good many of the goods were British manufactures; but they
had to pay duties on going into the American territory at very high rates,
which would not be the case had they gone through Canada to the Red River
Settlement.

2136. How could they have reached the Red River Settlement through
Canada’—You can get goods shipped direct from London, Liverpool, Glasgow,
or any port in Great Britain, to the extreme end of Lake Superior, at 3 4. 10 s.
a ton, in one bottom, or with transhipment; they pass through the St. Law-
rence, a Canadian river. .

2137. Mr. Grogan.] Can you specify any port on Lake Superior —Any port
on the Upper Lakes, either Lake Michigan or Lake Superior, ports in Superior,
stated above.

2138. Lord Jokn Russell.] How would you have the goods conveyed fron:
there to the Red River Scttlement >—You would have plenty of people to
waggon them, or bring them across. I suppose the expense would be about
8l or 107 a ton; it would not he greater than that of waggons from Red
River to St. Paul. .

2139 Mr. Edward Ellice.] Have you been between Fort William and Red
River?—No.

2140. Is not that the route which the goods would take; how do you know
that goods could be conveyed between Fort William and Red River for 10 7. a
ton ?—The Americans would do it.

2141, What authority have you for saying so?—The statement of people in
Chicago connected with steamboats.

2142. Have
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2142. Have they ever gone that route 2—Their steamboats go to Superior Mr.W. Kerraghan.
city. —_

2143. Mr. Grogan.] Where is the town of Superior ?-—The town of Superior 2 March 1857.
is at the very extreme end of Lake Superior.

2144. Js it at Fond du Lac+—Yes. Superior is a new town, commenced last
year, and it will this year have a population of 10,000 people.

2145. Mr. Bell.] Then you think it would be possible to make a similar
settlement on the British shore, if it was not for the monopoly of the Hudson’s
Bay Company ?—Certainly.

2146. Lord John Russell.] When you speak of the goods going in waggons,
do you mean in the summer season only ?—The lakes are only open from about
the middle of April, and the lake communication closes at Chicago about the
1st of December. In Lake Superior, I suppose it closes about a month earlier.
In winter goods might be carried in sleighs,

2147. In what part of the year do you suppose the goods could go in waggons
between Lake Superior and the Red River Settlement?—In summer by
waggons, winter by sleighs. I beg to say that the Chicago people, the owners
of the steamboats, are beginning to open a line from the extreme end of
Lake Superior to the Red River Settlement. I think I had better read an
an extract from a Chicago paper which I have gotto-day. Itis headed, “ A New
Project.—In the Senate of Michigan, on Thursday, General Cass presented
the petitions of Jean Lafever, Robert Mallon, and Alexander M‘Lain, asking
for a Govetnment exploration and suarvey of the Pireon and Arrow Rivers,
of Lake Superior, and of the route from the mouth of those streams, or
near them, to Rainy Lake, on the United States boundary line, with estimates
of the cost of so improving by locks and canuls the communication between
those waters as to make a practicable navigation from the Lower Red River of
the North, vii Lake Winnipeg, to Lake Superior. They represent that, at a
reasonable cost, the whole valley of the LRed, Assiniboine, and Saskatchawan
rivers can be connected with the waters of Lake Superior.”

2148. Mr. Edward Elice.] Through what territory would that route to
which you have referred be made >—Partly British and partly American ; the
chain of lakes and rivers separate both countries.

2140. You stated that one of the obstacles to trade was the duties put upon
goods entering into the States; how would you avoid those duties ?—By land-
ing the goods in British territory.

2150. You just now said that the road was to be opened up partly on British
territory and partly on American, between Fond du Lac and Red River; if it
is to be partly on British territory and partly on American, how do you get rid
of the duties ?—The goods would go in under bond in that case.

2151. Why could not they go in under a bond by the other route ?—They
have never tried it vet in that way, but a great business would be done in
that country it free trade were allowed there.

2152, Mr. Blackburn.] Is there any duty except the American duty at pre-
sent ?—The Canadian daty is very light; the American duty is very great.
I am not aware of any duties at Red River.

2153. I thought you spoke of the duties being paid on the goods going inte
the American territory ?—What I mean to say is, that on the goods put at
(Slt. Paul into the 500 waggons, the sellers of the goods had paid the American

uties.

2154. Then it was the American duties which made it disadvantageous, not
anything done by the Hudson’s Bay Company?—That business was done
against the wishes of the Hudson’s Bay Compary.

2155. Did they impose the duties or the Americans ?2—The Americans.

2156. Mr. Grogan.] Am I to understand you that this caravan which crossed
from Pembina to St. Peter’s, or St. Anthony’s, purchased goods ?—They sold at
St. Anthony the productions of their own country, and they bought at St.
Anthony their groceries, wines, woollens, linens, &c.

2157. Which had been British imports:(—Some had been British imports
and some American manufactures.

2158. And on all the British imports the American Government imposed a
duty F—Yes.

2159. If they could have gone through the country under bond, the Red

River people would have saved that duty *—Yes.
0.25. 03 2160. Mr.
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2160. Mr. Edward Ellice.] s there an export duty in the States upon goods?
—1I do not know. i

2161. Then how do you mean that the Red River people would have saved
the duty *—Had the goods been in bond. This is the first attempt of the Red
River people to open u free trade.

2162. You say that the Red River people are placed at the disadvantage of
this duty ; but as I understaud you the British goods pay going into St. Paul’s ?
—Yes, unless they go there in bond.

2163. They do not pay coming from St. Faul's to Red River?—No; but
they had paid at New York, or at Chicago, before they went to St. Paul, the
regular American datics. -

2164. Lord Jokn Itussell.] You mean, that if they were landed at Fond du
Lac. or at the head of Lake Superior, they would go in bond, and not pay the
American duties >—If landed at Superior City, where there is an American
custom-house, they would go in bond through our British territory without
paying duties.

2165. Mr. Edward Ellice.; If there were a road to Red River?—Yes; and
that will be done by Chicazo and other people this season.

2166. If they could go in bond from Superior, and vass through part of the
territory and so escape the duty, why should not they be in bond at New York 2
—You can pay duty at Chicago, Detroit, New York, or at any place where
tl}ere is a custom-house of the United States, or you can bond goods at all ports
of entry, '

2167. You said that goods could be carricd to Red River, going through
part of the American terrtory, giving bond 7—Yes. '

2168. Why could not they go by New York in the same way, giving bond *—
They could.

2109. Therefore the Red River settler would not be prejudiced by the duty
payable in the American territory :-—He would not be if they went in bond.

2170. Mr. Chairles Fitzwillium.] With reference to the 500 waggons you have
mentioned, you mean that a person bought goods in the American territory
because he could get them cheaper there than from the stores of the Hudson’s
Bay Conipany at Red River :—Yes; they have undersold.

Jovis, 50 die Martii, 1857.
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Mr. William Kernaghan, called in; and further Examined.

2171. Mr. Grogan.] YOU have been for some time settled at Chicago, have
you not ?—Yes.

2172. Are you connected with mercantile pursuits there ’—VYes, .

2173. Individually, or as a partner in associated companies 2—Individually.

2174. ITas the course of your commercial business made you acquainted
with Iake Superior, and its capabilities for transit and commerce ~—Yes;
friends of minc there have a line of steamers that run from Chicago to three
ports on Lake Superior.

2175. What is the most northern port, on Lake Superior, that they go to?
—They go to Ontoganan and Marquette; Onlagon is the copper, Marquette,

the iron distiict; and Superior City; they go to the west. )
2176. Do
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2176. Do they go higher up than Lake Superior ; do they go to Fort William
in the English territory ? —No.

2177. They do not extend their course then beyond the American boundary ¢
—No ; there are no settlements on the other side.

2178. Do you know whether there are English steamers which traverse the
lakes to Fort William 2—I do not think any regular line runs; a line in con-
junction with the Toronto and Collingwood railroad runs to Lake Superior, but
the steamers belong to an American company.

2179. Do they go to Fort William, the English settlement 2—I do not think
they dv ; they go to the American towns only.

2180. Can you state what is the population of the town of Superiorr—
Superior City was founded a year and a half ago, and the population at the end
of this year will exceed 10,000 people.

2181. Are there any projected railways there ?—The Fond du Lac railway
runs 120 miles from Chicago at present, and it is to go to Superior City ; it is
finished 120 miles from Chicago. It is to go to Marquette, to Ontoganan, and
to Superior City ; three branches.

2182. Do you know of any projected connections or communications, between
Fond du Lac, and any of the British Settlements across the line; Red River, or
the lakes there >—~General Cass brought a Bill the other day into the Michigan
Legislature to render navigable all the rivers, as far as the American territory
went, between Lake Winnipeg and Lake Superior, for steamboats and ships.

2183. Mr. Edward Ellice,] Lake Winnipeg is in Dritish territory 7—As far
as the American territory goes towards Lake Winnipeg.

2184, Mr. Adderley.] Tn the dircction of Lake Winnipeg ?—Yes.

2185. Mr. Grogan.] Do you know what is the length of that projected canal
—1 do not know.

2186. Or the expense 2—1I do not know.

2187. Has there been any action on that petition in the Legislature ?>—1I do
not know. I onlysaw it in the Chicago paper.

2188, Was Chicago your place of residence ?—Yes.

2189. What is the age of that city 7-—It is about 19 or 20 years of age.

2190. What may be the population of it?—Ia December it was 110,000.
I suppose this month it is about 114,000. It increases 1,800 a month.

2191, Was it not from Chicago that the vessel was freighted which came the
other.day to Liverpool with corn ?—7Yes. She came direct.

2192. Have vou a personal knowledge of the Vancouver country on the west
side by the Pacific ?—1 have never been as far north as Vancouver’s Island.
I have been trading on the west coast of America for three years. I have been
as far north as San Francisco.

2193. Mr. Edward Ellice.] What is popularly called California ?—Yes.

2194. Mr. Grogan.] Have you any knowledge of that district from reports ?
~—-1 met several centlemen who went to Vancouver’s Island to try to trade there
and they could not trade ; they were refused.

2195. They went to Vancouver’s Island for the purposes of trader—Yes;
they tried to commence trade there, and they could not.

2196. What obstruction was there in their way 2—The Company did not like
any people to interfere with them there; that was the reply of those gentlemen
to me.

2197. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Where was that 2—At Vancouver’s Island.

2198. I thought you said you had only been at San Francisco *—Yes ; I only
visited San Irancisco.

2199. How do you know that fact >—Gentlemen went to trade there from San
Francisco. I found them on their return at San Francisco.

h-32oo. But did they go to trade there ?—Certainly; they brought up cargoes
there.

2201. What sort of cargoes ?2—1I suppose general cargo.

2202. Was it spirits >—1I suppose everything.

2203. Who were they ? —I do not recollect their names now, but I recollect
perfectly the parties. )

2204. Mr. Grogan.] Have you reason to believe that the obstructions to
trade to which these gentlemen referred, arose from their desire to trade in
turs 2—No.
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2205. Was it general trade that they were anxious to carry on ?—They did
pot want to trade in furs; they wanted general trade.

2206. Did those parties say that they were prohibited, or that such obstruc-
tions were thrown in their way by the Government of the island, that they were
unable to carry on business ?—Yes ; they were willing to trade there, but would
not go back again.

2207. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Was the obstruction by means of underselling
them ?—JI do not know what the obstruction was, but they were willing to trade
there, and would not. go back again until the Hudson’s Bay Company would be
done away with.

2208. Mr. Grogan.] Did those gentlemen inform you whether their inability
to trade arose from any want of the productions of the island, which could be
exchanged for their imports —No. The finest timber in the world grows on
that coast and in Vancouver's Island, and the best market for timber is San
Francisco. At that time there was a duty of 20 per cent. on timber imported
into the States, which is now done away with under the Reciprocity Act.

2209. Was there any duty on the export of timber from Vancouver’s Island
-=Nu; but there was a duty then on the imports into the United States, which
is done away with now.

2210. Mr. Edward Ellice.] What description of timber is it2—All kinds of
pine; fir, Captain Grant shipped one cargo from Vancouver's Island to a friend
of mine before I-was in San Francisco.

2211. Mr. Grogan.] Did those gentlemen mention to you anything about coal,
or the mineral productions of the island ?—Thosc gentlemer did not; but I was
on board the United States steam frigate ““ Massachusetts.”

2212. In what year was this *—January and February 1851 ; she coaled herself
at Vancouver’s Island with the native coal of the island.

2215. Did the officers give you any account of what it cost them, or the time
it took to coal her ?—The officers told me that they went very close to where the
coal is, on the strand, and that the Indians quarried the coal, and that the men.
of the ship shipped the coal in boats. ‘

2214. Mr. Edward Ellice.] How do you know all this 2—The officers of the
United States frigate “ Massachusetts ” told me. I give the time, and the place,
and the officer who told me.

2215. Mr. Grogan.] Is there any other part of the North American territory
or coasts that you are persomlly acquainted with ?—I have been in Labrader.

2216. For what length of time were you in Labrador ?—Not very long. «

2217. Mr. Bell.] Are you acqnainted with the mining operations on the south
side of Lake Superior>—No. I know some of the companies, but I have no
interest in them’ myself.

2218, Are you acquainted with any facts as to the products ?—1I know about
the quantity of the products.

2219. What quantity of copper is there?—There have been 3,000 tons of
copper shipped last year from the mines.

2220. How many mines are there?—Near Ontoganan, I suppose there are
about half-a dozen public companies mining. ]

2221. How long is it since they commenceil operations : —A good many
years ; but since the ship canal was opened from Lake Snpe.rior to the _ot.her
lakes a great many more companies have started. There are iron companies at
Marquette.

2222. I see that Lake Winnipeg is mentioned in the passage which you read
the other day from the newspaper *—Yes. o '

2223. On the map there is a small Lake Winnipeg between the Rainy Lake
and the Mississippi River ; do you know whether that is meant ?—I do not know
which.

2224. Mr. Grogan.] In that part of Lake Superior, where the mineral dis-
trict is located, on the American side, arc there any limitations imposed by the
State of Michigan with regard to emigrants who desire to explore the minerals ?
—None whatever. )

2225, Every facility is given —A man may squat where he likes. i

2226, And with regard to raising the minerals, is he at liberty to do so —If
you buy the land, the minerals are yours afterwards. o .

2227, 1s it within your knowledge whether the same facilities for emigrants

exist in the British territories as on the American side 7-—There arc no facilities
on
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on the British side north of 49 degrees; if there were, the country would be Mr.W.Kernaghan.
as thickly peopled as it is south.

2228. Mr. Edward Ellice.] How do you know that ; what are your means of 5 March 1857.
information ?—The talk of the people; there are likely to be disturbances in that
country the same as in Kanzas if the country is not made free under Kanzas.

2229. That is also the talk of the people 7—Yes.

2230. Mr. Bell.] Do you know any individuals who would go into that
country to settle if they were not prevented by the exclusive system of the
Hudson’s Bay Company *—I know a great many people in Chicago who talk of
settling at the Red River, provided it was under Canadian rule.

2231. Americans :-—Americans.

2232. Mr. Grogan.] Have you at Chicago ever had any commercial dealings
with, or come across any of the parties who come from the Red River and that
district with their goods :—1 myself have not had.

2233. But do you, of your own knowledge, know whether any of the settlers
of the Red River seek a market for their goods in the American territory ?—I
know that last season 500 waggons left Pembina with their pork, their beef,
their lard, their wheat, and all their agricultural produce, and sold it at St.
Paul’s or St. Peter’s, and brought back the goods which they required.

2234. That is the circumstance which you mentioned to us on the last day ?
—Yes.

2235. Mr. Edward Ellice.] They did so, as far as you know, without any
obstruction on the part of the Hudson’s Bay Company ?—The Hudson’s Bay
Company were not powerful enough to stop them.

2236. Do you know whether they tried to stop them #—That is the talk of
the country. )

2237. Mr. Kinnaird.] The talk of the country is a very general sort of term ;
can you give us any fact showing the views of the Company r—No, I can give
you no fact; but I think the best proof is that north of 49 degrees there is no
settlement ; scuth of 49 degrees, in Minesota, there are now 180,000 settlers.
That district had a population four years ago of 6,000 people; it has now
180,000. Red River had as large a population 20 years ago as it has now; I
think that is a fact which is proof enough.

2238. Do you say that the land round Red River iu that whole district is
equally well adapted for settlement as the Minesota district?—So it has been
stated to me. :

2239. You do not know it >—I do not know it personally.

2240. Mr. Gregson.] You have never been there? — Never. The chief
settlers in Minesota are Norwegians and Swedes, and those people would as
soon be under Canadian rule as under American, and they would cross the
border if allowed.

2241. Mr. Kinnaird.] They would cross the border if encouragement was
given >—Yes.

2242. Mr. Bell.] How near to the border have they settled ?—Very close up.

2243. St. Paul's is 200 to 250 miles from the border? — Every year they are
closing further and further.

2244. Mr. Adderley.] Do you know the country of Minesota ?—No, I have
not been further north than Dubuque, in Iowa.

2245. Mr. Gordon.] How do you know that the settlements are closing up
to the British boundary ?—I know that those people would as soon be under {
Canadian rule as under American.

2246. That is not my question. You said that you knew that the American

ettlers were settling up close to the British boundary ; how do you know that ?
~TFrom common report. There was a lecture delivered in Chicago ; I will
enclose it to the Chairman; it may give some information.

The Honourable Charles William Wentworth Fitswilliam, a Member of the
Committee ; Examined.

2247. Chairman.] 1 BELIEVE you have recently passed some time in British Hon. €. W. .
North America >—It is three years since I came back from America. In the Futswilliom, w.r.
winter of 1852-3 I was in Oregon and Vancouver’s Island. —
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2248. How long did you remain in Vancouver’s Island?—I was there two
months, the months of March and April.

2249. What opinion did you form of the soil and climate of that island, and
of its capabilities for becoming a place of settlement for Europeans ?—The
climate appeared to me particularly adapted for settlement by Englishmen. It
seemed to resemble very much the climate of England, though perhaps in
winter not so cold as it is here ; and in summer, from a letter which I have just
received, it must be considerably hotter. The soil is generally productive,
although in places rocky ; the country is divided into wood and prairie country ;
the prairies are parklike ; extensive grounds, stretching into the wood.

2250. Did you go much about the island >—1I was up as far as Nanimo,
where there is a coal mine, about 80 miles to the north of Fort Victoria, on the
east side of the island ; and I was about ten miles on the coast to the west.

2251. 1)id you hear much about the coal mines there, so as to form any
opinion as to their probable productiveness >—~When | was there they were
worhing a six feet seam of coal, at a depth of about 40 feet; it was close on the
shore ; within 20 yards of the shore.

2252, It is on the eastern shore of Vancouver’s Island, I believe ?—VYes.

2253. Is there not an easy communication, by means of a valley that almost
cuts the island in two, from the place where the coal mines are to a good
harbour on the western side of Vancouver's Island ?—I do not believe that that
country has ever been explored ; but I should imagine there was from Nanimo,
across to Nittinat Sound.

2254. Sir Jokn Pakington.] Whick part did you say had not been explored ?
—Hardly any of the interior of the island has been explored.

2255. I uhderstood you to speak of the west coast not having heen explored ?
—On the west coast, I believe, it has not been explored ; at least it had not been
then.

2256. Chairman.] Was the iimber fine in the part of the country that you.
saw ?—The fir timber was magnificent. ‘

2257. The harbours are excellent, are they not?—Yes; the Esquimault
harbour is the finest harbour I ever saw.

2258. Mr. Grogan.] Is that on the east side or the west ?—All the country
I am now speaking of is within the Straits of Fuco.

2259. Chairman.] What opinion have you of that country with regard to
its resources, as to fisheries ? — Nobody who has not seen the enormous
quantity of fish can possibly credit the value and extent of the fisheries. Ido
not know the number of barrels, but many thousand barrels of salt salmon
are sent annually from Victoria to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s depot at
the Sandwich Islands.

2260. Do the neighbouring seas abound with other fish, besides salmon *—
Herrings are very numerous indeed. To give some idea of how numerous they
are, the method of catching herrings is, that two Indians go in a canoe, one
paddling in the stern, and the other standing in the bow. The Indian in the
bow has a lath of wood about eight or nine feet long, studded with nails.‘ He
scoops down into the water and impales the fish on those nails. In two or
three hours they get a fair load in the canoe.

2261. In what condition did you find the settlement which is now there, as
far as you could judge *—It was in a very primitive state. There were no
roads except those made immediately round the fort, and one from the head of
Esquimault Harbour to Captain Langford’s house. Captain Langford is the
bailiff, T believe, for the Puget Sound Farming Company.

2262. Did much advance seem to have taken place in colonising or settling
the country >—Comparatively speaking, very little. On the other side of Puget
Sound, on the mainland in Oregon, where I believe it had only been settled
two or three years before the island was granted to the Company, there were
farms of considerable extent.

2263. Are you speaking of the American country *—Yes; from what is
now Columbia City, or Fort Vancouver, all the way across to Olympia, at the
head of Puget Sound. Of course the farms were not continuous; in a country
like that you do not find farms, as we do in England, one touching the other.

2264. Did you travel through that country on the American side from Fort

Vancouver
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Vancouver to Olympia r—I travelled by canoe from Fort Vancouver to the
Cowlets, and then across from there to Olympia and to Nisqually.

2265. There are a good many Indians, 1 believe, in Vancouver’s Island —On
the coast of the island; there are none in the interior; they inhabit the coast
entirely ; they are fishing Indians, and live on fish and potatoes.

2266. Do they live in no degree upon hunting ~—1I believe not; they have
very few offensive weapons; no bows or arrows, and I believe, generally speak-
ing, no guns.

2267. They are not a warlike race then at all 7—They are, to a certain extent,
warlike ; they make war in canoes, but I think they generally fight hand to
hand, and not with missiles.

2968. Mr. Edward Ellice] Do you know the Cowichan valley ?—The
Cowichan valley is about 40 miles from Fort Victoria, on the east coast; the
Cowichan Bay is a deep bay with, at the extreme end of the bay, low land, and
on the north side are high mountains; it must be a very productive valley
indeed, from the great quantities of potatoes which I saw traded there by the
Company and by other trades when I was there.

2209. You were not in the valley?—No; when I was there it was almost
dangerous to land there; it was just after the execution of two Indians for
murder.

2270. Chairman.] Do you know what was the number of the European
community settled in Vancouver’s Island when you were there:—I do not
know exactly, but I should think that the numbers of Europeans and half-
breeds, considering them all as white men, were about 300.

¢271. Did you hear any causes assigned for the number of settlers there
having increased so little?—I think one principal cause is the distance at which
it is from the mother country.

2272, Did you hear the attractions of California, as a gold-producing country,
assigned at all as a reason for their not having increased more —I think all
those who got up as fur north as Vancouver’s Island would not turn south and
go to San Francisco, but they would be more likely to go over to the main
Jand, which they could do very easily in canoes, where they would get as much
employment as they could want at very remunerative wages.

2273, Would not settlers who are in doubt where to go, who might have
been induced to go to Vancouver's Island, have gone to California on account of
the gold ?—I do not think that a sufficient number crosses the equator in that
direcrion for me to form any opinion upon that subject.

2274. Did you travel about any other part of North America *—I was all
through the States on the Missouri river, as: far as Port Pierre. I crossed the
Rocky Mountains twice, and was in California, and also in New Mexico.

2275. You were not in the territory managed by the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany ?—No; not north of the Boundary Line.

2276. Mr. hinnaird.] You stated that the interior of Vancouver’s Island had
never been explored at all; did you ascertain whether there was any systematic
attempt to arrive at a knowledge of the nature of the country by the Govern-
ment there :—I do not think that there was any systematic attempt.

2277. Do you not consider it very desirable that an island of that importance
should be, in a certain measure, surveyed :—Certainly 1 do; for I think it is
the most valuable possession in the Pacific. If you take the map of the Pacific
you will see that the only safe harbours in the Pacific exist in Vancouver's Island,
with perhaps the exception of Acapulco and San Francisco. The entrance to
the harbour in the Columbia River is excessively dangerous, and ships are fre-
quently detained there even for weeks in the winter time.

2278. Had Captain Langford never made any attempt to explore the island
—Only immediately round his house.

2279. Did he express a desire that he should have powers given him for
that purpose ; did he think it necessary himself:—Yes, I think the colonists
generally wished that some exploration of the country should be made.

2200, Mr. Edvard Ellice.] Was not Captain Grant there when you were
there -—Not then; he had left a little before.

2281. Do you know that he was appointed by the Colonial Govirnment,
in concert with the Government here, as the surveyor of the island, for the
purpose of surveying it?—1T do not know that he was, I forget the name of
the gentleman who was surveyor to the Company then.
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2282. There was a surveyor to the Company then >—Yes.

2283. Mr. Kinnaird.] You stated that there was a considerable difficulty in
landing at a certain point, owing to the excitement among the Indians ;—That
was in Cowichan Bay.

2284. Which is part of Vancouver's Island *—Yes.

2285. What were the circumstances which rendered your landing dangerous ?
—A short time before I arrived there, a Cowichan and a Nanimo Indian had
killed either one or two shepherds.

2286. Europeans:—Yes; Ibelieve they were Europeans. Mr. Douglas, aided
by Captain Kuper, of the “ Thetis,” took these men, and they were tried and
hung for the murder; they were hung at Nanimo.

2287. That created great excitement among the other Indians >— Yes.

2288. And it was considered not safe at that time to land ?—I certainly did
not think it safe myself, because, if I had landed, I should have had to land
alone ; and as I could not speak Cowichan, and those Indians did not under-
stand signs, I did not wish to risk myself there. !

2289. Have any attempts been made, as far as you know, for the civilization
or instruction of these natives *—I think none.

2290. Have you heard of any missionary being on the island at allF—
Mr. Stains, the chaplain to the Company, was then on the island, and there
was a Roman Catholic bishop.

2291. You are not aware that any means were being used, or that any
schools were in existence ; there was no settlement of Indians there’—The
Indians there live in permanent villages ; they are not a migratory tribe like
those on the main land, but they live in villages on the shore.

2292. You would, therefore, consider that it would be easier to provide
i‘orhtheir instruction than it would be in the case of the wandering Indians:—

think so.

2293. Chairman.] Are they employed on the coal mines at all 7—No.

2204. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Vancouver’s Island is about as large as England,
is it not 3—I should think it is as long as England proper, but not so wide.

2295. Sir John Pakington.] Is Victoria the only, European settlement there?
—Yes, the only town.

2296. Do the 300 English and half-breeds, of whom vou spoke, reside at
Victoria >—No, not-all; some of them reside on farms in the neighbourhood.

297. Am I right in presuming that those farms are in the neighbourhood
of Victoria *—All within 12 miles of it.

2298, Substantially, there is only one English settlement in Vancouver’s
Island *—Exactly so.

2299. Is that English settlement of Victoria situated upon the very fine
harbour of which you have spoken:—No, not exactly on it; it is situated on
a small harbour which runs in a little to the east of Esquimault ; going by land
it is within a mile and a half of the harbour. )

2300. To what extent did you yourself obtain any personal knowledge of
Vancouver’s Island ?>—1 was at the coal mines at Nanimo.

2301. How far are they from' Victoria r—They are about 80 miles, on the east
coast. ‘

2302. I apprehend that those coal mines practically constitute a settlement,
do they not r—Yes. I forgot tie settlement at the coal mines.

2303. What is the number of Europeans who are settled at the coal mines?
—1I do not believe there were more than 10 when I was there.

2304. What was the aggregate population there >—I do not believe there
were more than 10 persons altogether at the coal mines.

2305. Do you mean that the coal mines are worked by 10 persons >—There
were only four men then working in the mine.

2306. Without the assistance of any Indians or half-breed : —Yes, except one
or two just to wind up the coal.

2307. How far from the coast is the coal mine at Nanimo *—Twenty yards.

2308. Then the coals are all conveyed by sea, of course?—Yes; a 500 ton
ship can come within 10 yards of the shore; within 40 yards of the mouth of
the pit.

2399. On which coast is Nanimo *~On the east coast.

2310. Within the straits >—Yes; all the country I am speaking of is within
the Straits of Fuco.

2311. Are
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2311. Are those straits throughout easy of navigation; is it a pretty bold,
safe coast ; say from Victoria to Nanimo, is it a safe navigation 2—It is rather
an intricate navigation, for it is through a cluster of islands the way I went, by
canoe and steam-boat.

2312, You have spoken of a 500 ton ship ; is the water deep ?—Yes.

2313. Is there any difficulty in navigatinga 500 ton ship from Victoria to
Nanimo ?—Not with propelling power.

2314. Do you know the total number of Indians in Vancouver’s Island ?
—No.

2315. I understood you to state that they were peaceable, and for the most
part unarmed ?—I should say they are for the most part unarmed. 1 do not
believe in the peaceableness of any Indian.

23106. Will you explain that answer ?—1I believe that any Indian will take any
and every advantage ne possibly can.

2317. What I mean rather is, not whether as an uncivilised man he would
take advantage, but whether the Indians of Vancouver’s Island have evinced
any disposition to be aggressive towards the European settlers, or whether they
have lived peaceably with the Furopean settlers 2—I think, generally speaking,
they have lived peaceably with them, as far as I can understand.

2318. They are not what you would comparatively speak of as a savage
tribe of Indians ? —No; they are not to be compared with the Blackfeet.

2319. Mr. Bell.] From what you say, the coal mines are not at all in active
operation >—No ; they were not when I was there.

2320, Mr. Edward Ellice.] Of what time do you speak with reference to that
coal 2—1853.

2321. Are you aware that very shortly after the coal was discovered there
was an intention shown to begin to work it :—Yes.

2322. Are you not aware that there are now 60 or 70 miners employed *—
I am not sure; but when I was there I know that miners were expected out,
in the « Otter,” I think.

2323. Mr. Gordon ] What class of persons were the settlers of whom you
have been talking ; were they persons who had come from Eugland, or persons
who had settled there from America; had any come from the opposite coast ?
—7J think very few; some American: had come for job work.

2324. Where had the white population, such as it was, come from ?--From
England, generally speaking.

2325. What inducements had brought those Inglish settlers out there 2—
Several had come out as servants of the Puget Sound Farming Company, and
were acting as bailiffs and servants on that farm; they had veen brought out
in the Company’s ships.

2326. You do not think, then, that any of the settlers there had come out
attracted by the advantages of the island itself ; they had come out, as it were,
accidentally in some capacity, and then they remained there ?—I think only
one had come out to settle.

2327. Was any encouragement given to seftlers to come; was there any
effort made to induce other settlers to come —1I think not.

2328. Mr. Edward Ellice.] You do not know that to be the fact —No.

2329. Mr. Gordon.} Do you happen to know at what price land was pro-
cured there >—Land was sold at 14 an acre, according to the assignment of
the island to the Company by the Government. 1he Company received 10 per
cent. of that, and the remaining 90 pcr cent. was to be expended in the improve-
ment of the island.

2330. Do you know when that coal mine of which you have spoken was first
discovered P—At the end of 1852, I think.

2331. Have you often travelled with American fur traders :—Yes.

2332. Have you had any opportunity of observing whether they, in their
traffic with the Indians, make great use of spirituous liquors as a means of
barter >—1I think, generally speaking, they do not use liquors.

2333. Is there any penalty in force if it is proved that they have made use
of them >—A very heavy one.

2334. Have you ever seen that heavy penalty practically enforced ?—I cannot
say that I have seen it; but I have heard that a man whom [ wished to employ
had been detected trading in liquor, and had been taken down from Fort
Liramy on the Plat to the States,

0.23. P3 2335. As

Hon. C. I¥. W.
Titzwilliam, u. .

5 March 1857.



Hon. C. W. I¥.
Fitzwilliam, wm. p.

5 March 1857.

118 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE

2335. As a prisoner -—As a prisoner.

2336. Chained 2—1 believe so.

2337. Then do you believe that that regulation is practically carried ou £
Ithink it is, where they have the power to do so.

2338. Mr. Percy Herbert.] You spoke of the anchorage; that ships of 500
tons could lie off the coal mine ?—Yes.

2339. Is that a secure and extensive anchorage?—It is not an extensive
anchorage exactly opposite the coal mine ; it is perfectly secure, and within a
quarter of a mile of it there is anchorage for any number of ships that choose
to go there.

2340. Is the supply of coal supposed to be very large :—It had not been
explored very much when I was there, but they were then working a six-feet
sea;‘n, which seemed to descend into the ground instead of rising to the
surface.

2341. Viscount Sundon.] 1 think there are some islands between Vancouver's
Island and the mainland 7—Yes. *

2342. Have you been on them #—I have camped on some of them.

2343. Are they capable of cultivation 7—Yes, I think so.

2344. They are just at the mouth of the harbour, I think, opposite Victoria?
—L'hey are not at the mouth of the harbour.

2345. Just opposite #—Not opposite the mouth of the harbour; they are to
the back of the harbour. .

2346. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Are not those the islands now in dispute between
the American Government and our own ?—Yes.

2347. Mr. Adderley.] Can you tell us anything about the administration of
the island, the government, or the magistracy 2—There was a governor appointed
by the home Government, Mr. Douglas, and he had a council of five to aid

‘him in the government of the island.

2348. Is he at all under the control of the Hudson’s Bay Company ? —He is
a chief factor in the Company. ‘

2349. Was he appointed by the Company *—No; not by the Company, but
at the suggestion of the Company.

2350. What are the magistracy, or how is the law enforced there :- -Mr.
Douglas appointed magistrates. 1 do not know exactly whether they enforced
the law as it would be enforced in England, but they made sowe attempt to
do so.

2351. There are tribunals in the island in case of breaches of the law?—
The offenders are brought up before the magistrates whenever such a case
occurs.

2332. Have the Company done anything by way of settling the land ?—1I do
not think that the Iudson’s Bay Company itself actually has, but the Puget
Sound Farming Company, which is comnposed of members of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, has taken out settlers there, and has cultivated a considerable quan-
tity of land.

2353. Is that Puget Sound Company entirely merged in the Hudson’s Bay
Company, or is it a separate Company :—It is a separate Company, I believe,
composed altogether of members of the Hudson’s Bay Company ; that is'how
it was explained to me. )

2354. So that the whole of the Puget Sound Company is merged in the
Hudson’s Bay Company?—Yes; all the members of it are officers of the
Hudson’s Bay Company.

2355. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Youdo not state that as a fact, do you?—I was
informed so.

2356. Mr. Adderley.] Do the Company occupy lands as belonging to them-
selves besides the land which they have sold :(—1 think they had a few fields in
cultivation close to the fort for their own supplies. .

2357. Are the public buildings at the harbouwrs, and the wharfs, and 50 on,
retained by the Company as their own property *—There are no public buildings,
and no wharfs, but those which belong to the Company.

2358. Do the Company claim a royalty upon the mines ?—Yes. I am speak-
ing of 1853.

235¢. Do you know whether they are taking any steps whatever to advertise
immivrants ?—1 have never seen any advertisement of the sort.

2360. You talked of a surveyor bLeing appointed: how did it come to pass

that
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that that survevor was appointed, and yet that no survey took place?—He
seemed to me to be mostly engaged in determining the latitude and longitude
at different points of the island, which was most useless for the benefit of the
colonists.

2361. Was he paid by the Company ? — Yes.

2362. From what quarter do you think that the settlement of that country
will naturally come; from the sea side or from the land side? Supposing
it was perfectly free fur colonisation, and that there were no rights of the
Hudson’s Bay Company acting as any obstacle to emigration from any portion
of the world, do you think it likely that it would be settled gradually from the
sea, or that a population would grow up from the United States to it f—1I think
that in all probability it would be settled from the sea; that emigrants would
sail from here.

2363. Do you know that portion of the United States called Columbia >—
I have been through the Washington and Oregon territories; there are very
few roads there, and most of the communication is by water.

2364. Does the population at all increase in that direction : — Vastly.

2365. Towards the borders >—Yes, up along the shores of Puget Sound, by
Nisqually.

2366. Is there any speculation in those fisheries of which you spoke, further
than the mere fishing in canoes ; is there any appearance of companies being
formed for the purpose of speculating in thuse fisheries ?—None whatever. The
Hudson’s Bay Company traded the fish from the Indians, and annually sent
down a great deal of salt fish to their depdt at the Sandwich Islands.

2367. Do the Company claim a monopoly of that fishery ; do they claim the
exclusive right of fishery upon the coasts of Vancouver's Island >—They do
not fish themselves; the Indians are the fishermen, and they trade their fish
to the Company.

2368. Have the Company a monopoly in that trade >-—No, I should not say
that they have a monopoly there, for when I was at Cowichan there was an
opposition going on at the time.

2369. From what quarter was it >—A settler on the island. a Mr. Cooper, was
trading then. I think he had got some goods up from San Francisco, and he
was trading to San Francisco at the time.

370. Mr. Grogan.] In fish >—Mostly in lumber to San Francisco.

2371. Mr. Adderley.] Was Mr. Cooper a man who had purchased land from
the Company ?—Yes, he had a farm there; he had about 15 acres in cultivation
then, and would, 1 dare say, before the year was out, double that.

2572. Do you know Nootka Sound }—No.

2373. 1 suppose that is a notoriously fine harbour :—1I believe so.

2374. Can you state what is the nature of the coal which you have seen ; is
it a good coal :—TIt is an excellent coal, very like the West Riding of Yorkshire
coal.

2375 And that is a vein very near the surface *—Yes.

2376. Mr. Grogan.] What did you say were the productions that the settlers
were raising when you were there; you spoke of the Indians raising a great
.quantity of potatoes ; was corn reared >—Wheat was raised.

2377. Was it a safe cropf—Yes, I believe so.

2378. Were there any other cereal crops besides wheat ?-—Qats and barley.

2379. Have you any doubt whatever that they would grow there just as well
as they do in these climates ?——-None whatever.

. 2380. Chairmar.} In short, it is a very fine soil and climate, is it not*—
es.

2381. Sir Jokn Pglkington.] At what time of the year were you there >—In
March and April.

2382. Mr. Grogan.] Were there any number of settlers who had purchased
land from the Company, or was Mr. Cooper an isolated case?—I think Mr.
Cooper was an isolated case; he was in partnership with a farmer, Mr. Blenk-
horn, who was by far the most energetic settler on the island; he was a man
who had been in Australia for several years, and afterwards came back to
England, and then went out with Mr. Cooper to the island.

2383. In fact there are no number of settlers going there, or in the island
at present —Non, except those who are brought out by the Puget Sound
Company.
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Hon. C. . W. 2384. The settlers whom you have described to us, and those in and about

Fitzuilliam, m. 2. Fort Victoria, were all the servants or attachés of the Puget Sound Company,
were not they *—Do you mean immediately about the fort, because the settle-
ment is very small. '

2385. You describe, that besides the fort, taking a radius of 10 or 12 miles
round the fort, there were a good number of settlements where cultivation was
going on ’—Yes.

23806. 1 call that the settlement generally; were they principally the ser-
vants of the Puget Sound Company, or was there any body of independent
settlers *—Mr. Cooper was the only free settler, as they term it there, on the
island.

2387. The only independent settler?>—The only independent settler; all
the others were connected either with the Hudson's Bay Company or with
the Puget Sound Company ; many of the officers of the Company had bought
farms, and were cultivating them.

2388. Mr. Adderley.] Had they paid the Company >—I do not know whether
money had passed or not.

2389. Do you know whether there were cases of the Company allotting land
free of price to their officers >—I cannot answer that question.

23G0. Chairman.] Is there anything which you wish to add to the evidence
you have given >—I wish to hand in the following letter which I received from
Mr. Cooper.

5 March 1857.

[ The same was delivered in, and is as follows :)

Sir, Victoria, Vancouver’s Island, 21 February 1853,
I BEG to hand you a copy of my letter to Captain Kuper, c.B. (Her Majesty’s ship
¢ Thetis *). Also accompanying it, is the document alluded to.

I have, &c.
Honourable C. W. Wentworth Fitzwilliam. (signed)  James Cooper.
Str, Victoria, Vancouver's Island, 3 January 1853.

ENcLosED is a document I beg leave to forward for your inspection, and as one of the
many instances of injustice that we arc compelled to submit to.

The two men whose signatures appear in the document were under contract to cut and
square wood, to complete the cargo of the vessel lying in this port countersigned to me.
The governor compelling them to jqin in the expedition now absent (though perfectly
cognizant of their engagement), leaving me with an impossibility of replacing them, con-
sequently the vessel is detained here much longer than she otherwise would be, under almost
ruinous circumstances. .

It is not necessary for me to make any comment upon the above further than this: that
it possibly may be legal, but it is not either just or generous.

I have, &c.
Captain A. L. Kuper, c. 8., (signed)  James Cooper.
H. M. S. < Thetis.”
* Victoria, December 1852.

I nEREBY solemnly swear that Mr. Douglas compelled me to join in the expedition'now
about %o take place on the coast of this island, under penalty of being banished from the
colony. The threats held out were in these words:  If any man is afraid to go, he may
stop, but must leave the island.” :

his
Bazil x Batimean.

mark.
his
Witness, James Cooper. s Charbono xk
» Thomas Cooper. mark.

Mr. Alezander Isbister, called in; and Examined.
Mr. 4. Isbister. 2391, Chairman.] 1 BELIEVE you have directed your attention for some

time past very much to the aftairs of the Hudson’s Bay Company :—I have.
2392. What is your personal connexion with that country "—I am a native
of that country, and passed the greater portion of the first 20 years of my life

in that territory. 2303. Were
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2393. Were you ever in the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company ? —For
about three years. '

2304. Where were you when you were engaged in the service of the
Hudson’s Bay Company >— In the district called the Mackenzie River district ;
the most northerly district.

2395. In what capacity ?—1 was a clerk, or a postmaster, a junior officer in
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s service.

2396. In what year was that —In the years 1838, 1839, and 1840, I think;
I am not quite sure of the date; but it was about that time.

2397. What induced you to leave the service of the Hudson's Bay Company ?
—1 wished to come to England to complete my education ; I was desirous of
obtaining a University education, and of qualifying myself for a profession.

2398. You did not leave the service of the Company in consequence of any
dispute :—Not by any means; I had no dispute at all with the Hudson’s Bay
Company, and have no personal coxplaint whatever against them.

23y9. When did you return to that country ?—I have not been back since.

2400. You were born there, and as a child you lived there :—7Yes.

2401. What was your age when you left #—1I was very young ; under 20.

2402. In what year did you leave ?—To the best of my recullection about
1841, I think; I am not quite sure ; or 1842 ; it is many years since I left the
territory.

2403. During the whole of those three years for which you were in the
service of the Company, you were at the Mackenzie River, were you not :—
During the three years that I was in the Company's service. I had travelled
through portions of the territory before that; but I was very young at the time.

2404. Have you any knowledge of the Red River Settlement, for instance?
—7Yes; I was at school there as a boy, and I have a little property there, for-
merly belonging to my father, which came to me; I was also there one year
after I left the Company’s service. )

2405. You have since that time, I believe, devoted a great deal of attention
to the affairs of this Company :—Very great.

2406. What opinion have you been led to form with regard to the general
character of the management of the Hudson’s Bay Company of these territo-
ries’—Upon the whole, I think it is unfavourable to the development of the
resources of the country, and also to the enlightenment and progress in civiliza-
tion of the inhabitants.

2407. To begin with the first point, namely, the development of the resources
of the country, will you have the goodness to state in what way you think the
system pursued by the Hudson’s Bay Company operates in that respect ?-—It
is an obstruction to the colonising spirit of those settlers who are in the terri-
tory ; the Company have not made any efforts, at least such efforts as I think
they might have made, to provide a market for the settlers that are in it;
and they have thrown obstacles, according to the statement of the settlers at
least, which is confirmed by official documents in my possession here, in the
way of an export trade in tallow and hides from the wild animals in the
prairies ; they have also interfered in mauy ways with the efforts of the settlers
to get up an export trade with the United States, the only outlet which is open
to the Red River Settlement.

2408. Do you believe that there is any considerable portion of the territory,
now administered by the Hudson’s Bay Coinpany, which would be colonised
and settled within any moderate period of time, say 20 years for instance, if
those obstructions were removed *—As far as we can judge, from the Canadian
newspapers, there is an evident intention, on the part of the Canadians, to go
up into that territcry through the line of lakes and rivers which connect Lake
Superior with Lake Winnipeg. There appears to be, fortunately, a chain of
a\‘r_ers.which are well adapted for settlement, between Lake Superior and Lake

‘mmpeg.

_2409. Then you believe that that district of country would, if these obstruc-
tions of which you have spoken were removed, bs more or less settled in the
course of a certain number of years 7—1I believe so; more especially if the
Canadians were allowed to participate in the fur trade, which I believe it is
their desire to do.

2410. You say, ‘“‘to participate in the fur trade;” what would, in your
opinion, be the effect of throwing open the fur trade indiscriminately to any

0.25. Q . one
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one who chose to enter into it ?—I[ have thought over that question a great
deal, especially in reference to the Indians. | may at once state that my chief
object, in connecting myself with this movement at all, was to improve the
condition of the native and half-caste Indians in the Red River Settlement.
I believe, upou the whole, that if a monopoly of the fur trade could be estab-
lished, and could be possibly made to consist with the enlightenment and pro-
gress of the Indians, a monopoly would be best; but I am afraid that under
the present circumstances a monopoly is impossible. I do not think that the
Canadians would allow a monopoly to be established in that territory. You
are quite aware that they have laid a claim to that territory, and I believe they
have a legal right to it.

2411. What territory are you speaking of 7—The Hudson’s Bay territory.

2412. Irrespectively of that claim, and adverting merely to the advantage of
the Indians, what do you think would be the effect of throwing open the fur
trade indiscriminately to all comers 2—In some respects the Indians would be
benefited ; 1 see no objection but one: that is, that there might be a possibility
of spirituous liquors being introduced into that territory in greater quantities
than they now are introduced.

2413. Do you believe that they are introduced in any considerable quantity?
—1I have very great reason to believe so.

2414. Are you speaking of the entire territory. or only of those parts of the
territory that adjoin the settled districts ?—From the most correct information
that | can procure, [ believe that the Hudson’s Bay Company have discontinued
the sale of spirituous liquors in the northern portions of their territories, but that
in the country south of the Saskatchawan, and down to the frontier, spirituous
liquors are either given or bartered; at any rate supplied to the Indians ; there
are facts to prove it, which I have here.
© 2415. With regard to the fur trade, merely looking at it as a trade, do you
believe that if the mrade was indiscriminately thrown open to everybody the
consequence would be the destruction of the fur-bearing animals or notf—I
think not ; I think that is proved by the fact that even in the western states
of the United States the fur trade is still carried on to a very great extent; [
believe there is now a fur merchant in London, Mr. Lampson, who is the agent
for the American Fur Company and for the American fur traders: I believe
his sales are quite as large as those of the Hudson’s Bay Company ; but the furs
are inferior in value; they are of a coarser description, as all furs in southern
latitudes are.

2416. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Does that remark apply to all furs, or to a par-
ticular sort of furs *—The aggregate of the sales, I belicve, is about the same as
that of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

2417. Do those sales include all sorts of furs, or are they specially confined
to one or two descriptions of animals?—I believe they include all sorts of furs,
as far as I have been informed.

2418. Chairman.] Are you at all aware of what has been taking place during
the last few years in the United States; of the wars that have been going on
between the white and the réd man, and of the bloodshed that has so been
occasioned *—Yes; I have read many accounts of these wars. :

2419. They have been very dreadful, I believe /—They have.

. 2420. There has been absolute peace, has there not, in the Hudson’s Bay
territory between the white and the red man *—The numbers of Indians in the
Hudson’s Bay territories are so few that there could not have been any great
wars. As stated by Sir George Simpson, the other day, I think the whole
number of the Indians in the thickwood countries, as he called them, was only
about 30,000 odd ; and when that is distributed over such an immense area, it
is impossible that these Indians, seo distributed, could get up a war.

2421. You believe the Indian tribes in the United States to be far more
numerous *—Yes, and of a far more warlike character.

2422. In fact, itis a country more fitted for the subsistence of human beings?
-—Decidedly so.

2423. Should you have no apprehension that, in this vast territory now
subject to the Hudson’s Bay Company, if there was an uncontrolled admission
of whites, to trade in furs in that territory, there would not spring up wars
between the white and the red man of a very atrocious character?--I do not
see any probability of.it, for the Hudson's Bay Company do not pretend tci

contro
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control these Indians ; and they do not pretend to exercise any influence over
them so far as I am aware. '

2424. Do they not practically exercise a very great influence over the In-
dians 2—They may.

2425. Do they —I do not know that they do.

2426. You do not believe that they dor—I do not helieve that they do. 1
have never seen any instances in which they have any practical influence of
that kind which you speak of ; their influence is entirely connected with trade ;
I do not believe that they have anything else to do with the Indians than pro-
cure furs at the cheapest rate they can, and deal with them. )

2427. You do not think that they exercise their influence to keep order in
the country, snd to uphold justice, so far as it is possible to uphold justice
through so great an extent of country, in the circumstances in which they are
placed ?—1I believe it is a principle of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s administra-
tion not to interfere in the quarrels or disputes of tribes at all, or to interfere
as little as possible. If any aggressions are made upon the whites by the
Indians, then they punish them severely.

2428. In short, in your opinion, the interests of the red man would not suffer
if the whole territory was thrown open to white men, without any restriction or
control *—I think they would not, if there was a guarantee that spirituous
liquors should not be introduced into the territory ; if there were proper means
for preventing it.

2429. Do you believe that it would be possible, if rival traders were compet-
ing with one another in the chase of these fur-bearing animals, through the
instrumentality of the Indians, to prevent or restrain those parties thus com-
peting with one another from having recourse to the supply of spirits to the
Indians, which is the most attractive means of influencing them *—I believe it
would be difficult, but not impossible; at least, to a very great extent. I be-
lieve the practice in the American Fur Company’s territories, if I may use the
term, that is, in those portions of the territories occupied by Americaus, is to
allow no person to trade in furs without a licence, which licence is forfeited upon
the finding of any spirituous liquors in the possession of the trader ; one trader
is set to watth the other; they have each an interest in informing upon each
other ; and I believe, upon the whole, that spirituous liquors are not largely
used. I have here rather a remarkable paper; a complaint by the American
Government against the Hudson’s Bay Company for supplying spirituous
liquors in large quantities to the Indians ; a complaint addressed to our Govern-
ment, and printed here in the form of a Parliamentary Paper.

2430. Mvr. Edward Ellice.i What is the date of it ?—1850. (Zhe TVitness
delivered in the same.)

2431. Chairman.] You believe, then, speaking in the interest of the red man,
that it would be for his advantage that the monopoly of the Hudson's Bay
Company in fur trading should be abolished, and that the country should be
thrown open to the unlimited competition of any persons who might wish to
engage in it ?—1I should not like to express a very decided opinion upon the
point. I should very much like to hear the evidence of the Bishop of Rupert’s
Land, and the clergymen who have been in that territory, before I would express
any distinct opinion upon the matter.

2432. You have considered these questions for a great many years; have
you not formed a decided opinion upon a point of that description?—I have
not.

2433. It is a point on which a great deal turns, is it not?—It is a very
important point.

2434. You are, doubtless, conversant with the state of things which existed
in that country when there was competition in the fur trade between two great
companies, the North-West Company and the Hudson’s Bay Company —I have
read of the disputes that took place between them. :

2435. What was the state of things then:—There was a great deal of
disorder and violence in the terrritory ; I think that under present circumstances
these disorders would not arise again ; there was an absence ot any controlling
power in the country in those times; there were no clergymen nor missionaries ;
there was no public opinion of any sort or kind.

2436. You think that there could be an efficient system of control established
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which would prevent those evils for the future ?—By extending the Canadian
Government over those territories, not otherwise.

2437. Do you think that the Government of Canada could undertake. to keep
peace and order, and to enforce a proper system of check and control over this
vast territory, which would prevent these evils ?—if they did not I‘should not
recommend the territories being thrown open.

2438. Do you think that the Canadian Government could do it *—I believe
it is their wish to do it; I believe they could undertake it, because that ter-
ritory is now practically governed from London : why should it not be governed
from Toronto much more easily *

2439. At present it is governed from London by a company who have a mono
%oly of the trade, and have their servants scattered all over the country ?—

recisely.

2440.yIt would then be governed by an authority at Toronto which would
have no trading interest in the matter, but would have the duty of keeping
order through all this vast territory ; that would be the difference, would it not?
-—That would be the difference. '

2441. And you believe that the system would work equally well ?—A force
would be required in the Red River Settlement, which force would keep the
whole territory under control ; because access to any part of the northern dis-
tricts there, is by one outlet or one opening, the Saskatchawan River, which
enters into Lake Winnipeg ; you cannot approach Mackenzie’s River, Athabasea,
or any of those territories in the north, except through that one opening. A
custom-house or a little garrison established there would exercise an effectual
control and supervision over everything which entered the country.

2442. What you would propose would be to join the whole of this immense
territory on both sides of the Rocky Mountains to-the colony of Canada 7—I
am afraid that it will come to that; I should hardly call it a plan, but I am
afraid there will be no other way of settling the difficulty.

2443. There would be a considerable expense incurred, I presume, in main-
taining crder through so vast an extent of country ?—There would bLe the
expense of establishing a force at the Red River territory.

2444. "There must be posts scattered all over the country, I presume ?—I
believe order could be maintained without stationing those posts all over the
country.

2445. How could the expense be defrayed, whatever it was, of governing
and administering the affairs of a country of this description #—The trade of
that country is considerable ; a tax could be laid upon the trade to defra; the
expense of controlling and conducting it.

2446. Do you think that it would not answer the purposes of Canada asa
colony better, to have joined to Canada any country in its vicinity over which it
is at all probable or possible that settlement should extend ?—I am not prepared
to speak upon that point; [ only judge of the sentiments of Canada from the
newspapers. Merely stating my own opinion, I should say that there might
perhaps be no objection toit, apd that the arrangement on the whole might
be a beneficial one, taking the territory gradually asithey required it. ,

2447. But do you think that it would be expedient or advisable to join Van
couver's Island, for instance, to the colony of Canada:—Vancouver's Island is
quite a different consideration ; I think there ought to be a separate colony
there.

2448. With regard to the country on the mainland adjoining Vancouver’s
Island, which may be adapted for the purposes of settlement, would it not be
more convenient that that should be made a colony, and that its inhabitants
should manage their own affairs, rather than be obliged to go to Toronto for
that purpose ?—I think the whole of the territory west of the Rocky Mountains
must be administered from Vancouver’s Island, if it is thrown open. The
Canadians may, however, think differently.

2440. Then you are speaking merely of Rupert's Land ?—Merely of Rupert’s
Land; the territory to the north of Canada. I believe it is our interest to
people that country, because the United States are fast peopling the territory
along the frontier, and they will have that territory from us unless we do
people it.

2450. You think that it would not be enough, if such an arrangement could
be made, to take away from the Hudson’s Bay Company any such territory zlx(sl

cou
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could be made use of for the purposes of settlement for a long time to come;
but that it would be also desirable to take from them that portion of their terri-
tory which could only be applied for the purposes of the fur trade, and to throw
it open to unrestricted competition ?—I am looking at the inducements which
would lead emigrants into that territory : I do mot think they would go from
Canada to the Red River Settlement merely for the purpose of obtaining land ;
they could get land in abundance in Canada. If, therefore, our object is to
people that territory, we must hold out an inducement to them by throwing
open the fur trade to them. But even otherwise I do not think it is possible to
enforce a monopoly in that territory; you cannot do it. If you throw open
Red River to the Canadians, you throw open the fur trade practically. There
is no means of preventing those people going there; youmay just as well talk of
establishing a monopoly in the gold fields of Australia.

2451. You think, whatever the difficulties are, that those difficulties must be
coped with 7—1I think so ; there is the case of the Red River Settlement ; they
have gone into the fur trade in spite of all the endeavours of the Hudson's Bay
Company, and it is a very insignificant colony. 1 have now a statement of the
furs which were sent out from the Red River district by way of the United States.
They are forcing a channel through there. )

2452. Am I rightly representing your opinions as amounting to this, that
you consider the thing inevitable, that, whether we wish it or not, the fur trade
will, by the progress of events, be thrown open to competition 7—That is my
opinion.

2453. But that you are doubtful, if it could be prevented, of the effects that
such a change would produce upon the interests of the Indians, as far as they
are concerned ?—Yes; 1 wish to reserve my opinion upon that point.

2454. You referred to a paper giving an account of the fur trade going on with -

the Americans :—The trade going on between the Red River Territory and
the United States.

2455. Mr. Edward Ellice.] What is that paper to which you refer 7—An
extract from a newspaper which has been put into my hands within the last
two days. If it is received as evidence, I shall feel bound to give the date, and
the name of the paper. It is evidently an authentic document as far as a
newspaper statement can be so: ‘‘ Here are a few interesting Minesota items.
The towns along the western bank of the Mississippi are rapidly improving in
trade and population. A new land office is soon to be opened at Buchanan,
near the head of Lake Superior. St. Lawrence is the name of a new town, 15
miles above Shakopee, on the Minesota River. Trade between St. Paul and
Superior is quite brisk. The total amount of peltries from the Pembina. Red
River region, exported from St. Paul, Minesota, for 1856, is as follows :—64,292
rats; 8,276 minks; 1,428 martens; 876 foxes; 3,600 coons; 1,045 fishers; 10
wolverines ; 364 badgers; 2,032 wolves; 405 otter; 2,542 rit-foxes; 610
deer” (skins probably); “ 20 cross-fox; 8 silver fox; 50 lynx; 7,500 buffalo
robes, and 586 pounds of beaver; worth, in the aggregate, absut 97,000
dollars.”

2456. You do not consider yourself responsible for that statement ?—No, it
is simply a newspaper statement. ‘

2457. Mr. Kinnaird.] Isit from an English or an American paper :—It has
only been sent to me within the last two days, and in thatform. I have written
to ask where it is extracted from, and of course, if it is received as evidence, I
shall be able to state in a few days.

2458. Mr. Gordan.] Do you credit it, from the other sources of information
which are open to you r—1 do.

2459. Mr.Grogan.] I believe you had a long correspondence with the Colonial
Office relative to a petition to Her Majesty which was sent from the Red River
Settlement some years ago’—7Yes. I laid that petition before Lord Grey.
I was myself resident at the time in England; but [ am not responsibie for the
statements of that petition in any way. [ believe them to be true : and I pro-
duced evidence in the course of those papers to support the statements made by
the petitioners as far as I could,

2460. Am I to understand that you were concerned in getting up the evidence

which is contained in these papers F—VYes, but not in getting up the petition; |

I had no connexion with the petition.
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2461. 1 refer to a variety of papers that were inclosed which were forwarded
to the Colonial Office in support of that petition from Red River?—Yes.

2462. You got up this evidence to back up the statements of the petition *—
Precisely.

2463. You have no question or doubt of the accuracy of these papers ?—
No, unless there are some misprints; there are some misprints in the course
of them. '

2464. In page 78 of the Parliamentary Paper entitled * Correspondence
relative to Complaints of the Inhabitants of the Red River Settlement,” there
are the names of five retired servants of the Hudson’s Bay Company, and some
very strong statements are there contained *—Yes, I have seen them.

24635. Did you know any of those servants yourself >—The last two I knew
personally ; as to the other three, I know where they are just now, and know
their friends, and know them to be respectable persons.

2466. Have you any doubt whatsoever of their being trustworthy and truthful
men ?— None whatever. "

2467. And you place full confidence in their statements >—In the statements
given here I do ; they agree with my own observations and experience.

2463. Will you turn over to page 80: “ Are there any schools for the instruction
of the natives where you have been " appears to have been a question sent to
these five servants 2—Yes. ,

2460. They respectively answer, “I do not know of any.” *“None.” ¢ There
are no schools for the instruction of the natives.” ¢ None at the posts I have
been at.” ** A school was lately established at Norway House.” Does the state-
ment there correspond with your knowledge of that Red River Settlement, and
of the general management of the Hudsen’s Bay Company with regard to the
education of the people :—It is perfectly true, I believe, to this day, as far as
the Hudson's Bay Company are concerned. That is making a distinction
between the schools established by the missionaries and the schools established
by the Hudson’s Bay Company, of which there are none that I know of, with
the exception of one at the Red River. Settlement, an academy established for
the education of the children of the -officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company,
and under the charge of the bishop.

2470. It is under the supervision of the bishop ; but who is at the expense of
the school >—The Hudson's Bay Company contribute 109 /. a year towards the
school ; but it is a self-supporting school ; pupils pay, I think, about 30 . a year
to it; it is a school of a superior class.

2471. Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam.] Were you yourself educated there :—I was.

2472. Mr. Grogan.] And you had to bear your shareof the contribution?— Yes.

2473. With the exception of the contribution of 100 ¢ a year to that school
of a superior class, is there, as far as your knowledge goes, any school in the
territory of the Hudson’s Bay Company assisted by them ?— I know of none.

2474. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Are you speaking of the period when you were
there ?—As far as my information extends down to the present time.

2475. Mr. Grogan.] Are yon now speaking of the state of things at the time
you were there?—Yes; and I believe the same state of things exists at.the
present day.

2476. The evidence you have just given us was, in the first instance, confined
to your own knowledge ; it is some time since you left the settlement ?—1It is
some time.

" 2477. Have you been in close communication and correspondence with any
of the settlers in that locality since that time : —Ever since, down to the present
time ; continuously; uninterruptedly.

2478. Do you conceive yourself in a position, by reason of that corres-
pondence, to speak of the state of the settlement at present ?—1I do.

2470. You have no doubt, whatever, that you represented the opinicens of the
settlers in the correspondence with the Colonial Government in 1849 ?—No
doubt whatsoever. And I may mention, that since that time, in the last three
or four years, a portion of my family who were resident at Red River have come
over, and are now living with me, and they of conrse have given me more recent
information.

24380. Mr. Edward %llice.] 1 think you said, that with reference to those
complaints of which you were the organ, you werc not responsible for the
statements contained in them -~ Not for the petition.

248r. Mr.
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2481. Mr. Roebuck.] But 1 suppose you hold yourself responsible for every
part of the evidence which you are now giving as your own opinion 7—I do.

2482. Mr. Grogan.] 1 referred you te page 80 under the head of the question,
« Are there any schools for the instruction of the natives where you have been?”
There are five answers of these five servants, which, down to 1849, vou believe
to be literally correct ?—Yes, I do.

2483. Are you able to say whether, at the present date, you consider that
those answers would be applicable ?.—I believe so; with the exception which I
have formerly mentioned.

2484. Namely, that there is one school to which assistance is given of 10017
a vear —Yes, and none other.

'2485. The next question is, “ Are you aware of any attempts of any kind
having been made by the Company to civilise the natives and instruct them in
religion:” You have the answers before you. No. 1. * They are kept in
ignorance and darkness.” No. 2. “No.” No. 3. ““one.” No. 4. * Notaware
of any.” And No. 5. ¢ Not aware of any.” Are you equally satisfied of the
correctness of these replies in 1849 as you were of the previous ones?—
That is my opinion at the present time, distinguishing between the attempts
made by the Missionary Societies, and partially assisted by the Hudson’s Bay
Company, as we heard the other day, and the attempts made by the Hudson’s
Bay Company themselves.

2486. You say the missionaries partially assisted by the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany. Can you define it more accurately —I heard it stated the other day, in
reply to a question of this nature, that the Company give certain sums of
money, varying from 50/ to 150/, to missionaries. I know that these are
given to the missionaries individually ; that no account is exacted of the expen-
diture of these sums; that no returns are made to the Company of the way in
which education may be advanced by these sums; that they are given, in fact,
to the missionaries, and not to the missions, and are, upon the whole, rather
an impediment to them than otherwise.

2487. Chairman.] How do you mean ° an impediment” to them *—In this
way, that it makes them shut their eyes to many matters which occur.

2488. Mr. Edward Ellice.] 1 believe those missionaries are not appointed
by the Company :~-No, by no means; they are paid from other sources, and
these sums of money are given to them additionally. I am Joth to say so, but
they are, in effect, sops to the missionaries.

2489. Chairman.] In point of fact, do you believe that Christianity has made
any progress among the Indian tribes ?—I believe it has made very rapid
progress in the last few years, since the bishop went out there.

24g0. Is that among the tribes in the immediate vicinity of the settled
country, or far back into the wilderness *— As far as the Saskatchawan. I believe
that, at the missionary station, near Cumberland-house, on the Saskatchawan,
the Indians have made very great progress.

2491. I believe the settlers at the Red River are, upon the whole, a very
moral and well-ordered community, are they not >—I believe so ; especially the
English race, and their descendants.

2402. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Your observation with regard to these sums of
money being a sop to the missionaries, 1 presume, does not apply to the sum
of money that the Company pay to the bishop —~The sum of money that is
paid to the bishop by the Company is paid under an arrangement sanctioned
by the Court of Chancery. The Company cannot withdraw it if they try, but
the others they can withdraw.

2493. You are aware that it was a voluntary gift on the part of the Com-
pany 2—Yes, I believe it was; on the understanding that Mr. Leith’s bequest
should be devoted to the establishment of a bishopric, the Hudson’s Bay Com-
Pany added a certain amount.

2494. Mr. Kinnaird.] You say that the missionaries accept these sums from
the Company as sops to close their eyes to various things ?—They act as sops,
that is their effect; [ should be sorry to say they were accepted as such.

24y5. You say that they are given as sops, which induces them to close their
eyes to various matters ; will you kindly state to the Committee what are the
various matters to which they close their eyes *—The obstructions which the
Company make to the settlement of Indians around them. My statement is,
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that the Company have in various cases directly opposed and forbidden the set-
tlement of Indians around the missionaries.

2496. Will you kindly give us an instance >—I believe a clergyman from that
territory is abou* to be examined after me. I will give the names of gentlemen
who can give instances: Mr. Corbett and Mr. Hillier.

2497. Mr. Edward Ellice.] Mr. Corbett, 1 believe, is a gentleman attending
here to give evidence ?—I believe heis. 1 will name a gentleman from each of
the societies which have missionaries in that territory ; they are all in England,
and can be brought up before this Committee. In addition to the names I
have given, there is Mr. Barnley, of the Wesleyan Missionary Society, who
has written a letter to me, which is printed in this book; this ( I'itzgerald’s
Examination of the Charters and Proceedings of the Hudson’s Bay Company.”)

2498. Mr. Kinnaird.] You have mentioned one fact ; will you name another ?
—1I name three missionaries who can give distinct and specific particulars in
proof of what I have just stated; two of them have mentioned to me that the
(ljompany directly and positively prohibit the settlement of Indians about
them.

2499. That is one point. You spoke in the plural: ¢ matters.” Can you
give any of your own knowledge :—None, except as communicated to me by
these parties.

2500. Mr. Adderley.] You say that you have property in the Red River
Settlement ?—A farm.

2501. Did you purchase it yourself?—No; it was given to my father before
me, and he having been dead for several years, it came to me as his heir.

2502. When you say it was given to your father, have you any objection
to state to us how it came into his possession >—I was quite a boy at the time,
and I really am not- aware how it came into his possession. I have never
cultivated it t> any great extent myself, and have never taken any great
interest in it; it is perfectly valueless where it is now. )

2503. I do not wish at all to pry into your private affairs, but as far as you
are inclined to tell us will you state the agency by which that property is
managed r—1 have an uncle resident in the Red River Settlement who has the
house and land in charge. It happens to be contiguous to his own property.
I do not know that it is cultivated to any great extent, for land is so valueless
in that territory that nobody will rent it, and there it remains.

2504. Is your uncle of your own name :}—No ; it is Mr. Philip Kennedy.

2505. Are t